

Sede Amministrativa: Università degli Studi di Padova

Dipartimento di Ingegneria Industriale

CORSO DI DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN: INGEGNERIA INDUSTRIALE CURRICOLO: INGEGNERIA CHIMICA E AMBIENTALE CICLO: XXX

NITROGEN FOOTPRINT: DEVELOPMENT AND TESTING OF NEW METHODOLOGIES FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT RELATED TO THE NITROGEN CYCLE

Coordinatore: Ch.mo Prof. Paolo Colombo **Supervisore**: Ch.mo Prof. Antonio Scipioni

Dottorando: Filippo Zuliani

Ora il compito del demiurgo autarchico, in fatto di azoto, è quello di sopperire alla nostra agricoltura quel tanto di azoto che il ciclo naturale non arriva a immettere naturalmente nel terreno. (C.E. Gadda – Azoto atmosferico trasformato in pane)

> Yes, there are two paths you can go by, but in the long run there still time to change the road you're on. (Led Zeppelin – Stairway to heaven)

Abstract

The present research work addresses the topic of the assessment of environmental impact related to the nitrogen cycle. Starting from an analysis of the environmental effects derived from the alteration of the nitrogen cycle caused by human intervention and of the tools currently available to evaluate these effects, the objective of the research is to develop a new impact assessment methodology, based on an whole Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) approach and to verify its effectiveness in accounting and detailing the environmental impacts caused by a product system and by the related processes.

The proposed methodology overcomes some of the weaknesses identified in existing assessment tools, in particular by proposing a comprehensive LCA approach, applied at both methodological and operational level, and an orientation to the identification and accounting of environmental impacts. In particular, the methodology provides for a multistep approach that, starting from the identification of the nitrogen-containing substances of a product systems, first allows to account for reactive nitrogen and then, through specific characterization models, to assess the environmental effects for different impact categories to finally calculate, after normalization and weighting, a single standalone impact indicator. This approach allows identifying and accounting the environmental impacts related to the nitrogen cycle for a product system, quantifying also the contribution of the different processes and activities in the life cycle.

After the design phase, the methodology has been successfully tested in four different application cases, two based on database and two on real data collected on the field, demonstrating the validity and applicability of the proposed model and obtaining results consistent with the targets set for each application.

The proposed methodology has been defined and applied in all its phases and steps, with some computational shortcuts specially modeled on the application cases addressed in the research work: some further adaptations may therefore be required for applications in fields different from those proposed.

Table of contents

INTRODUCTION		
CHAPTER 1 - NITROGEN AND THE ENVIRONMENT		
1.1 Nitrogen	15	
1.2 The Nitrogen cycle	17	
1.3 Reactive Nitrogen	20	
1.3.1 Processes for reactive nitrogen creation	21	
1.3.2 Quantification of reactive nitrogen flows	23	
1.4 The effects of nitrogen on the environment	29	
1.4.1 Benefits of reactive nitrogen		
1.4.2 Negative effects of reactive nitrogen		
1.4.2.1 Climate change		
1.4.2.2 Eutrophication of terrestrial ecosystems		
1.4.2.3 Eutrophication of marine ecosystems		
1.4.2.4 Acidification of soils		
1.4.2.5 Tropospheric ozone formation		
1.4.2.6 Stratospheric ozone depletion		
1.4.2.7 Particulate matter formation		
1.4.2.8 Effects of nitrogen on human health		
1.5 Nitrogen in the European legislative framework	48	
1.5.1 Industrial emissions		
1.5.2 Air emissions from transport		
1.5.3 Greenhouse gases emissions		
1.5.4 Air quality	53	
1.5.5 Water protection	54	
1.5.6 Soil protection	55	
CHAPTER 2 - NITROGEN FOOTPRINT: APPLIED ACCOUNTING S	CHEMES57	
2.1 Environmental impacts quantification: the footprint indicators	57	
2.1.1 Approaches to the formulation of footprint indicators	58	
2.1.2 Towards a shared definition of footprint	61	
2.2 Tools for the calculation of the nitrogen footprint	64	
2.2.1 First experiences for nitrogen footprint calculating	65	
2.2.2 The nitrogen-calculator tool	65	
2.2.3 The nitrogen-institution tool	69	
2.2.4 The nitrogen-loss indicator	71	
2.2.5 The nitrogen-neutrality tool	72	
2.2.6 The nitrogen-label tool	74	

2.2.7	Process-based environmental LCA for nitrogen flows quantification	76
2.2.8	Nitrogen footprint existing tools: a critical review	77
	TER 5 - A NEW METHODOLOGY FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT	01
KELA	TED TO THE NITROGEN CYCLE	81
3.1 Tov	vards a nitrogen impact assessment based on a LCA approach	81
3.1.1	The life cycle assessment framework	
3.1.2	The impact assessment approach	
3.1.3	Supporting tools for the development of the methodology	
3.1	.3.1 Databases	
3.1	L.3.2 Characterization models	90
3.1	1.3.3 Normalization and weighting	95
3.1	.3.4 Software	
3.2	Proposal of new methodology for nitrogen footprint assessment	103
3.2.1	Goal and scope definition	105
3.2.2	Nitrogen inventory analysis	105
3.2.3	Reactive nitrogen indicator accounting	107
3.2.4	Nitrogen impact assessment profile formulating	118
3.2.5	Single score nitrogen impact indicator calculating	124
3.2	2.5.1 Normalization	
3.2	2.5.2 Weighting and single score indicator calculating	
3.2.6	Interpretation of the results	135
СПАВ	TED 4 ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT DELATED TO NITDOCEN CVCI E.	100
CHAP METH	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	
CHAP METH 4.1 Me	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION thodology application to agri-food products	137 137
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION thodology application to agri-food products Agri-food products: goal and scope definition Agri-food products: inventory analysis	137 137 138 138
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 138
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 145 150
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.1.4	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 145 150 153
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 145 150 153 153
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.1 4.2.2	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 138 150 153 153 153
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 145 150 153 153 153 155
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION. thodology application to agri-food products. Agri-food products: goal and scope definition Agri-food products: inventory analysis. Agri-food products: assessment at inventory level Agri-food products: interpretation of the results. Methodology application to a reference product system Reference product system: goal and scope definition Reference product system: inventory analysis. Reference product system: characterization.	137 137 138 138 145 150 153 153 155 160
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 145 150 153 153 153 155 160 162
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 145 150 153 153 153 155 160 162 165
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.3	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 145 150 153 153 160 165 166
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.3 4.3.1	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 145 150 153 153 153 160 165 166 166
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.6 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 138 150 153 153 155 160 165 166 166 12
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.6 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 145 150 153 153 160 162 165 166 166 166 166 122 180
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 138 145 150 153 153 153 160 165 166 166 172 180 185
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION. Agri-food products: goal and scope definition Agri-food products: inventory analysis. Agri-food products: assessment at inventory level Agri-food products: interpretation of the results. Methodology application to a reference product system Reference product system: goal and scope definition Reference product system: goal and scope definition Reference product system: inventory analysis. Reference product system: characterization. Reference product system: normalization and weighting. Reference product system: interpretation of the results. Methodology application to agricultural processes. Agricultural processes: goal and scope definition Agricultural processes: goal and scope definition Agricultural processes: goal and scope definition Agricultural processes: inventory analysis. Agricultural processes: inventory analysis. Agricultural processes: characterization Agricultural processes: characterization	137 137 138 138 145 150 153 153 153 153 160 165 166 166 166 172 180 185 187
CHAP METH 4.1 Me 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.6 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6	TER 4 - ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT RELATED TO NITROGEN CYCLE: IODOLOGY APPLICATION	137 137 138 138 138 145 150 153 153 155 160 165 166 166 172 180 185 187 191

4.4	Methodology application to beverage industry products	193
4.4.1	Beverage industry products: goal and scope definition	
4.4.2	Beverage industry products: inventory analysis	
4.4.3	Beverage industry products: assessment at inventory level	210
4.4.4	Beverage industry products: characterization	217
4.4.5	Beverage industry products: normalization and weighting	220
4.4.6	Beverage industry products: interpretation of the results	
CHAI	PTER 5 - CONCLUSIONS	249
5.1 Co	nclusions	249
5.2 Fu	ture developments	252
APPE	NDIX A - CHARACTERIZATION METHODS DESCRIPTION	253
BIBL	IOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES	

Introduction

The research topic is focused on the evaluation of the nitrogen cycle and on its disruption of anthropogenic origin highlighted by several studies in recent years. The economic, environmental and social debate developed around the issues related to the nitrogen cycle is centered on a dichotomy. From one side, it is evident that nitrogen is an essential component of many compounds found in living cells within plants, animals and humans and that the production of reactive nitrogen through natural processes from atmospheric nitrogen would be insufficient to guarantee current levels of life for humanity. The provision of reactive nitrogen forms due to anthropogenic, through mineral fertilizers, contributes greatly to the increased agricultural production needed to feed the growing world population and then to ensure food security.

From the other side, the continuous increase in production of reactive nitrogen of anthropic origin has led to a progressive alteration of the natural cycle of nitrogen, exceeding the limit defined for the planetary boundary, fixed as a safe operating space for human societies to develop and thrive. In this regard, it should be highlighted that, besides the benefits of the use of nitrogen compounds, must be taken into account that nitrogen, in its various chemical forms, plays a major role in a great number of environmental issues, causing a number of different effects connected to each other by taking part in the cycling. It contributes, in fact, to acidification and eutrophication of soil, groundwater and surface waters, to decreasing ecosystem vitality and biodiversity and causing groundwater pollution through nitrate leaching. Nitrogen compounds also play a role in carbon sequestration, global climate change, formation of ozone, oxidants and aerosols and is present in toxic compounds, potentially posing a serious threat to environment and human health.

Several research results can be found on the definition and quantification of flows of different forms of nitrogen in the environment and on caused environmental impacts. At the legislative level too, numerous acts have been issued, particularly in the legislative framework of the European Union, for the management of environmental aspects and the reduction of impacts related to nitrogen emissions in the various environmental compartments (air, water, soil), or in order to regulate some specific field (eg. industrial emissions or transport). The studies and research related to the analysis of nitrogen flows and environmental impacts are generally based on the concept of reactive nitrogen. This is commonly defined as all nitrogen forms apart from N_2 including oxidized nitrogen forms, as NO,

 N_2O , NO_2 , NO_3 , reduced forms of nitrogen, as NH_4^+ , NH_3 , and organic nitrogen as proteins, amines, etc., with different states of oxidation.

In this context, some tools of "nitrogen footprint" have also been recently developed to properly study, assess, control and try to manage the release of nitrogen compounds emissions and also to support policymakers, stakeholders, producers and consumers in decision-making strategies. All the proposed tools started from the concept of reactive nitrogen that was easily extended to the next definition of "nitrogen footprint" as the total amount of reactive nitrogen released to the environment due to the resource consumption, expressed in total units of reactive nitrogen. The intended goal of these tools is to describe how reactive nitrogen is lost to the environment and its resulting impacts due to individual and collective consumption behaviors and the ways in which policy can have an effect on these losses. Addressing this specific topic, another starting point for the research work was the footprint indicator concept, comprising the main features and the applicable requirements, both as regards the formulation of the footprint indicators and their communication, with particular reference to international standards issued or under preparation by ISO and to the recent scientific publications in this field.

Subsequently, a first aim of the research, was to carry out a critical analysis of the existing nitrogen footprint tools, in order to highlight the main features of each methodology and to compare with the requirements that should ideally have a footprint indicator, according to latest research and to applicable international standards.

From these premise started the subsequent research work, which has been aimed at formulating a proposal for the assessment of environmental impacts related to the nitrogen cycle, in order to review the definition and structure of what is currently commonly defined as nitrogen footprint indicator, addressing in particular any weaknesses identified in the existing tools. Further fundamental references to take into account for the design and development of the methodology to be proposed were the LCA approach, according to the international standard of ISO 14040 series, and a structure oriented to the life cycle impact assessment.

A further objective of the research, once formulated a methodological proposal for the evaluation of the impacts related to the nitrogen cycle, has been finally to apply the proposed tool in various fields, both using a database approach and by relying on on-site collected data and analyzes, in order to verify its effectiveness in achieving the objectives set and confirm its validity.

The research findings are presented in the five chapters of the present work. In particular, in Chapter 1 are described the introductory concepts related to the nitrogen cycle, reactive nitrogen, processes

for its creation, flows in the environmental compartments and related effects and a summary of European legislation on this subject. In Chapter 2, starting from the general concept of footprint, the tools currently formulated and applied for the nitrogen footprint accounting are presented and analyzed, describing the reference normative framework and identifying strengths and weaknesses. Chapter 3 is devoted to the design of the proposed methodology for nitrogen related impacts assessment, describing the assumptions for its formulation and the underlying mechanisms and mathematical models. Finally, in the Chapter 4, four different applications of the proposed methodology are presented, the first two supporting the formulation and validation of the model, the last two based on real cases, concerning the comparison of two cultivation methods and a specific application on four products of the beverage industry.

Chapter 1

Nitrogen and the environment

This chapter introduces the theme of environmental aspects related to the nitrogen cycle. In particular, the nitrogen cycle is briefly presented and the concept of reactive nitrogen is introduced, describing the processes for its creation and presenting a summary of reactive nitrogen quantification and distribution data. The mechanisms of interaction of nitrogen with the environment are then presented and the associated impacts are described.

Finally, it is summarized the reference legislative framework at European level for the control of emissions and the reduction of environmental impacts attributable to the alterations of the nitrogen cycle.

1.1 Nitrogen

Nitrogen (symbol N, atomic number 7) as a chemical element was first discovered and isolated by Daniel Rutherford in 1772. The name nitrogen derives from the Greek roots vitpov "nitre" and - $\gamma \epsilon v v \tilde{\alpha} v$ "to form" and was suggested by Jean-Antoine-Claude Chaptal because it was found that nitrogen was present in nitric acid and nitrates. Antoine Lavoisier or, according to other interpretations Louis-Bernard Guyton-Morveau, suggested instead the name azote, from the Greek $\dot{\alpha}\zeta\omega\tau\iota\kappa\dot{\alpha}\zeta$ "no life", that is used in many languages, such as Italian, French, Russian and appears in the English names of some compounds such as hydrazine, azides and azo compounds.

Nitrogen is a common element in the universe, estimated at about seventh in total abundance in the Milky Way and the Solar System. At standard temperature and pressure, two atoms of the element bind to form dinitrogen, a colorless and odorless diatomic gas with the formula N₂. Dinitrogen forms about 78% of Earth's atmosphere, making it the most abundant uncombined element. Nitrogen occurs in all organisms, primarily in amino acids (and thus proteins), in the nucleic acids and in the energy

transfer molecule adenosine triphosphate. The human body contains about 3% nitrogen by mass, the fourth most abundant element in the body after oxygen, carbon, and hydrogen.

Many industrially important compounds, such as ammonia, nitric acid, organic nitrates (propellants and explosives), and cyanides, contain nitrogen. The extremely strong triple bond in elemental nitrogen (N \equiv N), the second strongest bond in any diatomic molecule, dominates nitrogen chemistry. This causes difficulty for both organisms and industry in converting N₂ into useful compounds, but at the same time means that burning, exploding, or decomposing nitrogen compounds to form nitrogen gas releases large amounts of energy. Synthetically produced ammonia and nitrates are key industrial fertilizers, and fertilizer nitrates are key pollutants in the eutrophication of water systems.

Apart from its use in fertilizers and energy-stores, nitrogen is a constituent of organic compounds as diverse as kevlar used in high-strength fabric and cyanoacrylate used in superglue. Nitrogen is a constituent of every major pharmacological drug class, including antibiotics. Many drugs are mimics or prodrugs of natural nitrogen-containing signal molecules: for example, the organic nitrates nitroglycerin and nitroprusside control blood pressure by metabolizing into nitric oxide. Many notable nitrogen-containing drugs, such as the natural caffeine and morphine or the synthetic amphetamines, act on receptors of animal neurotransmitters.

However more than 99% of this N_2 is not available to more than 99% of living organisms because its molecular form is not usable. Breaking the triple bond holding the two nitrogen atoms together, requires a significant amount of energy, which can be mustered only in high-temperature processes or by a small number of specialized N-fixing microbes (Galloway *et al.*, 2003).

Of the major nutrients needed for biomass production, nitrogen is most commonly the limiting one, at least in terrestrial systems: phosphorus and potassium are the other major limiting nutrients. Higher plants can mostly only use nitrogen after it has been converted to reactive forms such as nitrate (NO_3^-) or ammonium (NH_4^+). There are basically three ways of accomplishing this:

- decay of organic matter by microbes in soils (dead organisms, leaves, manure, etc.) and eventually release biologically available forms of nitrogen;
- Biological Nitrogen Fixation (BNF): nitrogen-fixing organisms (e.g. bacteria) 'fix' atmospheric N₂ into biologically available forms of reactive nitrogen;
- production and application of reactive nitrogen as inorganic fertilizer (Sutton et al., 2011).

1.2 The Nitrogen cycle

"Fabbricare l'azoto non si può dire, poiché esso è nell'aria che respiriamo. Si dice invece fissare l'azoto, cioè captarlo dall'aria, unirlo ad altri elementi di natura, preparare dei sali azotati da spargere sui coltivi: già le radici del frumento lavorano, lavorano, nel buio della terra, ad assorbire dalla terra i composti azotati; perché anche domani il popolo vittorioso e rude possa deglutire il suo pane.

I chimici, i biologi chiamano ciclo o circolo dell'azoto il trapasso dell'azoto dall'atmosfera alla sostanza vivente delle piante, degli animali: il suo ritorno nell'atmosfera. Quali ne sono le cause? Sotto l'azione di scariche elettriche atmosferiche (scariche oscure), l'ossigeno e l'azoto dell'aria si combinano in ossido di azoto, che, raggiunto dalle acque di pioggia, dà luogo ad acido nitroso. Altro acido nitroso è procurato al terreno per l'opera dei bacteri nitrosi, dèmoni microscopici del sottoterra, scoperti da Winogradski nel 1891. Essi fabbricano acido nitroso ricavandolo dall'ammoniaca e dai composti ammoniacali; che sono tra i proventi della dissociazione organica, della putrefazione.

Una seconda categoria di bacteri, chiamati bacteri nitrici, trasforma l'acido nitroso in acido nitrico. Questo, diluito nell'acqua di circolo, al contatto delle «basi» del terreno da i sali nitrici, o nitrati, di cui le radici delle piante son ghiotte. Ecco le biade dei campi di Pansampognante, ecco il pane, la vita. Le sostanze albuminose degli steli e del seme, gli amino-acidi, il glùtine, contengono azoto e lo trasferiscono nell'organismo degli animali.

La morte degli animali e delle piante, le foglie che si spiccano e si dissolvono nell'autunno, riportano l'azoto al terreno, e la vita stessa lo restituisce man mano al circolo, per i prodotti della espirazione, del sudore, della escrezione.

Ora il compito del demiurgo autarchico, in fatto di azoto, è quello di sopperire alla nostra agricoltura quel tanto di azoto che il ciclo naturale non arriva a immettere naturalmente nel terreno. L'industria umana percorre, in rincalzo alla natura, questo arco del ciclo: dall'aria al terreno. E lo percorre lungo alcune sue strade sicure, se non facili, e solo da pochi decenni esplorate: o da pochi anni tracciate." (Gadda, 1937).

The nitrogen cycle is commonly defined as a biogeochemical cycle that includes soil, atmosphere and biosphere, by which nitrogen is converted into various chemical forms as it circulates among the atmosphere and terrestrial and marine ecosystems.

The largest reservoir of nitrogen on the earth is the atmosphere, where nitrogen is mainly found as an inert diatomic gas (N_2) and as traces of nitrous oxide (N_2O) , a greenhouse gas with great global warming potential), NO_x and volatilized ammonia. The other large reservoir on the earth is

represented by rocks and sediments, while fast exchange pools such as terrestrial and aquatic biota, water and soils contain negligible nitrogen amounts (Palmeri *et al.*, 2014).

The Figure 1.1 shows a schematic representation of the nitrogen cycle whose processes are described below.



Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the nitrogen cycle. Blue arrows represent anaerobic processes, bright green arrows represent additions of nitrogen to soil, darker green arrows represent aerobic transformations. Source: Brady and Weil (2014).

The main processes that constitute the nitrogen cycle can be summarized as follows:

- *Biological Nitrogen Fixation (BNF)*. This is a natural process performed by a number of diazotrophs, such as Anabaena (a cyanobacterium), and Rhizobium (the symbiotic bacterium found in legume root nodules).
- *Nitrogen fixation by anthropic activities*. Humans influence the nitrogen cycle mainly through industrial nitrogen fixation that consists in the conversion of N₂ into NH₃ by the Haber–Bosch process.

• *Nitrification*. This is the oxidation of ammonia to oxyanions. The conversion of ammonium to nitrate is performed primarily by soil-living bacteria and other nitrifying bacteria. Specifically, in the primary stage of nitrification, the oxidation of ammonium (NH₄⁺) is performed by bacteria such as the Nitrosomonas species, which converts ammonia to nitrites (NO₂⁻): the reaction is the following:

$$NH_3 + O_2 \rightarrow NO_2^- + 3H^+ + 2e^-.$$
 (1.1)

The oxidation of the nitrites (NO_2^-) into nitrates (NO_3^-) is performed by other bacterial species, such as Nitrobacter: the reaction is the following:

$$NO_2^- + H_2O \rightarrow NO_3^- + 2H^+ + 2e^-.$$
 (1.2)

Denitrification. Some bacteria, such as Pseudomonas, and Clostridium, in anaerobic conditions, are able to use oxidized forms of nitrogen – including, in order of most to least thermodynamically favorable, nitrate (NO₃⁻), nitrite (NO₂⁻), nitric oxide (NO), nitrous oxide (N₂O) – as a terminal electron acceptor in respiration. Denitrifying microbes require a very low oxygen concentration of less than 10%, as well as organic C for energy. The complete denitrification process can be expressed as the following reaction:

$$2NO_3^- + 10 e^- + 12 H^+ \rightarrow N_2 + 6H_2O.$$
(1.3)

- *Assimilation*. Plants assimilate nitrogen in the form of nitrate and ammonium. The nitrate assimilated is first reduced to ammonium, and then combined into organic forms, generally via glutamate. Animals generally assimilate nitrogen by first breaking protein down into amino acids.
- *Ammonification and excretion*. When plants and animals decay, putrefying bacteria produce ammonia from the proteins they contain. Animals also produce breakdown products such as ammonia, urea, allantoin and uric acid from excess dietary nitrogen. These compounds are also targets of ammonification by bacteria.
- Anaerobic ammonia oxidation. This is conversion of nitrite and ammonium to pure nitrogen gas (N₂) in seas and oceans, hot springs, hydrothermal vents, and many freshwater wetland

ecosystems, which than escapes to the atmosphere. The reaction mechanism is triggered by a newly discovered bacterium, called Brocadia anammoxidans and can be expressed as follows:

$$NH_{4^{+}} + NO_{2}^{-} \rightarrow N_{2} + 2H_{2}O.$$
 (1.4)

Other processes are generally included in the nitrogen cycle, as (Sutton et al., 2011):

- *Volatilization*. This process turns fertilizers and manures on the soil surface into gases like NH_3 , N_2O and N_2 that also join the atmospheric pool.
- *Weathering of rocks*. The process where stored nitrogen in rocks is released by wind, rain and erosion.
- *Runoff.* This is process that carries the nitrogen in fertilizers and manure and the nitrogen in the soil into rivers and streams causing a concern for water quality.
- *Leaching.* The process that carries nitrates deep into the soil so that plants can no longer use them, producing a dual concern; for lost fertility and for water quality, as nitrates enter the groundwater and wells that provide drinking water.
- *Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA)*. This is an anaerobic respiration process, also called nitrate/nitrite ammonification. Microbes which undertake DNRA oxidize organic matter and use nitrate as an electron acceptor, reducing it to nitrite, then to ammonium. Both denitrifying and nitrate ammonification bacteria competes for nitrate in the environment, although DNRA acts to conserve bioavailable nitrogen as soluble ammonium rather than producing dinitrogen gas (Marchant *et al.*, 2014).

1.3 Reactive Nitrogen

Reactive Nitrogen (N_r) is commonly defined as all nitrogen forms apart from N_2 . This includes oxidized nitrogen forms, as NO, N₂O, NO₂, NO₃, reduced forms of nitrogen, as NH₄⁺, NH₃, and organic nitrogen as proteins, amines, etc., with different states of oxidation.

The processes for the creation of reactive nitrogen starting from N_2 are described below, and are then is presented a quantification of reactive nitrogen flows between different ecosystems.

1.3.1 Processes for reactive nitrogen creation

The creation of reactive nitrogen occurs both through natural processes and through human interventions. Prior to the mid-19th century, the supply of reactive nitrogen to agricultural soils, either through biological nitrogen fixation, animal manure, or rotation of crops and fallow, supported human populations. However, by the end of the 1800s, with a growing human population, it became apparent that these sources of reactive nitrogen could not adequately support the needed expansion of agriculture. In the early 1900s, as the pressure for increased food production combined with the rising demand for nitrate to manufacture munitions due to the outbreak of World War I, a method was created in Germany by Fritz Haber and later improved and adapted to an industrial scale by Carl Bosch. Now known as the Haber-Bosch process, this method was the first to use high pressure to generate a chemical reaction that produced reactive forms of nitrogen, thus allowing for the mass production of fertilizer by synthesizing ammonia from nitrogen and hydrogen gases (Braun, 2007). The Haber process combines nitrogen from the air with hydrogen derived mainly from natural gas (methane) into ammonia: the reaction, shown below, is reversible and the production of ammonia is exothermic ($\Delta H \sim -92$ kJ mol⁻¹):

$$N_2(g) + 3H_2(g) \Leftrightarrow 2NH_3(g) ; \qquad (1.5)$$

conversion is typically conducted at 15–25 MPa and between 400–500 °C, as nitrogen and hydrogen are passed over four beds of catalyst (typically based on iron promoted with K_2O , CaO, SiO₂, Al₂O₃) with cooling between each pass so as to maintain a reasonable equilibrium constant. On each pass only about 15% conversion occurs: the unreacted gases are recycled, and eventually an overall conversion of 97% is achieved (Elvers, 2011).

Nearly 100 years after its invention, the Haber-Bosch process remains the most economical anthropogenic means of fixing nitrogen and is responsible for sustaining nearly 40% of the current world population due to its ability to increase agricultural yields.

As the 20th century progressed, the annual rate of reactive nitrogen being produced continued to grow: it is estimated that, in the past 50–100 years, human activities have caused the global anthropogenic rate of nitrogen fixation to increase so that it is now ~2 times the natural rate of BNF in terrestrial ecosystems (Erisman *et al.*, 2011).

The chart reported in Figure 1.2 shows the global trends in N_r production. The graph depicts ammonia production for fertilizer and industry, total N_2 fixation, NO_x emissions from fossil fuel burning,

together with global fossil fuel related CO₂ emissions and the world population. Several researches (eg. Erisman *et al.*, 2011; Singh and Bakshi, 2015; Xue *et al.*, 2016) deepened also the correlation between CO₂ emissions and N_r production, due to the similarity between the drivers (food, feed and energy) and, to some extent, the sources. In particular is noted that the strong correlation between nitrogen enrichment and climate change at a source level comes from the fact that nitrogen is the key parameter allowing sustaining a growing world population with its increasing demand for energy from fossil fuels (Erisman *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 1.2. Global trends in human population, CO_2 emissions [Tg Cyr¹] and total anthropogenic reactive nitrogen production [Tg Nyr¹] throughout the 20th century. The graph also includes average fertilizer production and the increase in NO_x emissions from fossil fuel burning. Source: Erisman et al., 2011.

The processes that generate reactive nitrogen, divided into natural and anthropogenic processes, are summarized as follows.

Under *natural conditions*, the breaking of the triple bond that binds two nitrogen atoms together as N_2 can derive from:

- *volcanic activity*, specifically hot magmatic vents that offer the opportunity for atmospheric nitrogen to be rapidly heated and to undergo thermally catalyzed reactions producing mainly oxides of nitrogen (Mather *et al.*, 2004), although volcanoes also emit reduced forms (Galloway *et al.*, 2003; Schlesinger, 2009).
- *lightning*, that produce NO and NO₂ in the atmosphere (Drapcho *et al.*, 1967).

- *activity of microbes,* able to carry out the process known as Biological Nitrogen Fixation (BNF). These microbes are generally bacteria often residing in a symbiotic relationship with certain legumes, including soybeans, and many native plants in the legume family. In the oceans, BNF is carried out primarily by cyanobacteria, commonly known as blue-green algae (Braun, 2007).
- *weathering of rocks*, attributable to the content of nitrogen in rock that originates as organically bound nitrogen associated with sediment, or in thermal waters representing a mixture of sedimentary, mantle, and meteoric sources of nitrogen (Holloway and Dahlgren, 2002).

In addition, senescence of plants, wildlife and forest fires are natural processes that can be accounted in the reactive nitrogen balance, but their contribution results only in the redistribution of reactive nitrogen in the biosphere, rather than in its creation.

Anthropogenic activities enhancing the formation of Nr can be synthesized as follows:

- *combustion of fossil fuels* for energy production, which generates nitrogen oxides from the oxidation of N₂ or fossil organic N in the fuel;
- *production of fertilizers and chemicals* (e.g. nylon, explosives), mainly through the Haber–Bosch process, which creates NH₃ by the reaction of N₂ and H₂;
- *agroecosystems activities*, such as planting of nitrogen-fixing crops (e.g. legumes) which convert N₂ to NH₃ incorporated in the organic matter.

1.3.2 Quantification of reactive nitrogen flows

It is very difficult to make accurate estimates of the flows associated with the creation of reactive nitrogen and its transfer into the various ecosystems.

An exhaustive bibliography of research published from the 90's until 2004 is the one proposed by Galloway *et al.* (2004) in which reference is made to papers that addressed the nitrogen cycle on a global and regional scale, the major components of the nitrogen cycle (food production, fertilizer production, fossil fuel combustion, industrial uses of reactive nitrogen, atmosphere, Biological Nitrogen Fixation) and the relationship to public policy.

It is proposed below a summary of the literature data relating to the creation of reactive nitrogen, referring to both the main natural processes (lighting and biological nitrogen fixation) and the human intervention.

• *Nitrogen fixation by lighting*. High temperatures occurring in lightning strikes produce NO in the atmosphere from molecular oxygen and nitrogen. Subsequently this NO is oxidized to NO₂

and then to HNO₃ and quickly (i.e., days) removed by wet and dry deposition thus introducing N_r into ecosystems primarily over tropical continents. Most current estimates of N_r creation by lightning range between 3 and 10 Tg Nyr⁻¹ (Ehhalt *et al.*, 2001). Although this amount is small relative to terrestrial BNF, it can be important for regions that do not have other significant N_r sources. It is also important because it creates NO_x high in the free troposphere compared to NO_x emitted at the earth's surface. As a result, it has a longer atmospheric residence time and is more likely to contribute to tropospheric O₃ formation, which significantly impacts the oxidizing capacity of the atmosphere (Galloway *et al.*, 2004).

- Biological Nitrogen Fixation (BNF). Quantifying the magnitude of natural terrestrial Nr creation by BNF is tenuous owing most notably to uncertainty and variability in the estimates of rates of BNF at the plot scale. Specifically, methodological differences, uncertainties in spatial coverage of important N-fixing species, and locational biases in the study of BNF all suggest critical gaps in understanding of natural BNF at large scales (Cleveland *et al.* 1999). In addition, for many large areas where BNF is likely to be important, particularly in the tropical regions of Asia, Africa, and South America, there are virtually no data on natural terrestrial rates of BNF. An annual global BNF contribute between 100 and 290 Tg Nyr⁻¹ to natural terrestrial ecosystems prior to large-scale human disturbance was estimated (Galloway *et al.*, 2004).
- Anthropogenic reactive nitrogen. From the middle of the 19th century to the end of the 20th century, the world's population increased ~4.5-fold, from 1.3 to 5.8 billion. Cultivation-induced Nr creation increased by only ~2-fold from ~15 Tg Nyr⁻¹ in 1860 to ~33 Tg Ny⁻¹ in the mid-1990s (Smil, 1999). Symbiotic BNF by Rhizobium associated with seed legumes resulted in 10 Tg Nyr⁻¹ (8–12 Tg Nyr⁻¹) of new nitrogen. Biofixation by leguminous cover crops (forages and green manures such as clover, alfalfa, vetches) accounted for an additional 12 Tg Nyr⁻¹ (10–14 Tg Nyr⁻¹) of new nitrogen. As Smil noted, biofixation by non-Rhizobium nitrogen-fixing species was of less importance, fixing on the order of 4Tg Nyr⁻¹ (2–6 Tg Nyr⁻¹). Cyanobacteria fixed on the order of 4–6 Tg Nyr⁻¹ in wet-rice fields, while endophytic N-fixing organisms in sugar cane fixed an additional 1–3 Tg Nyr⁻¹. The global total from cultivation is thus ~33 Tg Nyr⁻¹ within a range of 25–41 Tg Nyr⁻¹ (Smil 1999). Applying Smil's crop-specific mean fixation rates to the crop area data on a regional basis from FAO (2002), Galloway *et al.* (2004) estimated that for 1995 that total global C-BNF was 31.5 Tg Nyr⁻¹, very similar to Smil's value of 33 Tg Nyr⁻¹. Relative to cultivation-induced BNF, about three times as much Nr was created with the Haber-Bosch process. In 1995, 100 Tg N of NH₃ was created for food production and other industrial activities.

Of this amount, about 86% (~86 Tg Ny⁻¹) was used to make fertilizers. The remaining 14 Tg Nyr⁻¹ was dispersed to the environment during processing or used in the manufacture of synthetic fibers, refrigerants, explosives, plastics, rocket fuels, nitroparaffins, etc. (Smil, 1999; Domene and Ayres, 2001). As with the production of fertilizer, this also represents creation of new N_r that is introduced into environmental systems. The increase in energy production by fossil fuels resulted in increased NO_x emissions from 0.3 Tg Nyr⁻¹ in 1860 to ~24.5 Tg Nyr⁻¹ in the early 1990s. (Galloway *et al.*, 2004).

Several studies have also been carried out to quantify the reactive nitrogen distribution via atmospheric and hydrologic pathways, providing a context to evaluate the extent to which human intervention in the nitrogen cycle has substantially changed the nitrogen distribution on a global and regional basis.

A synthesis that proposes a global reference model was made by Galloway *et al.* (2004) in which it is noted that, from the middle of the 19th century to the end of the 20th century, the amount of N_r created by natural terrestrial processes decreased by ~15% (120 to ~107 Tg Nyr⁻¹), while N_r creation by anthropogenic processes increased by ~10-fold (~15 to ~156 Tg Nyr⁻¹), and it is stressed that much of the N_r created was dispersed to the environment.

With reference to the estimates for the early 1990s, Galloway *et al.* (2004) pointed out that, of the ~268 Tg Nyr⁻¹ created by natural terrestrial and anthropogenic processes, ~98 Tg Nyr⁻¹ of NO_x and NH₃ was emitted to the atmosphere. Of that amount, ~65 Tg Nyr⁻¹ was deposited back to continents and ~33 Tg Nyr⁻¹ was deposited either to the estuary and shelf region (~8Tg Nyr⁻¹) or to the open ocean (~25 Tg Nyr⁻¹). An additional ~59 Tg Nyr⁻¹ was injected into inland (11 Tg Nyr⁻¹) and coastal (48 Tg Nyr⁻¹) systems via rivers. Thus, losses of N_r from continents to the marine environment were estimated as ~81 Tg Nyr⁻¹ from atmospheric and riverine transport. According to research results, rivers are considered more important than atmospheric deposition in delivering N_r to coastal/shelf regions (~48 Tg Nyr⁻¹ versus ~8Tg Nyr⁻¹, respectively). Conversely, since most of the N_r introduced to coastal systems is converted to N₂ along the continental margins, the atmosphere is more important than rivers in delivering N_r to the open ocean.

Always according to the estimates of Galloway *et al.* (2004) a small (~11 Tg Nyr⁻¹), yet environmentally important, amount of the N_r created, in the early 1990s, is emitted to the atmosphere as N₂O from continents, estuaries, and the shelf region, where a portion (~25%) accumulates in the troposphere until eventual destruction in the stratosphere. Thus, of the ~268 Tg Nyr⁻¹ of new N_r that entered continents, ~81 Tg Nyr⁻¹ was transferred to the marine environment via atmospheric and

riverine transport and ~12 Tg Nyr⁻¹ was emitted to the atmosphere as N₂O. Of the remaining 175 Tg Nyr⁻¹ of N_r was estimated that ~115 Tg Nyr⁻¹ is converted to N₂ and that ~60 Tg Nyr⁻¹ is accumulating in terrestrial systems.

The above data regarding the creation of reactive nitrogen and the its flows between the different environmental compartments are represented in the Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3. Creation and flow of reactive nitrogen between environmental compartments for the early 1990s [Tg Nyr¹]. All shaded boxes represent reservoirs of nitrogen species in the atmosphere. Creation of N_r is depicted with bold arrows from the N_2 reservoir to the N_r reservoir (depicted by the dotted box). 'N-BNF' is biological nitrogen fixation within natural ecosystems, 'C-BNF' is biological nitrogen fixation within agroecosystems. Denitrification creation of N_2 from N_r within the dotted box is also shown with bold arrows. All arrows that do not leave the dotted box represent inter-reservoir exchanges of N_r . The dashed arrows within the dotted box associated with NH_x represent natural emissions of NH_3 that are re-deposited on fast time-scales to the oceans and continents. Adapted from Galloway et al. (2004).

In addition to the above reported with reference to the early 1990s, the research of Galloway *et al.* (2004) also produced an estimate of reactive nitrogen streams in the mid-1800s, reference year 1860, and a projection to 2050 in order to provide an indication of the trend of data related to the nitrogen budget. A summary of the estimates made is reported in the Table 1.1 with reference to the three time horizons.

	1860	Early 1990s	2050
N _r creation			
Natural			
Lighting	5.4	5.4	5.4
BNF-terestrial	120.0	107.0	98.0
BNF-marine	121.0	121.0	121.0
Subtotal	246.0	233.0	224.0
Anthropogenic			
Haber-Bosch	0	100.0	165.0
BNF-cultivation	15.0	31.5	50.0
Fossil fuel combustion	0.3	24.5	52.2
Subtotal	15.0	156.0	267.0
Total	262.0	389.0	492.0
Atmospheric emission			
NO _x			
Fossil fuel combustion	0.3	24.5	52.2
Lightning	5.4	5.4	5.4
Other emissions	7.4	16.1	23.9
NH ₃			
Terrestrial	14.9	52.6	113.0
Marine	5.6	5.6	5.6
N_2O			
Terrestrial	8.1	10.9	13.1 ±?
Marine	3.9	4.3	5.1
Total (NO _x and NH ₃)	13.1	46.0	82.0
Atmospheric deposition NOy			
Terrestrial	6.6	24.8	42.2
Marine	6.2	21.0	36.3
Subtotal	12.8	45.8	78.5
NH _x			
Terrestrial	10.8	38.7	83
Marine	8.0	18.0	33.1
Subtotal	18.8	56.7	116.1
Total	31.6	103.0	195.0
Riverine fluxes			
N _r input into rivers	69.8	118.1	149.8
Nr export to inland systems	7.9	11.3	11.7
N _r export to coastal areas	27.0	47.8	63.2
Denitrification			
Continental			
Terrestrial		67.0	95.0
Riverine		47.8	63.2
Subtotal	98.0	115.0	158.0
Estuary and shelf			
Riverine nitrate	27.0	47.8	63.2
Open ocean nitrate	145.0	145.0	145.0
Subtotal	172.0	193.0	208.0
Open ocean	129.0	129.0	129.0

Table 1.1. Global reactive nitrogen creation and distribution $[Tg N yr^{-1}]$ for three different reference time horizons. Adapted from Galloway et al. (2004).

Data give an indication of the expected evolution, especially in relation to the creation of reactive nitrogen by human activity: the analysis shows a forecast of more than 70% increase by 2050 of anthropogenic reactive nitrogen creation, while remaining stable the creation by natural way.

A synthesis of the analysis of the historical trend of creation is that made by Galloway *et al.* (2014), starting from the research of Erisman *et al.* (2011), who, for quantification, chose a per-capita approach, instead of global one, and distinguished three eras of N_r creation, as follows:

- The first era ended in 1950. Over the period 1850–1950, N_r creation increased roughly proportional to the population; per-capita N_r creation was constant at ~12 kg Nyr⁻¹.
- The second era (1950 to ~1980) was a period of a rapid increase in per-capita N_r creation. It rose from ~12 kg Nyr⁻¹ in 1950 to ~30 kg Nyr⁻¹ in 1980; at the same time, the global population continued to increase, pointing towards an even greater increase in total N_r creation. Reasons were the increasing use of fossil fuel energy and increased use of Haber–Bosch fertilizer with a decreasing use efficiency in support of the consumption of higher quality food, especially animal protein, while ignoring the nitrogen use efficiency.
- The third era (approximately 1980 to current) of the global per capita N_r creation reached a new equilibrium between population growth and N_r creation where the per-capita N_r creation remained at \sim 30 kg Nyr⁻¹ over this \sim 20 yr period and again, just like in the first period, N_r creation kept pace with population growth. Since the population growth now is much faster than in the first period so is N_r production. Total N_r creation continues to rise with an increasing global population. The stability in the overall per-capita N_r creation, relative to the previous \sim 20 yr, is remarkable, as it is a result of many individual underlying processes. The emissions from fossil fuel combustion decreased over the last few decades, due to efficient NO_x controls in many developed countries. In part due to increase in the nitrogen use efficiency of agricultural production as a result of environmental considerations, but also due to the cost of fertilizer activities, e.g., in OECD countries. The economic turnover in Eastern Europe also meant a strong decrease in fertilizer use and associated wastage in that part of the world. On the other hand, production of corn for biofuel, the strong increase in meat production and especially change in diets in large parts of the developing world caused significant increases in fertilizer use.

Worthy of note is also the analysis concerning the spatial heterogeneity of reactive nitrogen creation and distribution. In this regard, from the research of Galloway *et al.* (2004), emerges that overall, Asia, Europe, and North America account for nearly 90% of the current human increase in biological nitrogen fixation and use; thus the majority of the current focus on problems associated with an

accelerated nitrogen cycle should be on these regions. However, substantial increases are projected over the next 50 years for other regions of the world. As for the already heavily changed continents, it is essential to improve the understanding of the potential fates for additional nitrogen in these future hotspots. This statement is especially true for tropical regions, where nitrogen often is not the limiting nutrient even in little disturbed ecosystems (Martinelli *et al.*, 1999). This fact, combined with warm, often wet climates, can lead to high rates of nitrogen loss to atmospheric and aquatic realms, making it likely that even a modest rise in anthropogenic nitrogen inputs could lead to rapid increases in reactive nitrogen losses to air and water (Matson *et al.*, 1999).

With reference to the above mentioned data related to reactive nitrogen flows, it should be noted that the researchers agree that there is large uncertainty about the estimates related to storage and N_2 production via denitrification, and improved resolution of the partitioning of anthropogenic N_r is considered as a critical research priority. According to *Galloway et al.* (2004), the biggest unknown in the nitrogen cycle, in managed and unmanaged ecosystems, is the rate of denitrification and its relationship to reactive nitrogen creation rates and ecosystem characteristics that control N_r cycling and storage. Until a more complete understanding of the magnitude of nitrogen losses in managed and unmanaged ecosystems is gained, determining the true, ultimate fate and long-term impact of reactive nitrogen created by human actions will remain an important but unanswered scientific question.

1.4 The effects of nitrogen on the environment

An interesting starting point for introducing the theme of the relation between nitrogen and the environment is the concept of planetary boundary, an approach that aims to define a safe operating space for human societies to develop and thrive, based the evolving understanding of the functioning and resilience of the Earth system. Since its introduction, the framework has been subject to scientific scrutiny and has attracted considerable interest and discussions within the policy, governance, and business sectors as an approach to inform efforts toward global sustainability. (Steffen *et al.*, 2015). As can be seen from the Figure 1.4, the limit defined for the planetary boundary in relation to the nitrogen cycle is one of those which are today exceeded. The control variable for this indicator is defined as the "industrial and intentional biological fixation of N" and its current value is estimated at ~150 Tg N yr⁻¹ compared to an estimated planetary boundary equal to 62 Tg N yr⁻¹.



Figure 1.4. Current status of the control variables for seven of the nine planetary boundaries. The green zone is the safe operating space (below the boundary), yellow represents the zone of uncertainty (increasing risk), and red is the high-risk zone. The planetary boundary itself lies at the inner heavy circle. The control variables have been normalized for the zone of uncertainty (between the two heavy circles); the center of the figure therefore does not represent values of 0 for the control variables. The control variable shown for climate change is atmospheric CO_2 concentration. Processes for which global-level boundaries cannot yet be quantified are represented by gray wedges; these are atmospheric aerosol loading, novel entities, and the functional role of biosphere integrity. (Steffen et al., 2015).

Nature and biodiversity could only exist because of the availability of reactive nitrogen provided by limited natural sources such as lightning, biomass burning and biological nitrogen fixation. Because of the limited availability, nature became very effective in conserving and re-using reactive nitrogen compounds.

Nitrogen, together with other nutrients and water, is the limiting factor for the production of food. Humankind has sought for different ways to increase the crop production necessary for food to sustain a growing population, leading to the development of synthetic fertilizer production based on the Haber–Bosch process.

This additional availability of reactive nitrogen has led to increased crop production and to the intensification of agriculture: according to different research, the large increase in population is due to intensification and extension of agricultural land, but also due to the availability of fertilizers. An estimate of the current human population supported by synthetic fertilizer is 48%, 100 years after the

invention of the synthesis of ammonia from its elements (Smil, 1997; Erisman *et al.*, 2008), as shown in the Figure 1.5.



Figure 1.5. Trends in human population and nitrogen use throughout the twentieth century. Of the total world population (solid line), an estimate is made of the number of people that could be sustained without reactive nitrogen from the Haber–Bosch process (long dashed line), also expressed as a percentage of the global population (short dashed line). The recorded increase in average fertilizer use per hectare of agricultural land (blue symbols) and the increase in per capita meat production (green symbols) is also shown. Source: Erisman et al. (2008).

To maximize crop production, the availability of cheap fertilizer in the industrialized world led to excessive use of nitrogen, resulting in a large nitrogen surplus and increased nitrogen losses. As the use of fossil fuel in the industrial revolution expanded, fertilizer production increased similarly (see Figure 2.1). The industrial revolution was accelerated by the combustion of fossil fuels producing heat and power, but also polluting gases, such as carbon dioxide, sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxides. The use of fossil fuels led at the same time to an increase in the production of fertilizer through the Haber–Bosch process, and to a replacement of manpower by machines increasing the productivity and yield per hectare, further accelerating excess nitrogen. Furthermore, the availability of fossil fuels made globalization possible, transporting food, feed, goods and products all over the world, and

depleting nutrients in one area and concentrating nutrients in another area, e.g. in intensive livestock production (Galloway *et al* .,2008). These leakages from agriculture, industry and transport, in their turn, have led to a cascade of nitrogen through the global environment causing a number of different environmental effects: loss of biodiversity, eutrophication of waters and soils, drinking water pollution, acidification, greenhouse gas emissions, human health risks through exposure to oxidized nitrogen, ozone and particulates, and depletion of the ozone layer (Sutton *et al.*, 2011).

On a global scale, the need for nitrogen management has been formulated in the 2004 Nanjing Declaration, which was presented to the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) in Nanjing, China on October 2004. With the aim to optimize nitrogen management in food and energy production on a local, regional and global scale, the declaration calls upon the national governments for instance to:

- support the further assessment of the nitrogen cycle,
- focus efforts on increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of agricultural production and energy use, while decreasing the adverse effects of reactive nitrogen, and
- take action to enhance the availability of reactive nitrogen as food, fiber and other basic needs in regions of nitrogen deficiency and avoid nitrogen pollution.

From what has been presented in the preceding sections, it is clear that any strategy for the management of the issues related to the nitrogen cycle, at national or global level, should start from an understanding of the benefits and adverse effects on humans and ecosystems related to the use of reactive nitrogen in its various forms: these aspects are summarized in the following paragraphs.

1.4.1 Benefits of reactive nitrogen

Nitrogen is an essential component of many compounds found in living cells within plants, animals and humans. All nitrogen in animals and humans originates in one way or another from plants or microbes because only they have the ability to convert mineral forms of reactive nitrogen, such as nitrate and ammonium, into organic nitrogenous compounds such as amino acids and nucleotides, which are the building blocks of proteins and nucleic acids essential for life. The availability of these basic mineral forms of N_r is a key factor determining the productivity of crops for food, feed, fibre and bio-energy and hence for all human activities (Sutton *et al.*, 2011).

The provision of reactive nitrogen through mineral fertilizers has contributed greatly to the increased production of agricultural products needed to feed the increasing global population (Erisman *et al.*, 2008) and hence to food security. In 1900, world agriculture was able to sustain around 1.6 billion

people on 850 million ha of agricultural land using mainly extensive cultivation practices without mineral fertilizers. The same combination of agronomic practices extended to today's 1.5 billion ha cropland would feed around 3 billion people, i.e. no more than around 50% of the present population at the generally inadequate per capita level of year 1900 diets.

In this sense, the use of reactive nitrogen provides huge benefits for humankind, but in order to maximize these benefits (broadly intended, including economic as well as social, health and political values) the efficiency of use of nitrogen inputs should be optimized.

For the major cereal food crop in Europe, wheat, it can be estimated that the agronomic benefit obtained by application of nitrogen based fertilizer amounts to a yield increase from 86 to 150 million tons of grain per year (Sutton *et al.*, 2011), based on an average yield without mineral nitrogen fertilizer in ecological farming at 60%–70% of yield with mineral N fertilizer (Offermann and Nieberg, 2000).

Fertilizer nitrogen has also played a beneficial role in avoiding natural terrestrial ecosystems from being converted to cropping systems (Tilman *et al.*, 2002). At the global scale, land use changes due to replacement of forest or natural grasslands with agricultural cropland contribute significantly (6%– 17%) to greenhouse gas emissions because large amounts of carbon dioxide fixed or stored in soil organic matter are released upon cultivation. In comparison, the greenhouse gas emissions from production and use of mineral fertilizers are relatively small, constituting 0.8% and 1.3%, respectively. The estimated contribution of European agriculture to total greenhouse gas emissions is only around 10% and land use changes in Europe have been estimated to act as a net sink for greenhouse gases (Sutton *et al.*, 2011). However, this is solely driven by afforestation, with cropped land being a small net source of CO₂, although at a declining rate.

If less intensified agriculture becomes predominant in Europe, implying significantly lower or completely abandoning nitrogen fertilization, it may result in land use changes either within Europe or elsewhere in the world to compensate for the decrease in crop yields. Thus, some authors as Von Witzke and Noleppa (2010) demonstrated that increasing production of agricultural commodities in the EU would significantly reduce the current EU net food imports which have increased over the past decades, and hence also the associated import of 'virtual land use' around the world. From the same point of view, agricultural intensification may be viewed as a greenhouse gas mitigation mechanism and a measure for preserving natural habitats (Balmford *et al.*, 2005). Other authors (eg. Rudel *et al.*, 2009) investigated also the trends in crop yields and cultivated land areas for ten global

regions during the period 1990–2005, finding that agricultural intensification was not generally accompanied by a decline or stasis in cropland area at a national scale.

However, some researchers raised doubt (eg. Tilman *et al.*, 2002) that avoiding new cultivation of major areas of native land is crucial with respect to reducing the anticipated increase in atmospheric CO_2 levels originating from land use change. Economically and environmentally, sound nitrogen fertilization practices on the generally fertile and productive soils in the majority of European countries can contribute to this (Brentrup and Pallière, 2008) even if other factors will also play a significant role.

The pressure on native land may also be accentuated with the increased focus on replacing fossil energy with energy generated by biomass. The land area required to meet the EU target for bioethanol in vehicle fuels by 2020 (10% blending by volume, total consumption 101 million t gasoline) would be 9.5 million ha if optimally fertilized wheat was the source, but 16.7 million ha (out of a total arable area of 98 million ha) if not fertilized with nitrogen, supposing 60%–70% yield reduction. Extensification of agricultural production in Europe, in parallel with an increased European demand for bioenergy, may thus increase the pressure on land resources elsewhere in the world.

Fertilizer nitrogen inputs also affect the level of soil organic matter (SOM), albeit only in a long-term perspective and often relatively moderately (Raun *et al.*, 1998). Soil organic matter is one of the most important factors for soil fertility. This is the case because soil organic matter directly affects nutrient availability via mineralization of organically bound nitrogen, phosphorus and sulfur, via adsorption of cations and via complexation of trace elements. In addition, soil organic matter indirectly affects soil water dynamics, stability of soil aggregates, resilience against erosion and other deterioration processes (Sutton *et al.*, 2011).

Appropriate nitrogen inputs contribute significantly to maximizing the utilization of other costly inputs or resources for soil and crop management such as other nutrients, pesticides, labour, energy and capital as well as crop genetic potential (cultivars). Interactions between genetic potential, N, P and K application were studied, among the others, by Johnston and Poulton (2009) who demonstrated that the nitrogen application clearly interacts with phosphorus application, resulting in larger nitrogen use efficiency when phosphorus was also applied.

Finally, benefits of nitrogen also emerge via the very important use of nitrogen products in the manufacture of explosives, nylon and acrylic fibers, methacrylate and other plastics, foamed insulation and plastics, electronics, metal plating, gold mining, animal feed supplements, herbicides, and many pharmaceuticals (Maxwell, 2004). Other uses of reactive nitrogen compounds involve

ammonia for the abatement of atmospheric NO_x and SO_2 emissions as well as a refrigerant for cooling, especially in connection with food storage. Ammonium-phosphates and ammonium-sulphates are components of metallurgy for welding and firefighting. Despite these important applications, the consumption of reactive nitrogen for industrial use only constitutes around one third of the total European budget, the dominating uses being crop and livestock production (Sutton *et al.*, 2011).

1.4.2 Negative effects of reactive nitrogen

Besides the benefits of the use of nitrogen compounds, as described in the previous paragraph, must be taken into account that nitrogen, in its various chemical forms, plays a major role in a great number of environmental issues. It contributes to acidification and eutrophication of soil, groundwater and surface waters, decreasing ecosystem vitality and biodiversity and causing groundwater pollution through nitrate leaching. Nitrogen compounds give a contribution to carbon sequestration, global climate change, and formation of ozone, oxidants and aerosols, potentially posing a threat to human health and affecting visibility. Each of the emissions takes part in the cycling of nitrogen causing a number of different effects with its consequent linkages.

In principle, every pollutant can cause a cascade of effects; however, nitrogen stands out, because it can occur in many very mobile compounds that can cause a wide range of effects. For example, reactive nitrogen emitted to the atmosphere from fossil fuel combustion, in sequence can cause increasing of tropospheric ozone levels and atmospheric acidity and decreasing of visibility. Once deposited from the atmosphere, reactive nitrogen compounds can acidify soils and waters, overfertilize forests, grassland and coastal ecosystems, and can then be re-emitted to the atmosphere as nitrous oxide contributing to global warming and stratospheric ozone depletion. The environmental changes will continue as long as N_r remains in circulation, for reactive nitrogen once created, and then lost to the environment, can be transported to any part of the Earth system. This sequence of effects has been termed the nitrogen cascade (see Figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6. Illustration of the nitrogen cascade showing the sequential effects that nitrogen can have in various reservoirs after it has been converted from a nonreactive to a reactive form. Adapted from Galloway et al. (2003).

While some environmental problems are strictly local, like soil and ground water pollution or exposure to high concentrations, nitrogen-related problems include the regional to global scales. The emissions of N₂O readily spread across the atmosphere and give a contribution to global warming. NO_x has a continental character and can be transported over long distances between continents; to a lesser extent; NH₃ has also a continental character, but smaller intercontinental exchange. The scale of nitrogen problems in estuaries and coastal seas, instead, is linked to the extent of the river basin feeding them (Sutton *et al.*, 2011).

1.4.2.1 Climate change

As reported by IPCC (see Pachauri *et al*, 2014), climate change refers to a change in the state of the climate that can be identified (e.g., by using statistical tests) by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties, and that persists for an extended period, typically decades or longer. The Earth's climate system is powered by solar radiation. Approximately half of the energy from the sun is supplied in the visible part of the electromagnetic spectrum. As the earth's temperature has
been relatively constant over many centuries, the incoming solar energy must be nearly in balance with outgoing radiation. Of the incoming solar shortwave radiation (SWR), about half is absorbed by the earth's surface. The fraction of SWR reflected back to space by gases and aerosols, clouds and by the earth's surface (albedo) is approximately 30%, and about 20% is absorbed in the atmosphere. Based on the temperature of the earth's surface the majority of the outgoing energy flux from the earth is in the infrared part of the spectrum. The longwave radiation (LWR, also referred to as infrared radiation) emitted from the earth's surface is largely absorbed by certain atmospheric constituents – water vapour, carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and other greenhouse gases (GHGs) – and clouds, which themselves emit LWR into all directions. The downward directed component of this LWR adds heat to the lower layers of the atmosphere and to the earth's surface (greenhouse effect). The main identified drivers of climate change are represented in the following Figure 1.7.



Figure 1.7. Main drivers of climate change. The radiative balance between incoming solar shortwave radiation (SWR) and outgoing longwave radiation (OLR) is influenced by global climate 'drivers'. Natural fluctuations in solar output (solar cycles) can cause changes in the energy balance (through fluctuations in the amount of incoming SWR). Human activity changes the emissions of gases and aerosols, which are involved in atmospheric chemical reactions, resulting in modified O_3 and aerosol amounts. O_3 and aerosol particles absorb, scatter and reflect SWR, changing the energy balance. Some aerosols act as cloud condensation nuclei modifying the properties of cloud droplets and possibly affecting precipitation. Anthropogenic changes in GHGs and large aerosols (>2.5 μ m in size) modify the amount of outgoing LWR by absorbing outgoing LWR and re-emitting less energy at a lower temperature. Surface albedo is changed by changes in vegetation or land surface properties, snow or ice cover and ocean colour. These changes are driven by natural seasonal and diurnal changes (e.g., snow cover), as well as human influence (e.g., changes in vegetation types) (Forster et al., 2007).

Changes in the global energy budget derive from either changes in the net incoming solar radiation or changes in the outgoing longwave radiation. Changes in the net incoming solar radiation derive from changes in the sun's output of energy or changes in the earth's albedo. Reliable measurements of total solar irradiance (TSI) can be made only from space, and the precise record extends back only to 1978: the generally accepted mean value of the TSI is about 1361 Wm⁻² (Kopp and Lean, 2011). Changes in the outgoing LWR can result from changes in the temperature of the earth's surface or atmosphere or changes in the emissivity (measure of emission efficiency) of LWR from either the atmosphere or the earth's surface. For the atmosphere, these changes in emissivity are due predominantly to changes in cloud cover and cloud properties, in GHGs and in aerosol concentrations. The radiative energy budget of the earth is almost in balance, but ocean heat content and satellite measurements indicate a small positive imbalance (Murphy *et al.*, 2009; Trenberth *et al.*, 2009; Hansen *et al.*, 2011) that is consistent with the rapid changes in the atmospheric composition.

In addition, some aerosols increase atmospheric reflectivity, whereas others (e.g., particulate black carbon) are strong absorbers also modifying SWR.

Humans enhance the greenhouse effect directly by emitting GHGs such as CO₂, CH₄, N₂O and chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs). In addition, pollutants such as carbon monoxide, volatile organic compounds, nitrogen oxides and sulphur dioxide, which by themselves are negligible GHGs, have an indirect effect on the greenhouse effect by altering, through atmospheric chemical reactions, the abundance of important gases to the amount of outgoing LWR such as CH₄ and ozone, and/or by acting as precursors of secondary aerosols.

With particular reference to the effects on climate change associated with nitrogen-containing gas emissions, the increasing N₂O production plays an important role in the global warming issue, since N₂O is a powerful greenhouse gas. Nitrous oxide has emerged as such a major GHG issue from agriculture and there has been some debate about the validity of the emission factors used within IPCC (see e.g. Crutzen *et al.*, 2016).

Data related to the changes observed in atmospheric greenhouse gas concentrations are represented in the chart of the Figure 1.8.



Figure 1.8. Observed changes in atmospheric greenhouse gas concentrations. Atmospheric concentrations of carbon dioxide (green), methane (orange), and nitrous oxide (red). Data from ice cores (symbols) and direct atmospheric measurements (lines) are overlaid. Source: IPCC Synthesis report (Pachauri et al, 2014).

Apart from N_2O , there are indications that other chemical forms of nitrogen are emitted that could have a major impact on the global warming potential. Nitrogen trifluoride (NF₃) is about 17.000 times more potent than carbon dioxide.

Weiss *et al.* (2008) demonstrated an increase in the atmospheric concentrations of NF₃ from 0.02 ppt in 1978 to 0.454 ppt in 2008. Their latest measurements reveal a rate of increase of 0.053 ppt yr⁻¹ or about 11% per year, corresponding to about 620 t of global NF₃ emissions annually.

Other impacts of nitrogen on the GHG emissions and the net GWP include the effect on carbon sequestration in waters, soils and plants, the effect on aerosol formation causing a direct and indirect cooling effect (through clouds) on the radiation balance and the effect on the emissions of other GHG, such as methane. De Vries *et al.* (2008) for example estimated that the effect of nitrogen deposition on the net GHG emissions for European forests yielded a net reduction in GWP through the additional sequestration of CO₂. Recent debate has focused on the response of forests to this effect. The reported amounts of carbon stored per kg of nitrogen added show a large range from 40 to 400 kg C per kg N deposition (Högberg, 2007; Magnani *et al.*, 2007; De Vries *et al.*, 2008; Reay *et al.*, 2008).

Climate change is one example where the multifaceted interactions of nitrogen cycle with other cycles and elements are understood, as the roles of N_2O and tropospheric O_3 (enhanced due to increased

39

NO_x emissions) are well understood as a contributing factor in greenhouse gas emissions. However, for other issues, there is a poor understanding of the role of the nitrogen cycle, including its place in the process of carbon sequestration and the interactions among the nitrogen, carbon and phosphorus cycles (Gruber and Galloway, 2008).

1.4.2.2 Eutrophication of terrestrial ecosystems

Eutrophication caused by airborne nitrogen pollution is currently considered the most important impact of air pollution on ecosystems and biodiversity. Excessive atmospheric deposition of nitrogen to ecosystems results in loss of sensitive species, increased growth of species that benefit from high nutrient levels, changes to habitat structure and function, the homogenization of vegetation types (EEA, 2016).

The deposition of N_r is far above levels that the ecosystems are able to absorb and handle without adverse consequences for its vitality. Many ecosystems have changed from nitrogen limited systems to nitrogen saturated systems where nitrogen is not limiting any longer. Long-term high nitrogen deposition loads to ecosystems will also lead to nitrogen leaching into groundwater and surface water runoffs (Sutton *et al.*, 2011).

The EU Thematic Strategy on Air Pollution includes an objective for 2020, relative to 2000, of a 43% reduction in areas or ecosystems exposed to eutrophication, areas where eutrophication critical loads are exceeded: the reference measure for this objective is the area in exceedance in 2000. This is in line with the long-term objective of not exceeding critical loads (EEA, 2016).

In 2000, the area of ecosystems where the critical load was exceeded was about 78% of the total in the EU Member States (approximately 60 % in all 33 EEA member countries for which data were available, including the 28 EU Member States) and decreased in 2010 to 63 % in the EU (55 % in all 33 EEA member countries). Assuming that current legislation is fully implemented, the area in exceedance is projected to be 54 % in the EU (48 % in all 33 EEA member countries) in 2020. The reduction is approximately 31 % for the EU, as well as for all the 33 EEA member countries, between 2000 and 2020, which is below the 43 % reduction milestone suggested by the air pollution thematic strategy for this period. Nevertheless, the magnitude of the exceedance is projected to reduce considerably in most areas, except for a few 'hot spot' areas, particularly in Belgium, Germany and the Netherlands, as well as in northern Italy. The risk of eutrophication increases slightly when only Natura 2000 protected areas are addressed (EEA, 2016).

Analyzing in detail the emissions of specific pollutants in EU, nitrogen oxide emissions decreased by approximately 43 % between 2000 and 2014. This reduction has been primarily due to the introduction of three-way catalytic converters for cars. However, emission reductions from modern vehicles have not been as large as was originally anticipated. Standard diesel vehicles, for example, can emit up to seven times more NO in real-world conditions than in official tests (Pastorello and Melios, 2016).

NH emissions have not fallen by as much. In 2014, they had fallen by approximately 9 % compared with their value in 2000 for the EU. Agriculture sector dominates emissions of NH₃; amounting to approximately 95 % of total emissions in the EEA-33 region. Emissions primarily arise from the decomposition of urea in animal wastes and uric acid in poultry wastes.

A key driver behind the observed reductions was the implementation of the National Emission Ceilings Directive, which regulates, inter alia, emissions of the eutrophying air pollutants NO_x and NH_3 . However, eutrophying emissions not only from the agriculture and road transport sectors but also from shipping and air travel have been and will remain significant contributors to eutrophication caused by air pollution.

Further reductions in eutrophying air pollutant emissions are expected, inter alia, as a result of the 2012 amended Gothenburg Protocol, which sets air pollutant emission ceilings for 202. Nevertheless, the decreases anticipated for 2020 are not expected to contribute sufficiently to reductions in the ecosystem area exposed to excess nitrogen deposition and affected by eutrophication. In 2020, more than 50 % of the ecosystem areas are expected to be at risk of eutrophication in the EU.

The 2020 thematic strategy objective will therefore not be met unless additional measures to mitigate nitrogen emissions are introduced, through further specific and targeted measures, particularly in the agriculture and transport sectors. Dietary changes resulting in less meat and dairy farming and the reduced use of petrol and diesel in cars could also contribute to reductions. (EEA, 2016).

1.4.2.3 Eutrophication of marine ecosystems

Pollution of coastal seas occurs by the influx of nitrates and Dissolved Organic Nitrogen (DON) through – often transboundary – rivers and by atmospheric deposition. Spatially explicit, quantitative assessments of nitrogen inputs to coastal waters and marine ecosystems are not developed in most large-scale assessment reports. However, there are published studies of nitrogen inputs for individual estuaries in some regions as well as spatially explicit regional and global river nitrogen export models that provide considerable information (eg. Peierls *et al.*, 1991; Meybeck and Ragu, 1995; Smith *et*

al., 2003). These studies has highlighted the large variation among rivers, both in terms of nitrogen flux density (kg N/km watershed/yr) and nitrogen load (kg N/watershed/yr), and made it possible to develop a more refined understanding of patterns of nitrogen export at local, regional and global scales. There is considerable spatial variation at local, regional and global scales in the magnitude of nitrogen loading (amount per watershed) as well as nitrogen yield (amount per unit area of watershed) from watersheds to coastal systems (Figure 1.9), with many hotspots around the world.



Figure 1.9. Increase in nitrogen transport to river mouth between 1980 and 2000 (Reid et al., 2005).

It is clear from the map that Europe forms a hot spot in the world with about the highest increases in nitrogen transport to the river mouth. These hot spots are the result of the growing nitrogen surplus, especially in agriculture. The source contribution varies very much among the different river deltas. In addition, the environmental influence on transboundary outputs is variable.

The amount of nutrients entering the oceans tend to vary significantly over time and from region to region, as do the actions to control the environmental impact. Nutrient enrichment between 1960 and 1980 in the developed regions of Europe, North America, Asia and Oceania resulted in major changes in coastal ecosystems. Estuaries and bays are most affected, but eutrophication is also apparent over large areas of semi-enclosed seas, including the Baltic, North Adriatic and Black Seas in Europe, the Gulf of Mexico and the Seto Inland Sea in Japan (Sutton *et al.*, 2011).

1.4.2.4 Acidification of soils

Acidification of soils, caused by the disturbance of the S and N cycles, is the process of replacement of base cations at the soil's cation exchange complex (CEC) by hydrogen ions.

Although it is mainly attributed to deposition of S compounds, this environmental impact can also be caused by nitrogen compounds: similar to SO_2 , input of N in the form of NO_y has a direct acidifying effect, while N inputs as NH_x can be a further source of acidity as a result of nitrification and biological uptake of ammonium (van Breemen *et al.*, 1983).

Inputs of acidifying compounds may lead in the long term to losses of soil buffer capacity by loss of cations, lower pH, increased leaching of nitrate accompanied by base cations, increased concentrations of toxic metals (e.g. aluminium) and changes in the balance between nitrogen species (Reuss and Johnson, 2012).

Acidification makes forests more vulnerable to other stress factors such as frost, drought and pests. A complex multi-causal mechanism is thought to be responsible for the reduced vitality of forests (see e.g., Heij *et al.*, 1991), such as acidification combined with nutrient imbalances and deficiencies caused by N inputs and direct effects of exposure of leaves to air pollutants.

1.4.2.5 Tropospheric ozone formation

The effects on the environment associated with ozone varies depending on the atmospheric section (troposphere or stratosphere) affected by the reactions involving ozone and chemicals that facilitate its formation or destruction.

Unlike some other pollutants of concern such as CO or SO₂, ozone is a secondary pollutant formed in the ambient air through a complex set of sunlight-initiated reactions of its precursors: globally, the majority of tropospheric O₃ comes from photochemical reactions of methane, volatile organic compounds and NO_x, which are largely from anthropogenic emissions. A minor component (approximately 10%) of tropospheric O₃ comes from stratospheric influx. Background O₃ concentration has risen from less than ~10 ppb before the industrial revolution to daytime summer concentrations exceeding 40 ppb in many parts of the northern hemisphere.

In particular, photodissociation of NO_2 by sunlight is most significant anthropogenic source of O_3 in photochemical smog (Finlayson-Pitts, 1993):

$$NO_2 + h\nu \ (\lambda < 430 \ nm) \rightarrow NO + 0 \tag{1.6}$$

$$0 + 0_2 \xrightarrow{M} 0_3 \quad , \tag{1.7}$$

where:

- *M* is any third molecule which is needed to stabilize the excited intermediate formed on the addition of O to O_2 .

Tropospheric ozone is a damaging air pollutant that significantly impacts human and ecosystem health, and is also an important greenhouse gas responsible for direct radiative forcing on the climate. It is estimated to have been responsible for 5%-16% of the global temperature change since preindustrial times and is the second-most important air pollutant (after particulate matter) in causing human mortality and morbidity impacts to human health; globally, an estimated 0.7 million deaths per year are attributed to anthropogenic O₃ pollution

The damaging effects of O_3 on photosynthetic carbon assimilation, stomatal conductance, and plant growth feed forward to reduce crop yields; forests and natural ecosystems are also negatively impacted by current O_3 concentrations, which have downstream consequences for ecosystem goods and service (Ainsworth *et al.*, 2012).

1.4.2.6 Stratospheric ozone depletion

Ozone, like water vapour and carbon dioxide, is an important and naturally occurring greenhouse gas; that is, it absorbs and emits radiation in the thermal infrared, trapping heat to warm the earth's surface In contrast to the so-called well-mixed greenhouse gases (WMGHGs), stratospheric ozone has two distinguishing properties. First, its relatively short chemical lifetime means that it is not uniformly mixed throughout the atmosphere and therefore its distribution is controlled by both dynamical and chemical processes. In fact, unlike the WMGHGs, ozone is produced entirely within the atmosphere rather than being emitted into it. Second, it is a very strong absorber of short wavelength UV radiation. The ozone layer's absorption of this UV radiation leads to the characteristic increase of temperature with altitude in the stratosphere and, in consequence, to a strong resistance to vertical motion. As well as ozone's role in climate, it also has more direct links to humans: its absorption of UV radiation protects much of earth's biota from this potentially damaging short wavelength radiation. The distribution of ozone in the atmosphere is maintained by a balance between photochemical production and loss, and by transport between regions of net production and net loss.

As for the chemical aspect, stratospheric ozone is produced naturally by photolysis of molecular oxygen at ultraviolet wavelengths below 242 nm:

$$0_2 + h\nu \ (\lambda < 242 \ nm) \to 0 + 0 \ .$$
 (1.8)

The atomic oxygen produced in this reaction reacts rapidly with O₂ to form ozone:

$$0 + 0_2 \xrightarrow{M} 0_3 \quad , \tag{1.9}$$

where *M* denotes a collision partner, not affected by the reaction.

O₃ itself is rapidly photolyzed:

$$0_3 + h\nu \rightarrow 0 + 0_2$$
 (1.10)

 O_3 and O establish a rapid photochemical equilibrium through reactions (1.9) and (1.0), and together are called 'odd oxygen'. Finally, in this sequence of reactions (known as the Chapman reactions), ozone is removed by:

$$0 + 0_3 \rightarrow 20_2 \quad . \tag{1.11}$$

A number of different chemical regimes can be identified for ozone. In the upper stratosphere, the ozone distribution arises from a balance between production following photolysis of molecular oxygen and destruction via a number of catalytic cycles involving hydrogen, nitrogen and halogen radical species.

The halogens arise mainly from anthropogenic ozone-depleting substances (ODSs – CFCs, HCFCs and halons). In the upper stratosphere, the rates of ozone destruction depend on temperature and on the concentrations of the radical species. In the lower stratosphere, reactions on aerosols become important. The distribution of the radicals (and the partitioning of the nitrogen, hydrogen and halogen species between radicals and 'reservoirs' that do not destroy ozone) can be affected by heterogeneous and multiphase chemistry acting on condensed matter (liquid and solid particles). At the low

temperature of the wintertime polar lower stratosphere, this is the chemistry that leads to the ozone hole (de Jager *et al.*, 2005).

With regard, in particular, to nitrogen compounds, the primary source of stratospheric NO_x is surface N_2O emissions. Nitrous oxide shares many similarities with the CFCs, historically the dominant ODSs. The CFCs and N_2O are very stable in the troposphere, where they are emitted, and are transported to the stratosphere where they release active chemicals that destroy stratospheric ozone through chlorine or nitrogen oxide catalyzed processes.

Unlike CFCs, N_2O also has natural sources, akin to methyl bromide, which is another important ODS. In spite of these similarities between N_2O and previously recognized ODSs and in spite of the recognition of the impact of N_2O on stratospheric ozone, N_2O has not been considered, from a legislative point of view, to be an ODS in the same sense as chlorine- and bromine-containing source gases.

1.4.2.7 Particulate matter formation

Airborne particulate matter represents a complex mixture of organic and inorganic substances.

Mass and composition in urban environments tend to be divided into two principal groups: coarse particles and fine particles. The barrier between these two fractions of particles usually lies between 1 μ m and 2.5 μ m. However, the limit between coarse and fine particles is sometimes fixed by convention at 2.5 μ m in aerodynamic diameter (PM_{2.5}) for measurement purposes. The smaller particles contain the secondarily formed aerosols (gas-to-particle conversion), combustion particles and recondensed organic and metal vapours. The larger particles usually contain earth crust materials and fugitive dust from roads and industries. The fine fraction contains most of the acidity (hydrogen ion) and mutagenic activity of particulate matter, although in fog some coarse acid droplets are also present. Whereas most of the mass is usually in the fine mode (particles between 100 nm and 2.5 μ m), the largest number of particles is found in the very small sizes, less than 100 nm (World Health Organization, 2003).

As for the composition, the main constituents of both PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ all over Europe are generally organic matter, SO_4^{2-} and NO_3^{--} . Mineral dust and sea salt are the main constituents of PM coarse (Putaud *et al.*, 2010).

With regard to the impacts attributable to the particulate matter, the researches show that fine particles (commonly measured as $PM_{2.5}$) are strongly associated with mortality and other endpoints such as hospitalization for cardio-pulmonary disease; a smaller body of evidence suggests that coarse mass

also has some effects on health. Few epidemiological studies have furthermore addressed interactions of PM with other pollutants: toxicological and controlled human exposure studies have shown additive and in some cases, more than additive effects, especially for combinations of PM and ozone, and of PM (especially diesel particles) and allergens. Finally, studies of atmospheric chemistry demonstrate that PM interacts with gases to alter its composition and hence its toxicity (World Health Organization, 2003).

Combustion of fuels is a large primary anthropogenic source of particulate matter; sources of secondary PM precursors (gases leading to particulate matter through atmospheric reactions) include gaseous vegetative emissions, motor vehicle emissions, and wood-smoke emissions. Reduced sulfur and nitrogen compounds are oxidized to the particulate components sulfate and nitrate, respectively.

1.4.2.8 Effects of nitrogen on human health

Excess nitrogen inputs to land, air and water can influence human health and welfare in both direct and indirect ways. Some such connections are well known. For example, exposure to high levels of NO_x in urban areas or along roads cause human health problems; the effects of nitrogen-driven increases in tropospheric O_3 and in particulate matter were also presented in the previous paragraphs. Excess nitrate in drinking water may also pose risks for some types of cancer and reproductive problems, though epidemiological data on these links remains too sparse to draw firm conclusions and there is considerable debate and a lack of consensus on the interpretation of medical evidence (van Grinsven *et al.*, 2006; Ward, 2005). In this regard, it is also necessary to emphasize that nitrate intake through drinking water is only part of the total dietary intake, with the main dietary intake of nitrate for many people being from vegetables and meats.

Likewise, uncertainties do not allow an estimate of the health losses related to methemoglobinemia due to drinking water nitrate. Evidence is emerging for possible benefits of nitrate/nitrite as a potential pharmacological tool for cardiovascular health (Wink and Paolocci, 2008).

Although it is not yet possible to estimate net health loss due to nitrate, it is possible to make estimates of potential exposure. Based on data reported to the European Commission about the implementation of the Drinking Water Directive and data on the present nitrate levels in groundwater at drinking water extraction depths, the population in ten west European countries potentially exposed to drinking water exceeding the 50 mg/l nitrate standard, or the 3 mg/l nitrite standard, was estimated at over 9 million (2.7%).

Other feedbacks remain poorly known but are potentially important and costly, including the possible effects of excess nutrients on human infectious and parasitic diseases (Townsend *et al.*, 2003). Diseases that show signs of change following N (and/or P) caused eutrophication include malaria, west Nile virus, cholera and schistosomiasis. These effects are more relevant for other parts in the world. In Europe and in parts of Asia and the USA the exposure of humans to NO_x and PM and the intake of NO_3 is certainly the main threat. Nonetheless, the facts that tropical regions will experience marked increases in nutrient loading and also contain the greatest diversity of human parasitic and infectious diseases highlights the need to understand these connections (McKenzie and Townsend, 2007).

Finally, according to Sanchez and Swaminathan (2005), it is important to note that a healthy immune system requires adequate nutrition, thus one of the most critical links between fixed nitrogen and many tropical diseases may be via its greater supply in fertilizer to undernourished regions (Sutton *et al.*, 2011).

1.5 Nitrogen in the European legislative framework

To conclude the introductory discussion on nitrogen, in this section are reported the main legislative references, at European level, for the management of environmental aspects and the reduction of impacts related to nitrogen emissions in the various environmental compartments.

1.5.1 Industrial emissions

In relation to industrial emissions, the European Union recently issued the *Directive 2010/75/EU* of the European Parliament and the Council on industrial emissions (*the Industrial Emissions Directive or IED*). This represents the main EU instrument regulating pollutant emissions from industrial installations. The IED is based on a Commission proposal recasting 7 previously existing directives (including in particular the IPPC Directive) following an extensive review of the policy. The IED entered into force on 6 January 2011 and had to be transposed by Member States by 7 January 2013. The IED aims to achieve a high level of protection of human health and the environment taken as a whole by reducing harmful industrial emissions across the EU, in particular through better application of Best Available Techniques (BAT). Around 50.000 installations undertaking the industrial activities listed in Annex I of the IED are required to operate in accordance with a permit (granted by the

authorities in the Member States). This permit should contain conditions set in accordance with the principles and provisions of the IED.

The IED is based on several pillars, in particular:

- an integrated approach,
- use of best available techniques,
- flexibility,
- inspections,
- public participation.

Within this directive is also set up and managed the European Pollutant Release and Transfer Register (E-PRTR): by this instrument, emission data reported by Member States are made accessible in a public register intended to provide environmental information on major industrial activities All relevant emissions from industrial plants, including emissions of nitrogen compounds, are managed and limited within the general framework defined by the IED Directive and by the transposition legislative instruments adopted by Member States.

More information and details are available at the specific official web-site:

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/industry/stationary/ied/legislation.htm.

1.5.2 Air emissions from transport

The air pollutant emissions from transport are a significant contribution to the overall state of air quality in Europe: emission of nitrogen compounds are very relevant from this point of view, in relation to the environmental impacts presented in the previous section. Specifically, emissions of particulate matter (PM), nitrogen oxides (NO and NO₂), un-burnt hydrocarbons (HC) and carbon monoxide (CO) are pollutants regulated by "Euro emissions standards".

In general, emission regulations are adopted as part of the EU framework for the type approval of cars, vans trucks, buses and coaches. Current standards are Euro 6 for light duty vehicles (cars and vans), while the current standard for heavy duty vehicles is Euro VI.

It is presented below the current legislative framework for air pollutant emissions from transport:

- *Directive 2007/46/EC* provides a common legal framework for the type approval of cars, vans, trucks, buses and coaches.
- Euro 5 and 6 *Regulation 715/2007/EC* sets the emission limits for cars for regulated pollutants, in particular nitrogen oxides of 80mg/km.

- *Regulation 692/2008/EC* implements and amends Regulation (EC) No 715/2007 on typeapproval of motor vehicles with respect to emissions from light passenger and commercial vehicles (Euro 5 and Euro 6) and on access to vehicle repair and maintenance information
- Regulation (EU) 2016/427 amends Regulation (EC) No 692/2008 as regards emissions from light passenger and commercial vehicles (Euro 6)
- *Regulation 595/2009/EC* requires new heavy duty vehicles and engines to comply with new emission limits and introduces additional requirements on access to information.
- *Regulation (EU) 582/2011* implements and amends Regulation (EC) No 595/2009 with respect to emissions from heavy duty vehicles (Euro VI).

Specifically for various pollutants, successive emission standards have led to significant drops in emissions of exhaust PM and other pollutants such as HC and CO. It must be stated that vehicle emission standards only cover exhaust PM emissions and PM originating from vehicles tire and break wear are currently not part of vehicle regulations. On the other hand, the transport sector is the largest contributor to NO_x emissions, accounting for 46% of total emissions in 2013 in the European Union. However, NO_x emissions, and in particular NO_2 emissions, from road transport have not been reduced as much as expected with the introduction of the vehicle emissions in real-life driving conditions are often higher than those measured during the approval tests (in particular for diesel vehicles). It should be noted that urban hotspots of high NO_2 concentrations are even more impacted by vehicle emissions, with transport share rising to more than 60%.



Figure 1.10. Trend in emissions of air pollutants from transport. Emissions are expressed as the percentage over 1990 levels. Source: European Environment Agency (EEA): national emissions reported to the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution (2016).

To deal with high on-road emissions from passenger vehicles, where a significant discrepancy with the laboratory testing has been confirmed in recent years, the European Commission is introducing the Real Driving Emissions test procedure (RDE) starting from 1 September 2017, which will better reflect the actual emissions on the road and reduce the current discrepancy between emissions measured in real driving to those measured in a laboratory.

The RDE procedure complements the current laboratory based procedure to check that the vehicle emission levels of nitrogen oxides (NO_x), and in a next stage also particle numbers (PN), measured during the laboratory test, are confirmed in real driving conditions.

More information and details are available at the specific official web-site:

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/air/sources/road.htm.

1.5.3 Greenhouse gases emissions

The reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, in the context of the emissions trading system (EU ETS), is one of the key points of EU's policy to combat climate change and is addressed by the *Directive* 2003/87/EC.

The EU ETS works on the 'cap and trade' principle. A cap is set on the total amount of certain greenhouse gases that can be emitted by installations covered by the system. The cap is reduced over time so that total emissions fall. Within the cap, companies receive or buy emission allowances, which they can trade with one another as needed.

 N_2O , as seen above, is one of the main greenhouse gases: the control of the N_2O emissions is therefore included in the European Climate Change Policy.

The system covers the following sectors and gases with the focus on emissions that can be measured, reported and verified with a high level of accuracy:

- carbon dioxide (CO₂) from:
 - power and heat generation;
 - energy-intensive industry sectors including oil refineries, steel works and production of iron, aluminium, metals, cement, lime, glass, ceramics, pulp, paper, cardboard, acids and bulk organic chemicals;
 - commercial aviation;
- nitrous oxide (N₂O) from production of nitric, adipic and glyoxylic acids and glyoxal;
- perfluorocarbons (PFCs) from aluminium production.

Participation in the EU ETS is mandatory for companies in these sectors, but:

- in some sectors only plants above a certain size are included
- certain small installations can be excluded if governments put in place fiscal or other measures that will cut their emissions by an equivalent amount
- in the aviation sector, until 2016 the EU ETS applies only to flights between airports located in the European Economic Area (EEA).

With regard to the results obtained, in 2020, emissions from sectors covered by the system will be 21% lower than in 2005; in 2030, under the Commission's proposal presented in July 2015, a reduction of 43% is expected.

More information and details are available at the specific official web-site:

https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/ets_en.

1.5.4 Air quality

Air pollution has been one of Europe's main political concerns since the late 1970s. European Union policy on air quality aims to develop and implement appropriate instruments to improve air quality. The control of emissions from mobile sources, improving fuel quality and promoting and integrating environmental protection requirements into the transport and energy sector are part of these aims. The legislative framework concerning air quality, limited to legislation affecting the nitrogen and its compounds, is composed by:

- *Council Directive 96/62/EC* on ambient air quality assessment and management, commonly referred to as the Air Quality Framework Directive. It describes the basic principles as to how air quality should be assessed and managed in the Member States. It lists the pollutants for which air quality standards and objectives will be developed and specified in legislation.
- *Council Directive 1999/30/EC* relating to limit values for sulphur dioxide, nitrogen dioxide and oxides of nitrogen, particulate matter and lead in ambient air (the so-called "First Daughter Directive"). The directive describes the numerical limits and thresholds required to assess and manage air quality for the pollutants mentioned. It addresses both PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} but only establishes monitoring requirements for fine particles.
- *Directive 2008/50/EC* on ambient air quality and cleaner air for Europe that includes the following key elements:
 - The merging of most of existing legislation into a single directive with no change to existing air quality objectives;
 - New air quality objectives for PM_{2.5} (fine particles) including the limit value and exposure related objectives exposure concentration obligation and exposure reduction target.
 - The possibility to discount natural sources of pollution when assessing compliance against limit values.
 - The possibility for time extensions of three years (PM₁₀) or up to five years (NO₂, benzene) for complying with limit values, based on conditions and the assessment by the European Commission.
- *Council Decision 97/101/EC* establishing a reciprocal exchange of information and data from networks and individual stations measuring ambient air pollution within the Member States. This Decision describes the procedures for the dissemination of air quality monitoring information by the Member States to the Commission and to the public.

More information and details are available at the specific official web-site:

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/air/quality/existing_leg.htm.

1.5.5 Water protection

The EU Water Framework Directive (WFD), *Directive 2000/60/EC*, establishes a legal framework to protect and restore clean water across Europe and ensure its long-term, sustainable use.

The directive establishes an innovative approach for water management based on river basins, the natural geographical and hydrological units and sets specific deadlines for Member States to protect aquatic ecosystems. The directive addresses inland surface waters, transitional waters, coastal waters and groundwater. It establishes several innovative principles for water management, including public participation in planning and the integration of economic approaches, including the recovery of the cost of water services.

The framework directive approach for water has the objective to rationalize the Community's water legislation by replacing seven previous directives: those on surface water and is two related directives on measurement methods and sampling frequencies and exchanges of information on fresh water quality; the fish water, shellfish water, and groundwater directives; and the directive on dangerous substances discharges

More information and details are available at the specific official web-site:

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/water-framework/index_en.html.

To the WFD are therefore linked several directives that govern specific aspects, as the Urban Waste Water Treatment Directive (*Council Directive 91/271/EEC*), the Drinking Water Directive (*Council Directive 98/83/EC*), the Groundwater Directive (*Directive 2006/118/EC*), the Bathing Water Directive (*Directive 2006/7/EC*) and the Directive on the assessment and management of flood risks (*Directive 2007/60/EC*).

Nitrogen compounds are certainly among the main potentially polluting substances in water management, so that, for a precise environmental compartment, a specific directive was issued at the beginning of the 1990's and is included in the WFD. This is the *Council Directive 91/676/EEC*, also known as Nitrates Directive, concerning the protection of waters against pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources. The directive aims to protect water quality across Europe by preventing nitrates from agricultural sources polluting ground and surface waters and by promoting the use of good farming practices.

The implementation of the Directive provides for the following elements:

- Identification of water polluted, or at risk of pollution,
- Designation of the "Nitrate Vulnerable Zones"(NVZs)
- Establishment of Codes of Good Agricultural Practice to be implemented by farmers on a voluntary basis.
- Establishment of action programmes to be implemented by farmers within NVZs on a compulsory basis.
- National monitoring and reporting

More information and details are available at the specific official web-site:

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/water-nitrates/index_en.html.

Parallel to the WFD, whose frame of reference are the river basins, was developed the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (*Directive 2008/56/EC*) establishing a framework for community action in the field of marine environmental policy. The Marine Directive aims to achieve Good Environmental Status (GES) of the EU's marine waters by 2020 and to protect the resource base upon which marine-related economic and social activities depend. It is the first EU legislative instrument related to the protection of marine biodiversity, as it contains the explicit regulatory objective that "biodiversity is maintained by 2020", as the cornerstone for achieving GES.

The Directive enshrines in a legislative framework the ecosystem approach to the management of human activities having an impact on the marine environment, integrating the concepts of environmental protection and sustainable use.

More information and details are available at the specific official web-site:

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/marine/eu-coast-and-marine-policy/marine-strategy-framework-directive/index_en.htm.

1.5.6 Soil protection

Closely connected to the nitrogen cycle is soil protection, defined as the top layer of the earth's crust, formed by mineral particles, organic matter, water, air and living organisms. As soil formation is an extremely slow process, soil can be considered essentially as a non-renewable resource. The interface between the earth, the air and the water, soil performs many vital functions: food and other biomass production, storage, filtration and transformation of many substances including water, carbon, and nitrogen.

Soil is, however, increasingly degrading, both in the EU and at global level. Erosion, loss of organic matter, compaction, salinization, landslides, contamination and sealing have negative impacts on human health, natural ecosystems and climate.

At the moment, only a few EU Member States have specific legislation on soil protection. Soil is not subject to a comprehensive and coherent set of rules in the Union. Existing EU policies in areas such as agriculture, water, waste, chemicals, and prevention of industrial pollution do indirectly contribute to the protection of soils. But as these policies have other aims and scope of action, they are not considered sufficient by EU to ensure an adequate level of protection for all soils. For this reason, the European Commission, in May 2014, withdrew the proposal for a Soil Framework Directive, to ensure a sustainable use of soils and protect their function in a comprehensive manner in a context of increasing pressure and degradation.

More information and details are available at the specific official web-site:

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/soil/index_en.htm.

Soil protection has been partially taken into consideration at the national level in Italy as part of the requirements of Legislative Decree n. 152/2006, as subsequently amended and supplemented, for the remediation of contaminated sites, which applies to the remediation and environmental recovery of contaminated sites for the elimination of pollution sources and for the reduction of concentrations of pollutants.

The decree specifically foresees concentration limits as a threshold for contamination of soil, subsoil and groundwater for various polluting substances including various nitrogen compounds.

Chapter 2

Nitrogen footprint: applied accounting schemes

This chapter deals with the theme of the nitrogen footprint as a tool for quantifying environmental impacts resulting from alterations in the nitrogen cycle.

Specifically, in the first part of the chapter, the general concept of footprint and the main scientific and regulatory references are illustrated, while, in the second part, are presented the reference tools formulated and partly applied to date for the calculation of the nitrogen footprint.

2.1 Environmental impacts quantification: the footprint indicators

The effect of human activity on the environment manifests itself as an "environmental impact" defined in the international standards as a "change to the environment, whether adverse or beneficial, wholly or partially resulting from an organization's environmental aspects", in their turn defined as "elements of an organization's activities or products or services that interact or can interact with the environment" (ISO, 2015).

Another interesting definition for environmental impact is that used by Morn *et al.* (2009) who defined environmental impact as "the difference between the future state of the modified environment, as it would be following project execution, and the future state of the environment as it would have evolved without such an action".

In this section is introduced the issue of footprint indicators as tools for the quantification of environmental impacts, with reference to the existing applications and proposals and to the future developments. The concept of footprint indicator is also framed in the wider and more standardized context of Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) methodology for the assessment of environmental impacts of product systems in the life cycle.

2.1.1 Approaches to the formulation of footprint indicators

The relationship between human activities and the environment, which is manifested through environmental aspects and resulting impacts, can be described and governed by tools that address both the assessment of environmental aspects and impacts and their management: most of these tools refer to international standards adopted by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO). Although the distinction in some cases is not so clear, to simplify, it can be said that the first typology includes tools that can be attributed to the Life Cycle Assessment methodology and to the ISO 14040 family standards; on the other hand, the second group includes tools for the environmental management and the related series standards, whose main reference is ISO 14001.

The present work is geared in particular to deepening methodologies and tools linked, as a first instance, to the impact assessment, therefore the primary reference is the LCA methodology defined as the "compilation and evaluation of the inputs, outputs and the potential environmental impacts of a product system throughout its life cycle" (ISO, 2006a,b).

In parallel with the LCA tools, the need for quantifying and communicating the environmental impacts of products, services and systems through a shared and standardized methodology has developed in the last years: this need was addressed by the introduction of so-called footprint indicators. The concept of "footprint" originates from the idea of ecological footprint, which was formally introduced to the scientific community in the 1990s (Rees, 1992). Since then, many different footprint-style indicators have been proposed: the water footprint (Hoekstra and Hung, 2002), the energy footprint (Zhao *et al.*, 2005), the exergy footprint (Chen and Chen, 2007), the carbon footprint (Wiedmann and Minx, 2008), the biodiversity footprint (Yaap *et al.*, 2010), the chemical footprint (Sala and Goralczyk, 2013), the phosphorus footprint (Wang *et al.*, 2011), the nitrogen footprint (Leach *et al.*, 2012). Nowadays, footprint indicators have become colloquial and ubiquitous for researchers, consultants and policy makers, and the implications for sustainability and human well-being have been investigated from different perspectives with an increasing interest in similarities, differences, and interactions between some selected footprints (Fang *et al.*, 2014).

Footprint indicators are considered as a guide for investigators, businesses, public sector policymaker and even consumers of everyday goods and services in making decisions, which lead to better environmental outcomes. (Ridoutt *et al.*, 2015; Guariento *et al.*, 2016).

For some of the footprint indicators above presented, international standards have already been proposed and adopted, as specified below:

• regarding carbon footprint of products:

- ISO/TS 14067:2013 (Greenhouse gases Carbon footprint of products Requirements and guidelines for quantification and communication);
- regarding carbon footprint and greenhouse gas emissions of organizations:
 - ISO 14064-1:2006 (Greenhouse gases Part 1: Specification with guidance at the organization level for quantification and reporting of greenhouse gas emissions and removals);
 - ISO 14064-2:2006 (Greenhouse gases Part 2: Specification with guidance at the project level for quantification, monitoring and reporting of greenhouse gas emission reductions or removal enhancements);
 - ISO 14064-3:2006 (Greenhouse gases Part 3: Specification with guidance for the validation and verification of greenhouse gas assertions);
 - ISO 14065:2013 (Greenhouse gases Requirements for greenhouse gas validation and verification bodies for use in accreditation or other forms of recognition);
 - ISO 14066:2011 (Greenhouse gases Competence requirements for greenhouse gas validation teams and verification teams);
- regarding water footprint:
 - ISO 14046:2014 (Environmental management Water footprint Principles, requirements and guidelines).

With reference to the abovementioned standards, the proposed definitions for footprint are as follows:

- Carbon footprint of a product: sum of greenhouse gas emissions and removals in a product system, expressed as CO₂ equivalents and based on a life cycle assessment using the single impact category of climate change (ISO, 2013).
- Water footprint: metric(s) that quantifies the potential environmental impacts related to water (ISO, 2014).

Footprint indicators and associated calculation and evaluation methods were initially developed in autonomous and fragmented way and disconnected from the LCA methodologies; recent regulatory and research developments are instead oriented to bring the concept of footprint and its methodologies into the LCA framework, which is certainly more standardized and recognized at international scientific level.

This evolution is evident in the above mentioned definition of product carbon footprint, as well as in the content, to date in the draft phase, of the ISO standard related to the communication of footprint information, which should define footprint as "metric(s) used to report life cycle assessment results addressing an area of concern" (ISO, 2016).

It is useful to remember that the fundamental difference between a footprint indicator and a typical output of a LCA application is that a footprint indicator refers to a specific impact category (eg. climate change, water, nitrogen), while the impact assessment profile of a LCA study provides results for various, and possibly exhaustive, impact categories.

This leads to LCA study reports being rich in technical detail and although valuable in this regard, these reports are generally not widely accessible to people outside the field. This is in contrast to footprints, which have a primary orientation toward non-LCA experts and society in general. Moreover, LCA practitioners work with a set of indicators defined by the LCA expert community. However, these LCA impact category indicators (e.g., terrestrial acidification, particulate matter formation, photochemical oxidant formation) are not necessarily the lens through which society views environmental protection (Ridoutt *et al.*, 2015).

Another fundamental concept in this issue is that of "area of concern", namely an aspect of natural environment, human health ore resources of interest to society. From this point of view, another distinction between LCA impact category indicators and footprints, is that the latter, with their orientation toward reporting to stakeholders and society, address area of concern, compared to area of protection, that is the ultimate safeguard subject as defined within the expert LCA community (typically: human health, ecosystem quality, and natural resources as endpoint indicators).

In discussing the rationale behind the development of each footprint, Galli *et al.* (2012) showed that footprints are developed in response to a specific environmental issue. For example, carbon footprint relates to global warming, water footprint relates to water scarcity, ecological footprint relates to resource availability in terms of land, and energy footprint is related to energy, which can be converted to ecological footprint or carbon footprint. However, these efforts (Fang *et al.*, 2014; Galli *et al.*, 2012) do not go beyond the original rationale behind development of these footprints, and fail to enhance the performance of these metrics (Singh and Bakshi, 2015).

The need to define a shared methodology for the evaluation of environmental performance was also underlined by the EU in the Commission Recommendation on the use of common methods to measure and communicate the life cycle environmental performance of products and organisations. In this document was highlighted as "the current proliferation of different methods and initiatives to assess and communicate environmental performance is leading to confusion and mistrust in environmental performance information. It also may lead to additional costs for business if they are requested to measure the environmental performance of the product or the organization based on different methods by public authorities, business partners, private initiatives and investors". Again, the LCA approach is closely linked to the definition of Product Environmental Footprint (PEF) method as a "general method to measure and communicate the potential life cycle environmental impact of a product" (European Commision, 2013).

Another approach that some researchers proposed was to identify some footprint indicators to be considered exhaustive for quantifying the whole impact over sustainability. This is the case of the Footprint Family of indicators introduced primarily by Galli *et al* (2012) and defined as a "set of accounting tool characterized by a consumption-based perspective able to track human pressure on the surrounding environment, where pressure is defined as appropriation of biological natural resources and CO_2 uptake, emission of GHGs, and consumption and pollution of global freshwater resources". In this proposal, three key ecosystem compartments are monitored, namely the biosphere, atmosphere, and hydrosphere through the Ecological, Carbon, and Water Footprint, respectively. In this context, however, there are also some authors (Fang and Heijungs, 2013) who expressed reservations about the necessity of LCA to support the establishment of footprints, highlighting the

reservations about the necessity of LCA to support the establishment of footprints, highlighting the risk of overcounting the impacts, especially in the case of the organization environmental footprint (OEF).

It is finally worth mentioning the input-output analysis approach proposed by Singh and Bakshi (2015) for the footprint metrics that considers "input-side" (impact on ecosystems due to resource extraction) and "output-side" (impact on ecosystems due to waste and emissions disposal). Specifically, the input-side metric takes into account the impact that occurs due to flow of resources as input to human systems from nature as separate from the impact due to emissions to nature. Since, the availability of natural resources depends on the ecosystem's ability to provide or replenish resources; the input side metric indicates the stress on ecosystem health due to resource requirement, if the information about ecosystem capacity is available. On the other hand, the output side footprint is the more traditional viewpoint of looking at the impact of emissions or wastes. An output-side footprint is not purely anthropocentric since emissions also impact the health of ecosystems, however it is more narrowly focused and attempts to aggregate flows that misses other impacts on environment such as due to resource extraction. It is clear from the approach toward carbon footprint, which is mainly focused on emissions of greenhouse gas (Singh and Bakshi, 2015).

2.1.2 Towards a shared definition of footprint

As above highlighted, unlike technical efficiency, which can usually be accurately measured and verified, footprint indicators, with their wider view of environmental performance, are usually

calculated using models which can differ in scope, complexity and parameter settings. Despite the noble intention of using footprints to evaluate and report environmental performance, the potential inconsistency between different approaches acts as a deterrent to use in many public policymaking and business contexts and can lead to confusing and contradictory messages in the marketplace (Ridoutt *et al.*, 2015).

Several researchers agree that one way to achieve consistency in footprints is to start with the foundation of the international standards describing environmental management from a life cycle perspective, that is, ISO 14040 and 14044. These international standards predate the recent broad-based popular interest in footprints and do not address the subject directly. Nevertheless, they are the global consensus documents underpinning life cycle assessment, which already supports a wide range of complex environmental decision-making in government and industry (Hellweg and Milà i Canals, 2014).

Starting from the LCA approach, some attempts have been also made to identify the attributes that should characterize all footprint indicators: research in this field is still open and the debate is heated, given the complexity of the subject and the possible implications, especially with regard to aspects of communication to the public.

An interesting proposal of the characteristics which should have a footprint indicator is that made by Ridoutt *et al.* (2015) who identified four defining attributes as follows:

- *Environmental relevance*. When aggregating data, having common units is necessary, but not sufficient: environmental equivalence is needed. To illustrate, it would not be environmentally meaningful to aggregate emissions of different greenhouse gases without first applying factors, such as those published by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change describing the relative global warming potentials. Similarly, to assess the environmental performance of consumptive water use along a supply chain, it is necessary to apply a model which accounts for differences in local water availability.
- Accurate terminology. A footprint indicator addresses a specific subject of environmental concern and the indicator's name must reflect the scope and not be misleading. Where necessary, a qualifying term should be added. For example, following ISO 14046, the term water footprint is applied only when both consumptive and degradative (pollution) aspects of water use are assessed. When only consumptive water use is assessed, water scarcity footprint is a suggested alternative.

- *Directional consistency*. Footprints need to follow a consistent logic whereby a smaller value is always preferable to a higher value. This facilitates the easy interpretation of footprints, which is important considering their orientation toward society and nontechnical stakeholders.
- *Transparent documentation.* Footprint methodologies and public footprint disclosures need to be supported by documentation enabling technical peer review. Study reports should document all methods, data sources, and assumptions transparently and without bias.

From a technical perspective, footprint indicators might be moreover based on life cycle inventory data (provided the environmental relevance criterion is satisfied), an existing LCA impact category indicator result, or the aggregation of results from different LCA impact categories of relevance to the topic of the footprint. Examples of these three types of footprints are phosphorus depletion footprint, carbon footprint, and water footprint, respectively.

A fundamental contribution to this theme is what will be given by the standard ISO 14026 dealing with the communication of footprint information and which is currently in the draft stage, being therefore under discussion.

While the main purpose of the standard is to define the requirements for a proper communication of environmental impacts through footprint indicators, the standard will also indirectly provide guidance on how the indicators underlying the communication should be coherently designed.

The principles on which the working group that is preparing the standard is converging are the following:

- *Credibility and reliability.* Footprint communications should convey information relevant and reliable in terms of addressing areas of concern. In order for footprint communications to be successful in improving environmental understanding of environmental impacts, the working group emphasizes the importance of technical credibility, while adaptability, practicality and cost-effectiveness is provided.
- *Life cycle perspective.* Footprint communication should be supported by a structured LCA, which takes into consideration all relevant stages of the life cycle of the analyzed system, including raw material acquisition, production, use and the end-of-life stage.
- *Comparability.* Footprint communications should be intended to enable comparison, based on the area of concern, between products in the same product category. Starting from a LCA perspective the functional unit should be the common basis for the comparison.
- *Transparency*. A footprint communication and any supporting information should enable all interested parties to access information on where the footprint communication content originated

and how it was developed and verified. This content could eventually be aggregated to protect confidential business information.

• *Regionality.* Footprint communications should take into consideration the local or regional environmental context relevant to the area where the corresponding potential environmental impacts occur, including the production, use and end-of-life stages (ISO, 2016).

The conclusions of Ridoutt *et al.* (2015) and the assumptions of the ISO working group (ISO, 2016), show many points of convergence, and in particular they are perfectly aligned with respect to two essential technical prescriptions for the design of footprints indicators: LCA approach and transparency. It should also be pointed out that the latter characteristic is already present in the requirements of the reference standard for the application of LCA as one of the seven principles: "due to the inherent complexity in LCA, transparency is an important guiding principle in executing LCAs, in order to ensure a proper interpretation of the results" (ISO, 2006a).

In conclusion, it is clear that the LCA approach is crucial to the design of a footprint indicator, especially if it is aimed at communicating environmental performance to the public, and as such rigorous approach is also essential for a shared definition of the technical requirements of the indicator.

2.2 Tools for the calculation of the nitrogen footprint

The human use of nitrogen through agriculture, energy use and resource consumption acts on the growing use of reactive nitrogen in the environment; this growth can be seen from two contrasting points of view identifying its positive or negative impacts. Its beneficial effects result from food production and consumption and industrial application, but, on the other side, most of the reactive nitrogen used during these processes and the entire amount formed during fossil fuel combustion are lost to the environment where it causes harmful consequences on people and ecosystem as described in chapter 1. Current estimates, allows to conclude that, following current trends, the need for N_r creation will increase for all sources. Climate mitigation policy may impact such trends if specifically addressing N₂O (see e.g. Oenema *et al.*, 2013). Likely it will not affect continuing high release of N_r to the environment. This provides a collaborative challenge for all stakeholders, including researchers, consumers and governments to reduce the N_r creation rate. Only dedicated policies towards reducing N_r footprints will allow the release of N_r to be mitigated (Galloway *et al.*, 2014). Several tools of nitrogen footprint were developed to properly study, assess, control and manage the

release of nitrogen emissions and also to support policymakers, stakeholders, producers and consumers in the active change of the situation.

A summary of the currently proposed and partially implemented tools for nitrogen footprint calculation is given in the following paragraphs.

2.2.1 First experiences for nitrogen footprint calculating

Several groups have examined N_r flows associated with the use of food and energy by people and regions. For example, the Chesapeake Bay Foundation in the US, in partnership with the University of Virginia, developed a calculator (see web site of Chesapeake Bay Foundation: Your Bay Footprint) that estimates a household's contribution to N_r inputs to the Bay resulting from energy use, sewage production, and lawn fertilizer usage.

A much more specific calculator has been prepared to estimate nitrogen, carbon and phosphorus fluxes in 360 household ecosystems in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul, Minnesota (USA) urban region. In this application Fissore *et al.* (2011) found that N_r fluxes into the households were dominated by human diet, lawn fertilizer applications and surface transportation, which together accounted for ~85% of total household N_r inputs.

In a life cycle analysis, Xue and Landis (2010) examined the N and P eutrophication potential of food consumption patterns. They showed that different food groups exhibit a highly variable nitrogenintensity. On average, red meat and dairy products require much more nitrogen than cereals carbohydrates. An important point they made is that the ranking of nitrogen footprints of foods is not consistent with their carbon footprints. For example, dairy products and chicken/eggs have high nitrogen footprints but low carbon footprints.

2.2.2 The nitrogen-calculator tool

Within a general project named N-PRINT, Leach *et al.* (2012) proposed the first and most structured accounting tool for the nitrogen footprint, the nitrogen-calculator (N-Calculator), with the aim to help consumers to understand and possibly reduce their nitrogen footprint.

According to the design of the authors, N-PRINT should have been a collection of tools, brought together in a system, with the ultimate goal of describing how reactive nitrogen is lost to the environment and its resulting impacts due to individual (consumer) and collective (producers and society) consumption behavior and the ways in which policy can have an effect on these losses (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Schematic representation of the project of the N-PRINT system: N-Calculator calculates the consumer footprint; N-Producer calculates the footprint of producers (e.g., farmers) and N-Policy calculates the effect of measures and policies on the nitrogen cycle. Source: Leach et al. (2012).

Compared to the initial project, currently only the basic tool (N-Calculator) has been implemented, the next steps in the development of the system being to link the reactive nitrogen losses to effects on the environment. The intention of the proposers is to estimate the losses to the environment in terms of emissions to the air (ammonia and NO_x) and the run-off and leaching to groundwater and rivers (nitrate). Subsequently, these results should be linked to the cascading effects in different regions to the global scale, to provide quantitative estimates of the relationship between the virtual nitrogen and the environmental impacts. Finally, data, parameters, and factors should be collected, to enable footprints for different regions/countries in the world.

Within this work was also formulated the most recognized definition of nitrogen footprint as "the total amount of reactive nitrogen (N_r) released to the environment as a result of an entity's resource consumption, expressed in total units of N_r " (Leach *et al.*, 2012).

The N-Calculator web-based tool (www.n-print.org) was designed for individuals in different countries to estimate their contribution to nitrogen losses to the environment focusing on four main areas of consumption: food, housing, transportation, and goods and services. The nitrogen footprint consists of the nitrogen embodied in food consumption and production as well as the NO_x emitted by

fossil fuel combustion. The nitrogen footprint of each of the areas of consumption is calculated using average per capita data for a country, allowing for the calculation of a country's average per capita nitrogen footprint as well as the total nitrogen footprint for the country. This average footprint is then scaled appropriately, with an iterative approach, when individuals answer questions – via web – about their personal resource consumption.

In general, within the N-Calculator, the following equation was proposed (with electricity use as an example):

$$FP_{ind} = FP_{avg} \times \frac{EU_{ind}}{EU_{avg}} , \qquad (2.1)$$

where:

- *FP*_{ind} is the individual footprint (in this case for electricity use),
- *FP*_{avg} the average per-capita footprint for a country,
- EU_{ind} the individual electricity use,
- *EU*_{avg} the average per-capita electricity use for a country.

This equation format can then be used for each component of a nitrogen footprint. The sum of the nitrogen footprints of each component within a sector (e.g. food, housing, transportation, and goods and services) provides the nitrogen footprint by sector, and the sum of the sectors provides the total nitrogen footprint of an individual (Leach *et al.*, 2012).

In particular, the major nitrogen-releasing activities accounted for in the N-Calculator are food (both consumption and production) and energy consumption. The food nitrogen footprint is calculated based on food intake (i.e., FAO estimates of food supply minus food waste) and the amount of nitrogen lost during the production of that food. The food production nitrogen footprint is calculated with virtual nitrogen factors (VNFs), which describe the total nitrogen lost to the environment during production per unit of nitrogen in the final consumed food product. These food production nitrogen losses include fertilizer not incorporated into the plant, crop residues, feed not incorporated into the animal products, processing waste, and household food waste. Recycling within the food production process (e.g., crop residue and manure recycled as fertilizer) is also accounted for in the VNF calculation. The energy component of nitrogen footprint (i.e., the reactive nitrogen released from fossil fuel combustion) in the N-Calculator is accounted using average rates of energy consumption and country-specific emission factors (Shibata *et. al.*, 2017).

As part of its formulation, N-Calculators were completed with data for the United States and the Netherlands. The N-Calculator found that the average per capita N footprint in the United States is 41 kg Nyr⁻¹ and in the Netherlands is 25 kg Nyr⁻¹ (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2. Comparison of United States and Netherlands per capita nitrogen footprints [kg N yr⁻¹capita⁻¹] obtained by applying N-Calculator. Source: Leach et al. (2012).

Using N-Calculator, per capita nitrogen footprints were been afterwards calculated for Germany (Leach *et al.*, 2012 – updated), UK (Stevens *et al.*, 2014), Austria (Pierer *et al.*, 2014), Japan (Shibata *et al.*, 2014), Portugal (Galloway *et al.*, 2014), Taiwan (Su, 2016), Australia (Liang *et al.*, 2016) and Tanzania (Hutton *et al.*, 2017). The results obtained, as synthesized by Shibata *et al.* (2017) are reported in the Table 2.1.

	Category				
Country	Food	Housing	Transportation	Goods and services	Total
USA	28	3	6	2.5	39
Portugal	24	0.7	3.5	0.5	29
UK	23	2	11	1.1	27
Netherlands	21	0.8	1.1	0.5	23
Germany	19	1.6	1.8	0.7	24
Austria	17	0.8	1.6	0.6	20
Japan	26	0.8	0.7	1.0	28
Tanzania	14	0.2	0.8	0.2	15

Table 2.1. Per capita nitrogen footprints [kg N yr⁻¹capita⁻¹] obtained using the N-Calculator in various countries. Adapted from Shibata et al. (2017).

	Category				
Country	Food	Housing	Transportation	Goods and services	Total
Taiwan	32	1.7	2	1.7	37
Australia	32	9	2	4	47

Starting from the nitrogen footprint definition of Leach *et al.* (2012) and using a top-down nitrogen balance approach, nitrogen footprints were also calculated for China (Gu *et al.*, 2013), for 12 main food categories within the European Union (Leip *et al.*, 2014a), and with reference to the emissions of four nitrogen compounds for 188 world countries (Oita *et al.*, 2016).

2.2.3 The nitrogen-institution tool

The concept of nitrogen footprint as presented in N-Calculator could be considered as a tool for the connection between entities and the losses of reactive nitrogen due to their activities, and can be considered the reference for all the nitrogen footprints tools subsequently developed.

This concept was extended to institutions in Leach *et al.* (2013), who applied the first institution-level tool to estimate the nitrogen footprint of the University of Virginia, both current (base year 2010) and projected to 2025. The proposed model was one component of the Environmental Footprint Reduction Plan of University of Virginia to quantify and reduce its impacts in four areas of resource use: carbon, nitrogen, waste, and water.

It must be pointed out that a previous calculation example of nitrogen budget for institutions was performed with reference to the Twin Cities campus of the University of Minnesota, addressing the quantification of annual inputs, outputs and internal cycles of nitrogen on the University campus (Savanick *et al.*, 2007).

The nitrogen-institution tool of the University of Virginia was also used to test scenarios on the most effective ways to decrease the nitrogen footprint of the university. The model could be extended to other universities, institutions, and even larger, more complex entities such as cities.

The University of Virginia nitrogen footprint was calculated by tabulating all the reactive nitrogen that entered the institution (e.g., food purchases), that was generated by activities at the institution (e.g., fossil fuel combustion in steam generators and buses), and that was generated due to activities at the institution (e.g., commuting, food production).

The total nitrogen footprint of the university in 2010 was found to be 492 metric tons of nitrogen. As illustrated in Figure 2.3, the most significant contributors were utilities (48%) and food production (37%). The other sectors (food consumption, transportation, fertilizer usage, and research animals)

made up the remaining 15 percent. Of the food categories, meat production (23%) and dairy and eggs production (10%) were the biggest contributors (Leach *et al.*, 2013).



Figure 2.3. Nitrogen footprint of the University of Virginia in 2010 by sector [percentage on total]. Includes nitrogen released to the environment due to: 1.) food consumption; 2.) food production, reported by specific food categories (vegetable products, seafood, dairy and eggs, meat); 3.) research animals; 4.) transportation, including fleet vehicles and commuter vehicles; 5.) fertilizer application; and 6.) utilities, separated into electricity and heating. Source: Leach et al. (2013).

If the university were to continue with its current activities (i.e., business as usual) by 2025 the nitrogen footprint would increase by 15% to 564 tons of N due to increased number of buildings and increased student population. However, scenario testing with the tool, showed that, by 2025, the nitrogen footprint could be decreased by 17%, relative to 2025 prevision, with the implementation of planned and feasible activities (e.g., energy conservation, advanced sewage treatment, expanded food composting), and by an additional 14% through further N-reduction strategies (e.g., sustainable food, dietary changes). Institutions can use a nitrogen footprint tool to improve their sustainability by quantifying and reducing their nitrogen impact. Under the authority of the governing board for University of Virginia, the tool is being used to develop strategies to decrease the institution's nitrogen footprint by 25% by the year 2025 (Galloway *et al.*, 2014).

2.2.4 The nitrogen-loss indicator

The nitrogen-loss approach, also used within the Convention on Biological Diversity, assumes that inefficient use of fertilizer and/or fossil fuels results in loss of reactive nitrogen to the environment. Eventually, the lost reactive nitrogen to the environment can end up close to the sources or in remote areas located far from human activities, where it is often the dominant source of reactive nitrogen. Once introduced there, the increased reactive nitrogen levels can severely affect associated biodiversity (see http://www.bipindicators.net/nitrogenloss).

This associated nitrogen loss indicator shows the reactive nitrogen loss for different regions of the world as a result of the production and consumption of food and the use of energy (e.g. for electricity production, industry and transport), and is expressed as the reactive nitrogen loss per capita per year, without making a distinction between losses to air, soil and water (Bleeker *et al.*, 2012).

While the N-Calculator tool accounts for the loss of nitrogen due to consumption by individuals, the nitrogen-loss indicator shows the loss due to production and consumption in a country. This calculated loss is a surrogate measure of potential reactive nitrogen pollution; the actual pollution depends on environmental factors and the extent to which the waste flows at production and consumption of food and energy are being reused (

An example of the application of this tool for different regions in the world is reported by Galloway *et al.* (2014): in this example the results for the different regions are averages for the underlying countries, for which separate calculations were performed (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4. Average loss of reactive nitrogen per inhabitant in 2008 [kg person⁻¹ yr⁻¹] as example of the application of the nitrogen loss-indicator. Source: Galloway et al. (2014).

According to the results presented, in 2008 the global production and consumption of food and energy results in an average reactive nitrogen loss of 28 kg of nitrogen per inhabitant per year. Of the total loss, 5 kg is the result of energy use, 18 kg is from food production (agriculture), 1 kg due to food processing and 4 kg is released during food consumption. The European reactive nitrogen loss per person is about 10 kg higher than the global average loss and is almost half of that in North America, but twice as high as in Africa. The energy component is relatively large in industrialized countries, while the contribution of food production and consumption is large in countries with an extensive livestock sector and high levels of meat consumption.

By applying the approach underlying the nitrogen-loss indicator, a link between dietary choice in Europe and reactive nitrogen flows was also established by Westhoek *et al.*, (2013), who found that a reduction in livestock production would lead to a significant decrease in the reactive nitrogen input and losses. In their hypothesis of greening scenario, under a 50% reduction in all meat and dairy consumption, fertilizer input would be reduced from 11.3 to 8.0 million ton Nyr⁻¹, while emissions of nitrates to groundwater and surface water and ammonia to air both would be reduced by 40%, compared with the reference situation.

2.2.5 The nitrogen-neutrality tool

The nitrogen footprint tools presented above focus on informing the users about their nitrogen footprint and possibly proposing actions that would lead to a reduction of the nitrogen footprint. The concept of nitrogen-neutrality proposed by Leip *et al.* (2014b) describes a way to compensate the nitrogen footprint that could not be reduced by any of the mitigation measures.

In this proposed tool, basing on the carbon-neutrality concept, nitrogen-neutrality was defined as a two-step approach focusing on (1) the measures that avoid and/or reduce the release of N_r , before (2) purchasing nitrogen offsets that compensate the residual N_r releases (Figure 2.5). This can be done either by a measured reduction of N_r releases elsewhere to balance the remaining releases, or by an increase of the sustainability in the production of food where sustainable land management is not yet achieved.


Figure 2.5. Schematic representation of the nitrogen-neutrality concept. First, the baseline of N_r releases is calculated to determine what the N_r releases would be if no measures were taken. Second, measures to reduce N_r releases from the event 'baseline' are implemented (point 1). Finally, the residual N_r releases are compensated with nitrogen offsets according to the definition of nitrogen-neutrality (point 2). Nitrogenneutrality is achieved if there are no remaining net N_r releases of the event. The concept is showed here for the Nitrogen Conference 2013 (achieving 41% reduction in step 1 and a calculated offset of 73% in step 2). Source: Leip et al. (2014b).

This concept was implemented at the 6th International Nitrogen Conference (Kampala, November 2013). Participants of this conference were asked to contribute with a compensation fee to support the UN Millennium village cluster Ruhiira South–Western Uganda, to increase soil fertility with afforestation programs. The nitrogen offset required to compensate the nitrogen footprint of the conference was quantified on the basis of surveyed total food consumption of the conference attendants. The energy nitrogen footprint was not considered for this first application of nitrogen-neutrality.

In particular, the total nitrogen footprint of the 6th International Nitrogen Conference was calculated, using the N-Calculator model, as 66 kg of nitrogen lost to the environment. Total nitrogen intake by actual food consumption over the five-days conference was surveyed at 12.9 kg N, for an average of 140 persons at each meal served. Contributions to the nitrogen footprint were: dinner 35%, lunch 31%, breakfast 17% and morning and evening tea 8–9% each. Meat (beef, pork, chicken, goat and mutton, fish and seafood) and staple food (matooke, rice, sweet and Irish potatoes, cassava, maize, cereals) contributed equally to the nitrogen footprint with 37% each, followed by fruit and vegetables

(17%), animal products (milk and eggs, 7%). Leguminous crops (groundnuts, beans and peas) contributed less than one percent, but 3% of fresh weight intake and 8% of protein intake. Luxury food (tea, coffee, sugar) – the one food group which consumption was significantly higher when compared to the baseline conference – contributed 2% to the nitrogen footprint of the conference. On the basis of a preliminary estimate of the nitrogen footprint (giving a much higher value of about 150 kg N = 705 g N cap⁻¹ multiplied for 200 cap), a compensation fee of US\$ 50 was estimated and requested from the participants as voluntary maximum contribution to N-neutrality. With 160 registered participants and a resulting per capita nitrogen footprint of 0.41 kg N per registered person (which is lower than the footprint of the for the average nitrogen footprint per person present at the meals of 0.47 kg N, due to shorter attendances or 'skipped' meals), the cost per person dropped to US\$ 26 per person (note that no energy-related N_r releases were included in the calculation). From the 160 registered delegates, 61 persons donated up to US\$ 50, where by the donations were topped-up to US\$ 50 by sponsors, giving a total of collected money of US\$ 3050 (or about 73% of the total calculated required compensation fee) and invested in the compensation project (Leip *et al.*, 2014b).

2.2.6 The nitrogen-label tool

Nitrogen footprints and indicators above presented can give entities an indication of their overall nitrogen sustainability, however these tools do not provide consumers with understandable information about an individual product. For this reason, some researchers (firstly Leach et al., as reported in Galloway et al., 2014) proposed environmental food label presenting the nitrogen footprint of a single food product to show that food product's contribution to nutrient pollution. The proposed label should be designed to be printed directly on a food product's packaging to help consumers make decisions at the grocery store. In this hypothesis, the nitrogen footprint food label should be presented as a percent of the daily nitrogen footprint calculated for a sustainable diet and the percent daily value concept based on the units for nutritional recommendations on existing United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) food labels. The percent daily value should describe how much of the daily allotted food nitrogen footprint for a sustainable diet is contained in a single serving of food. For example, if a sustainable diet has nitrogen footprint of 41 g N day⁻¹ and a serving of food has a nitrogen footprint of 8 g N, then the percent daily value would be 19% (in this example defining the sustainable diet as a healthy diet recommended by the USDA). Although the healthy diet is not directly linked to environmental impacts and is therefore not a true indicator of sustainability, in this hypothesis it was used because the diet recommendation must meet minimum health requirements for humans and because a healthy diet does approach sustainability with its emphasis on low-impact food, such as non-meat proteins, in comparison to the current average US diet (Galloway *et al.*, 2014). A subsequent and more detailed proposal was made by Leach *et al.* (2016) who suggested a comprehensive environmental impact food label assessing a food product's sustainability in terms of its energy, nitrogen, and water use by three specific metrics: the carbon, nitrogen, and water footprints, respectively. According to the authors, taken together, these indicators should provide information about how a specific food product impacts the environment during its production.

Two possible examples of application of the proposed label with reference to the chicken are shown in the Figure 2.6: for details on the calculations see Leach *et al.* (2016).



Figure 2.6. Two proposals of environmental impact food label designs showing the carbon, nitrogen, and water footprints of chicken: stoplight label (on the left) and US FDA nutrition label add-on (on the right). The percentage daily value calculation method was used for all label designs. Source: Leach et al. (2016).

The authors concluded that, regardless of the label selected, an environmental impact labeling strategy could be more effective if a single, integrated label was used across a broad range of food products and retailers. The incorporation of footprint labels onto food products could both increase public awareness of the environmental impacts associated with food production as well as support producers who provide sustainable products (Leach *et al.*, 2016).

It must be underlined that the risk of misleading or incorrect communication is very high in the case of such instruments. Labeling, aimed at consumer communication, should therefore be supported by an adequate and transparent calculation system and by appropriate verification by third party bodies.

2.2.7 Process-based environmental LCA for nitrogen flows quantification

In the context of the nitrogen footprint accounting tools presented, a very interesting proposal, because closely related to the research that will be presented in the following chapters, is that of Pelletier and Leip (2014), who developed a methodology based on a life-cycle approach. They implemented a two-step method (consisting of classification and characterization) for systematic inventorying and aggregation of nitrogen mobilization, flows in product systems and emissions in life cycle assessment.

Compared to the tools described above, this methodology presents a more evident and LCA approach, applied by the authors in view of the fact that arriving at robust and consistent quantification of the magnitude and distribution of fixed nitrogen mobilization, flows and losses, and effective management strategies, should be facilitated by the application of common life cycle-based tools and approaches.

Given the potentially serious consequences of continued perturbation of the global nitrogen cycle as a result of anthropogenic mobilization and losses of fixed nitrogen, as well as the likelihood that management of nitrogen will be increasingly prominent in policy agendas for both environmental and socioeconomic reasons, the authors suggested that a consistent inventorying and quantification method for nitrogen in LCA research should be desirable (Pelletier and Leip, 2014).

In particular, they applied specific characterization factors to a previously compiled life cycle inventory data set representative of a subset of consumption attributable to the average consumer in the 27 member states of the European Union in key demand categories for the base year 2006. The inventory data set used was that compiled to support development of the European Commission Basket-of-Products Indicator.

With regard to the results obtained, the calculated life cycle fixed nitrogen emissions attributable to average consumption of the modelled products in the key demand categories in 2006, including production, use and end-of-life phases, amounted to 8.3 kg per capita. Of these, almost 100 % were in the form of emissions of ammonia (38%), nitrogen dioxide (33%), nitrate (24%), nitrous oxide (4%) and nitrogen monoxide (1%). Emissions were also assessed based on life cycle stage (production, use, and end-of life) and demand category. On this basis, it was determined that the

"nutrition" demand category—specifically, the (food) production phase—accounted for 63% of total emissions (and 90% of production-related emissions overall). The second largest share of emissions (19%) is attributable to the shelter demand category, largely for the use phase. The use phase of the mobility demand category is also significant (11%). Production and end-of-life phases make minor contributions (2% each) across the consumer goods, mobility and shelter demand categories (Figure 2.7).



Figure 2.7. Results of application of a LCA based methodology for nitrogen footprint calculation. *Emissions of fixed nitrogen associated with consumption of representative products in key demand categories for the average EU-27consumer in 2006 (by life cycle stage and demand category). Source: Pelletier and Leip (2014).*

The use of an LCA approach in the proposed methodology is also evident from the method chosen for the representation of results highlighting the contribution of each stage of the life cycle for the selected demand categories.

In their work, Pelletier and Leip (2014) also outlined that data set obtained were consistent with those observed from studies having a similar scope but different methodological approach. This outcome suggested that nitrogen could, indeed, be systematically inventoried and aggregated in process-based LCA for the purpose of providing information for decision support.

2.2.8 Nitrogen footprint existing tools: a critical review

A critical analysis of the nitrogen footprint tools described is provided below, in order to highlight the main features of each methodology and to compare with what was illustrated about the features that should ideally have the footprint indicators according to latest research and standard requirements.

A synthesis of the main features of the presented nitrogen footprint tools is reported in the Table 2.2.

Footprint Unit of LCA Assessment Proposed by Target Scope tool measure approach level Nr released Nitrogen Leach et al. for food use kg N yr⁻¹ Individuals Limited Inventory calculator (2012)and energy capita-1 related items N_r released Nitrogen Leach et al. for food use Institutions kg N Limited Inventory institution (2013)and energy related items Nr released Convention for food Nitrogen loss kg N yr-1 on Biological production / Countries Limited Inventory indicator Diversity consumption capita-1 (2010)and energy use Nitrogen kg N Events Nitrogen Leip et al. offsets to converted in Limited Inventory neutrality (2014b) (Processes) compensate monetary N_r releases u.o.m. (€/\$) Fraction of daily allotted Leach et al. food nitrogen Nitrogen label Products Limited % Inventory (2016)footprint for a sustainable diet Process based Products Pelletier and LCA Processes emissions of kg N_r equiv. High level Inventory Leip (2014) fixed nitrogen approach

Table 2.2. Comparison of the main characteristics of different applied nitrogen footprint tools.

The analyzed characteristic "LCA approach" refers to the degree of application of LCA methodology and requirements – as presented within the reference standards (ISO, 2006a,b) – for the design and the calculation of the nitrogen footprint. As can be seen, a limited LCA approach was attributed to all the footprint tools other than the process based LCA prosed by Pelletier and Leip (2014). This is mainly because the primary purposes of the tools were different from a life cycle evaluation: the data set used for the accounting are therefore not designed for application to LCA studies and not related

to the whole life cycle. For this same reason, the concepts of product system and reference unit, which are fundamental for the LCA approach, are not present and developed.

Another interesting feature for the analysis is the "assessment level", that is the stage, referred to the phases of LCA studies, with respect to which the indicator provides the environmental information. An inventory level means that the indicator provides information about the incoming and outgoing flows, of nitrogen in this specific case, of the product system being the subject of the analysis. Unlike an impact level indicator, an inventory level indicator does not provide information about the environmental impacts that the incoming and outgoing flows can potentially cause (eg. for the nitrogen in terms of eutrophication, greenhouse effect, acidification, etc.).

As far as the analysis is concerned, it should be noted that two of the listed tools, nitrogen neutrality and nitrogen label, do not have, as their main purpose, the accounting of the nitrogen footprint, as described above. In this case, regarding the degree of application of the LCA approach and the level of accounting, the critical analysis was performed with reference to the underlying calculation tools. In conclusion, it is evident that, if the LCA approach must be considered a prerequisite for the design and implementation of a footprint indicator, most of the tools developed to date can be improved for this feature. In particular, as underlined also by Pelletier and Leip (2014), consistency and comparability of studies for nitrogen footprint accounting, are hampered by the current lack of common methodologies and, can be added, by the lack of use of databases and calculation tools specifically designed for LCA applications.

In addition, a further effort could be made in order to implement a nitrogen footprint indicator that can also provide information related to the environmental impacts caused (impact level) by the entity or by the product system analyzed and not only to the reactive nitrogen streams (inventory level).

Chapter 3

A new methodology for the assessment of impact related to the nitrogen cycle

This chapter presents the proposed methodology for the calculation of environmental impacts related to the nitrogen cycle. Specifically, in the first part of the chapter, the assumptions and the general framework on which the methodology is designed are described while, in the second part, the methodology is presented describing in detail all the provided phases and steps and the underlying conceptual and mathematical models.

3.1 Towards a nitrogen impact assessment based on a LCA approach

Starting from the considerations concerning the formulation of footprint indicators reported in the chapter 2, and in particular form the weakness points highlighted by most of the currently existing tools for nitrogen footprint calculation, a new proposal of methodology must certainly be consistent with the following requirements:

- life cycle assessment (LCA) framework setting;
- impact assessment approach.

As far as the first requirement is concerned, as noted, the LCA approach should be the basis for implementing any footprint indicator as it is the most widely used and scientifically recognized methodology for the assessment of environmental impacts of an entity or product system. For the proposed methodology, LCA must be used as a framework for the whole approach, form the design to the implementation and application as well as a reference for setting up calculation and impact assessment models.

Regarding the second requirement, it is considered that the new proposal should present an approach designed to identify and quantify also the specific environmental impacts of the analyzed system, with reference to the perturbation of the nitrogen cycle. The reactive nitrogen accounting, used as a

common denominator for the definition of nitrogen footprint in the tools so far proposed, is actually defined only at an inventory level, that is, it only takes into account the input and output flows from the system being studied. To date, no attempts were made to implement a nitrogen footprint assessment accounting the environmental impacts arising from the analyzed flows, as is normally the case for the LCA studies, specifically through the impact assessment need.

3.1.1 The life cycle assessment framework

Life cycle assessment is a methodology for the identification and assessment of the environmental impacts of a product system over its life cycle. The methodology, as today known and applied, results from further investigation of the first applications of merely energy analysis passing through comprehensive environmental burden analysis in the 1970s and up to full-fledged life cycle impact assessment and life cycle costing models introduced in the 1980s and 1990s. Specifically, the actual definition of LCA comes from a period of convergence through Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC)'s coordination and ISO's standardization activities, providing a standardized framework and terminology, and platform for debate and harmonization of LCA methods (Guinée et al., 2011).

As standardized by ISO (2006a,b), the LCA methodology for the compilation and evaluation of the inputs, outputs and the potential environmental impacts of a product system throughout its life cycle requires 4 phases, as follows:

- *Goal and scope definition:* is the initial step in which the goal and scope of an LCA shall be clearly defined and shall be consistent with the intended application. Due to the iterative nature of LCA, the scope may have to be refined during the study. In this phase must be addressed issues related to the product system, its functions and functional unit, system boundaries, methodology of impact assessment and selected impact categories, interpretation, data requirements, assumption, limitations, initial data quality requirements, type of critical review, type and format of report.
- *Inventory analysis:* is the step which includes data collection and the method that allows the quantification of the entering and leaving flow of a product system, in relation to the defined boundaries of the system. In this phase the knowledge of the system increases and may emerge the need to change assumptions respect to the initial considerations, such as the system boundaries or procedure for data collection, or sometimes may be also necessary to review the scope or

objective. The iterative nature of the process allows the identification of new data requirement, limitations or collection of other data to completely satisfy the goal of the study. In particular, the data collection regards the quantification of entering or leaving elements of a unit process: input of energy, raw material, physical entities as well as products, co-products, waste, emissions to air or discharges to water and soil.

- *Impact assessment:* is the step in which the assessment of potential environmental impacts is performed, starting from the results coming from inventory phase: inventory data are associated with specific environmental impact categories and related indicators. According to ISO 14040, an impact categories indicator is defined as quantifiable representation of an impact category. Impact categories represent a class of environmental issues to which life cycle inventory analysis results may be assigned: they describe the potential effects on humans and ecosystems, affecting the environment at local, regional and global. Examples of impact categories are acidification, ozone depletion, human toxicity, global warming, ionizing radiation, photochemical ozone formation, ecotoxicity, eutrophication, resource depletion, land use.
- *Interpretation:* this phase consists in the correlation of results obtained from the inventory analysis and environmental impact assessment. The aim is to reach conclusions and provide an easily understandable, complete and consistent presentation of LCA study result in a transparent manner, according with goal and scope of the study, highlighting also the area where improvements could be implemented. It is carried out according to the goal and scope definitions, including system functions, functional unit and system boundaries.

In accordance with or above the requirements, a general supporting framework is proposed for the nitrogen footprint assessment that follows the requirements of the reference standards for LCA. In particular, a section preliminary defined as "nitrogen inventory study" starts from the *goal and scope definition* – with characteristics and requirements similar to those of the corresponding phase of the LCA methodology – and incudes the *nitrogen inventory analysis* aimed at describing the flows that affect the product system with reference to the substances relevant for nitrogen cycle alterations.

A further section, defined as *nitrogen footprint assessment*, which starts from the outputs of the previous section, includes the phase of assessment of impacts generated by the product system limiting the scope to the impact categories that have a direct bearing on the nitrogen cycle perturbations.

As a corollary is the *interpretation* stage that concerns the findings from the nitrogen inventory analysis and the nitrogen footprint assessment, with the aim to deliver results that are consistent with

the defined goal and scope of the application, to reach conclusions, explain limitations and provide recommendations.

A schematic representation of the general framework underlying the proposed methodology is presented in the Figure 3.1: the declination of the general framework in the proposed methodology with a precise identification of the phases and of the steps is presented later in this chapter, starting at § 3.2.



Figure 3.1. Schematic representation of the framework underlying the proposed methodology for nitrogen footprint assessment, comprising the sections of nitrogen inventory study and nitrogen impact assessment. Adapted from ISO (2006a,b).

One of the key concepts for the proposed methodology, derived from the requirements for LCA studies, is that of product system, that is the mode used to model the reference entity that is the subject of the study or application. LCA approach models the life cycle of a product as its product system, which performs one or more defined functions. Product systems are usually subdivided into a set of unit processes. Unit processes are linked to one another by flows of intermediate products and/or waste for treatment, to other product systems by product flows, and to the environment by elementary flows. The level of modelling detail that is required to satisfy the goal of the study determines the boundary of a unit process (ISO, 2006a).

Another essential concept to be applied in the proposed methodology, and once again reflecting the LCA approach, is that of function of the product system. A system may have a number of possible

functions and the one(s) selected for a study depend(s) on the goal and scope of the assessment. With reference to the system function, the functional unit defines the quantification of the identified functions (performance characteristics) of the product system. The primary purpose of a functional unit is to provide a reference to which the inputs and outputs are related. This reference is necessary to ensure comparability of results that is particularly critical when different systems are being assessed, to ensure that such comparisons are made on a common basis (ISO, 2006a).

An example of representation of a product system, including unit processes, elementary and product flows is shown in the Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2. Example of scheme for LCA product system representation. Source: ISO (2006a).

The choice to systematically adopt an LCA approach for the proposed methodology is in line with what is required by the latest interpretations for the formulation of footprint indicators and then allows the model to be potentially applied to any entity, using furthermore a method derived from international standards recognized by the scientific community.

3.1.2 The impact assessment approach

As above highlighted, the proposed methodology comprises a specific phase aimed to evaluate the environmental impacts arising from the product system with reference to the impact categories that

describes the perturbations caused to the nitrogen cycle. This element constitutes a new approach in the nitrogen footprint accounting, being the models currently proposed based on an inventory level approach. In fact, the reactive nitrogen quantification, which is the basis for the actual nitrogen footprint indicators, provides aggregate information regarding only nitrogen flows incoming and outgoing a product system. With reference to the framework of the proposed methodology (Figure 3.1), the reactive nitrogen accounting can be considered an intermediate output between inventory and assessment phases, as better explained in the following detailed description of the methodology. The attempt made with the new proposal is to process the output streams of the product systems by a phase of impact assessment in order to quantify the generated environmental impacts. Specifically, this process requires to associate inventory data with specific environmental impacts.

This stage of the proposed methodology is borrowed from the life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) phase that includes the collection of indicator results for the different impact categories, which together represent the LCIA profile for the product system.

According to the requisite of ISO standards (ISO, 2006b), to which reference is made for a more detailed analysis, the following mandatory elements must be included in the LCIA phase:

- selection of impact categories, category indicators and characterization models;
- assignment of LCI results to the selected impact categories (classification);
- calculation of category indicator results (characterization).

Some elements should be emphasized as fundamental to the implementation of the model that will be illustrated in the following paragraphs, particularly as regards the environmental mechanism, that is the total of environmental processes related to the characterization of the impacts. In this concept is comprised the selection of characterization models which reflect the environmental mechanism by describing the relationship between the inventory results and category indicators. According to ISO indications (ISO, 2006b) the impact categories, category indicators and characterization models should be internationally accepted, i.e. based on an international agreement or approved by a competent international body; furthermore the characterization model for each category indicator should be scientifically and technically valid, and based upon a distinct identifiable environmental mechanism and reproducible empirical observation.

The core of the impact assessment is the characterization phase, whose aim is the calculation of indicator results involving the conversion of inventory results to common units and the aggregation of the converted results within the same impact category. This conversion uses the so called

"characterization factors" to obtain a numerical indicator result. The usefulness of the indicator results for a given goal and scope depends on the accuracy, validity and characteristics of the characterization models and characterization factors.

3.1.3 Supporting tools for the development of the methodology

Before proceeding to the detailed definition of the new methodology, some preliminary issues need to be addressed, in relation to supporting tools that are essential requirements for the model implementation. These are typical support tools of the LCA applications judged to be indispensable for dealing with any LCA-type systematic approach: for this reason, they are briefly described in the following paragraphs, highlighting the most relevant elements for the subsequent description of the method.

3.1.3.1 Databases

As for any assessment tool, data is the primary material on which it is based any LCA application and consequently the proposed methodology. In particular, for the phase of inventory analysis, large amounts of process and production data are needed. Process units defined within the product system must be described in the most detailed manner as possible as regard the inputs and outputs of materials, energy, products, and releases to environment.

In general, data collection can be defined as the process of gathering data for a specific purpose. "Raw data" are data that have not been set in relation to the quantitative reference of the unit process dataset. Data gathering needs should be supported by the unit process dataset's mathematical relationships and by the goal and scope of the application. The following options for data collection exist, as data collection procedures or sources:

- Primary data can include:
 - interviews,
 - questionnaires or surveys,
 - bookkeeping or enterprise resource planning (ERP) system,
 - data collection tools (online, offline)
 - on-site measurements.
- Secondary data can include:
 - interviews,
 - statistics,

- literature.
- Data generation can include:
 - calculations (e.g., missing emission factors from input data),
 - estimates.

For each unit process dataset, a combination of these options usually is applied; also, several techniques may be used in a sequence (Sonnemann *et al.*, 2013).

The data flow from the raw data providers to the end user consists of various activities and implies the interaction of various subjects, as represented in the Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3. Flow of data from raw data through to inventory data user with feedback loops and related subjects. Source: Sonnemann et al. (2013).

Within this work, the perspective applied for the methodology description is that of the user, that is a person or organization responsible for building an assessment model from one or more unit process datasets or aggregated process datasets taken from one or more databases. The user may combine data from existing databases with those from his own investigations and is responsible for presenting and interpreting the assessment results and the resulting recommendations within a decision process. The user is not necessarily the decision maker. In that sense, users can be found within industry, government, consultancy and academia, whereas decision makers are primarily located in industry and governments.

Accessing and retrieving data for assessment studies is a complex issue that requires both economical and time-consuming resources. Adopting the point of view of the user, there are various ways to obtain useful data (Sonnemann *et al.*, 2013):

- interviews;
- questionnaires and surveys: these tools are similar to questionnaires but should include sampling of a process in addition to collection or extraction of data from process information;
- data collection tools (online, offline, software driven questionnaires): while having similar issues as questionnaires and surveys, these tools offer much better possibilities for automated consistency and completeness checks;
- measurements on site: in this case sampling time and sampling method (equipment, specific methodology) need to be selected according to goal and scope of the assessment;
- statistics;
- calculation;
- estimates;
- proxy unit process: in same cases a particularly useful data source is an existing similar (proxy) unit process, for example, a related technology or the same technology for another region or another time period. The unit process data for the proxy may be able to be used directly (e.g., use the same emission factor).

There is a general ranking of data collection methods (of the same quality):

- I. measurements;
- II. calculations;
- III. estimations.

Estimates should be avoided, and if they cannot be avoided, they should be backed by measurements or by calculations, which then can be used as plausibility checks. The use of estimation to fill data gaps is useful even if the specific missing data cannot be measured, but other data are available and can then be used by relation to a common operation.

In most cases, the use of databases is indispensable for completing the inventory of an assessment. Different classifications of existing databases can be made: it is considered useful for the purposes of this work to distinguish between databases in which the data are specifically structured with an LCA approach – which could be called LCI (Life Cycle Inventory) data – and other databases which contains non-LCI data. It must be highlighted that the non-LCI data, like those made available by government document and database, albeit free, tend to be at least several years old. Furthermore,

these data may be less specific and less accurate than, for example, industry data for specific facilities or data contained in commercial software tools for LCA applications. Another challenge to using non-LCI databases is the difficulty in aggregating facility data for the purpose of the assessment or the complexity of reconstructing lifecycle data from different sources with incompatible features as regards the format. An exhaustive presentation and analysis of existing database, free or for a fee, containing LCI and non-LCI data, is that carried out by Curran (2012) to which reference is made for further details.

3.1.3.2 Characterization models

Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA) is defined by the standards (ISO, 2006a,b) as the "phase of life cycle assessment aimed at understanding and evaluating the magnitude and significance of the potential environmental impacts of a product system". The purpose of the impact assessment phase is thus to interpret the life cycle emissions and resource consumption inventory in terms of indicators evaluating the environmental impact. Several stages are included in the LCIA phase: some are classified as mandatory, others as optional, as represented in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4. Mandatory and optional elements of Life Cycle Impact Assessments phase. Source: ISO (2006a).

In particular, characterization or "calculation of impact category indicator results" is identified as the mandatory third element of the life cycle impact assessment. It is the stage in which the potential impact from each inventory emission to – and/or resource flow from – the environment is modeled quantitatively according to the relevant environmental mechanism using a characterization model.

The characterization model calculates substance-specific characterization factors that express the potential impact of each single elementary flow in terms of the common unit of the category indicator. Characterization factors thus allow comparing the different elementary flows quantitatively in terms of their ability to contribute to the impact category indicator. The collection of individual characterization models (each addressing their separate impact category) is referred to as a "life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) method" (Hauschild *et al.*, 2013).

According to ISO 14044, the indicator of an impact category can be chosen anywhere along the impact pathway, which links inventory data to impacts on the final receptors or area of protection (AoP). With regard to this theme, a fundamental distinction is between:

- *characterization at midpoint level*, which models the impact using an indicator located somewhere along (but before the end of) the mechanism, and
- *characterization at the endpoint level* which requires modelling all the way to the impact on the entities described by the areas of protection (i.e. on human health, on the natural environment and on natural resources). This then allows for cross-comparison of different impact categories within AoPs on a natural or social science basis, and where possible taking into account all substance-specific differences.

Impact categories at the midpoint level are defined at the place where a common mechanism for a variety of substances within that specific impact category exists. For example, "Global Warming" impacts involve a series of steps, starting with the release of greenhouse gases, and ending with impacts on humans and ecosystems. There is a point where the greenhouse gases have an effect on the radiative forcing. Greenhouse gas emissions have a pathway that is different before that point, but identical beyond that point. Therefore, the radiative forcing provides a suitable indicator for the midpoint impact category of "Global Warming". Most of the other impact categories, such as "Human Toxicity" and "Ecotoxicity Effects" are more heterogeneous. In these impact categories there is no real midpoint. The midpoint applied is in fact as close as practicable to the area of protection (EC-JRC, 2010c).

The possibility of choice and trade-off between the use of a midpoint and an endpoint approach for modeling the assessment of impacts is a particularly debated issue. Curran (2012) highlights that on

one hand, midpoint indicators are removed from observable or tangible impacts, making it harder for the public to relate to the indicator results. On the other hand, modeling to an endpoint introduces additional uncertainty as the location specific data become less certain and less available. For example, an indicator that accounts in terms of crop loss due to acid rain, although having a greater degree of uncertainty, is easier to understand for people rather than an indicator of the same impact that accounts in terms of potential increase in acidification, measured in hydrogen-ion equivalents. An example of framework of characterization models, linking elementary flows from the inventory results to indicator results at midpoint level and endpoint level is reported in the Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.5. Relationship between the midpoint impact categories and three Areas of Protection proposed by European Commission - Joint Research Centre (EC-JRC, 2010c).

Entering more specifically in the theme of impact assessment modeling, it is clear that the credibility of the results obtained from an assessment depends largely on the validity of the characterization model used: in this regard, ISO (2006b) emphasizes that "the impact categories, category indicators and characterization models should be internationally accepted, i.e. based on an international agreement or approved by a competent international body".

Attempts have been made in several working groups and task forces on life cycle impact assessment under the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) and later under the UNEP-SETAC Life Cycle Initiative, but they have not resulted in a uniform globally accepted set of characterization models and factors. In parallel, serval life cycle impact assessment methodologies have been developed and applied, going from dedicated midpoint methodologies (eg. CML 2002, EDIP 2003, TRACI) and endpoint methodologies (eg. EPS, Ecoindicator) towards methodologies that try to combine the two approaches and model impacts at both midpoint and endpoint levels (eg. LIME, ReCiPe, IMPACT2002+).

In this context, the Joint Research Centre (JRC) of the European Commission has launched the International Reference Life Cycle Data System (ILCD) to develop technical guidance that provides the basis for greater consistency and quality of life cycle data, methods, and LCA studies. For this goal, an evaluation was also performed of existing LCIA methods and characterization models, both midpoint and endpoint level, with the aim to identify the best existing practice.

As anticipated, the impact assessment approach, inserted into a LCA logic, is a crucial point for the proposed methodology for nitrogen footprint accounting, and accordingly also the choice of appropriate characterization models. For this reason, starting from the JRC analysis, an initial evaluation of most used, within LCA applications, and scientifically recognized impact categories was made, in order to identify those connected in any way to the perturbation of the nitrogen cycle. The analysis resulted in the following impact categories, in which it turned out that elementary flows of nitrogen containing substances are taken into account, defining the related characterization factors:

- climate change;
- human toxicity, cancer effects;
- human toxicity, non-cancer effects;
- particulate matter formation;
- photochemical ozone formation;
- acidification;
- terrestrial eutrophication;
- marine eutrophication;
- freshwater ecotoxicity.

The first and most important difficulty in addressing the nitrogen footprint using an LCA perspective stems from the fact that, as is apparent from the list above, the environmental impacts related to the nitrogen cycle and derived from nitrogen-containing substances are numerous and affect different impact categories. A model for addressing quantification of nitrogen footprint, therefore, will need to consider different characterization models and elaborate results with a multi-criteria approach, as is normally the case for a full LCA application. From this point of view, addressing a nitrogen footprint

model is much more complex than, for example, calculating a carbon footprint, which, according to the schemes currently applied, is based on a single impact category: climate change.

Several authors discussed the topic of emissions that relate to more than one impact category, concluding that this topic mainly relates to multiple impacts of chemical releases and distinguishing the following four categories of emissions (Guinée *et al.*, 2002):

- Emissions with parallel impacts, i.e. emissions of substances that may theoretically contribute to more than one impact category but in practice only to one, e.g. an emission of SO₂ which may have either toxic or acidifying impacts.
- Emissions with serial impacts, i.e. emissions of substances that may in practice have successive impacts, e.g. emissions of heavy metals which may first have eco-toxicological impacts and subsequently, via food chains, impacts on human health.
- Emissions with indirect impacts, i.e. emissions of substances having a primary impact that in turn leads to one or more secondary impacts, e.g. aluminium toxicity induced by acidification, or methane contributing to photo-oxidant formation, with the produced ozone contributing in turn to climate change, which in turn may contribute to stratospheric ozone depletion.
- Emissions with combined impacts, i.e. emissions of substances having a mutual influence on each other's impacts, e.g. synergistic or antagonistic impacts of toxic substance mixes, or NO_x and VOC, both of which are required for photo-oxidant formation.

As reported by Guinée (2015), in order to avoid double counting, for emissions having parallel impacts, it is generally recommended in the literature that the respective contributions of such emissions to relevant impact categories be specified. However, no guidelines are available on how this task is to be performed. In general, such specification should be performed only in those cases where it really matters (where the contribution of the substance to one impact category substantially lessens its potential contribution to another). If it is unclear how such emissions are to be allocated, they are often assigned in their entirety to all relevant impact categories.

For generally acknowledged and well-defined impact categories with a limited number of contributing flows, such as global warming/climate change, stratospheric ozone depletion, acidification and eutrophication, the default lists of emission and their classification into the impact categories are highly similar between different life cycle assessment methods.

Starting from these considerations and using the results of the JRC analysis (EC-JRC, 2010b; EC-JRC, 2011), to design the methodology, a selection was made in order to identify, for the previously listed impact categories, the best among existing characterization models. The results are shown in

94

the Table 3.1, in which the best characterization models for each impact category are reported with related category indicators and classification by JRC expressed in three levels of recommendation.

Table 3.1. Best available characterization models at midpoint recommended under the ILCD. The classification levels are the following: I – recommended and satisfactory; II – recommended but in need of some improvements; III – recommended, but to be applied with caution. Source: EC-JRC (2011).

Impact category	Best among existing characterization models	Indicator	Classification
Climate change	Baseline model of 100 years of the IPCC (Forster et al., 2007)	Radiative forcing as global warming potential (GWP ₁₀₀)	Ι
Human toxicity, cancer effects	USEtox model (Rosenbaum et al., 2008)	Comparative toxic unit for humans (CTU _h)	II/III
Human toxicity, non- cancer effects	USEtox model (Rosenbaum et al., 2008)	Comparative toxic unit for humans (CTU _h)	II/III
Particulate matter - respiratory inorganics	Compilation in Humbert (2009) based on Rabl and Spadaro (2004) and Greco et al. (2007)	Intake fraction for fine particles (kg PM _{2.5} -eq/kg)	I/II
Photochemical ozone formation	LOTOS-EUROS as applied in ReCiPe (van Zelm et al., 2008)	Tropospheric ozone concentration increase	Π
Acidification	Accumulated exceedance (Seppälä et al., 2006; Posch et al., 2008)	Accumulated exceedance (AE)	Π
Eutrophication, terrestrial	Accumulated exceedance (Seppälä et al., 2006; Posch et al., 2008)	Accumulated exceedance (AE)	Π
Eutrophication, aquatic	EUTREND model as implemented in ReCiPe (Struijs et al., 2009 in Goedkoop et al., 2009)	Residence time of nutrients in freshwater (P) or marine end compartment (N)	П
Ecotoxcity (freshwater)	USEtox model (Rosenbaum et al., 2008)	Comparative Toxic Unit for ecosystems (CTU _e)	II/III

As can be seen, the investigation was limited to the midpoint characterization models, as more suitable for the purposes of the proposed methodology, as well as more scientifically recognized, for the fact that, as noted above, they introduce less uncertainty in the final assessment output. A detailed description of the characterization methods above reported and used in the proposed

methodology is reported in the Appendix A.

3.1.3.3 Normalization and weighting

From the application characterization models is obtained, as a result, an impact assessment profile showing the environmental impacts in several impact categories. For the proposed methodology, typically, will be obtained a profile composed by the results of the previously listed nine impact categories, or consisting of a smaller number of categories if no result can be attributed to one or more categories (for example, if inventory results do not show any emissions related to a specific impact category). The profile thus obtained is a valid result for a complete assessment of the impacts associated with the nitrogen cycle: similarly to what was seen for LCA, the calculation of category indicator results (LCIA profile), is the last mandatory element of the methodology according to the ISO standards.

Subsequent operations, such as normalization and weighting, which are considered optional elements in an LCA application, can become crucial for comparing different alternatives and necessary for achieving a single score as result of the assessment. It could be difficult, in fact, to make an evaluation of the overall environmental impact of an entity or of alternatives based on multiple criteria with units of measurement not comparable (e.g., kg CO₂ eq., kg PM_{2.5} eq. and kg N eq.). Furthermore, in operating a comparison between environmental performances of different alternatives, it is rare to find an alternative that outperforms the others in all the analyzed impact categories. Rather, the most common case is to find alternatives which perform differently in the selected impact categories, thus making normalization and weighting necessary tools for comparative assessments.

As defined by the ISO standards (ISO, 2006b), *normalization* is the calculation of the magnitude of the category indicator results relative to some reference information. The aim of the normalization is to understand better the relative magnitude for each indicator result of the product system under study. It is an optional element that may be helpful in, for example:

- checking for inconsistencies,
- providing and communicating information on the relative significance of the indicator results, and
- preparing for additional procedures, such as grouping, weighting or life cycle interpretation.

Normalization transforms an indicator result by dividing it by a selected reference value. Some examples of reference values are:

- the total inputs and outputs for a given area that may be global, regional, national or local,
- the total inputs and outputs for a given area on a per capita basis or similar measurement, and
- inputs and outputs in a baseline scenario, such as a given alternative product system.

As reported by Sala *et al.* (2015), results of several normalization efforts are available to date: in particular, they were developed and found to be applied within the LCA studies. Just to name a few, a set of normalization factors for US based on TRACI as life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) method was developed by Bare *et al.* 2006. Normalization references for European and the global economic systems, considering 15 different impact categories for the year 2000, were produced by Sleeswijk *et*

al. (2008). Laurent *et al.* (2011) developed normalization references for Europe and North America referring to USEtox (Rosenbaum *et al.*, 2008) impact categories. Lautier *et al.* (2010) focused on the calculation of normalization references for North America with reference to the IMPACT2002+ (Jolliet *et al.*, 2003) LCIA method.

In the context of this work, was chosen as the reference set, for its credibility at the scientific level in Europe, that recommended by the JRC (Benini *et al.*, 2014) providing normalization factors also for the implementation of the EU Product Environmental Footprint methodology (European Commission, 2013). Specifically, the JRC calculation of normalization factors for the Product Environmental Footprint, was based on a refinement and update of the 'Life Cycle indicators for Resources' dataset (European Commission, 2012), used as inventory. This dataset was developed with the aim to monitor the environmental impacts associated with European production and consumption, as well as waste management within the EU, by including also impacts from trade (imports and exports).

According to the approach adopted for the 'Life Cycle Indicators for Resources' dataset (LC Indicators) and for the consequent set of normalization factors, the impacts associated with the imported products were summed to the impacts related to the activities taking place in the EU-27 territory (domestic), minus the impacts associated to the exported products. In detail, the total environmental impact, according to LCA methodologies, was calculated in two steps: building of life cycle inventory and characterizing of the inventory. Regarding the life cycle impact assessment, the ILCD recommended impact assessment methods (EC - JRC, 2011) and the related characterization factors (Sala *et al.*, 2012) were used for calculating the normalization factors. The results obtained, are reported in Table 3.2, limiting the scope only to the impact categories related to the nitrogen cycle, as identified in the previous paragraph.

Table 3.2. Recommended normalization factors according to JRC indications for nitrogen-related impact categories. Per person normalization factors have been calculated using Eurostat data on the EU-27 population in 2010: 499 million inhabitants. Extracted from Benini et al. (2014).

Impact category	Unit	Domestic	Normalisation factor per person (domestic)	Overall robustness
Climate change	kg CO ₂ eq.	4.60E+12	9.22E+03	Very High
Human toxicity, cancer effects	CTU_h	1.84E+04	3.69E-05	Low
Human toxicity, non- cancer effects	$\mathrm{CTU}_{\mathrm{h}}$	2.66E+05	5.33E-04	Low

Impact category	Unit	Domestic	Normalisation factor per person (domestic)	Overall robustness
Particulate matter - respiratory inorganics	kg PM _{2.5} eq.	1.90E+09	3.80E+00	Very High
Photochemical ozone formation	kg NMVOC eq.	1.58E+10	3.17E+01	Medium
Acidification	mol H ⁺ eq.	2.36E+10	4.73E+01	High
Eutrophication, terrestrial	mol N eq.	8.76E+10	1.76E+02	Medium
Eutrophication, marine	kg N eq.	8.44E+09	1.69E+01	Medium to Low
Ecotoxcity for aquatic fresh water	CTU_h	4.36E+12	8.74E+03	Low

It is considered important to emphasize that the above reported normalization factors are also recommended within the studies and applications developed by the European Union under the Sustainable Consumption and Production Action Plan, in particular with reference to the "Guidance for the implementation of the EU Product Environmental Footprint (PEF) during the Environmental Footprint (EF) pilot phase" (European Commission, 2014).

Again according to ISO standards (ISO, 2006b), *weighting* is the process of converting indicator results of different impact categories by using numerical factors based on value-choices. It may include aggregation of the weighted indicator results. Weighting is an optional element with two possible procedures, either:

- to convert the indicator results or normalized results with selected weighting factors, or
- to aggregate these converted indicator results or normalized results across impact categories.

Issues related to weighting and weighting factors are highly debated among LCA researchers and experts. Among the others, Prado *et al.* (2012) stated that the weighting process help to simplify tradeoffs when dealing with competing alternatives and opposing values within a panel of decision makers. Weighting, furthermore, allows for impacts to be aggregated into a single score for easier evaluation. However, weights are inherently subjective and can vary depending on culture, political views, gender, demographics, and professional opinion of stakeholders. Consequently, single-score results are criticized by some practitioners.

Regarding the weighting factors, Ahlroth *et al.* (2011) evidenced a lack of consistent weighting/valuation sets, stressing that in many existing weighting sets, different types of impacts are valued with different methods, which make them inherently incomparable. These same authors

proposed a taxonomy for valuation and weighting methods used in some selected "Environmental Systems Analysis Tools" – among which LCA is also considered – as listed below:

- Monetary valuation methods:
 - Revealed willingness to pay (e.g. Market prices, Revealed preference methods, Productivity method, Travel cost, Hedonic pricing);
 - Expressed willingness to pay (e.g. Stated preference methods, Contingent valuation, Choice modelling);
 - Imputed willingness to pay (e.g. Damage cost avoided method, Replacement Cost Method, Substitute Cost Method);
 - Political willingness to pay (e.g. Costs-to-reach-target, Taxes);
 - Avoidance costs;
- Non-monetary weighting methods:
 - Proxy methods (e.g. Ad hoc scoring, Indicators in physical units as TMR, energy requirements, Ecological footprints);
 - Distance-to-target methods
 - Panel weighting methods (e.g. ad hoc methods using expert assessments, stakeholders, etc., Multi-criteria analysis).

Focusing on weighting procedures usually adopted within LCA approach, is once again the JRC offering a classification of the weighting methods and identifying three main categories (Huppes and van Oers, 2011):

- *Midpoint modelling and evaluation*. The midpoint weighting method refers to midpoint impact categories like climate change and acidification. Here, assumptions on further empirical effects towards endpoints and their evaluation are combined in one step.
- *Endpoint modelling and evaluation*. The endpoint method converts interventions into damages at endpoint levels. These endpoints, as in terms of damages to human health and biodiversity, are subsequently evaluated in a weighting step to aggregate the endpoint scores.
- *Integrated modelling and evaluation*. Is a method developed by economists thus, compared to the previous methods, builds upon a different, yet very relevant domain. The economic method is based on willingness to pay (WtP), as estimated through general panel procedures. A number of different economic approaches exist, covering different types of environmental interventions.

As again highlighted by Huppes and van Oers (2011), in general, the midpoint evaluation has the most robust modelling, but only to midpoint level. Endpoint models are based on midpoint models,

thus they add extra uncertainty on top of the uncertainty already affecting midpoint evaluations by modelling further to the endpoints, whilst also providing additional information. This can reduce the need to use social/economic values to cross-compare impacts at the end-point level, such as in terms of human health, ecosystem impacts, etc.

By way of example, it is considered useful to report, in the Table 3.3, three reference weighting sets, based on a panel procedure: the weighting factors are given for 9 to 13 midpoint impact categories, depending on the method.

		Panel weighting set [%]		
ILCD recommended midpoint impact categories	Impact category on midpoint level	EPA Science Advisory Board	BEES Stakehold er Panel	NOGEPA
Climate change	Climate change	16	29	32
Ozone depletion	Ozone depletion	5	2	5
Acidification	Acidification	5	3	6
-	Eutrophication	5	6	13
Eutrophication, terrestrial	-	-	-	-
Eutrophication, fresh water	-	-	-	-
Photochemical ozone formation	Photochem. ozone form.	6	4	8
-	Hum. health-non canc.	11	-	16
Human toxicity – cancer effects	Hum. health-canc.	-	8	-
Human toxicity - non-cancer effects	Hum. health-non canc.	-	5	-
Particulate matter/Respir. inorg.	Hum. health criteria pollut.	6	9	-
-	Ecotoxicity	11	7	-
Ecotoxicity – fresh water	Fresh water ecotoxicity	-	-	6
-	Marine ecotoxicity	-	-	8
-	Terrestrial ecotoxicity	-	-	5
Ionizing radiat., hum. health effects	-	-	-	-
Ionizing radiation, ecosystems	-	-	-	-
Resource depl. (min., foss. renew.)	-	-	-	-
-	Resource depl. (fossil fuel)	5	10	-
Resource depletion water	Water intake	3	8	-
-	Indoor air quality	11	3	-
Land use	Habitat alteration	16	6	-
	Total	100	100	100

Table 3.3. Weighting factors [%] of three panel weighting sets: EPA Science Advisory Board (Lippiatt, 2007), BEES Stakeholder Panel (Lippiatt, 2007), NOGEPA (Huppes et al., 2007) as reported by Huppes and van Oers (2011).

Again, the midpoint impact categories recommended by the JRC within the ILCD Handbook (EC - JRC, 2011) were used as a reference: it is worth to note that the midpoint impact categories considered by the reported weighting sets, comply not completely, albeit to a large extent, with the ILCD framework. In fact, as noted by Huppes and van Oers (2011), some operational weighting sets miss weighting factors for some of the draft ILCD recommended impact categories. For example, on the

midpoint level the NOGEPA weighting set does not cover ionizing radiation, land use and (abiotic) resource depletion. The BEES weighting set lacks weighting factors for ionizing radiation. On the other hand, also weighting factors might be available for impact categories that are not part of the recommended ILCD impact assessment. For example, on the midpoint level, the BEES weighting set has a superfluous factor for the work environment. For this reason, in order to fully comply with ILCD impact assessment categories, the same authors proposed a modification of the weighting sets presented in the Table 3.3, together with an additional set consisting of the average value of the three modified weighting sets (EPA, BEES, NOGEPA): this last set is reported in the Table 3.4 (first column).

Starting from this average set, the values of specific weighting coefficients were calculated, limiting the scope to the only nine impact categories related to the nitrogen cycle: the calculation was done by reporting to 100 the value of the nine selected weighting factors, as shown in Table 3.4.

	Weighting set [%]		
ILCD recommended midpoint impact categories	Average set EPA BEES, NOGEPA set	Calculated set for nitrogen-related impact categories	
Climate change	23	35.6	
Ozone depletion	4	-	
Acidification	4	6.2	
Eutrophication	7	-	
Eutrophication, terrestrial	(7/3)	3.6	
Eutrophication, fresh water	(7/3)	-	
Eutrophication, marine	(7/3)	3.6	
Photochemical ozone formation	5	7.7	
Human toxicity – cancer effects	6	9.3	
Human toxicity - non-cancer effects	4	6.2	
Particulate matter / Respiratory inorganics	7	10.8	
Ecotoxicity	11	17.0	
Ionizing radiation, human health	6/2	-	
Ionizing radiation, ecosystems	6/2	-	
Resource depletion	7	-	
Resource depletion water	5	-	
Land use	10	-	
Total	100	100	

Table 3.4. Weighting factors [%] for ILCD recommended midpoint impact categories. Set on the left: average of modified EPA, BEES and NOGEP as proposed by Huppes and van Oers (2011). Set on the right: specifically adpted (based on the left) within this work for the only nitrogen related impact categories.

The calculated set above reported is one solution for a weighting set, based on an external panel evaluation and applicable to the nitrogen impact assessment: other solutions, based on internal data

derived from the analyzed product system or on data derived from a product system created ad hoc for the purposes of this work, are presented in the following sections.

For completeness it must also be mentioned the possibility to use a system of equal weighting as also reported within the guidance for calculating and reporting products' life cycle environmental impacts issued by European Union (European Commission, 2016): in the guidance is recommended that all impact categories receive the same weight (weighting factor = 1), until there is an agreed set of European weighting factors.

3.1.3.4 Software

A usual LCA application requires accounting data about several processes and their input and output flows, managing the connections between processes, balance calculating, impact assessing, normalizing and weighting. The management of data and calculations related to the inventory, impact assessment and interpretation phase would be not possible without the support of an appropriate software. For LCA applicators software is the tool that, in synthesis, converts data into a model, providing results to be used, generally, in decision support.

Among the different features that the software offer, is worth mentioning the availability of several specific databases, different characterization, normalization and weighting methodologies and uncertainty calculation tools, the possibility to graphically represent product systems and incoming and outgoing streams, as well as, of course, the ability to efficiently and quickly process data, allowing rapid changes and comparisons.

In order to present typical characteristics of currently available software, some possible categorizations are summarized below, as formulated by Curran (2012):

• *Web or desktop tools.* Hand in hand with the spread of online tools, LCA software, traditionally locally installed on a desktop, have begun to be installed on a web server, and remote accessed by users. Online tools usually offer a clean, modern and therefore attractive user interface. Furthermore, they need to be installed only once, this being an advantage for larger companies ore large user groups; finally, data and software updates can be centrally managed. On the other side, in the web tools, the local user has less control over software and data, and typically also over the server where the software is running and therefore might be reluctant to upload sensitive data to a web server difficult to control. Also, handling large amounts of data, requires careful optimization even with modern, fast connections, and is still posing challenges to web applications.

- *Commercial or freeware tools.* Several commercial tools are in the market since years, widely used by applicants; yet still, some tools have always been freely available. These tools usually do not offer all features of commercial systems; workflow and user interface design do not always comply with user interface conventions. More advanced features, as the graphical visualization of supply chains, and in depth result and contribution analysis may be lacking. On the other side, some more advanced and special, rather experimental methods may be available in free tools.
- *Open or closed source.* Open source software is released under a specific open source license whose main feature is the fact that the source code of the software is available free of charge for everyone. Besides being free, the software is fully transparent and can be updated and modified directly by the user. For the creator of the software, a broad range of other open source tools is available that can be combined or adapted to fit to the own software; this allows building more mature and feature-rich systems relatively fast.
- *General, specialized or add-ons tools.* General tools are intended as full modeling systems that offer users all features required for performing complete LCA applications. There are also specialized tools for example for managing, specific data sets, editing particular data format, converting data from different formats. Then, there are tools targeting only a specific user group, created in dedicated research projects, providing in some cases a specific technical language for the targeted users. Finally, closely related to the last group, are software add-ons that provide some LCA calculation or modeling features as add-on to software that is used mainly for other purposes.

3.2 Proposal of new methodology for nitrogen footprint assessment

Starting from the considerations of the previous paragraphs and using the presented underlying general framework (§ 3.1.1), a methodology has been designed with the aim of providing a framework for comprehensive assessment of nitrogen-related impacts, applying a life cycle approach and adapting schemes, tools and methods typically used in the LCA applications.

The proposed methodology consists of two corollary "conceptual" phases:

- goal and scope definition,
- interpretation of the results,

and four methodologically operational steps:

- inventory analysis,
- assessment at inventory level,
- impact assessment (characterization),
- impact assessment (normalization and weighting).

The proposed methodology is schematically represented as a diagram in the Figure 3.6.



Figure 3.6. Sheme of the proposed methodology for nitrogen footprint assessment

The methodology has been designed to be applied both sequentially from the beginning phase (goal and scope definition) to the final phase (interpretation of the results) and selectively, by choosing which specific step is suitable to guarantee the expected application results. In fact, every single step actually produces a concrete result, which can be used as a tool for nitrogen-related impact assessment applications, depending on the specific goal and scope defined. According to this logic, only the corollary phases of goal and scope definition and interpretation of the results and the initial step of data collection must mandatorily be carried out. As for the other steps, these can be considered optional, however taking into account that the initial step of data collection, which provides the nitrogen inventory results, constitutes the starting point for the other steps, and therefore it must be firstly performed to obtain any ulterior result.

The phases and steps of the proposed methodology are presented in detail in the following paragraphs.

3.2.1 Goal and scope definition

The premise phase of *goal and scope definition* centers around formulating the questions related to the application objectives and stating the context of answering to these questions. In this step, the plan of the assessment is defined as clearly and unambiguously as possible, dealing with topics as the intended application, the reason for carrying out the assessment, the intended audience, the willingness to use the results for comparative assertions, etc. The scope definition also provides the setting of the product system, including the function and the functional unit. Due to the iterative nature of the proposed methodology, the scope may have to be refined during the application: in some cases, in fact, the goal and scope may be revised due to unforeseen limitations, constraints or as a result of additional information obtained.

3.2.2 Nitrogen inventory analysis

As stated, the proposed methodology has been based on the structure of the LCA and therefore the *inventory analysis* step is borrowed from what is contemplated for the LCA applications and required by the reference standards.

In particular, the nitrogen inventory step derives from the definition of the goal and scope phase, which provides the initial plan for conducting the inventory. This step, in turn consists of a series of operations as listed below (ISO, 2006b):

• *Data collection*. Through this operation, the qualitative and quantitative data for inclusion in the inventory shall be collected for each unit process that is included within the system boundary.

The collected data, whether measured, calculated or estimated, are utilized to quantify the inputs and outputs of a unit process.

- *Data validation.* A check on data validity shall be conducted during the process of data collection to confirm and provide evidence that the data quality requirements for the intended application have been fulfilled. Validation may involve establishing, for example, mass balances, energy balances and/or comparative analyses of release factors. Obvious anomalies in the data resulting from such validation procedures require alternative data that comply with the data selection.
- *Relating data to unit process and functional unit.* An appropriate flow shall be determined for each unit process. The quantitative input and output data of the unit process shall be calculated in relation to this flow. Based on the flow chart and the flows between unit processes, the flows of all unit processes are related to the reference flow. The calculation should result in all system input and output data being referenced to the functional unit.
- *Data aggregation.* Care should be taken when aggregating the inputs and outputs in the product system. The level of aggregation shall be consistent with the goal of the study. Data should only be aggregated if they are related to equivalent substances and to similar environmental impacts.

During the data collection stage, it may be necessary to perform allocation operations aimed at partitioning the input or output flows of a process or a product system between the product system under study and one or more other product systems. In particular, the inputs and outputs shall be allocated to the different products according to clearly stated procedures ensuring that the sum of the allocated inputs and outputs of a unit process is equal to the inputs and outputs of the unit process before allocation. The requirements for allocation procedures are the same as for the LCA methodology contained in the reference standards to which reference is made (ISO, 2006a,b).

The above operations should be conducted as in a normal LCA study, thus obtaining a complete inventory of incoming and outgoing flows from the analyzed product system. Although the object of analysis is subsequently to be limited with reference to the nitrogen cycle, it is however considered appropriate to conduct a complete data collection for different reasons set out below:

- it is almost certainly impossible to carry out an analysis with a LCA approach without resorting to external databases which are built to provide complete inventories: any primary data collected will therefore need to be integrated with data from databases and it is advisable to ensure as far as possible the compatibility and homogeneity between data;
- it may be necessary to make subsequent revisions of the data adding unexpectedly excluded information which would not be available by making a partial data collection;

- data outside the scope of nitrogen analysis may be useful for inferences and analyses related to the scope of the application;
- it may be necessary, at a later time, to extend the goal and scope of the application to include evaluations outside the restricted scope of the nitrogen impact assessment.

Once completed the inventory analysis, it is necessary to proceed to select the data related to the nitrogen impact analysis: from an operational point of view, this step consists in a selection of the results of the full inventory, in order to identify only the incoming and outgoing streams of nitrogen-containing substances attributed to the system.

In order to operate this selection, the main commercial databases used in the LCA applications were analyzed, with particular reference to specific databases for the agricultural and food sectors for which interactions are more likely to occur with the nitrogen cycle.

The contents of databases such as Ecoinvent 3 (http://www.ecoinvent.org/; Moreno Ruiz *et al.*, 2014), Agri-footprint (http://www.agri-footprint.com/; Durlinger *et al.*, 2014) and LCA Food DK (http://gefionau.dk/lcafood/) were therefore analyzed in order to identify a set of nitrogen-containing substances and compounds for which it is more probable to detect incoming and outgoing flows from the product systems to be analyzed.

The inventory analysis results must then be synoptically compared with the set of substances identified as above, in order to select the nitrogen containing substances constituting the nitrogen inventory results, that is the first output of the proposed methodology.

In particular, the results of the inventory analyzes carried out within this work, allowed to identify a set of about 200 nitrogen-containing substances and compounds: an automated selection procedure was then drawn up and tested as best described in the following paragraph.

3.2.3 Reactive nitrogen indicator accounting

Within the proposed methodology, the first step towards assessment of environmental impacts related to nitrogen cycle is the reactive nitrogen quantification for the product system, similarly to what is provided by the actual definition of nitrogen footprint. However, unlike what has been found to date in applications for nitrogen footprint accounting, the proposed methodology is structured in order to apply an operative LCA approach for the reactive nitrogen calculation, starting from inventory results that have already been obtained according to the LCA approach. In particular, considering the inevitable use of LCA structured databases for the proposed methodology, the innovative approach

consists in making use, together with the primary data, of these databases, recognized at international level and shared by LCA practitioners, for the calculation of the reactive nitrogen.

The above-mentioned databases, in accordance with the requirements for inventory analysis, are designed to provide quantification of incoming and outgoing streams from the described product system. Comparing the structure of the inventory results and of the databases with the current definition of nitrogen footprint as "the total amount of reactive nitrogen released to the environment as a result of an entity's resource consumption, expressed in total units of N_r" (Leach *et al.*, 2012), a first problem found was to derive the streams of reactive nitrogen. In fact, if on one hand databases and usually primary data do not contain information relating to output flows of reactive nitrogen, on the other side, they do not even contain reliable data relating to the nitrogen incoming flows from which it could be possible to calculate the outputs by applying appropriate mass balances. This is probably because nitrogen, as atmospheric nitrogen reserve, is considered a potentially infinite resource and therefore the impacts due to its depletion are not considered within the scope of life cycle impact assessment, as is traditionally done, on the contrary, for example for metals and more recently for water.

To overcome this problem, starting from the output results of the inventory in terms of nitrogencontaining substances and compounds, an innovative approach has been developed to calculate the amount of reactive nitrogen of substances, in analogy with what was proposed by Pelletier and Leip (2014). In particular, the procedure involves calculating a nitrogen coefficient (Nc) for each nitrogencontaining substance or compound resulting in output from the analyzed product system, according to the following:

nitrogen coefficient (Nc_i) =
$$\frac{\text{molar mass of N contained in the substance/compound i}}{\text{molar mass of the substance/compound i}}$$
. (3.1)

In some specific cases highlighted below (for example for emissions of particulate matter), the 3.1 could not be used and some assumptions had to be made to calculate the nitrogen coefficient. Starting from the coefficients thus obtained, the reactive nitrogen indicator is then defined as the total reactive nitrogen released by the product system, according to the following:

$$total reactive nitrogen (N_r) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_{i,j} * f_{i,j} * Nc_{i,j} \quad \left[\frac{kg}{functional unit}\right], \quad (3.2)$$
where:

- *N_r* is the reactive nitrogen indicator calculated for the whole product system;
- $s_{i,j}$ is the emitted amount of the *i* substance in the *j* compartment as resulting from inventory analysis [emission unit/functional unit];
- *f_{i,j}* is the conversion factor for the homogenization of the results depending on the unit of measure used for the amount of the emitted substance [kg/emission unit of measure]: it will be considered implicit in the next equations;
- *Nc_{i,j}* is the nitrogen coefficient for the substance/compound i in the j compartment (the nitrogen coefficient Nc_i of the i substance is the same for all j compartments, except for nitrogen emissions, as specified below: Nc_{i,j}=0 for nitrogen-non containing substances);
- *i* is the identification index of the specific substance/compound;
- *j* is the identification index of the substance compartment of emission;
- *n* is the total number of nitrogen-containing substance and compound for the product system;
- *m* is the total number of the compartments of emission (for this study m=3; the considered compartments are: air, water, soil).

It is important to note that, for the purposes of this work, the result of this step has been defined as "reactive nitrogen indicator" and not as "nitrogen footprint" because it provides information only at inventory level, related to the reactive nitrogen streams and not information at impact level, related to the environmental impacts caused by these streams. Similarly, following the requirements of LCA methodology, it was preferred not to use the term "characterization factor" (as done by Pelletier and Leip, 2014) for the nitrogen coefficient defined in 3.1. In fact, these factors do not allow to quantify an effective impact indicator result for a defined impact category, but rather to aggregate the inventory results into a single indicator: exactly the reactive nitrogen. The latter may surely constitute a rough estimate of the product system impact related to the nitrogen cycle, but does not provide specific information on the typology and magnitude of the single potential environmental impacts attributable to the product system. In fact, at the basis of a presumed characterization model in terms of reactive nitrogen, is not defined a single precise and scientifically recognized environmental mechanism describing the interactions of nitrogen with environment. Rather, as shown in the initial chapters, there are different types of potential environmental impacts, in different environmental compartments, acting with different mechanisms. In ordere to better explain this concept, it is also considered useful to refer to the definition of life cycle impact assessment, which, according to the ISO standards (ISO, 2006b) is the "phase of life cycle assessment aimed at understanding and evaluating the magnitude and significance of the potential environmental impacts for a product system throughout the life cycle of the product". The reactive nitrogen indicator, which, according to the current meaning, account for the nitrogen footprint, actually provides a quantification of an impact magnitude, but is unclear with regard to the significance of the impacts, which is provided only in aggregate and implicit form.

The approach proposed for the calculation of the nitrogen coefficients and reactive nitrogen indicator was firstly applied to 12 product systems of the agri-food sector (barley, rice, maize, soybean, tomato, potato, sugar beet, full milk, beef fillet, chicken, pork, sheep and egg). This choice was made starting from two considerations:

- the agri-food sector, along with the energy sector, is the one that provides the greatest contribution in terms of nitrogen related environmental impacts;
- the nitrogen footprint applications found in literature, to date, are for the most part related to agrifood products: some of these have been used as a comparison for a first validation of the methodology, as illustrated in the next chapter of this work, in which some applications of the proposed methodology are described.

This first application allowed determining the nitrogen-containing substances most likely to be found as output from inventory analysis and to calculate the corresponding nitrogen coefficients.

Table 3.5 shows the results of the calculation of nitrogen coefficient for more than 200 substances and compounds, obtained as output from the inventory analysis of the 12 product systems above described and of other applications carried out within this work, using Ecoinvent 3, Agri-footprint and LCA Food DK databases. In particular, for the inventory analysis of the 12 product systems of the agri-food sector, the substances for which to calculate the coefficients were selected applying a mass cut-off criterion according to which all outputs were considered whose mass was ≥ 1 ng for a reference unit of 1 kg of product.

For each selected substance or compound reported in the Table 3.5, the compartments of emission are listed, that are all the potentially compartments considered into the databases in which the substance is accounted as output stream. For each substance or compound, the molar mass, the number of nitrogen atoms contained in the molecule and the mass of nitrogen content are then reported. For the determination of the composition of substances and of the molar mass, the PubChem open database (Kim *et al.*, 2015; https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) was used.

Substance/Compound	Compartment ^N	Molar mass	Nitrogen	Nitrogen	Nc - Nitrogen
Substance/Compound	Compartment	[g/mol]	atoms	content [g/mol]	coefficient
1-Amino-2-propanol	air, water, soil	75.111	1	14.007	0.186
2-Aminopropanol	air, water	75.110	1	14.007	0.186
2-Nitrobenzoic acid	air	167.120	1	14.007	0.084
Acephate	air, water, soil	183.200	1	14.007	0.076
Acetamide	air, water, soil	59.070	1	14.007	0.237
Acetochlor	air, water, soil	269.767	1	14.007	0.052
Acetonitrile	air, water, soil	41.050	1	14.007	0.341
Acifluorfen	air, water, soil	361.660	1	14.007	0.039
Aclonifen	air, water, soil	264.670	2	28.013	0.106
Acrylonitrile	air, water, soil	53.064	1	14.0067	0.264
Alachlor	air, water, soil	269.767	1	14.007	0.052
Aldicarb	air, water, soil	190.263	2	28.013	0.147
Amidosulfuron	air, water, soil	369.375	5	70.034	0.190
Ammonia	air, water, soil	17.031	1	14.007	0.822
Ammonia, as N	water	14.007	1	14.007	1.000
Ammonium carbonate	air	96.090	2	28.013	0.292
Ammonium, ion	air, water, soil	18.040	1	14.007	0.776
Aniline	air, water, soil	93.129	1	14.007	0.150
Anthranilic acid	air	137.138	1	14.007	0.102
Antimycin A	air, water, soil	548.633	2	28.013	0.051
Asulam	air, water, soil	230.238	2	28.013	0.122
Atrazine	air, water, soil	215.680	5	70.034	0.325
Azinphos-methyl	air, water, soil	317.318	3	42.020	0.132
Azoxystrobin	air, water, soil	403.394	3	42.020	0.104
Benfluralin	air, water, soil	335.283	3	42.020	0.125
Benomyl	air, water, soil	290.323	4	56.027	0.193
Bensulfuron methyl ester	air, water, soil	410.401	4	56.027	0.137
Bentazone	air, water, soil	240.277	2	28.013	0.117
Benzene, 1-methyl-2-nitro-	air, water, soil	137.138	1	14.007	0.102
Benzene, pentachloronitro-	air, water, soil	295.321	1	14.007	0.047
Benzidine	air, water, soil	184.242	2	28.013	0.152
Beta-cypermethrin isomer	air, water, soil	416.298	1	14.007	0.034
Bifenox	air, water, soil	342.128	1	14.007	0.041
Bitertanol	air, water, soil	337.423	3	42.020	0.125
Bromoxynil	air, water, soil	276.915	1	14.007	0.051
Bromuconazole	air, water, soil	377.063	3	42.020	0.111
Captan	air, water, soil	300.578	1	14.007	0.047
Carbaryl	air, water, soil	201.225	1	14.007	0.070
Carbendazim	air, water, soil	191.190	3	42.020	0.220
Carbetamide	air, water, soil	236.271	2	28.013	0.119
Carbofuran	air, water, soil	221.256	1	14.007	0.063
Carfentrazone-ethyl	air, water, soil	412.190	3	42.020	0.102
Cellulose, nitrate	air, water, soil	999.405	11	154.074	0.154
Chloramben, ammonium salt	air, water, soil	223.053	2	28.013	0.126
Chloramben, methyl ester	air, water, soil	220.049	1	14.007	0.064
Chloramine	air, water, soil	51.473	1	14.007	0.272

Table 3.5. Nitrogen coefficient (Nc) calculated for about 200 nitrogen containing substances and compounds obtained as output from the inventory analyzes carried out within the present work using databases Ecoinvent 3, Agri-footprint and LCA Food DK. Source for determination of chemical formula and molar mass: PubChem (Kim et al., 2015).

Substance/Compound	Compartment	Molar mass [g/mol]	Nitrogen atoms	Nitrogen content [g/mol]	Nc - Nitrogen coefficient
Chloramine-b	air, water, soil	213.611	1	14.007	0.066
Chloridazon	air, water, soil	221.644	3	42.020	0.190
Chlorimuron-ethyl	air, water, soil	414.817	4	56.027	0.135
Chlormequat	air, water, soil	122.616	1	14.007	0.114
Chlorothalonil	air, water, soil	265.902	2	28.013	0.105
Chlorpyrifos	air, water, soil	350.575	1	14.007	0.040
Chlorsulfuron	air, water, soil	357.769	5	70.034	0.196
Chlortoluron	air, water, soil	212.677	2	28.013	0.132
Choline chloride	air, water, soil	139.623	1	14.007	0.100
Cinidon-ethyl	soil	394.248	1	14.007	0.036
Clethodim	air, water, soil	359.909	1	14.007	0.039
Clodinafop-propargyl	air, water, soil	349.742	1	14.007	0.040
Clomazone	air, water, soil	239.699	1	14.007	0.058
Clopyralid	air, water, soil	191.995	1	14.007	0.073
Cloquintocet-mexyl	air, water, soil	335.828	1	14.007	0.042
Cloransulam-methyl	air, water, soil	429.807	5	70.034	0.163
Cyanide	air, water	26.018	1	14.007	0.538
Cyanoacetic acid	air	85.062	1	14.007	0.165
Cycloxydim	air, water, soil	325.467	1	14.007	0.043
Cyfluthrin	air, water, soil	434.288	1	14.007	0.032
Cyhalothrin	air, water, soil	449.854	1	14.007	0.031
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	air, water, soil	449.854	1	14.007	0.031
Cymoxanil	air, water, soil	198.182	4	56.027	0.283
Cypermethrin	air, water, soil	416.298	1	14.007	0.034
Cyproconazole	air, water, soil	291.779	3	42.020	0.144
Cyprodinil	air. water. soil	225.295	3	42.020	0.187
Deltamethrin	air. water. soil	505.206	1	14.007	0.028
Desmedipham	air. water. soil	300.314	2	28.013	0.093
Diazinon	air. water. soil	304.345	2	28.013	0.092
Dicrotophos	air. water. soil	237.192	1	14.007	0.059
Diethylamine	air, water, soil	73.139	1	14.007	0.192
Difenoconazole	air. water. soil	406.263	3	42.020	0.103
Diflubenzuron	air, water, soil	310.685	2	28.013	0.090
Diflufenican	air. water. soil	394.301	2	28.013	0.071
Diflufenzopyr-sodium	air, water, soil	356.265	4	56.027	0.157
Dimethachlor	air, water, soil	255.742	1	14.007	0.055
Dimethenamid	air, water, soil	275.791	1	14.007	0.051
Dimethoate	air, water, soil	229.249	1	14.007	0.061
Dimethomorph	air water soil	387 860	1	14 007	0.036
Dimethylamine	air, water, soil	45.085	1	14.007	0.311
Dinitrogen monoxide	air water soil	44 013	2	28.013	0.636
Dinitrosohomoninerazine	air water soil	158 161	4	56 027	0.354
Dipropylamine	air water soil	101 193	1	14 007	0.138
Diquat	air water soil	184 242	2	28.013	0.152
Diquat dibromide	air, water soil	344 050	2	28.013	0.081
Dithianone	air, water soil	296 318	2	28.013	0.001
Diuron	air, water soil	233 092	2	28.013	0.120
Epoxiconazole	air, water soil	329 759	23	42,020	0.120
Esfenvalerate	air, water, soil	419.905	1	14.007	0.033

Substance/Compound	Compartment	Molar mass [g/mol]	Nitrogen atoms	Nitrogen content [g/mol]	Nc - Nitrogen coefficient
Ethalfluralin	air, water, soil	333.267	3	42.020	0.126
Ethane, Z-ethyl-O,N,N-azoxy-	air, water, soil	102.137	2	28.013	0.274
Ethylamine	air, water, soil	45.085	1	14.007	0.311
Ethylene diamine	air, water, soil	60.100	2	28.013	0.466
Fenbuconazole	air, water, soil	336.823	4	56.027	0.166
Fenoxaprop	air, water, soil	333.724	1	14.007	0.042
Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester	air, water, soil	361.778	1	14.007	0.039
Fenpiclonil	air, water, soil	237.083	2	28.013	0.118
Fenpropathrin	air, water, soil	349.430	1	14.007	0.040
Fenpropidin	air, water, soil	273.464	1	14.007	0.051
Fenpropimorph	air, water, soil	303.490	1	14.007	0.046
Fipronil	air, water, soil	437.141	4	56.027	0.128
Florasulam	soil	359.283	5	70.034	0.195
Fluazifop-P-butyl	air, water, soil	383.367	1	14.007	0.037
Flucarbazone sodium salt	soil	418.279	4	56.027	0.134
Fludioxonil	air, water, soil	248.189	2	28.013	0.113
Flufenacet	air, water, soil	363.331	3	42.020	0.116
Flumetsulam	air, water, soil	325.294	5	70.034	0.215
Flumiclorac-pentvl	air. water. soil	423.865	1	14.007	0.033
Flumioxazin	air. water. soil	354.337	2	28.013	0.079
Fluroxypyr	air. water. soil	255.026	2	28.013	0.110
Flurtamone	soil	333.310	1	14.007	0.042
Flusilazole	air. water. soil	315.399	3	42.020	0.133
Folpet	air. water. soil	296.546	1	14.007	0.047
Fomesafen	air. water. soil	438.758	2	28.013	0.064
Foramsulfuron	air. water. soil	452,442	6	84.040	0.186
Formamide	air. water. soil	45.041	1	14.007	0.311
Glyphosate	air. water. soil	169.073	1	14.007	0.083
Hydramethylnon	air. water. soil	494.485	4	56.027	0.113
Imazamox	air. water. soil	305.334	3	42.020	0.138
Imazapyr	air. water. soil	261.281	3	42.020	0.161
Imazaguin	air. water. soil	311.341	3	42.020	0.135
Imazethapyr	air. water. soil	289.335	3	42.020	0.145
Imidacloprid	air. water. soil	255.662	5	70.034	0.274
Indoxacarb	air. water. soil	527.837	3	42.020	0.080
Ioxvnil	air. water. soil	370.916	1	14.007	0.038
Iprodione	air, water, soil	330.165	3	42.020	0.127
Isocyanic acid	air	43.025	1	14.007	0.326
Isopropylamine	air, water, soil	59.112	1	14.007	0.237
Isoproturon	air. water. soil	206.289	2	28.013	0.136
Isoxaflutole	air. water. soil	359.319	1	14.007	0.039
Kresoxim-methyl	air. water. soil	313.353	1	14.007	0.045
Lactofen	air. water. soil	461.774	1	14.007	0.030
Lambda-cvhalothrin	air. water. soil	449.854	1	14.007	0.031
Linuron	air. water. soil	249.091	2	28.013	0.112
Mancozeb	air, water, soil	541.010	4	56.027	0.104
Mefenpyr	soil	317.122	2	28.013	0.088
Mefenpyr-diethyl	soil	373.230	2	28.013	0.075
Mepiquat chloride	air, water, soil	149.662	1	14.007	0.094

Substance/Compound	Compartment	Molar mass [g/mol]	Nitrogen atoms	Nitrogen content [g/mol]	Nc - Nitrogen coefficient
Mesotrione	air, water, soil	339.318	1	14.007	0.041
Metamitron	air, water, soil	202.217	4	56.027	0.277
Metazachlor	air, water, soil	277.752	3	42.020	0.151
Methomyl	air, water, soil	162.207	2	28.013	0.173
Methylamine	air, water, soil	31.058	1	14.007	0.451
Metolachlor	air, water, soil	283.796	1	14.007	0.049
Metribuzin	air, water, soil	214.287	4	56.027	0.261
Monocrotophos	air, water, soil	223.165	1	14.007	0.063
Monoethanolamine	air, water, soil	61.084	1	14.007	0.229
N-Nitrosodiethylamine	air, water, soil	102.137	2	28.013	0.274
Napropamide	air, water, soil	271.360	1	14.007	0.052
Nitrate	air, water, soil	62.005	1	14.007	0.226
Nitric oxide	air	30.006	1	14.007	0.467
Nitrite	air, water	46.005	1	14.007	0.304
Nitrobenzene	air, water, soil	123.111	1	14.007	0.114
Nitrogen	air	14.007	1	14.007	0.000
Nitrogen	water, soil	14.007	1	14.007	1.000
Nitrogen	raw material	14.007	1	14.007	0.000
Nitrogen dioxide	air, water, soil	46.005	1	14.007	0.304
Nitrogen fluoride	air	71.002	1	14.007	0.197
Nitrogen oxides	air, water, soil	46.005	1	14.007	0.304
Nitrogen, organic bound	water	n.a.	n.a	n.a	0.160
Nitrogen, total	air, water, soil	14.007	1	14.007	1.000
Nitrosamine-methyl-phenylethyl-	air, water, soil	164.208	2	28.013	0.171
Nitrosoheptamethyleneimine	air, water, soil	142.202	2	28.013	0.197
Nitrosomethylethylamine, N-	air, water, soil	88.110	2	28.013	0.318
Orbencarb	air, water, soil	257.776	1	14.007	0.054
Paraquat dichloride	air, water, soil	257.158	2	28.013	0.109
Parathion	air, water, soil	291.258	1	14.007	0.048
Particulates, $< 2.5 \mu m$	air	n.a	n.a	n.a	0.081
Particulates, $> 2.5 \ \mu m$, and $< 10 \ \mu m$	air	n.a	n.a	n.a	0.028
Particulates, < 10 µm	air, water	n.a	n.a	n.a	0.054
Pendimethalin	air, water, soil	281.312	3	42.020	0.149
Phenmedipham	air, water, soil	300.314	2	28.013	0.093
Pronamide	air, water, soil	256.130	1	14.007	0.055
Propanil	air, water, soil	218.077	1	14.007	0.064
Propiconazole	air, water, soil	342.220	3	42.020	0.123
Propylamine	air, water, soil	59.112	1	14.007	0.237
Pyridate	air, water, soil	378.915	2	28.013	0.074
Simazine	air, water, soil	201.658	5	70.034	0.347
Sulfentrazone	air, water, soil	387.183	4	56.027	0.145
t-Butylamine	air, water, soil	73.139	1	14.007	0.192
Tebupirimphos	air, water, soil	318.372	2	28.013	0.088
Tebutam	soil	233.355	1	14.007	0.060
Terbuthylazin	air, water, soil	229.712	5	70.034	0.305
Tralkoxydim	air, water, soil	329.440	1	14.007	0.043
Trifloxystrobin	air, water, soil	408.377	2	28.013	0.069
Trifluralin	air, water, soil	335.283	3	42.020	0.125
Trimethylamine	air, water, soil	59.112	1	14.007	0.237

Substance/Compound	Compartment	Molar mass [g/mol]	Nitrogen atoms	Nitrogen content [g/mol]	Nc - Nitrogen coefficient
Urea	air, water, soil	60.056	2	28.013	0.466
Used air	air	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	0.000
Yellow ob	air, water, soil	261.328	3	42.020	0.161
Zineb	air, water, soil	275.726	2	28.013	0.102
Ziram	air, water, soil	305.796	2	28.013	0.092

An iterative approach was applied to identify the nitrogen-containing substances and to calculate the nitrogen coefficients: the above results are to be considered partial, as referred to the substances detected in the various applications of this work. However, it is considered that the coverage is wide enough to ensure the reliability of results for the purposes and applications proposed, as the cutoff criteria applied (ng output referred to functional units of 1 kg or comparable) is sufficiently restrictive. It must also be underlined that the databases considered are very complete, with particular reference to the Ecoinvent 3.1 database that, for the considered product systems, provides inventories results comprising, on the average, more than 1400 records.

During the analysis, some difficulties emerged which required some assumptions in order to calculate the nitrogen coefficients; difficulties emerged and assumptions made are summarized below to better contextualize the validity of the results obtained:

- Some inconsistencies have been found in the nomenclature adopted by the various databases, in particular with regard to emissions referred to as nitrogen, nitrogen total, nitrogen oxides, ammonia and ammonia as N. The different names used were all taken into account, in some cases formulating hypotheses regarding the composition of the substance, specifically:
 - "nitrogen total", voice of the LCA Food DK database, was considered as "nitrogen" emission to water or soil with a nitrogen coefficient equal to 1;
 - "nitrogen oxides" emissions were considered as "nitrogen dioxide", estimated as the substance most likely present among the various forms of nitrogen oxides;
 - for the determination of nitrogen content in the "nitrogen organic bound" emissions the standard nitrogen-to-protein conversion factor of 6.25 was used;
 - "ammonia as N" emissions to water were considered equivalent to nitrogen emissions to water with a nitrogen coefficient equal to 1.
- The considered databases include different types of emissions particulate matter (Particulates, $< 2.5 \mu m$; Particulates, $> 10 \mu m$; Particulates, $> 2.5 \mu m$, and $< 10 \mu m$; Particulates, $< 10 \mu m$) which, as is known, may contain nitrogen compounds, in particular classified as ammonium ion (NH₄⁺)

and nitrate ion (NO_3^-) . To estimate the nitrogen content of particulate, reference was made to the results reported by Sillanpää *et al.* (2006) related to the chemical composition of particulate matter at six urban sites in Europe. Specifically the average of the reported values was calculated, obtaining the following results:

- 8,52 % for the average content of NO₃⁻ in PM_{2.5} (Particulates, $< 2.5 \mu m$);
- 8,78 % for the average content of NO₃⁻ in PM_{2.5-10} (Particulates, $> 2.5 \mu m$, and $< 10 \mu m$);
- 7.9 % for the average content of NH₄⁺ in PM_{2.5} (Particulates, < 2.5 μm);
- 1.04 % for the average content of NH_4^+ in $PM_{2.5-10}$ (Particulates, > 2.5 µm, and < 10 µm).

For the output named as "Particulates, $< 10 \ \mu$ m", the nitrogen content was estimated as the average of the outputs "Particulates, $< 2.5 \ \mu$ m" and "Particulates, $> 2.5 \ \mu$ m, and $< 10 \ \mu$ m". No estimates were made regarding the output "Particulates, $> 10 \ \mu$ m" as no reliable studies were found in the literature: however, it is supposed a non-relevant nitrogen content that does not affect the validity of the results.

- As discussed in Chapter 1, quantification of the rate of denitrification and its relationship to reactive nitrogen creation is a complex issue about which the research has not given satisfactory results to date. The databases analyzed do not provide any indication in this regard and are furthermore difficult to interpret with regard to the outputs named as "Nitrogen" in the compartments "air", "water", "soil" and "raw material". In this regard, the following assumptions were made:
 - the flow "Nitrogen" in the compartment "air" was considered as a result of denitrification processes or, in any case, an emission molecular nitrogen (N₂): a coefficient of 0 was assigned to this flow, assuming that the molecular nitrogen flows out of the system were accounted as "nitrogen" to air in the databases (this is a hypothesis that should be thorough and verified with a specific study on databases that is outside the scope of this work). This consideration is however supported by the fact that the flows "Nitrogen" as such are not considered in the categories of impact relative to the nitrogen in the characterization methods used, as explained below. Finally, it must be emphasized that, in the applications carried out, the "nitrogen" to air flows detected are quite low and their contribution does not affect in a decisive way the results. As it regards the choice of the coefficient 0, as highlighted also by Pelletier and Leip (2014), denitrification, through a series of intermediate gaseous nitrogen oxide products, returns reactive nitrogen to its most thermodynamically stable form, nitrogen gas (N₂). Emissions of

 N_2 must therefore be assigned a characterization factor of 0 in impact assessments which quantify contributions to perturbation of the nitrogen cycle.

- the flow "Nitrogen" in the compartment "water" was considered as an emission of various forms of nitrogen to water accounted as nitrogen: to this flow was assigned a nitrogen coefficient equal to 1;
- the flow "Nitrogen" in the compartment "soil" was considered as an emission of various forms of nitrogen to soil accounted as nitrogen: to this flow was assigned a nitrogen coefficient equal to 1;
- the flow "Nitrogen" in the compartment "raw material" was considered as an input to the product system, as all flows in the databases assigned to the compartment "raw material": to this flow was assigned a nitrogen coefficient equal to 0 as it was considered as part of the input streams of nitrogen fixed to produce different input to the product system. As already mentioned at the beginning of the paragraph, and verified by mass balances carried out, the databases do not contain reliable data regarding the streams of nitrogen entering the product system. For this reason, this flow was not accounted in the analysis, being not even usable as a comparison value.

These topics deserve a specific in-depth study starting from the results of this work.

In order to make the analysis more efficient, an automated procedure was also predisposed, which, starting from the inventory results, identifies substances and compounds in output, associates the respective nitrogen coefficient previously calculated according to the 3.1 and automatically calculates the value of the reactive nitrogen indicator according to the 3.2.

The results of the application of this step of the methodology to the 12 product systems and of the validation conducted by comparing the results with literature data are presented in the next chapter devoted to the application of the methodology.

It must be emphasized once again that the output of this step of the methodology, that is the reactive nitrogen calculated for the product system, is already a useful result for a general assessment of the impact related to the nitrogen cycle. In this sense, the first result of this work is to propose a methodology, fully based on a LCA approach, to calculate, in a standardized way and using reliable databases, the amount of reactive nitrogen emitted by the product system: this first result is comparable to what is currently defined as nitrogen footprint.

3.2.4 Nitrogen impact assessment profile formulating

This step of the methodology is aimed at obtaining an impact assessment profile of the product system starting from the results of the nitrogen inventory, that is from the streams of nitrogen-containing substances flowing out of the system. These streams are the input for the characterization step which, in turn, only takes into account impact categories for which are defined characterization factors related to nitrogen-containing flows, as previously described in § 3.1.3.2. In detail, this step of the methodology includes the following activities:

- selection of impact categories, category indicators and characterization models;
- assignment of nitrogen inventory results to the selected impact categories (classification);
- calculation of category indicator results (characterization).

Regarding the selection of characterization models, for the purposes of this work, it was decided to use as a reference the "ILCD 2011 Midpoint +" characterization methodology proposed by JRC as a collection of characterization methods (EC-JRC, 2010b; EC-JRC, 2011). This choice, as above highlighted, is due to the authoritativeness of the source and its recognizability by the scientific community and LCA practitioners. The proposed methodology presenting a scientific value. Impact categories and category indicators selected are reported in the Table 3.1 of § 3.1.3.2. The characterizations methods are described in detail in the Appendix A.

Once chosen the characterization methods for different categories of selected impact, nitrogen inventory results must be assigned to the impact categories: this activity consists in comparing the results of nitrogen inventory with the input streams considered by the different impact categories, exhaustively assigning the corresponding streams. This operation is done automatically when an appropriate software is used as a support tool: within this work has been used the SimaPro software in the version 8.3.0 released by Pré Consultants.

Given the characterization factors, that derive from the chosen methods, and completed the classification, the category indicator results are calculated for the selected impact categories, according to the following:

category indicator result
$$(I_k) = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m s_{i,j,k} * c f_{i,j,k} \left[\frac{category indicator unit}{functional unit}\right],$$
 (3.3)

where:

- *I_k* is the indicator result for the *k* impact category;
- *k* is the identification index of the nitrogen-related impact category;
- *s_{i,j,k}* is the amount of the *i* nitrogen-containing substance in the *j* compartment assigned to the *k* nitrogen-related impact category [emission unit/functional unit];
- $cf_{i,j,k}$ is the characterization factor for the *i* substance in the *j* compartment defined for the *k* nitrogen-related impact category [category indicator unit/emission unit]: $cf_{i,j,k}=0$ if the substance is not assigned to the *k* impact category after the classification;
- *i* is the identification index of the specific substance/compound;
- *j* is the identification index of the substance compartment of emission;
- *n* is the total number of nitrogen-containing substance and compound for the product system;
- *m* is the total number of the compartments of emission.

The calculation of category indicator results involves therefore the conversion of inventory results to common units and the aggregation of the converted results within the same impact category. For the proposed application, the category indicators quantify the environmental impacts, caused by streams of the nitrogen-containing substances in output from the product system, calculated according to the characterization methods underlying the impact categories and expressed according to the relative units of measurement.

In the Table 3.6 are shown the value of the characterization factors used within the proposed methodology. Specifically, the factors are derived from the above presented "ILCD 2011 Midpoint +" characterization methodology (EC-JRC, 2012) with the exception of the characterization factors for the category "climate change" which are updated to the result presented in the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Stocker *et al.*, 2013), according to the method known as "IPCC 2013 GWP 100a". In detail, in order to ensure the readability of the Table, the following cut-off criteria were applied to select records to be reported:

- for the category "Human toxicity cancer effect", the nitrogen-containing substances are reported whose characterization factor value provides a contribution > 0.001% with respect to the sum of the values of all the characterization factors for the substances assigned to the category applying the characterization method;
- for the category "Human toxicity non-cancer effect", the nitrogen-containing substances are
 reported whose characterization factor value provides a contribution > 0.05% with respect to the
 sum of the values of all the characterization factors for the substances assigned to the category
 applying the characterization method;
- for the category "Ecotoxcity fresh water" the nitrogen-containing substances are reported whose characterization factor value provides a contribution > 1% with respect to the sum of the values

of all the characterization factors for the substances assigned to the category applying the characterization method: for this category, furthermore, are reported the characterization factors of all the substance resulting from inventory analyzes carried out as part of the present work.

• for all other impact categories, are reported the characterization factors of all the nitrogencontaining substances assigned to the specific category applying the characterization method.

Table 3.6. Characterization factors for nitrogen-containing substances assigned to the nitrogen-related impact categories as defined by the "ILCD 2011 Midpoint +" characterization methodology. Cut-off criteria were applied for the impact categories Ecotoxity fresh water, Human toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non cancer effect. Source: Stocker et al. (2013) for Climate change factors; EC-JRC (2012) for other categories factors.

Impact category	Substance/ Compound	Compartment	Unit of measure	Characterization factor
Climate change	Dinitrogen monoxide	air	kg CO ₂ eq./kg	265
Climate change	Nitrogen fluoride	air	kg CO ₂ eq./kg	16100
Particulate matter	Ammonia	air	kg PM _{2.5} eq./kg	0.0667
Particulate matter	Nitric oxide	air	kg PM _{2.5} eq./kg	0.0111
Particulate matter	Nitrogen dioxide	air	kg PM _{2.5} eq./kg	0.00722
Particulate matter	Nitrogen oxides	air	kg PM _{2.5} eq./kg	0.00722
Particulate matter	Particulates, < 10 µm	air	kg PM _{2.5} eq./kg	0.228
Particulate matter	Particulates, < 2.5 µm	air	kg PM _{2.5} eq./kg	1
Photoch. ozone formation	Nitric oxide	air	kg NMVOC eq./kg	1
Photoch. ozone formation	Nitrogen dioxide	air	kg NMVOC eq./kg	1
Photoch. ozone formation	Nitrogen oxides	air	kg NMVOC eq./kg	1
Acidification	Ammonia	air	molc H ⁺ eq./kg	3.02
Acidification	Nitric oxide	air	molc H ⁺ eq./kg	1.13
Acidification	Nitrogen dioxide	air	molc H ⁺ eq./kg	0.74
Acidification	Nitrogen oxides	air	molc H ⁺ eq./kg	0.74
Eutrophication, terrestrial	Ammonia	air	mol N eq./kg	13.5
Eutrophication, terrestrial	Ammonium, ion	air	mol N eq./kg	12.7
Eutrophication, terrestrial	Nitrate	air	mol N eq./kg	3.16
Eutrophication, terrestrial	Nitric oxide	air	mol N eq./kg	6.53
Eutrophication, terrestrial	Nitrite	air	mol N eq./kg	4.26
Eutrophication, terrestrial	Nitrogen dioxide	air	mol N eq./kg	4.26
Eutrophication, terrestrial	Nitrogen oxides	air	mol N eq./kg	4.26
Eutrophication, marine	Ammonia	air	kg N eq./kg	0.092
Eutrophication, marine	Ammonia	water	kg N eq./kg	0.824
Eutrophication, marine	Ammonium, ion	air	kg N eq./kg	0.087
Eutrophication, marine	Ammonium, ion	water	kg N eq./kg	0.778
Eutrophication, marine	Nitrate	air	kg N eq./kg	0.028
Eutrophication, marine	Nitrate	water	kg N eq./kg	0.226
Eutrophication, marine	Nitric oxide	air	kg N eq./kg	0.596
Eutrophication, marine	Nitrite	water	kg N eq./kg	0.304
Eutrophication, marine	Nitrogen dioxide	air	kg N eq./kg	0.389
Eutrophication, marine	Nitrogen oxides	air	kg N eq./kg	0.389
Eutrophication, marine	Nitrogen, total	water	kg N eq./kg	1
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Alachlor	soil	CTU _e /kg	9280
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Aldicarb	soil	CTU _e /kg	11900
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Antimycin A	water	CTU _e /kg	68800000
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Atrazine	soil	CTU _e /kg	11400
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Beta-cyperm. isomer	water	CTU _e /kg	166000000

Impact category	Substance/ Compound	Compartment	Unit of measure	Characterization factor
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Carbofuran	soil	CTU _e /kg	21600
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Chlorothalonil	soil	CTU _e /kg	57800
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Chlorpyrifos	soil	CTU _e /kg	106000
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Cyfluthrin	water	CTU _e /kg	49000000
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Cypermethrin	water	CTU _e /kg	50400000
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Diflubenzuron	soil	CTU _e /kg	170000
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Fenpropathrin	water	CTU _e /kg	114000000
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Fipronil	soil	CTU _e /kg	32300
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Folpet	soil	CTU _e /kg	381000
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Isoproturon	soil	CTU _e /kg	9460
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Lambda-cyhalothrin	water	CTU _e /kg	139000000
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Metolachlor	soil	CTU _e /kg	5960
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Parathion	soil	CTU _e /kg	83100
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Pendimethalin	soil	CTU _e /kg	2930
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Propanil	soil	CTU _e /kg	60400
Ecotoxcity fresh water	Terbuthylazin	soil	CTU _e /kg	53600
Human tox., canc. eff.	Diazepine, hexah. din	water	CTU _h /kg	0.00208
Human tox., canc. eff.	Benzidine	air	CTU _h /kg	0.00144
Human tox., canc. eff.	Benzidine	water	CTU _h /kg	0.00996
Human tox., canc. eff.	Azoxyethane	air	CTU _h /kg	0.00149
Human tox., canc. eff.	Azoxyethane	water	CTU _h /kg	0.00211
Human tox., canc. eff.	N-Nitrosodiethylam.	water	CTU _h /kg	0.00241
Human tox., canc. eff.	Met-phen-nitrosam.	air	CTU _h /kg	0.00266
Human tox., canc. eff.	Met-phen-nitrosam.	water	CTU _h /kg	0.00913
Human tox., canc. eff.	Nitrosoeptmeth.	water	CTU _h /kg	0.0023
Human tox., canc. eff.	N-nitrosomethy	water	CTU _h /kg	0.00168
Human tox., non-canc. eff.	Hydramethylnon	water	CTU _h /kg	0.0218

From the analysis of the characterization models included in the "ILCD 2011 Midpoint +" methodology, it emerged that certain impact categories are exclusively oriented to the assessment of impacts related to the nitrogen cycle, as they provide for characterization factors only in relation to nitrogen-containing substances: this is the case for example of categories terrestrial eutrophication and marine eutrophication. Other categories are strongly influenced by nitrogen-containing substances, such as acidification, which only considers nitrogen compounds and sulfur containing substances, or particulate matter. For other categories instead, nitrogen-containing substances have a lower weight, as in the case of climate change and photochemical ozone formation, or very poor, as in the case of toxicity related categories. In particular, the category freshwater ecotoxicity includes the emissions of various nitrogen-containing substances used in agriculture such as insecticides, herbicides or pesticides.

The calculation of the indicator result, as in 3.3, shall be performed for all the selected nitrogenrelated impact categories, thus obtaining a set of z values where z is the number of the selected impact categories: as highlighted above, referring to the ILCD impact categories of JRC, for the proposed methodology the set consists of nine impact categories (z=9).

The union of the category indicator results for the selected impact categories, each with its own specific unit of measurement, constitutes the nitrogen impact assessment profile, as follows:

nitrogen impact assessment profile =
$$\bigcup_{k=1}^{Z} I_k$$
, (3.4)

where:

- I_k is the indicator result for the k impact category as defined in 3.3;
- *k* is the identification index of the nitrogen-related impact category;
- *z* is the number of the selected impact categories (for the application presented in this work *z*=9 as illustrated in § 3.1.2.2).

According to the proposed methodology, the nitrogen impact assessment profile is potentially constituted by the union of nine results of category indicators, that is the indicators of the nine nitrogen-related impact categories. However, it may happen that, after the classification, no nitrogen-containing substances are associated with a specific impact category: in this case, the profile consists of fewer indicators: this circumstance can also occur as a result of the application of cut-off criteria, as shown below in the presented examples of application.

The nitrogen impact assessment profile, as it is defined, can not be represented in a single graph, each indicator result being expressed in its own unit of measure: it must therefore be reported in tabular form.

By way of example are reported in Table 3.7 the results of the calculation of the nitrogen impact assessment profile for a reference product system, specifically created for the purposes of this work, consisting of the union of ten categories (vegetables, cereals, vegetable-oils, fruit, dairy, fish, meat textiles, metals, and fuels) each comprising four products: more details about this product system are given in the next chapter devoted to the application of the methodology. For the calculation, a cut-off criterion of 0.1% was applied for determining the substances to account for the impact categories freshwater ecotoxicity, human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non-cancer effect: nitrogencontaining substances with a contribution less than 0.1% in terms of impact for each of these categories were excluded.

Impact category	Subtance	Compartm.	Unit	Category result
Climate change	Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	kg CO2 eq	3.11E+01
Climate change	Nitrogen fluoride	Air	kg CO2 eq	2.11E-06
Climate change	Total		kg CO2 eq	3.11E+01
Particulate matter	Ammonia	Air	kg PM2.5 eq	2.20E-02
Particulate matter	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg PM2.5 eq	3.09E-03
Particulate matter	Particulates, $< 10 \mu m$ (mobile)	Air	kg PM2.5 eq	1.21E-04
Particulate matter	Particulates, $< 10 \mu m$ (stationary)	Air	kg PM2.5 eq	2.06E-04
Particulate matter	Particulates, $< 2.5 \ \mu m$	Air	kg PM2.5 eq	8.82E-02
Particulate matter	Total		kg PM2.5 eq	1.14E-01
Photoch. ozone formation	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg NMVOC eq	4.20E-01
Photoch. ozone formation	Total		kg NMVOC eq	4.20E-01
Acidification	Ammonia	Air	molc H+ eq	9.96E-01
Acidification	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc H+ eq	3.11E-01
Acidification	Total		molc H+ eq	1.31E+00
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	molc N eq	4.45E+00
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	molc N eq	1.41E-05
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc N eq	1.79E+00
Terrestrial eutrophication	Total		molc N eq	6.24E+00
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	kg N eq	3.03E-02
Marine eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Water	kg N eq	3.99E-03
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	kg N eq	1.25E-07
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Water	kg N eq	9.81E-01
Marine eutrophication	Nitrite	Water	kg N eq	5.65E-05
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg N eq	1.63E-01
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen, total	Water	kg N eq	2.09E-03
Marine eutrophication	Total		kg N eq	1.18E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Aldicarb	Soil	CTUe	5.84E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlorpyrifos	Soil	CTUe	4.24E+01
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Diflubenzuron	Soil	CTUe	2.46E+01
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Fipronil	Soil	CTUe	5.14E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Folpet	Soil	CTUe	7.00E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Parathion	Soil	CTUe	7.16E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Propanil	Soil	CTUe	1.68E+01
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Total		CTUe	1.09E+02
Human tox., cancer eff.	Total		CTUh	0.00E+00
Human tox., non-cancer eff.	Total		CTUh	0.00E+00

Table 3.7. Example of nitrogen impact assessment profile calculated for a reference product system comprising 40 products assigned to 10 products categories. Cut-off criterion of 0.1% applied for the categories Freshwater ecotoxicity, Human toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non cancer effect.

The results obtained after the characterization phase of the proposed methodology, that is the nitrogen impact assessment profile, are considered the most reliable, scientifically, within the impact assessment process. The environmental mechanisms underlying the characterization models proposed in this work, in fact, find the consent of the scientific community and are widely used in the LCA applications. The presented midpoint characterization factors are currently the most recognized way,

from a scientific point of view, to quantify the link between substance and energy flows of a product system and the caused environmental impact.

It should be emphasized that the impact profile accounts potential environmental impacts caused by the analyzed product system with regard to the nitrogen cycle, providing information on the nature of the changes caused to the environment and on their scale. In this sense, the information provided is much more complete than that contained in an aggregate indicator, such as reactive nitrogen indicator previously seen, which only presents general indications of the potential overall impact of the analyzed system.

It is also worth noting that all the subsequent operations carried out starting from impact assessment profile results, such as normalization and weighting below presented, while making the results more understandable and usable, introduce degrees of subjectivity to the analysis, thus decreasing the scientific value of the results.

As previously illustrated in the Figure 3.4, the characterization, or "calculation of impact category indicator results", is identified by the ISO standards as the last mandatory element of the life cycle impact assessment.

3.2.5 Single score nitrogen impact indicator calculating

This section describes the final step provided for the impact assessment by the proposed methodology, subsequent to the characterization step. Specifically, in two different subsections for ease of reading, the operation of the normalization and weighing are presented: the aim of this final step, as a whole, is to calculate a result for the assessment of the impact related to the nitrogen cycle, expressed as a single score indicator.

3.2.5.1 Normalization

As seen above, the result of the characterization step consists of a nitrogen impact assessment profile, that is the union of the results of different category indicators, each expressed in its own unit of measure. A subsequent operation, aimed at providing and communicating information on the relative significance of the indicator results, and preparing for additional procedures, such as grouping and weighting is the normalization. It consists in the calculation of the magnitude of the category indicator results relative to some reference information. The aim is to put in evidence, to better understand, the relative magnitude for each indicator result of the product system under study.

Starting from the indicator results for the selected impact categories and applying the normalization factors presented in §3.1.3.3, the corresponding normalized indicator results are calculated as follows:

normalized indicator result (norm
$$I_k$$
) = $\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_{i,j,k} \circ cf_{i,j,k}}{nf_k} \left[\frac{equivalent persons}{functional unit}\right]$, (3.5)

where:

- norm *I_k* is the normalized indicator result for the *k* impact category;
- *k* is the identification index of the nitrogen-related impact category;
- *s_{i,j,k}* is the amount of the *i* nitrogen-containing substance in the *j* compartment assigned to the *k* nitrogen-related impact category [emission unit/functional unit];
- $cf_{i,j,k}$ is the characterization factor for the *i* substance in the *j* compartment defined for the *k* nitrogen-related impact category [category indicator unit/emission unit];
- nf_k is the normalization factor defined for the k impact category: for this study the JRC normalization factors per person are used;
- *i* is the identification index of the specific substance/compound;
- *j* is the identification index of the compartment of emission of the nitrogen-containing substance;
- *n* is the total number of nitrogen-containing substance and compound for the product system;
- *m* is the total number of the compartments of emission (for this study m=3; the considered compartments are: air, water, soil).

Considering that the normalization factors recommended by JRC (Benini *et al.*, 2014) used within this work are expressed as unit of measure of impact categories per person, the indicator results, after the normalization are expressed as "equivalent persons" related to the functional unit defined for the product system. After the normalization, the indicator results represent the magnitude of the impacts compared to the estimated reference impact per person and are therefore all expressed in a common unit of measure.

Similarly to what seen in the 3.4 regarding the impact profile, the normalized nitrogen impact assessment profile can therefore be expressed as follows:

normalized nitrogen impact assessment profile =
$$\bigcup_{k=1}^{Z}$$
 norm I_k , (3.6)

where:

- norm I_k is the normalized indicator result for the k impact category calculated as in 3.5;
- *k* is the identification index of the nitrogen-related impact category;
- *z* is the number of the nitrogen related selected impact categories.

The normalized impact assessment profile can easily be reported as a result in a single graph, being the indicator results expressed by a common unit of measure. By way of example are reported in the Figure 3.7 the results of the normalization of the reference product system impact assessment profile whose results are reported in the previous paragraph (Table 3.7).

The same cut-off criteria as described above have been used to account the contribution of the substances to the impact categories. For easier reading, furthermore, the impact categories Human toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non-cancer effect, to which a null value was assigned after the characterization, are not reported in the graph.



Figure 3.7. *Example of results of normalized impact assessment profile calculated for a reference product system comprising 40 products assigned to 10 products categories. Null results not reported for categories, Human toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non cancer effect.*

Compared to the results of nitrogen impact assessment profile, reported in the Table 3.7, the normalized results allow a greater comprehensibility and a direct comparison between the impact categories results, as the indicator results are expressed in the same unit of measure. The normalization operation, however, introduces a greater degree of subjectivity in the assessment, since the account of normalization factors involves methodological and calculation choices that, although largely accepted and used, deviate the results from the scientific nature that belongs to the characterization results.

As a further example, are reported in the Figure 3.8 the results of the normalization of the impact assessment profile concerning the comparison between two production alternatives (organic and conventional) for obtaining 1 kg of barley. More details about the product systems of this example are given in the next chapter devoted to the application of the methodology.



Figure 3.8. Example of results of normalized impact assessment profile concerning the comparison of two production alternatives. The functional units for the analyzed product systems consist of the production of 1 kg of barley through organic and conventional farming.

With regard to the above results, applying a cut off criterion of 0.01% in terms of impact for the categories Freshwater ecotoxicity, Human toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non cancer effect, the contribution of the nitrogen-containing substances is null for the categories Human toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non cancer effect, while is very low for the category Freshwater ecotoxicity (for this last category, the normalized results are equal to 1,35E-06 for conventional barley and to 9,60E-11 for organic barley, therefore are not visible in the graph).

As can be seen, in the case of the evaluation of different alternatives, the normalized result chart allows for an immediate feedback to make a first comparative assessment. In the above case, it is clear that the "organic production" alternative present a lesser environmental impact, referred to the nitrogen cycle, for all impact categories, with exception of the category climate change.

Finally, as for the characterization methods, it is emphasized that the proposed methodology is general and can be applied with reference to any normalization scheme presenting a scientific value, regardless of the normalization factors chosen.

3.2.5.2 Weighting and single score indicator calculating

Once obtained the normalized result of the nitrogen impact assessment profile, it may be appropriate to assess the relative importance of impact categories through a weighting operation. According to the ISO requirements for LCA (ISO, 2006b), weighting is the process of converting indicator results of different impact categories by using numerical factors based on value-choices. As defined, weighing is an operation that introduces further elements of subjectivity with respect to what already seen regarding the normalization. In fact, as once again underlined by ISO (2006b) "different individuals, organizations and societies may have different preferences; therefore it is possible that different parties will reach different weighting results based on the same indicator results or normalized indicator results. In an LCA it may be desirable to use several different weighting factors and weighting methods and to conduct sensitivity analysis to assess the consequences on the LCIA results of different value-choices and weighting methods".

Within the proposed methodology, a specific internal weighting method has been designed, based on data directly derived from the analyzed system. The basic idea was to calculate weighing factors that were proportional to the amount of reactive nitrogen referable to each specific impact category: applying these factors, a greater weight is given to the impact categories to which are assigned the nitrogen-containing substances causing higher emissions in terms of reactive nitrogen. The method to calculate the weighting factors starts from the reactive nitrogen accounting for each considered impact category, also summing the contributions of the different product systems in the case of a comparative analysis, according to the following:

category reactive nitrogen (CNr_k) =
$$\sum_{x=1}^{p} \sum_{i=1}^{w} \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_{i,j,x,k} * Nc_{i,j} \left[\frac{\text{mass unit of measure}}{\text{functional unit}} \right]$$
, (3.7)

where:

- *CNr_k* is the reactive nitrogen calculated for the k impact category;
- *s_{i,j,x,k}* is the amount of the *i* nitrogen-containing substance in the *j* compartment accounted for the *x* product system and assigned to the *k* nitrogen-related impact category [emission unit/functional unit];
- *Nc*_{*i*,*j*} *is the nitrogen coefficient for the i substance in the j compartment, calculated as in 3.1;*

- *i is the identification index of the specific substance/compound;*
- *j* is the identification index of the compartment of emission of the nitrogen-containing substance;
- *x* is the identification index of the analyzed system;
- *k* is the identification index of the nitrogen-related impact category;
- *p* is the total number of analyzed product systems: *p*=1 for single product system analysis, *p*>1 for comparative analysis of different product systems;
- w is the number of nitrogen-containing substance assigned to the k impact category after the classification (with $w \le n$, where n is the total number of nitrogen-containing substance for the whole product system);
- *m* is the total number of the compartments of emission (for this study m=3; the considered compartments are: air, water, soil).

Considering that the number of nitrogen-containing substance assigned to an impact category is \leq of the number of nitrogen-containing substance of the product system, the following applies to each product system:

$$CNr_k \leq N_r$$
 , (3.1)

where:

- $C Nr_k$ is the reactive nitrogen calculated for the k impact category as in 3.7;
- *k* is the identification index of the nitrogen-related impact category;
- N_r is the total reactive nitrogen calculated for the product system as in 3.2.

Once calculated the category reactive nitrogen for each impact category and for each product system (in case of analysis of different product systems), the weighting factor for each impact category is calculated as follows:

category weighting factor
$$(wf_k) = \frac{C Nr_k}{\sum_{k=1}^{Z} C Nr_k}$$
, (3.9)

where:

- *wf_k* is the weighting factor calculated for the k impact category;
- *C* Nr_k is the reactive nitrogen calculated for the k impact category as in 3.5;
- *k* is the identification index of the nitrogen-related impact category;
- z is the number of the selected impact categories (for the application presented in this work z=9).

By combining the equations 3.7 and 3.9, the following formula for the direct calculation of the category weighting factor is obtained:

category weighting factor
$$(wf_k) = \frac{\sum_{x=1}^{p} \sum_{x=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_{i,j,x,k} * Nc_{i,j}}{\sum_{k=1}^{z} \sum_{x=1}^{p} \sum_{i=1}^{w} \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_{i,j,x,k} * Nc_{i,j}}$$
, (3.10)

where

- *wf_k* is the weighting factor calculated for the *k* impact category;
- s_{i,j,x,k} is the amount of the i nitrogen-containing substance in the j compartment accounted for the x product system and assigned to the k nitrogen-related impact category [emission unit/functional unit];
- $Nc_{i,j}$ is the nitrogen coefficient for the *i* substance in the *j* compartment, calculated as in 3.1;
- *i* is the identification index of the specific substance/compound;
- *j* is the identification index of the compartment of emission of the nitrogen-containing substance;
- *x* is the identification index of the analyzed system;
- *k* is the identification index of the nitrogen-related impact category;
- *z* is the number of the selected impact categories;
- *p* is the total number of analyzed product systems: *p*=1 for single product system analysis, *p*>1 for comparative analysis of different product systems;
- w is the number of nitrogen-containing substance assigned to the k impact category after the classification (with $w \le n$, where n is the total number of nitrogen-containing substance for the whole product system);
- *m* is the total number of the compartments of emission (for this study m=3; the considered compartments are: air, water, soil).

The above presented weighting method has some peculiar features that is considered appropriate to highlight below:

- The method has a lower degree of subjectivity than weighing methods based on value-choices or panel weighting methods. Weighing factor are indeed specifically calculated for the product systems analyzed starting from internal data of the inventory analysis and characterization results, therefore not by resorting to external data and information that inevitably introduce elements of subjectivity to the analysis.
- The values of the weighting factors are not defined as one-time, but must be calculated from time to time based on the specific application and are variable in function of the analyzed product systems.
- The method tends to amplify the magnitude of the impact categories to which the most significant emissions of nitrogen-containing substances are assigned after the classification, thereby diminishing the importance of the categories less related to the nitrogen impacts and "flattening" the other results: this topic is best tackled also in the following discussion.
- The method is expensive respect to the calculation procedure, especially if considered in relation to standard methods that provide predefined values for the weighting factors.

• The method does not take into account value-choices, which in some cases may be useful to include as elements for the assessment.

Within the present work, an additional weighting system was also calculated using the above presented method applied to a reference product system specifically created for the purposes of this analysis. In detail, as already mentioned, the reference product system consists of the union of ten categories (vegetables, cereals, vegetable-oils, fruit, dairy, fish, meat textiles, metals, and fuels) each comprising four products, each considered with a functional unit equal to 1 kg: more details about this product system are given in the next chapter devoted to the application of the methodology.

In the second column of Table 3.8 are reported the values of the waiting factor for the nitrogen- related impact categories calculated by applying the presented weighting method to the reference product system: they are compared with the weighting set (reported in the third column) calculated starting from the proposal of Huppes and van Oers (2011) as previously presented in § 3.1.3.3.

	Weighting set [%]				
ILCD recommended midpoint impact categories	Weighting factors calculated by the proposed method applied to a reference product system	Weighting factors derived form Hupper and van Oers proposal			
Climate change	2.675	35.6			
Acidification	14.290	6.2			
Eutrophication, terrestrial	14.290	3.6			
Eutrophication, marine	49.608	3.6			
Photochemical ozone formation	4.578	7.7			
Human toxicity – cancer effects	0.005	9.3			
Human toxicity - non-cancer effects	0.005	6.2			
Particulate matter / Respiratory inorganics	14.544	10.8			
Ecotoxicity	0.010	17.0			
Total	100	100			

Table 3.8. Weighting sets [%] comparison: second column: calculated with the proposed method applied to the reference product system; third column: calculated starting from the proposal of Huppes and van Oers (2011).

As can be noted, also the application of the proposed weighting methods to the reference product system, gives as a result weighting factors rather high for the impact categories to which the major emissions of nitrogen-containing substances are linked (such as for example marine eutrophication, acidification, terrestrial eutrophication and particulate matter). On the contrary, the calculated factors are very low for the other impact categories less affected by nitrogen-containing substances emissions (in particular for human toxicity – cancer and non-cancer effects and ecotoxicity): this could lead to excessive imbalance in the results compared to weighting methods based on expert panel. On the

other hand, however, given that the scope of assessment is limited to the impacts linked to the nitrogen cycle, it is deemed consistent to assign lesser importance, in the weighting process, to the impact categories that have little relevance for the nitrogen cycle. From the application of the methodology to different product systems, moreover, it was found that the impact categories to which the method attributes less weight are just human toxicity (cancer and non-cancer effects) and ecotoxicity for which, as noted above, there is less scientific agreement both with regard to the characterization methods and with regard to the normalization factors. It is also worth noting the high weighting factor attributed to the climate change category from the panel method, which it is very sensitive to the current opinions and media communication on environmental impacts.

Other weighting factors derived by panel weighting methods were anyway presented in the § 3.1.3.3. Regardless of the method used, once calculated or obtained the weighting factors, starting from the normalized indicator result, and similarly to what expressed in the 3.5, the weighted nitrogen indicator result can be calculated for each selected impact category as follows:

weighted indicator result (wt
$$I_k$$
) = $\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_{i,j,k} * cf_{i,j,k}}{nf_k} * wf_k$, (3.11)

where:

- wt I_k is the weighted (after normalization) indicator result for the k impact category;
- wf_k is the weighting factor calculated for the k impact category as in 3.10;
- other parameters and indices are defined with the same meaning and used in the same way as in the previous equations.

Analogously to what expressed in the previous 3.4 and 3.6, the weighted nitrogen impact assessment profile consists of the union of the weighted indicator results calculated for each select impact category, according to the following:

weighted nitrogen impact assessment profile =
$$\bigcup_{k=1}^{z}$$
 wt I_k , (3.12)

where:

- wt I_k is the weighted indicator result for the k impact category defined as in 3.11;
- other parameters and indices are defined with the same meaning and used in the same way as in the previous equations.

By way of example, is reported in the Figure 3.9 the impact assessment profile calculated after the weighting process concerning the comparison between two production alternatives (organic and conventional) for obtaining 1 kg of barley: the analyzed product systems are the same as in the previous paragraph as example for the normalization process. For this application, the weighting factor calculation method presented as part of the proposed methodology was used, obtaining the weighting factors listed below for each impact category:

- climate change: 4.50%;
- human toxicity, cancer effects: 0 %
- human toxicity, non-cancer effects: 0%
- particulate matter: 4.62%;
- photochemical ozone formation: 1.40%;
- acidification: 4.58%;
- terrestrial eutrophication: 4.58%;
- marine eutrophication: 80.32%;
- freshwater ecotoxicity: 0.00012%.





As for the comparison of alternatives, the results obviously reflect those obtained after normalization, the "organic production" alternative presenting a lesser environmental impact for all impact categories, with exception of the category climate change.

Similarly to what has been said about normalization, the weighting process introduces a further degree of subjectivity in the assessment, compared to the results of the nitrogen impact profile obtained after the characterization step. In this case, the methodological and calculation choices related to the weighting factors, are reflected in particular in the relative importance attributed to the impact categories: the degree of subjectivity increases in particular when the weighting set is selected on the basis of value-choices or panel weighting methods.

Finally, the single score nitrogen impact indicator for the analyzed product system can be defined as follows:

single score nitrogen impact indicator =
$$\sum_{k=1}^{Z} wt I_k$$
 , (3.13)

where:

- wt I_k is the weighted indicator result for the k impact category defined as in 3.11;
- *k* is the identification index of the nitrogen-related impact category;
- *z* is the number of the selected impact categories.

By combining the previous equations, the following formula is obtained which synthesizes the calculation of the single score nitrogen impact indicator:

single score N impact indicator =
$$\sum_{k=1}^{Z} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_{i,j,k} * cf_{i,j,k}}{nf_{k}} * \frac{\sum_{x=1}^{p} \sum_{i=1}^{w} \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_{i,j,x,k} * Nc_{i,j}}{\sum_{x=1}^{Z} \sum_{x=1}^{p} \sum_{i=1}^{w} \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_{i,j,x,k} * Nc_{i,j}}$$
, (3.14)

where:

- all the parameters and indices are defined with the same meaning and used in the same way as in the previous equations.

This indicator represents an assessment of environmental impacts of a product system related to the nitrogen cycle, expressed as a single stand-alone indicator.

For completeness, in the Figure 3.10 are reported the results of the calculation of the nitrogen impact indicator concerning the comparison between the two cultivation alternatives for barley production also used in the previous examples.



Figure 3.10. Example of results of nitrogen impact indicator concerning the comparison of two production alternatives. The functional units for the analyzed product systems consist of the production of 1 kg of barley through organic and conventional farming.

As can be seen, the summation of the weighted indicator results for the impact categories gives as a result a single value representative of the impact of the product system in relation to the nitrogen cycle. In the case of comparison between different systems, the single result also resolves any inconsistencies that emerge after the step of characterization, in the case where the alternatives have different ranking depending on the impact categories considered. In the above reported comparative application, for instance, the alternatives were differently ranked for the climate change category than the other impact categories.

3.2.6 Interpretation of the results

The final phase of the proposed methodology, *interpretation of the results*, is aimed at consider the findings from all the operative steps (inventory, and assessment) to deliver results that are consistent with the defined goal and scope and at reach conclusions, explain limitations and provide recommendations.

It is not provided, within the methodology, a standard procedure to conduct the interpretation of results, however, referring once again to ISO standards (ISO, 2006b) and to JRC publications on LCA (EC-JRC, 2010a) can be proposed a scheme with the elements to be considered in the interpretation phase, and their relation to the other phases and steps of the methodology.

In particular, as also reported by Zampori *et al.* (2016), the elements to be considered in the interpretation phase can be grouped in:

- Identification of significant issues (based on the results of the inventory and assessment phases). The purpose of this element of interpretation is to analyze and structure the results of earlier phases of the methodology in order to identify the significant issues. There are two interrelated aspects of significant issues: i) firstly there are the main contributors to the impact assessment results, i.e. most relevant life cycle stages, processes and elementary flows, and most relevant impact categories; ii) secondly, there are the main choices that have the potential to influence the precision of the final results of the application. These can be methodological choices, assumptions, foreground and background data used for deriving the process inventories, characterization methods used, as well as the used normalization and weighting factors.
- Evaluation that considers completeness, sensitivity and consistency checks. Completeness checks on the inventory are performed in order to determine the degree to which it is complete and whether the cut-off criteria have been met. Sensitivity checks have the purpose to assess the reliability of the final results and of the conclusions and recommendations derived from the application. The consistency check is performed to investigate whether the assumptions, methods and data have been applied consistently throughout the application.
- Conclusions, limitations and recommendations. Integrating the outcome of the other elements of the interpretation phase, and drawing on the main findings from the earlier phases of the methodology, the final element of the interpretation is to draw conclusions and identify limitations of the application, and to develop recommendations for the intended audience in accordance with the goal definition and the intended applications of the results.

Chapter 4

Assessment of impact related to nitrogen cycle: methodology application

This chapter presents examples of application of the proposed methodology completed as part of the research work. In particular, four experimental applications are described: the first relative to the analysis of twelve product systems of the agri-food sector (§ 4.1); the second relative to a reference product system specifically designed for the research purposes (§ 4.2); the third consisting of a comparative assessment of agricultural processes (conventional and organic) for the production of barley (§ 4.3) based on real data collected in the field; the fourth consisting of an application for the assessment of four beer products carried out within an important Italian company in the beverage industry. Each application is presented following the proposed methodology scheme, addressing where applicable, all the required stages and steps

4.1 Methodology application to agri-food products

The proposed methodology was firstly applied to twelve product systems of the agri-food sector, as regards the first two steps (nitrogen inventory and reactive nitrogen indicator). This choice was made starting from two considerations:

- the agri-food sector, along with the energy sector, is the one that provides the greatest contribution in terms of nitrogen related environmental impacts;
- the nitrogen footprint applications found in literature, to date, are for the most part related to agrifood products: some of these have been used as a comparison for a first validation of the methodology, as described below.

The application was performed using data extracted from professional databases specifically designed for LCA studies. As an important result, this first assessment also allowed to determine the nitrogen-

containing substances most likely to be found as output from inventory analysis and to calculate the corresponding nitrogen coefficients.

4.1.1 Agri-food products: goal and scope definition

The goal of this application was to apply the first two steps of the methodology to 12 agri-food products, in order to obtain a result expressed as reactive nitrogen accounted as outflow from the analyzed product systems.

The objectives of the application can be summarized as follows:

- test the first step of the methodology, with reference to the nitrogen inventory results obtaining;
- calculate the reactive nitrogen indicator, starting from the nitrogen inventory results;
- set the method for calculating the nitrogen coefficients and start the iterative accounting process;
- implement an automated calculation procedure, applicable to inventory results, for calculating the reactive nitrogen indicator;
- make an initial validation of the methodology, with reference to the reactive nitrogen indicator calculation, by comparing with published research data referred to nitrogen footprint calculation;
- confirm the validity of the databases used to derive the nitrogen inventory results;
- obtain information related to substances that contribute most to the impact in terms of reactive nitrogen.

4.1.2 Agri-food products: inventory analysis

The methodology was applied to 12 product systems of the agri-food sector as summarized in the Table 4.1 showing, for each product analyzed, the database used for inventory analysis, the name of the selected database record and a short description of the life cycle scope, that allows to quickly evaluate the level of data coverage with reference to the life cycle phases of the analyzed product. All the data used for the application were obtained from specific life cycle inventory professional databases, as described below.

Table 4.1. Agri-food products inventory analysis. List of products analyzed, databases and records used for products analysis and data coverage level referred to products life cycle.

Agri-food product	Source	Database record	Life cycle scope
Barley	Database Ecoinvent ver. 3.1	1 kg barley grain	Market for

Agri-food product	Source	Database record	Life cycle scope
Rice	Database Ecoinvent ver. 3.1	1 kg rice	Market for
Maize	Database Ecoinvent ver. 3.1	1 kg maize seed organic	At farm; referred to the situation in Switzerland
Soybean	Database Ecoinvent ver. 3.1	1 kg soybean seed	For sowing
Tomato	Database Ecoinvent ver. 3.1	1 kg tomato	Market for
Potato	Database Ecoinvent ver. 3.1	1 kg potato	Market for
Sugar beet	Agri-footprint ver. 1.0	1 kg sugar beets fresh	At feed compound plant, referred to a typical farm in Netherlands
Beef fillet	LCA food DK	1 kg beef fillet fresh	Whole sale
Chicken	LCA food DK	1 kg chicken fresh	In supermarket
Pork	LCA food DK	kg pork minced meat	Whole sale
Sheep	Database Ecoinvent ver. 3.1	1 kg sheep for slaughtering live weight	Market for
Egg	LCA food DK	1 kg egg	Not defined

For completeness of information on the inventory phase is provided below the main flow characteristics of the databases used:

- Ecoinvent 3.1. Compiled October 2014. The Ecoinvent v3 database contains LCI data from various sectors such as energy production, transport, building materials, production of chemicals, metal production and fruit and vegetables. The entire database consists of over 10000 interlinked datasets, each of which describes a life cycle inventory on a process level. The system model "allocation, default", used within this application, contains two methodological choices:
 - it uses the average supply of products, as described in market activity datasets, and
 - it uses partitioning (allocation) to convert multi-product datasets to single-product datasets. The flows are allocated relative to their "true value", which is the economic revenue corrected for some market imperfections and fluctuations.

References: http://www.ecoinvent.org/; Moreno Ruiz et al. (2014).

 LCAfood DK. Provides environmental data on processes in food products product chains and on food products at different stages of their product chains mainly referred to Danish context. Database input/output data on processes in the food sector are derived from a variety of sources. Data on production in agriculture and fishery have been determined by a "top-down" approach where statistical data on a national level have been broken down to represent specific processes. Data on other processes than agriculture and fishery have been determined by a "bottom-up" approach where data from a limited number of sources have been used to represent the national level. Data include main inputs (resources, raw materials, water and energy) and main outputs (products and waste as well as emissions to air and water). Data do in most cases not include capital goods such as buildings and machinery (except for traction) because it is considered unimportant (except for fishing); packaging, although packaging is highly integrated with food products; cleaning agents and most other chemicals (although it could be relevant in terms of toxicity); veterinary medicine etc.; pesticides, heavy metals etc. Product data have been determined by modeling of process data.

Product models are market based and models include processes, which are influenced by a marginal change in demand for a considered food product. Marginal producers of agricultural products have been determined by modeling in the econometric model. Environmental inputs and outputs associated with food products have been estimated by summarizing inputs and outputs from all production processes in the food products product chains. Total inventories of inputs and outputs associated with food products can be comprehensive and emissions to air and water have been have been recalculated to environmental impact potentials to limit the reporting in the present context.

Many processes in the food sector produce more than one product and environmental emissions associated with specific products have been determined by system expansion. Contributions from different processes as a result of system expansion have been determined analytically by matrix calculations.

Marginal data have been applied for electricity drawn from the public grid. References: http://gefionau.dk/lcafood/.

Agri-footprint version 1.0 (May 2014). Includes linked unit process inventories of crop cultivation, crop processing, animal production systems and processing of animal products for multi-impact life cycle assessments. Agri-footprint also contains inventory data on transport, fertilizers production and auxiliary materials.

For the crops and the processing of the crops, mass allocation is based on the mass of the dry matter of the products. For the animal products, mass allocation is based on the mass as traded. References: http://www.agri-footprint.com/; Durlinger *et al.* (2014).

For the analysis, was made use of the professional software for LCA application "SimaPro" in the version 8.3.

As an example of the output obtained with reference to the first step of the methodology, the nitrogen inventory results for 3 of the 12 analyzed product systems are reported in the following tables. For synthesis reasons, the nitrogen inventory results of all other analyzed product systems are not listed: the reported results are however considered sufficiently explanatory and representative of the entire assessment process carried out.

Results reported are expressed as emissions of nitrogen-containing substances in the different environmental compartments (air, water, soil) and are referred to product systems whose functional unit is equal to 1 kg of product. In order to highlight the differences in database records, the results reported for the 3 product systems are calculated using three different reference databases. To select the nitrogen containing substances, a cut-off criterion was applied according to which all outputs were considered whose mass was ≥ 1 ng; some substances considered to be particularly relevant due to potential environmental impacts were however included in the results, also in the case of emissions < 1 ng.

In the Table 4.2 are reported the nitrogen inventory results for the product "barley" obtained using the database Ecoinvent, version 3.1.

Substance	Compartment	U.o.m.	Nitrogen inventory result
2-Aminopropanol	Air	μg	1.002299
2-Aminopropanol	Water	μg	2.40559
2-Nitrobenzoic acid	Air	μg	2.419804
Acephate	Soil	μg	9.732429
Acetamide	Soil	μg	1.706692
Acetochlor	Soil	μg	20.13639
Acetonitrile	Air	μg	5.258824
Acetonitrile	Water	μg	3.059486
Alachlor	Soil	μg	2.957805
Aldicarb	Soil	μg	32.74457
Ammonia	Air	g	1.460451
Ammonium. ion	Water	mg	18.35426
Aniline	Air	μg	6.337134
Aniline	Water	μg	15.2098
Anthranilic acid	Air	μg	1.885813
Atrazine	Soil	μg	43.85368
Azoxystrobin	Soil	mg	4.483633

Table 4.2. *Nitrogen inventory results for the agri-food product "barley" referred to a functional unit of 1 kg of product. Database used: Ecoinvent 3.1.*

Substance	Compartment	U.o.m.	Nitrogen inventory result
Benzene. 1-methyl-2-nitro-	Air	μg	2.089543
Bifenox	Soil	mg	1.061031
Bitertanol	Soil	μg	447.4007
Bromoxynil	Soil	mg	2.663421
Carbetamide	Soil	μg	1.193662
Carbofuran	Soil	μg	2.835621
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Soil	μg	41.42748
Chloramine	Air	μg	14.10739
Chloramine	Water	μg	125.8863
Chlormequat	Soil	μg	107.0086
Chlorothalonil	Soil	μg	3.767397
Chlorpyrifos	Soil	ug	27.40862
Chlortoluron	Soil	mg	6.391707
Clopyralid	Soil	ug	94.69527
Cvanide	Air	ug	157.0211
Cvanide	Water	r.9 Ug	127.3834
Cyanoacetic acid	Air	r.9 Ug	3.653724
Cypermethrin	Soil	r5 Ug	297.8679
Cyproconazole	Soil	μο Πο	161 9312
Cyprodinil	Soil	mg	12 68111
Deltamethrin	Soil	110	66 5841
Dicrotophos	Soil	μο Πο	1 786721
Diethylamine	Air	μο Πο	3 020777
Diethylamine	Water	μ <u>6</u> Πσ	7 249912
Diflubenzuron	Soil	μ <u>6</u> μσ	36 04152
Diflutenican	Soil	μ <u>5</u> mσ	5 124469
Dimethenamid	Soil	1115	2 132403
Dimethylamine	Water	μ <u>6</u> μσ	49 94838
Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	μ <u>5</u> mσ	910 2703
Dipropylamine	Air	111 <u>6</u> 11.0	1 35951
Dipropylamine	Water	με	3 262915
Dipropytamine	Soil	με	2 746602
Enoviconazola	Soil	με	01/ 3735
Ethylamine	Air	μg	3 62426
Ethylamine	Water	με	8 698271
Ethylene diamine	Water	μg	1 888/0
Euryrene diannie Fenovapron P ethyl ester	Soil	μg	307 7475
Fenpropidin	Soil	μg ma	13 51554
Fennrenimernh	Soil	mg	2 122867
Fenpropil	Soil	nig	2.123007
Floreguler	Soil	μg	112 6202
Florasulalli	Soll	μg	265 1277
Fludioxolli	Soll	μg	203.1377
	Soll	mg	4.303171
Flutoxypyr	Soll	μg	189.3842
	Soil	nig	4.093201
Fiusilazoie	5011 A : n	μg	512.0584
Formamue	AII	μg	0.01966
Formamide	w ater	μg	14.44739
Giypnosate	Alf	μg	2.948826

Substance	Compartment	U.o.m.	Nitrogen inventory result
Glyphosate	Soil	μg	166.2244
Imidacloprid	Soil	mg	2.098389
Ioxynil	Soil	mg	1.598013
Isocyanic acid	Air	μg	51.85632
Isopropylamine	Air	μg	1.746417
Isopropylamine	Water	μg	4.191423
Isoproturon	Soil	mg	27.79938
Kresoxim-methyl	Soil	μg	40.65336
Lambda-cyhalothrin	Soil	μg	517.188
Linuron	Soil	μg	5.354633
Mancozeb	Soil	μg	3.317876
Mefenpyr	Soil	mg	1.099592
Mefenpyr-diethyl	Soil	μg	615.5111
Mepiquat chloride	Soil	mg	4.341424
Metamitron	Soil	μg	34.10154
Methylamine	Air	μg	2.080833
Methylamine	Water	μg	4.994011
Metolachlor	Soil	μg	27.12661
Monocrotophos	Soil	μg	4.403188
Monoethanolamine	Air	μg	377.75
Napropamide	Soil	μg	1.045052
Nitrate	Air	μg	27.41394
Nitrate	Water	g	53.37498
Nitrate	Soil	μg	41.9138
Nitrite	Water	μg	218.8499
Nitrobenzene	Air	μg	10.05509
Nitrobenzene	Water	μg	40.29569
Nitrogen	Water	mg	8.968842
Nitrogen	Soil	μg	1.871878
Nitrogen oxides	Air	g	2.128166
Nitrogen. organic bound	Water	mg	6.662707
Particulates. $< 2.5 \ \mu m$	Air	mg	303.8753
Particulates. > 2.5 μ m. and < 10 μ m	Air	mg	120.8795
Pendimethalin	Soil	μg	6.794144
Phenmedipham	Soil	μg	6.248982
Propiconazole	Soil	mg	5.07422
Propylamine	Water	μg	1.33194
t-Butylamine	Air	μg	3.537753
t-Butylamine	Water	μg	8.490666
Tebutam	Soil	μg	3.326275
Tralkoxydim	Soil	mg	10.51068
Trifloxystrobin	Soil	μg	608.1098
Trifluralin	Soil	μg	9.643556
Trimethylamine	Air	μg	1.179393
Trimethylamine	Water	μg	2.830544
Urea	Water	μg	5.270396

In the Table 4.3 are reported the nitrogen inventory results for the product "sugar beet" obtained using the database Agri-footprint version 1.0.

Nitrogen Substance Compartment U.o.m. inventory result Acrylonitrile Water 17.0876054 pg Ammonia 475.879292 Air mg Ammonia Water 19.4836463 μg Soil Ammonia 316.978576 μg Ammonium, ion Air 5.53437746 pg Chloridazon Soil mg 6.32332447 Clopyralid Soil 208.789015 μg Cyanide Air ng 180.347268 Cyanide Water 77.4846393 ng Desmedipham Soil 637.104767 μg Diethylamine Air 0.00013062 pg Dimethenamid Soil 1.28852649 mg Dinitrogen monoxide Air mg 76.0575679 Epoxiconazole Soil mg 3.82978708 Imidacloprid Soil 1.17757005 mg Metamitron Soil 19.6858214 mg Metolachlor Soil 5.66713042 mg Nitrate Water 3.51494763 g Nitric oxide Air 52.3897503 pg Nitrogen Water 58.4748466 μg Nitrogen dioxide Air 6.62035829 mg Nitrogen oxides 110.757204 Air mg Particulates, $< 10 \ \mu m$ Air 885.654245 μg Particulates, $< 10 \ \mu m$ Water 62.0230994 ng Particulates, < 2.5 µm Air 2.76807548 mg Particulates, $>2.5~\mu m,$ and $<10\mu m$ Air 1.80660368 mg Phenmedipham Soil 2.12368256 mg

Table 4.3. *Nitrogen inventory results for the agri-food product "sugar beet" referred to a functional unit of 1 kg of product. Database used: Agri-footprint 1.0.*

In the Table 4.4 are reported the nitrogen inventory results for the product "egg" obtained using the database LCAfood DK.

Table 4.4. *Nitrogen inventory results for the agri-food product "egg" referred to a functional unit of 1 kg of product. Database used: LCAfood DK.*

Substance	Compartment	U.o.m.	Nitrogen inventory result
Ammonia	Air	g	20.963461
Ammonia, as N	Water	mg	5.0318212
Substance	Compartment	U.o.m.	Nitrogen inventory result
---	-------------	--------	------------------------------
Cyanide	Air	ng	825.21178
Cyanide	Water	μg	26.077922
Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	g	4.2988171
Nitrate	Water	g	96.927493
Nitrite	Water	μg	7.3324117
Nitrogen	Soil	μg	3.8604462
Nitrogen oxides	Air	g	3.3633949
Nitrogen, organic bound	Water	μg	994.34219
Nitrogen, total	Water	mg	6.6090498
Particulates, < 10 µm (mobile)	Air	mg	52.297596
Particulates, $< 10 \ \mu m$ (stationary)	Air	mg	23.323336

The different degree of detail of the database used is evident to a first analysis of the records reported relating to nitrogen-containing substances emissions. In particular, for the product systems analyzed in this application, the database Ecoinvent 3.1 is much more complete as it contains inventories that on average comprise over 1400 results, compared to around 400 results of databases Agri-footprint 1.0 and LCAfood DK.

4.1.3 Agri-food products: assessment at inventory level

Starting from the nitrogen inventory results, the reactive nitrogen indicator was calculated for the 12 product systems, after calculating the nitrogen coefficient for the nitrogen containing substances obtained as output from the inventory analysis.

As an example, the whole calculation reports are shown for 2 of the 12 analyzed product systems. Even in this case, for brevity, the calculation reports of all the analyzed product systems are not listed, only reporting the final results in terms of reactive nitrogen indicator.

The results of the calculation report of the reactive nitrogen indicator for the agri-food product "barley" are reported in the Table 4.5.

Table 4.5. Calculation report of reactive nitrogen indicator for the agri-food product "barley" listing the nitrogen-containing substances, the compartment of emission, the emitted amount, the calculated nitrogen coefficient and the calculated amount of reactive nitrogen. The indicator result for the whole product system is reported in the last row.

Substance	Compartment	Nitrogen inventory result [g/kg]	Nitrogen coefficient	Reactive nitrogen [g/kg]
2-Aminopropanol	Air	1.00E-06	0.186	1.87E-07
2-Aminopropanol	Water	2.41E-06	0.186	4.49E-07

		Nitrogon		Depativo
Substance	Compartment	inventory result	Nitrogen coefficient	nitrogen
2-Nitrobenzoic acid	Air	2 42E-06	0.084	2 03E-07
Acephate	Soil	9.73E-06	0.076	2.03E 07 7 44E-07
Acetamide	Soil	1.71E-06	0.237	4.05E-07
Acetochlor	Soil	2.01E-05	0.052	1.05E-06
Acetonitrile	Air	5.26E-06	0.341	1.79E-06
Acetonitrile	Water	3.06E-06	0.341	1.04E-06
Alachlor	Soil	2.96E-06	0.052	1.54E-07
Aldicarb	Soil	3.27E-05	0.147	4.82E-06
Ammonia	Air	1.46E+00	0.822	1.20E+00
Ammonium. ion	Water	1.84E-02	0.776	1.43E-02
Aniline	Air	6.34E-06	0.150	9.53E-07
Aniline	Water	1.52E-05	0.150	2.29E-06
Anthranilic acid	Air	1.89E-06	0.102	1.93E-07
Atrazine	Soil	4.39E-05	0.325	1.42E-05
Azoxystrobin	Soil	4.48E-03	0.104	4.67E-04
Benzene. 1-methyl-2-nitro-	Air	2.09E-06	0.102	2.13E-07
Bifenox	Soil	1.06E-03	0.041	4.34E-05
Bitertanol	Soil	4.47E-04	0.125	5.57E-05
Bromoxynil	Soil	2.66E-03	0.051	1.35E-04
Carbetamide	Soil	1.19E-06	0.119	1.42E-07
Carbofuran	Soil	2.84E-06	0.063	1.80E-07
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Soil	4.14E-05	0.102	4.22E-06
Chloramine	Air	1.41E-05	0.272	3.84E-06
Chloramine	Water	1.26E-04	0.272	3.43E-05
Chlormequat	Soil	1.07E-04	0.114	1.22E-05
Chlorothalonil	Soil	3.77E-06	0.105	3.97E-07
Chlorpyrifos	Soil	2.74E-05	0.040	1.10E-06
Chlortoluron	Soil	6.39E-03	0.132	8.42E-04
Clopyralid	Soil	9.47E-05	0.073	6.91E-06
Cyanide	Air	1.57E-04	0.538	8.45E-05
Cyanide	Water	1.27E-04	0.538	6.86E-05
Cyanoacetic acid	Air	3.65E-06	0.165	6.02E-07
Cypermethrin	Soil	2.98E-04	0.034	1.00E-05
Cyproconazole	Soil	1.62E-04	0.144	2.33E-05
Cyprodinil	Soil	1.27E-02	0.187	2.37E-03
Deltamethrin	Soil	6.66E-05	0.028	1.85E-06
Dicrotophos	Soil	1.79E-06	0.059	1.06E-07
Diethylamine	Air	3.02E-06	0.192	5.79E-07
Diethylamine	Water	7.25E-06	0.192	1.39E-06
Diflubenzuron	Soil	3.60E-05	0.090	3.25E-06
Diflufenican	Soil	5.12E-03	0.071	3.64E-04
Dimethenamid	Soil	2.13E-06	0.051	1.08E-07
Dimethylamine	Water	4.99E-05	0.311	1.55E-05
Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	9.10E-01	0.636	5.79E-01
Dipropylamine	Air	1.36E-06	0.138	1.88E-07
Dipropylamine	Water	3.26E-06	0.138	4.52E-07
Diuron	Soil	2.75E-06	0.120	3.30E-07
Epoxiconazole	Soil	9.14E-04	0.127	1.17E-04

Substance	Compartment	Nitrogen inventory result [g/kg]	Nitrogen coefficient	Reactive nitrogen [g/kg]
Ethylamine	Air	3.62E-06	0.311	1.13E-06
Ethylamine	Water	8.70E-06	0.311	2.70E-06
Ethylene diamine	Water	1.89E-06	0.466	8.80E-07
Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester	Soil	3.08E-04	0.039	1.19E-05
Fenpropidin	Soil	1.35E-02	0.051	6.92E-04
Fenpropimorph	Soil	2.12E-03	0.046	9.80E-05
Fipronil	Soil	1.08E-05	0.128	1.38E-06
Florasulam	Soil	1.13E-04	0.195	2.20E-05
Fludioxonil	Soil	2.65E-04	0.113	2.99E-05
Flufenacet	Soil	4.51E-03	0.116	5.21E-04
Fluroxypyr	Soil	1.89E-04	0.110	2.08E-05
Flurtamone	Soil	4 69E-03	0.042	1 97E-04
Flusilazole	Soil	5.13E-04	0.133	6.83E-05
Formamide	Air	6.02E-06	0.311	1.87E-06
Formamide	Water	1 44E-05	0.311	4 49E-06
Glyphosate	Air	2.95E-06	0.083	2.44E-07
Glyphosate	Soil	1.66E-04	0.083	1 38E-05
Imidacloprid	Soil	2.10E-03	0.274	5 75E-04
Ioxynil	Soil	2.10E 03	0.038	6.03E-05
Isocyanic acid	Air	5 19E-05	0.030	1.69E-05
Isopropylamine	Air	1 75E-06	0.320	4 14E-07
Isopropylamine	Water	4 19E-06	0.237	9.93E-07
Isoproturon	Soil	2 78E-02	0.136	3 78E-03
Kresoxim-methyl	Soil	2.76E 02 4 07E-05	0.150	1.82E-06
L ambda-cyhalothrin	Soil	4.07E 05	0.031	1.62E 00
Linuron	Soil	5.17E 04	0.031	6.02E-07
Mancozeh	Soil	3.35E-06	0.104	3.44E-07
Mefennyr	Soil	1 10F-03	0.088	9.71E-07
Mefennyr-diethyl	Soil	6 16E-04	0.000	4.62E-05
Meniquat chloride	Soil	4 34E-03	0.075	4.06E-04
Metamitron	Soil	3 41E-05	0.0277	9.45E-06
Methylamine	Air	2 08E-06	0.451	9 38E-07
Methylamine	Water	2.00E 00 4 99E-06	0.451	2 25E-06
Metolachlor	Soil	2.71E-05	0.049	1.34E-06
Monocrotophos	Soil	4 40E-06	0.063	2.76E-07
Monoethanolamine	Air	3 78E-04	0.229	8 66E-05
Napropamide	Soil	1.05E-06	0.052	5 39E-08
Nitrate	Air	2.74E-05	0.032	6 19E-06
Nitrate	Water	5.34E+01	0.226	1.21E+01
Nitrate	Soil	4.19E-05	0.226	9.47E-06
Nitrite	Water	2.19E-04	0.304	6.66E-05
Nitrobenzene	Air	1.01E-05	0.114	1.14E-06
Nitrobenzene	Water	4 03E-05	0.114	4 58E-06
Nitrogen	Water	8 97E-03	1 000	8 97E-03
Nitrogen	Soil	1.87E-06	1.000	1.87E-06
Nitrogen oxides	Air	2.13E+00	0.304	6.48E-01
Nitrogen, organic bound	Water	6.66E-03	0.160	1.07E-03
Particulates. < 2.5µm	Air	3.04E-01	0.081	2.45E-02

Substance	Compartment	Nitrogen inventory result [g/kg]	Nitrogen coefficient	Reactive nitrogen [g/kg]
Particulates. $> 2.5 \mu m$. and $< 10 \mu m$	Air	1.21E-01	0.028	3.37E-03
Pendimethalin	Soil	6.79E-06	0.149	1.01E-06
Phenmedipham	Soil	6.25E-06	0.093	5.83E-07
Propiconazole	Soil	5.07E-03	0.123	6.23E-04
Propylamine	Water	1.33E-06	0.237	3.16E-07
t-Butylamine	Air	3.54E-06	0.192	6.78E-07
t-Butylamine	Water	8.49E-06	0.192	1.63E-06
Tebutam	Soil	3.33E-06	0.060	2.00E-07
Tralkoxydim	Soil	1.05E-02	0.043	4.47E-04
Trifloxystrobin	Soil	6.08E-04	0.069	4.17E-05
Trifluralin	Soil	9.64E-06	0.125	1.21E-06
Trimethylamine	Air	1.18E-06	0.237	2.79E-07
Trimethylamine	Water	2.83E-06	0.237	6.71E-07
Urea	Water	5.27E-06	0.466	2.46E-06
Total product system	-	-	-	1.46E+01

By analyzing the results obtained from the calculation of the reactive nitrogen indicator, it is possible to identify which emitted substances give the largest contribution in terms of reactive nitrogen for the product systems. In particular, the Figure 4.1 shows the he main substances that contribute to the total impact, in terms of reactive nitrogen, for the agri-food product "barley", presenting the contribution of each substance expressed as a percentage of the total reactive nitrogen calculated for the product system.



Figure 4.1. Substances contribution (percentage ≥ 0.005 %) to the product system impact expressed as reactive nitrogen with reference to the agri-food product "barley".

The results obtained for the specific product system are indicative of all the analyzed agri-food products, in particular with regard to the contribution of emissions of nitrate in the compartment water, ammonia in the compartment air, nitrogen oxides in the compartment air and dinitrogen monoxide in the compartment air that are the most significant for all the products. Nitrate emissions to water are always the biggest contributor, with percentages that, for all products analyzed, exceed 50% of the total reactive nitrogen.

As a second example, the results of the calculation report of the reactive nitrogen indicator for the agri-food product "sugar beet" are reported in the Table 4.6.

Substance	Compartment	Nitrogen inventory result [g/kg]	Nitrogen coefficient	Reactive nitrogen [g/kg]
Acrylonitrile	Water	1.71E-11	0.264	4.51E-12
Ammonia	Air	4.76E-01	0.822	3.91E-01
Ammonia	Water	1.95E-05	0.822	1.60E-05
Ammonia	Soil	3.17E-04	0.822	2.61E-04
Ammonium, ion	Air	5.53E-12	0.776	4.30E-12
Chloridazon	Soil	6.32E-03	0.190	1.20E-03
Clopyralid	Soil	2.09E-04	0.073	1.52E-05
Cyanide	Air	1.80E-07	0.538	9.71E-08
Cyanide	Water	7.75E-08	0.538	4.17E-08
Desmedipham	Soil	6.37E-04	0.093	5.94E-05
Diethylamine	Air	1.31E-16	0.192	2.50E-17
Dimethenamid	Soil	1.29E-03	0.051	6.54E-05
Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	7.61E-02	0.636	4.84E-02
Epoxiconazole	Soil	3.83E-03	0.127	4.88E-04
Imidacloprid	Soil	1.18E-03	0.274	3.23E-04
Metamitron	Soil	1.97E-02	0.277	5.45E-03
Metolachlor	Soil	5.67E-03	0.049	2.80E-04
Nitrate	Water	3.51E+00	0.226	7.94E-01
Nitric oxide	Air	5.24E-11	0.467	2.45E-11
Nitrogen	Water	5.85E-05	1.000	5.85E-05
Nitrogen dioxide	Air	6.62E-03	0.304	2.02E-03
Nitrogen oxides	Air	1.11E-01	0.304	3.37E-02
Particulates, < 10 μm	Air	8.86E-04	0.054	4.80E-05
Particulates, < 10 µm	Water	6.20E-08	0.054	3.36E-09
Particulates, < 2.5 µm	Air	2.77E-03	0.081	2.23E-04

Table 4.6. Calculation report of reactive nitrogen indicator for the agri-food product "sugar beet" listing the nitrogen-containing substances, the compartment of emission, the emitted amount, the calculated nitrogen coefficient and the calculated amount of reactive nitrogen. The indicator result for the whole product system is reported in the last row.

Substance	Compartment	Nitrogen inventory result [g/kg]	Nitrogen coefficient	Reactive nitrogen [g/kg]
Particulates, $> 2.5 \mu m$, and $< 10 \mu m$	Air	1.81E-03	0.028	5.04E-05
Phenmedipham	Soil	2.12E-03	0.093	1.98E-04
Total product system	-	-	-	1.28E+00

The final results of the calculation of the reactive nitrogen indicator for all the 12 agri-food products analyzed are reported in the Table 4.7.

Agri-food product	Functional unit	Reactive nitrogen indicator result [g/funct. unit]
Barley	1 kg	14.550
Rice	1 kg	15.000
Maize	1 kg	36.322
Soybean	1 kg	16.226
Tomato	1 kg	2.195
Potato	1 kg	3.872
Sugar beet	1 kg	1.278
Beef fillet	1 kg	920.617
Chiken	1 kg	45.978
Pork	1 kg	62.496
Sheep	1 kg	178.336
Egg	1 kg	42.912

Table 4.7. Reactive nitrogen indicator results [g/kg] for the 12 product systems of the agri-food sector analyzed.

During the testing phase, an automatic calculation procedure was also developed, which, starting from the inventory analysis results, allows selecting the nitrogen-containing substances, associating the related nitrogen coefficients and calculating the reactive nitrogen indicator results, thus significantly decreasing the time of calculation.

4.1.4 Agri-food products: interpretation of the results

As a first element on the interpretation of the results, is considered appropriate to highlight the validation process carried out with reference to the output of the first part of the methodology. Specifically, the reactive nitrogen indicator results have been compared with some published research results related to the nitrogen footprint calculation. The reactive nitrogen indicator, included as part of the proposed methodology in the step of the assessment at inventory level, is, in fact, assimilable

to the current definition of "nitrogen footprint", even though it is calculated with a different and innovative approach.

In the Table 4.8 are reported the outcomes of the comparison between the results of the reactive nitrogen indicator calculated for the 12 agri-food products, which were also functionally chosen for this purpose, and some results of nitrogen footprint calculation found in literature published researches.

Table 4.8. Outcomes of validation process: comparison between calculated reactive nitrogen indicator results and literature results for nitrogen footprint accounting. Reference for literature results: (1) CAPRI model average results for food categories, Leip et al. (2014a); (2) MITERRA model average results for food categories, Leip et al. (2014a); (2) MITERRA model average results for food categories, Leip et al. (2014a); (3) China double rice results, Xue et al. (2016). Matching degree considered range*: lower - upper quartiles (only for results of Leip et al., 2014a).

Agri-food product	Reactive nitrogen indicator calculation results [g/kg]	Nitrogen footprint literature results [g/kg]	Matching degree
Barley	14.550	$\approx 14^{(1)}; \approx 8^{(2)}$	medium-high (within the range*)
Rice	15.000	$\approx 14^{(1)}; \approx 8^{(2)};$ 10.5-10.8 ⁽³⁾	medium-high (within the range*)
Maize	36.322	$\approx 14^{(1)}; \approx 8^{(2)}$	sufficient (< maximum of the sample*)
Soybean	16.226	$\approx 21^{(1)}; \approx 19^{(2)}$	medium-high (within the range*)
Tomato	2.195	$\approx 2^{(1)}; \approx 3.5^{(2)}$	high (within the range*)
Potato	3.872	$\approx 3^{(1)}; \approx 2^{(2)}$	medium-high (within the range*)
Sugar beet	1.278	$\approx 2.5^{(1)}; \approx 2^{(2)}$	medium-high (within the range*)
Beef fillet	920.617	≈550 ⁽¹⁾ ; ≈490 ⁽²⁾	low (> maximum of the sample*)
Chicken	45.978	$\approx 65^{(1)}; \approx 100^{(2)}$	sufficient (within the range*)
Pork	62.496	≈120 ⁽¹⁾ ; ≈125 ⁽²⁾	low (< minimum of the sample*)
Sheep	178.336	$\approx 500^{(1)}; \approx 600^{(2)}$	low (< minimum of the sample*)
Egg	42.912	$\approx 45^{(1)}; \approx 70^{(2)}$	medium-high (within the range*)

While the different methodological approaches used for the calculation, the comparison results were satisfactory, showing a high and medium high degree of correspondence for 7 of the 12 products, a sufficient degree for 2 products and a low degree for 3 products. Ecoinvent 3.1 was also found to be

the most reliable database, as well as the more complete, as above highlighted. It should be pointed out that, as with all LCA applications, the choice of database entries to be used for analysis is a process that requires particular attention and care in relation to the defined goal and scope of the application and to the established data level of quality. The results above presented are therefore considered to be indicative: further deepening and analysis of databases, which are outside the scope of the research, would be needed in order to provide more reliable data.

With regard to other achievements, in relation to the objectives initially set out, the following are highlighted:

- The first steps of the methodology were successfully tested by performing the calculation of nitrogen inventory results and reactive nitrogen indicator for 12 agri-food products using data from internationally applied and recognized databases for LCA studies. As for the results obtained, products of animal origin have the highest values of reactive nitrogen indicator, especially with reference to ruminant meat, while the indicator for all other products resulted considerably lower, with a consistent ranking of the product pork, poultry meat and eggs. For the vegetable products, the cereals and oilseeds obtained similar results (slightly higher for oilseeds), with the exception of maize for which a higher value was calculated, probably related to the specific database record which refers to a specific geographic context (Switzerland). Lower values were found for potato, tomato and sugar beet. These results are congruent with what emerged in several researches conducted, and in particular with what highlighted by Leip *et al.* (2014a) in reference to the nitrogen footprint of food products in the European Union.
- As part of the specific application, and of the whole methodology, the nitrogen coefficient calculation procedure was set, starting the coefficients iterative accounting; within the research applications, this procedure was used to calculate the value of the coefficients of more than 200 nitrogen-containing substances detected as output streams from the analyzed product systems within the nitrogen inventory results.
- As above highlighted, an automatic database calculation procedure was developed and tested for reactive nitrogen indicator accounting starting from inventory results, achieving a remarkable reduction in computing times and an increase in efficiency in the application of the entire methodology and in the analysis of results.
- The application also allowed testing and confirming the validity of the databases used to derive the nitrogen inventory results, in particular highlighting greater completeness and reliability for the data contained in the professional database Ecoinvent 3.1.

• This first testing phase, finally, allowed to obtain information on the output streams of substances that produce the greatest impact measured in terms of reactive nitrogen for the analyzed product systems, in particular by identifying as the most significant the flows of nitrate in water, ammonia, nitrogen oxides and dinitrogen monoxide in air.

4.2 Methodology application to a reference product system

During the experimentation phase, the proposed methodology was applied to a reference product system specifically created for the purposes the research, consisting in the union of ten product categories each comprising four products for a total of 40 product systems, as described below in this section.

4.2.1 Reference product system: goal and scope definition

The experimental application described in this section relates to a reference product system specifically created in order to achieve the following objectives:

- test the whole methodology, with reference to all the phase and operative step provided;
- calculate a specific weighting set, obtained by applying the internal weighting method, included in the proposed methodology, to the reference product system, in order to be used as an alternative reference set also for subsequent applications of the methodology.

The products to be included in the system were chosen to be sufficiently representative of an average collection, focusing in particular on the categories related to the food sector, which is the one that provides the greatest contribution in terms of nitrogen-related environmental impacts.

4.2.2 Reference product system: inventory analysis

The 10 product categories, each comprising four product systems are described in the Table 4.9 reporting the considered product categories, the products included, the database used for the inventory, the selected functional unit and a short description of the life cycle scope, to quickly evaluate the level of inventory data coverage with reference to the life cycle phases of the analyzed product.

the reactive nitrogen calculation report presented in the following paragraph.
As in the previous application example, concerning the agri-food products analysis, also the data used
for this application were entirely derived from the professional life cycle inventory databases
indicated in the above reported list of the Table 4.9.
© Filippo Zuliani University of Padova (IT) Department of Industrial Engineering

The results of the nitrogen inventory analysis are not reported here because they are explicitated in

system inventory analysis: list of product categories and products analyzed, and data coverage level referred to products life cycle.

Database

Ecoinvent 3.1

Functional

unit

1 kg

Life cycle scope

market for

Table 4.9. Referend databases used, fun	ce product sy ctional unit a
Product category	Product
vegetables	zucchini
vegetables	tomato

vegetables	tomato	Ecoinvent 3.1	l kg	market for
vegetables	potato	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
vegetables	onion	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
textiles	jute	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
textiles	knit cotton	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
textiles	viscose fibre	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
textiles	woven cotton	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
vegetable oils	coconut oil	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
vegetable oils	palm oil	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
vegetable oils	rape oil	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
vegetable oils	vegetable oil	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
metals	steel, chromium 18/8	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
metals	steel, unalloyed	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
metals	aluminum, primary, ingot	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
metals	copper	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
meat	chicken, fresh	LCAfood DK	1 kg	whole sale
meat	beef steak, fresh	LCAfood DK	1 kg	whole sale
meat	pork neck	LCAfood DK	1 kg	whole sale
meat	ham	LCAfood DK	1 kg	whole sale
fuels	diesel	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
fuels	petrol, unleaded	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
fuels	natural gas, high pressure	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	at service station
fuels	fuel oil	LCAfood DK	1 kg	not defined
fruit	apple	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
fruit	melon	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
fruit	kiwi	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
fruit	grape	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
fish	cod, fresh	LCAfood DK	1 kg	whole sale
fish	flatfish, fresh	LCAfood DK	1 kg	whole sale
fish	mussels, fresh	LCAfood DK	1 kg	whole sale
fish	trout, frozen	LCAfood DK	1 kg	whole sale
dairy	butter	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	whole sale
dairy	cheese	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	whole sale
dairy	cream, 38%	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	whole sale
dairy	full milk	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	whole sale
cereals	barley grain	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
cereals	maize grain	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
cereals	rice	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for
cereals	wheat grain	Ecoinvent 3.1	1 kg	market for

4.2.3 Reference product system: assessment at inventory level

The first steps of the methodology consists in the calculation of nitrogen inventory results and reactive nitrogen indicator. Also for this application, to calculate the nitrogen inventory results, starting from the complete inventory, a mass cut-off criterion with an overall threshold set to 1 ng was applied, however including substances with fewer emissions considered to be particularly relevant due to potential environmental impacts. The results of the calculation are reported in the Table 4.10 in which the first column lists the nitrogen-containing substances selected starting from the inventory results and the last column shows the reactive nitrogen calculated for each emitted substance.

For completeness the value of calculated reactive nitrogen indicator for the entire product system was also reported in the last row of the Table 4.10: this value is however not indicative of any specific product and is not even functional for subsequent calculations, only the results related to the emitted substances being subsequently o be used for the calculation of the weighting set.

Substance Compartment		Nitrogen inventory result [g]	Nitrogen coefficient	Reactive nitrogen [g]
2-Aminopropanol	Air	1.60E-04	0.186	2.99E-05
2-Aminopropanol	Water	3.85E-04	0.186	7.18E-05
2-Nitrobenzoic acid	Air	7.71E-05	0.084	6.47E-06
Acephate	Air	8.05E-05	0.076	6.16E-06
Acephate	Soil	1.45E-01	0.076	1.11E-02
Acetamide	Air	1.98E-05	0.237	4.70E-06
Acetamide	Soil	2.13E-02	0.237	5.05E-03
Acetochlor	Soil	5.96E-02	0.052	3.10E-03
Acetonitrile	Air	5.39E-02	0.341	1.84E-02
Acetonitrile	Water	5.43E-05	0.341	1.85E-05
Acifluorfen	Air	1.11E-05	0.039	4.28E-07
Acifluorfen	Soil	4.74E-07	0.039	1.84E-08
Aclonifen	Soil	1.81E-07	0.106	1.92E-08
Alachlor	Air	7.82E-05	0.052	4.06E-06
Alachlor	Soil	4.23E-03	0.052	2.19E-04
Aldicarb	Soil	4.91E-01	0.147	7.23E-02
Amidosulfuron	Soil	1.50E-08	0.190	2.83E-09
Ammonia	Air	3.30E+02	0.822	2.71E+02
Ammonia, as N	Water	3.01E-01	1.000	3.01E-01
Ammonium carbonate	Air	2.98E-05	0.292	8.68E-06
Ammonium, ion	Water	5.13E+00	0.776	3.98E+00
Aniline	Air	2.28E-03	0.150	3.44E-04
Aniline	Water	5.48E-03	0.150	8.25E-04

Table 4.10. Calculation report of reactive nitrogen indicator for the reference product system listing the nitrogencontaining substances, the compartment of emission, the emitted amount, the calculated nitrogen coefficient and the calculated amount of reactive nitrogen. The indicator result for the whole product system is reported in the last row.

Substance Compartment inventory Coefficient	nitrogen
result [g]	[g]
Anthranilic acidAir5.98E-050.102	6.10E-06
Asulam Soil 4.64E-05 0.122	5.64E-06
Atrazine Air 6.19E-05 0.325	2.01E-05
Atrazine Soil 1.13E-01 0.325	3.66E-02
Azinphos-methyl Soil 3.96E-04 0.132	5.24E-05
Azoxystrobin Air 3.66E-05 0.104	3.81E-06
Azoxystrobin Soil 9.03E-03 0.104	9.40E-04
BenfluralinSoil9.55E-020.125	1.20E-02
Benomyl Soil 2.04E-04 0.193	3.95E-05
Bensulfuron methyl ester Soil 1.26E-03 0.137	1.72E-04
Bentazone Air 3.38E-05 0.117	3.94E-06
Bentazone Soil 4.07E-03 0.117	4.74E-04
Benzene, 1-methyl-2-nitro- Air 6.66E-05 0.102	6.80E-06
Benzene, pentachloronitro- Soil 4.08E-03 0.047	1.94E-04
Bifenox Soil 1.65E-03 0.041	6.76E-05
Bitertanol Soil 3.70E-05 0.125	4.61E-06
Bromoxynil Soil 6.90E-03 0.051	3.49E-04
Bromuconazole Soil 1.12E-04 0.111	1.24E-05
Captan Soil 2.54E-01 0.047	1.18E-02
Carbaryl Air 9.23E-06 0.070	6.43E-07
Carbaryl Soil 1.45E-03 0.070	1.01E-04
Carbendazim Soil 8.19E-03 0.220	1.80E-03
Carbetamide Soil 1.73E-01 0.119	2.05E-02
Carbofuran Soil 1.14E-01 0.063	7.22E-03
Carfentrazone-ethyl Air 1.01E-06 0.102	1.03E-07
Carfentrazone-ethyl Soil 3.40E-05 0.102	3.46E-06
Chloramine Air 7.44E-04 0.272	2.02E-04
Chloramine Water 6.64E-03 0.272	1.81E-03
Chloridazon Soil 9.96E-03 0.190	1.89E-03
Chlorimuron-ethyl Air 1.85E-05 0.135	2.49E-06
Chlorimuron-ethyl Soil 5.10E-04 0.135	6.89E-05
Chlormequat Soil 5.52E-02 0.114	6.31E-03
Chlorothalonil Soil 5.95E-02 0.105	6.27E-03
Chlorpyrifos Air 3.68E-04 0.040	1.47E-05
Chlorpyrifos Soil 4.00E-01 0.040	1.60E-02
Chlorsulfuron Soil 1.54E-04 0.196	3.01E-05
Chlortoluron Soil 1.16E-05 0.132	1.53E-06
Choline chloride Soil 2.12E-02 0.100	2.13E-03
Cinidon-ethyl Soil 1.81E-08 0.036	6.44E-10
Clethodim Air 5.46E-05 0.039	2.13E-06
Clethodim Soil 7 33E-04 0 039	2.85E-05
Clodinafon-propargyl Soil 2.28E-03 0.040	9.12E-05
Clomazone Soil 2.36E-02 0.058	1 38E-03
Clonvralid Soil 1.61E-03 0.073	1 18E-04
Cloquintocet-mexyl Soil 5 50E-04 0 042	2.29E-05
Cloransulam-methyl Air 9.62E-06 0.163	1 57E-06
Cloransulam-methyl Soil 2 19F-04 0 163	3.57E-05
Cyanide Air 1.11E+00 0.538	5.98E-01

		Nitrogen		Reactive	
Substance	Compartment	inventory	Nitrogen	nitrogen	
	-	result [g]	coefficient	[g]	
Cyanide	Water	2.04E-01	0.538	1.10E-01	
Cyanoacetic acid	Air	6.49E-05	0.165	1.07E-05	
Cycloxydim	Soil	2.38E-10	0.043	1.02E-11	
Cyfluthrin	Air	1.93E-06	0.032	6.22E-08	
Cyfluthrin	Soil	1.52E-03	0.032	4.90E-05	
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	Air	2.21E-05	0.031	6.89E-07	
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	Soil	9.48E-07	0.031	2.95E-08	
Cymoxanil	Soil	9.18E-03	0.283	2.60E-03	
Cypermethrin	Air	4.68E-06	0.034	1.57E-07	
Cypermethrin	Soil	4.63E-02	0.034	1.56E-03	
Cyproconazole	Soil	9.03E-04	0.144	1.30E-04	
Cyprodinil	Soil	1.34E-02	0.187	2.50E-03	
Deltamethrin	Soil	2.71E-04	0.028	7.50E-06	
Diazinon	Soil	1.40E-02	0.092	1.29E-03	
Dicrotophos	Soil	2.66E-02	0.059	1.57E-03	
Diethylamine	Air	1.13E-03	0.192	2.17E-04	
Diethylamine	Water	2.72E-03	0.192	5.21E-04	
Difenoconazole	Soil	3.98E-02	0.103	4.12E-03	
Diflubenzuron	Air	1.01E-06	0.090	9.15E-08	
Diflubenzuron	Soil	1.45E-01	0.090	1.31E-02	
Diflufenican	Soil	3.62E-03	0.071	2.57E-04	
Diflufenzopyr-sodium	Soil	1.93E-04	0.157	3.04E-05	
Dimethachlor	Soil	1.09E-02	0.055	6.00E-04	
Dimethenamid	Soil	5.06E-03	0.051	2.57E-04	
Dimethoate	Soil	1.19E-03	0.061	7.26E-05	
Dimethomorph	Soil	9.44E-03	0.036	3.41E-04	
Dimethylamine	Air	6.94E-07	0.311	2.16E-07	
Dimethylamine	Water	2.18E-03	0.311	6.78E-04	
Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	1.17E+02	0.636	7.48E+01	
Dipropylamine	Air	6.34E-04	0.138	8.77E-05	
Dipropylamine	Water	1.52E-03	0.138	2.11E-04	
Diquat	Soil	3.17E-03	0.152	4.81E-04	
Diquat dibromide	Soil	2.94E-07	0.081	2.40E-08	
Dithianone	Soil	6.59E-02	0.095	6.23E-03	
Diuron	Soil	4.14E-02	0.120	4.97E-03	
Epoxiconazole	Soil	1.28E-03	0.127	1.63E-04	
Esfenvalerate	Air	1.15E-05	0.033	3.85E-07	
Esfenvalerate	Soil	2.22E-04	0.033	7.42E-06	
Ethalfluralin	Soil	3.65E-03	0.126	4.60E-04	
Ethylamine	Air	1.94E-04	0.311	6.02E-05	
Ethylamine	Water	4.65E-04	0.311	1.44E-04	
Ethylene diamine	Air	3.76E-04	0.466	1.75E-04	
Ethylene diamine	Water	9.06E-04	0.466	4.22E-04	
Fenbuconazole	Soil	3.91E-08	0.166	6.50E-09	
Fenoxaprop	Air	1.51E-05	0.042	6.33E-07	
Fenoxaprop	Soil	5.55E-04	0.042	2.33E-05	
Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester	Soil	1.37E-07	0.039	5.32E-09	
Fenpiclonil	Soil	4.32E-04	0.118	5.10E-05	

result [g]coefficientFenpropidinSoil7.25E-030.0513.7	[g] 1E-04
Fenpropidin Soil 7.25E-03 0.051 3.7	1E-04
Fenpropimorph Soil 1.43E-03 0.046 6.6	2E-05
Fipronil Soil 1.59E-01 0.128 2.0	4E-02
Florasulam Soil 1.05E-05 0.195 2.0	4E-06
Fluazifop-p-butyl Air 2.17E-05 0.037 7.9	1E-07
Fluazifop-P-butyl Soil 2.84E-03 0.037 1.0	4E-04
Flucarbazone sodium salt Soil 9.62E-06 0.134 1.2	9E-06
Fludioxonil Soil 2.36E-04 0.113 2.6	5E-05
Flufenacet Air 8.12E-06 0.116 9.3	9E-07
Flufenacet Soil 1.00E-03 0.116 1.1	5E-04
Flumetsulam Air 1.90E-06 0.215 4.0	9E-07
Flumetsulam Soil 3.38E-04 0.215 7.2	8E-05
Flumiclorac-pentyl Air 3.25E-06 0.033 1.0	7E-07
Flumiclorac-pentyl Soil 1.39E-07 0.033 4.6	DE-09
Flumioxazin Air 3.29E-05 0.079 2.6	DE-06
Flumioxazin Soil 2.54E-04 0.079 2.0	1E-05
Fluroxypyr Soil 6.50E-03 0.110 7.1	4E-04
Flurtamone Soil 1.09E-03 0.042 4.5	5E-05
Flusilazole Soil 3.65E-07 0.133 4.8	7E-08
Folpet Soil 1.84E-02 0.047 8.6	8E-04
Fomesafen Air 1.22E-04 0.064 7.8	DE-06
Fomesafen Soil 1.67E-03 0.064 1.0	7E-04
Foramsulfuron Soil 3.62E-05 0.186 6.7	3E-06
Formamide Air 1.68E-04 0.311 5.2	2E-05
Formamide Water 4.03E-04 0.311 1.2	5E-04
Glyphosate Air 2.44E-02 0.083 2.0	2E-03
Glyphosate Soil 1.24E+00 0.083 1.0	2E-01
Imazamox Air 4.86E-06 0.138 6.6	9E-07
Imazamox Soil 2.77E-04 0.138 3.8	1E-05
Imazapyr Soil 4.83E-06 0.161 7.7	5E-07
Imazaquin Air 1.55E-05 0.135 2.0	9E-06
Imazaquin Soil 6.64E-07 0.135 8.9	5E-08
Imazethapyr Air 3.21E-05 0.145 4.6	5E-06
Imazethapyr Soil 5.63E-04 0.145 8.1	8E-05
Imidacloprid Soil 1.57E-01 0.274 4.2	9E-02
Ioxynil Soil 2.29E-02 0.038 8.6	4E-04
Iprodione Soil 6.22E-03 0.127 7.9	2E-04
Isocvanic acid Air 8.06E-03 0.326 2.6	3E-03
Isopropylamine Air 1.24E-04 0.237 2.9	4E-05
Isopropylamine Water 2.98E-04 0.237 7.0	7E-05
Isoproturon Soil 8.13E-03 0.136 1.1	DE-03
Isoxaflutole Soil 5.79E-04 0.039 2.2	5E-05
Kresoxim-methyl Soil 3.56E-04 0.045 1.5	9E-05
Lactofen Air 1.56E-05 0.030 4.7	3E-07
Lactofen Soil 6.69E-07 0.030 2.0	3E-08
Lambda-cyhalothrin Soil 2.96E-03 0.031 9.2	1E-05
Linuron Soil 1.09E-02 0.112 1.2	3E-03
Mancozeb Soil 3.71E-01 0.104 3.8	5E-02

Substance	Compartment	Nitrogen inventory	Nitrogen	Reactive nitrogen
	-	result [g]	coefficient	[g]
Mefenpyr	Soil	5.61E-04	0.088	4.96E-05
Mefenpyr-diethyl	Soil	2.75E-07	0.075	2.06E-08
Mepiquat chloride	Soil	3.78E-03	0.094	3.54E-04
Mesotrione	Soil	1.57E-03	0.041	6.48E-05
Metamitron	Soil	9.83E-04	0.277	2.72E-04
Metazachlor	Soil	2.58E-02	0.151	3.91E-03
Methylamine	Air	1.41E-04	0.451	6.37E-05
Methylamine	Water	3.39E-04	0.451	1.53E-04
Metolachlor	Air	2.55E-04	0.049	1.26E-05
Metolachlor	Soil	1.37E-01	0.049	6.75E-03
Metribuzin	Air	1.01E-04	0.261	2.65E-05
Metribuzin	Soil	9.51E-03	0.261	2.49E-03
Monocrotophos	Soil	1.77E-02	0.063	1.11E-03
Monoethanolamine	Air	1.72E-02	0.229	3.93E-03
Monoethanolamine	Water	4.12E-06	0.229	9.44E-07
Napropamide	Soil	1.26E-01	0.052	6.52E-03
Nitrogen	Air	9.03E-01	0.000	0.00E+00
Nitrate	Air	4.47E-03	0.226	1.01E-03
Nitrate	Water	4.34E+03	0.226	9.80E+02
Nitrate	Soil	4.38E-03	0.226	9.89E-04
Nitrite	Water	1.86E-01	0.304	5.65E-02
Nitrobenzene	Air	3.10E-03	0.114	3.53E-04
Nitrobenzene	Water	1.24E-02	0.114	1.41E-03
Nitrogen	Water	5.28E+00	1.000	5.28E+00
Nitrogen	Soil	4.14E-04	1.000	4.14E-04
Nitrogen fluoride	Air	1.31E-07	0.197	2.59E-08
Nitrogen oxides	Air	4.20E+02	0.304	1.28E+02
Nitrogen, organic bound	Water	1.29E+01	0.160	2.06E+00
Nitrogen, total	Water	2.09E+00	1.000	2.09E+00
Orbencarb	Soil	2.27E-03	0.054	1.23E-04
Parathion	Soil	8.62E-02	0.048	4.14E-03
Particulates, $< 10 \ \mu m \ (mobile)$	Air	5.31E-01	0.054	2.88E-02
Particulates, $< 10 \ \mu m$ (stationary)	Air	9.02E-01	0.054	4.89E-02
Particulates, $< 2.5 \ \mu m$	Air	8.71E+01	0.081	7.02E+00
Particulates, $> 2.5 \ \mu m$, and $< 10 \mu m$	Air	3.79E+01	0.028	1.06E+00
Pendimethalin	Air	6.86E-04	0.149	1.02E-04
Pendimethalin	Soil	9.28E-02	0.149	1.39E-02
Phenmedipham	Soil	1.80E-04	0.093	1.68E-05
Pronamide	Soil	1.19E-09	0.055	6.48E-11
Propanil	Soil	2.78E-01	0.064	1.79E-02
Propiconazole	Air	1.20E-05	0.123	1.47E-06
Propiconazole	Soil	5.48E-03	0.123	6.73E-04
Propylamine	Air	1.29E-04	0.237	3.05E-05
Propylamine	Water	3.09E-04	0.237	7.33E-05
Simazine	Soil	2.44E-03	0.347	8.47E-04
Sulfentrazone	Air	7.79E-05	0.145	1.13E-05
Sulfentrazone	Soil	2.63E-03	0.145	3.80E-04
t-Butylamine	Air	8.76E-05	0.192	1.68E-05

Substance	Compartment	Nitrogen inventory result [g]	Nitrogen coefficient	Reactive nitrogen [g]
t-Butylamine	Water	2.10E-04	0.192	4.02E-05
Tebupirimphos	Soil	1.01E-03	0.088	8.92E-05
Tebutam	Soil	4.82E-01	0.060	2.89E-02
Tralkoxydim	Soil	7.20E-05	0.043	3.06E-06
Trifloxystrobin	Air	7.10E-07	0.069	4.87E-08
Trifloxystrobin	Soil	1.83E-02	0.069	1.26E-03
Trifluralin	Air	1.12E-03	0.125	1.41E-04
Trifluralin	Soil	1.89E-01	0.125	2.37E-02
Trimethylamine	Air	3.71E-05	0.237	8.78E-06
Trimethylamine	Water	8.89E-05	0.237	2.11E-05
Urea	Water	1.75E-04	0.466	8.15E-05
Total product system	-	-	-	1.48E+03

Also for this application, examining these first results, considerations may be made regarding the substances that make the greatest contribution in terms of reactive nitrogen for the reference product system analyzed. Specifically, nitrate emissions to water make the greatest contribution (66.3 %) followed in the ranking by ammonia emissions to air (18.4 %), nitrogen oxides to air (8.7 %), dinitrogen monoxide to air (5.1 %), particulates < 2.5 μ m to air (0.5 %) and ammonium ion to water (0.3 %).

Compared to the results obtained in the previous agri-food products application, it is noted that the nitrate emissions contribution is lower, while is higher the relative contribution of other substances, with particular reference to particulate emissions: this results is justified by the inclusion of non-agricultural products and processes in the product system.

4.2.4 Reference product system: characterization

Starting from the nitrogen inventory results, the next step of the methodology involves the calculation of nitrogen impact assessment profile, consisting of the union of the category indicator results for the nine selected impact categories, obtained by applying the characterization factors to the detected emissions of nitrogen-containing substances. The results of the calculation of nitrogen impact assessment profile for the reference product system are reported in the Table 4.11 where the nitrogen-containing substances, for which characterization factors are defined by the models used, are listed for each impact category. For simplicity of calculation a cut-off criterion was applied, limited to the impact categories freshwater ecotoxicity, human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non-cancer

effect, excluding the substances which make a contribution of less than 0.1% to the total impact of each category.

Table 4.11. Nitrogen impact assessment profile calculated for the reference product system. Cut	-off criterion
of 0.1% applied for the categories Freshwater ecotoxicity, Human toxicity cancer effect and Hu	man toxicity
non-cancer effect.	

Category	Substance	Compart.	Unit	Category results
Climate change	Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	kg CO ₂ eq	3.11E+01
Climate change	Nitrogen fluoride	Air	kg CO ₂ eq	2.11E-06
Climate change	Total		kg CO2 eq	3.11E+01
Particulate matter	Ammonia	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	2.20E-02
Particulate matter	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	3.09E-03
Particulate matter	Particulates, < 10 μm (mobile)	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	1.21E-04
Particulate matter	Particulates, < 10 µm (stationary)	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	2.06E-04
Particulate matter	Particulates, $< 2.5 \ \mu m$	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	8.82E-02
Particulate matter	Total		kg PM _{2.5} eq	1.14E-01
Photochemical ozone formation	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg NMVOC eq	4.20E-01
Photochemical ozone formation	Total		kg NMVOC eq	4.20E-01
Acidification	Ammonia	Air	molc H ⁺ eq	9.96E-01
Acidification	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc H ⁺ eq	3.11E-01
Acidification	Total		molc H ⁺ eq	1.31E+00
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	molc N eq	4.45E+00
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	molc N eq	1.41E-05
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc N eq	1.79E+00
Terrestrial	Total		molc N eq	6.24E+00
eutrophication	A	A •	- 1 - NT	2.025.02
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia	Air Watar	kg N eq	3.03E-02
Marine eutrophication	Allinonium, ion	w ater	kg N eq	3.99E-03
Marine europhication	Nitrate	Watar	kg N eq	0.81E.01
Marine eutrophication	Nitrite	Water	kg N eq	5.65E-05
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg N eq	1.63E-01
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen total	Water	kg N eq	2.09E-03
Marine eutrophication	Total	ii atei	kg N eq	1.18E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Aldicarb	Soil	CTU	5.84E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlornvrifos	Soil	CTUe	4.24E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Diflubenzuron	Soil	CTUe	2.46E+01
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Fipronil	Soil	CTUe	5.14E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Folpet	Soil	CTUe	7.00E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Parathion	Soil	CTUe	7.16E+00
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Propanil	Soil	CTUe	1.68E+01

Category	Substance	Compart.	Unit	Category results
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Total		CTUe	1.09E+02
Human toxicity, cancer effects	Total		CTUh	0.00E+00
Human toxicity, non- cancer effects	Total		CTUh	0.00E+00

Applying the cut-off criterion described above, were not found nitrogen-containing substances assigned to the impact categories human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non-cancer effect, for which emissions of toxic substances, even nitrogen-containing, can be detected in extremely low amounts.

Analyzing the output format of the results obtained from the characterization, it is evident that the profile provides information on the nature of the potential environmental impacts and on their scale. In this sense, the information provided is much more complete than that presented by the reactive nitrogen indicator previously calculated, only showing general indications of the potential overall impact of the analyzed system.

4.2.5 Reference product system: normalization and weighting

In the final step of the methodology are provided the normalization and weighting procedures: in particular, for this application, the main objective is to calculate the weighting factors, starting from inventory and characterizations results and applying the proposed internal method.

Despite being outside of the initial objectives of this application, it was also calculated the normalized nitrogen assessment profile for the reference product system, obtaining the results reported in the Table 4.12. The normalized category results were calculated by applying the reference normalization factors selected for the methodology, as illustrated in the previous chapter devoted to the methodology description.

Category	Category results	Normalization	Normalized	
		factors	category results	
Climate change	3.11E+01 kg CO ₂ eq	9.22E+03	3.38E-03	
Particulate matter	1.14E-01 kg PM _{2.5} eq	3.80E+00	2.99E-02	
Photochemical ozone formation	4.20E-01 kg NMVOC eq	3.17E+01	1.33E-02	
Acidification	$1.31E+00 \text{ molc } H^+ \text{ eq}$	4.73E+01	2.76E-02	

Table 4.12. *Results of normalized impact assessment profile calculated for the reference product system. Normalization factors extracted from Benini et al.* (2014).

Category	Category results	Normalization factors	Normalized category results
Terrestrial eutrophication	6.24E+00 molc N eq	1.76E+02	3.55E-02
Marine eutrophication	1.18E+00 kg N eq	1.69E+01	6.99E-02
Freshwater ecotoxicity	1.09E+02 CTUe	8.74E+03	1.25E-02
Human toxicity, cancer effects	0.00E+00 CTUh	3.69E-05	0.00E+00
Human toxicity, non-cancer effects	0.00E+00 CTUh	5.33E-04	0.00E+00

As anticipated in the previous chapter, compared to the results of nitrogen impact assessment profile, reported in the Table 4.11, the normalized results allow a greater comprehensibility and a direct comparison between the impact categories results, as the indicator results are expressed in the same unit of measure. For the analyzed reference product system, the normalized profile showed the greatest impact in the category marine eutrophication, to which are associated for example the nitrate emissions to water, followed in the ranking by the categories terrestrial eutrophication, due to ammonia emissions to air and particulate matter, due to particulates < $2.5 \,\mu$ m emissions to air.

For the subsequent calculation of the weighting factors, the proposed methodology provides to implement a specifically designed procedure that only uses internal data, generated within the previous step of the methodology, thus excluding the contribution of factors from external sources. In particular, the operational procedure provides to use the results of nitrogen inventory and characterization steps in order to calculate the category reactive nitrogen and then the category weighting factors. The outcome of the calculation is reported in the Table 4.13, showing also the main substances contribution to the category reactive nitrogen. Being the results derived from the outputs of the characterization, also in this case is valid a cut-off criterion of 0.1% of total category impact, limited to the impact categories freshwater ecotoxicity, human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non-cancer effect.

Category	Substance	Compart.	Reactive nitrogen results [kg]	Weighting factors [%]
Climate change	Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	3.11E+01	
Climate change	Nitrogen fluoride	Air	2.11E-06	
Climate change	Total		3.11E+01	2.675%
Particulate matter	Ammonia	Air	2.20E-02	
Particulate matter	Nitrogen oxides	Air	3.09E-03	
Particulate matter	Particulates, < 10 μm (mobile)	Air	1.21E-04	

Table 4.13. Weighting factors calculation results for the reference product system obtained by applying the internal weighting method provided by the proposed methodology.

Category	Substance	Compart.	Reactive nitrogen results [kg]	Weighting factors [%]
Particulate matter	Particulates, < 10 µm (stationary)	Air	2.06E-04	
Particulate matter	Particulates, < 2.5 µm	Air	8.82E-02	
Particulate matter	Total		1.14E-01	14.544%
Photochemical ozone formation	Nitrogen oxides	Air	4.20E-01	
Photochemical ozone formation	Total		4.20E-01	4.578%
Acidification	Ammonia	Air	9.96E-01	
Acidification	Nitrogen oxides	Air	3.11E-01	
Acidification	Total		1.31E+00	14.290%
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	4.45E+00	
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	1.41E-05	
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	1.79E+00	
Terrestrial eutrophication	Total		6.24E+00	14.290%
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	3.03E-02	
Marine eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Water	3.99E-03	
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	1.25E-07	
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Water	9.81E-01	
Marine eutrophication	Nitrite	Water	5.65E-05	
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	1.63E-01	
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen, total	Water	2.09E-03	
Marine eutrophication	Total		1.18E+00	49.608%
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Aldicarb	Soil	5.84E+00	
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlorpyrifos	Soil	4.24E+01	
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Diflubenzuron	Soil	2.46E+01	
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Fipronil	Soil	5.14E+00	
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Folpet	Soil	7.00E+00	
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Parathion	Soil	7.16E+00	
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Propanil	Soil	1.68E+01	
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Total		1.09E+02	0.010%
Human toxicity, cancer effects	Total		0.00E+00	0.005%
Human toxicity, non- cancer effects	Total		0.00E+00	0.005%
	Total		2.79E+00	100.000%

Although theoretically it was achieved a result equal to 0, following the application of the cut-off criterion for the impact categories human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non-cancer effect, to these categories was however attributed a result equal to 0.005%, corresponding to half the

calculated result for the category freshwater ecotoxicity. This choice was made in order not to exclude a priori the applicability of the reference set thus calculated to these impact categories.

Despite being, also in this case, outside of the initial objectives of this application, it was also calculated the weighted nitrogen assessment profile for the reference product system and the single score nitrogen impact indicator, obtaining the results reported in the Table 4.14. Specifically, the calculated weighting factors were applied to the normalized category results obtaining the corresponding weighted category results: finally, the impact indicator result was calculated as the summation of the weighted category results for the considered impact categories.

Category	Normalized category results	Weighting factors	Weighted category results
Climate change	3.38E-03	2.675%	9.03E-05
Particulate matter	2.99E-02	14.544%	4.35E-03
Photochemical ozone formation	1.33E-02	4.578%	6.07E-04
Acidification	2.76E-02	14.290%	3.95E-03
Terrestrial eutrophication	3.55E-02	14.290%	5.07E-03
Marine eutrophication	6.99E-02	49.608%	3.47E-02
Freshwater ecotoxicity	1.25E-02	0.010%	1.25E-06
Human toxicity, cancer effects	0.00E+00	0.005%	0.00E+00
Human toxicity, non-cancer effects	0.00E+00	0.005%	0.00E + 00
Total (single score nitrogen impact	4.87E-02		

Table 4.14. Weighted nitrogen assessment profile (last column) and single score nitrogen impact indicator results (last row) calculated for the reference product system.

The effect of weighting procedure on the impact profile, respect to the normalized results, was a further increase of the relative importance of the impact category marine eutrophication, to which a high factor is associated due to nitrate emissions: On the other side was found a decrease of the relative impact of the categories to which low weighting factors are associated, such as climate change and freshwater ecotoxicity. The results are congruent with the intentions of the weighting method, designed to amplify the relative importance of the impact categories associated with higher emissions in terms of reactive nitrogen.

4.2.6 Reference product system: interpretation of the results

In addition to what has been highlighted in the preceding paragraphs with the presentation of the results obtained, the following is to be noted in relation to the objectives set for the application:

• All the operative steps of the proposed methodology were successfully applied to a specifically created product system allowing the calculation of nitrogen inventory results, reactive nitrogen

indicator, nitrogen impact assessment profile and single score nitrogen impact indicator, after determining the internal weighting factors.

• The application allowed in particular calculating the weighting factors related to the reference system using the specific weighting method defined as part of the proposed methodology. The weighting set thus obtained can be used as an alternative reference for subsequent applications in substitution or complementary to the set obtained through the procedure provided by the methodology or to other external weighing sets not specifically designed for nitrogen impact accounting.

As for the results obtained for the weighting factors, as expected, a high value resulted for the impact categories to which are associated the greatest amount of reactive nitrogen, first of all for the category marine eutrophication (49.6 %), followed by particulate matter (14.5 %), acidification and terrestrial eutrophication (14.3 %). For the impact categories that have low relevance respect to the environmental impacts associated with the nitrogen cycle, low weighting factor were obtained, as in the case of climate change (2.7 %), freshwater ecotoxicity (0.01 %), human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non-cancer effect (0.005 %). These results must be taken into account when using this reference set in applications requiring a particular enhancement of these impact categories, according to the goal and scope of the specific application.

4.3 Methodology application to agricultural processes

After database-based applications described in the previous paragraphs, a first experimentation was carried out, using real data collected on the field, related to the comparison of two cultivation methods (traditional and organic) for the production of barley. This specific application is described in the following paragraphs.

4.3.1 Agricultural processes: goal and scope definition

This application consists in the comparative assessment, referred to nitrogen-related impacts, between a conventional and an organic barley crop production. The main objectives of the study can be synthetized as follows:

• to test the application of the whole methodology on a comparative case based on real data;

• to evaluate and compare the potential environmental impacts related to the nitrogen cycle of barley crops cultivated with two alternative farming system: conventional and organic.

For this application, an original model designed by Fedele *et al.* (2010) has been used as a reference and updated with modified model designed by Candian *et al.* (2014) and subsequent data and information taken from Guariento *et al.* (2016).

The *product systems* are represented by the agricultural processes performed during the cultivation of the barley necessary for the cultivation of the agricultural product for both the alternatives, including all the related auxiliary processes such as the transport associated with the provision of seeds and fertilizers or maintenance of farm machinery.

The *systems function* is the production of 1 kg of seed referred to an annual barley agricultural production.

The *functional unit* assumed as reference is defined as "1kg of barley seed product referred to a one year production cycle" for both conventional and organic cultivations.

The *system boundaries* were defined following a common farming practices (starting from ploughing to harvesting) which have been used to characterized an appropriate "data collection". These data were used as a guideline for the definition of the system boundaries for both the conventional and the organic cultivation systems. All field processes for the cultivation of the conventional and organic barley were included within the system boundaries, by referring to an assumed cultivated area of one hectare. The specific yield of the relative crop was used to convert all processes data and quantities referred to this area in the functional unit of 1kg of finished product.

Was considered a distance of 20 km between the farm and the consortium for the purchase of fertilizers and other products and between the farm and the seeds supply point (this scenario reflects a suitable situation in the northern Italy). Moreover, it was assumed that the farm and the storage equipment were adjacent to the field, so the distance to reach the field with the machineries was considered negligible and omitted from the scope. For each phase of the cultivation, all the input and output flows of mass and energy were considered. In this application, capital goods were not considered since not relevant for the comparison being very similar for the two analyzed systems. In addition, the maintenance of machinery and equipment operations such as greasing, oil and filter change were not considered.

In the analyzed case, barley straws were ploughed and interred into the soil after the harvest so they were considered as new organic matter that bring nutritive substances to the soil. This organic matter was also considered in the application of the soil emissions models and in the calculated amount of

fertilizers to use: in fact, the amount of fertilizer to use was considered variable depending on the contribution given by such crop residues.

Models for the calculation of field emissions described in Candian *et al.* (2014) were used because of the difficulty to measure the data regarding direct field emissions.

Allocation criteria were not adopted since in the systems under consideration are not considered coproducts.

A *cut-off criterion* was applied in order to choose flows to be included within the system boundaries: specifically, a mass cut-off criterion of 1% with respect to the total sum of material: so all processes and fluxes contributing less than this percentage were excluded from the system. Despite this choice, herbicides and pesticides used in the conventional agriculture system were considered. Regarding this assumption was adopted also the environmental importance criterion, so even if their quantities were inferior to 1% by mass, they have been considered in the computation. This is important because the use of herbicides and pesticides represents one of the most significant differences between conventional and the organic system.

The *requirements for data quality* were defined giving priority, when available, to the use of primary data (as for example for the diesel consumed by farm machinery during the farming processes). Other data were derived with empirical models, such as the IPCC model (De Klein *et al.*, 2006), Ecoinvent model (Nemecek *et al.*, 2016) and EMEP/EEA model (Winther *et al.*, 2010), for the estimation of the emissions compound connected with soil use. Finally, other data were selected from databases, using Ecoinvent 3.0 database as primary choice.

Data time coverage original data referred to the year 2009, representing a year in which the climatic conditions have been in line with the seasonal average, were subsequently partially updated to the year 2015. *Data spatial coverage* refers to a farm located in the Polesine area in the Northern part of Italy.

The *temporal system boundary* for both crops studied is considered a "one year crop cycle" starting just after the harvest of the previous barley production and ending with the harvest inherent to the case study considered.

The application has a "cradle to gate" approach: all subsequent stages after harvesting as processing and transportation, sale, utilization and end of life phases were omitted.

With regard to the agricultural activities for barley cultivation used as a reference for the model, the same are presented in the Table 4.15 for both the alternatives with reference to an annual standard cultivation cycle.

Period of practice application	Conventional agriculture	Organic agriculture
End of September	Ploughing	Ploughing
Beginning of October	Roughing harrowing	Roughing harrowing
Beginning of October	Mineral fertilization	Organic fertilization
End of October	Sowing	Sowing
Beginning of November	Weeds treatments	-
End of February/ beginning of March	Post-seeding fertilization	Post-seeding fertilization
March/April	Plant protection treatment	-
June	Harvesting	Harvesting

Table 4.15. Steps of barley production for conventional and organic system. Source: Fedele et al. (2010).

The above presented agricultural activities are sinthetically described below:

- *Ploughing.* It is the first phase of land preparation. It is done in autumn, usually at the end of September. It consists in the rotation of terrain, performed through a plow with the aim of: aerate soil to improve the activity of aerobic microorganisms; increase the porosity of the soil, making it more permeable. In this way water infiltration is easier and runoff and shallow backwater phenomena in case of extreme events are avoided; inhibit the action of some infesting plants; simplify the successive operations, breaking the soil and making it more compact.
- *Harrowing.* It consists in the preparation of seedbed before burying the seed and which can be conducted with various types of harrows. This operation acts in the superficial part of the soil (10-15 cm) where the dimensions of clumps are reduced and surface is levelled. This type of harrowing is defined as "roughing harrowing" when done after the ploughing phase, otherwise it is called "finishing harrowing" if done after a fertilization, acting burying the spread fertilizers. Other functions are: undergrounding of volatile herbicides, incorporating into the soil to prevent evaporation; burying of seeds and fertilizers; breaking of soil's crust; elimination of possible emergency weeds.
- *Fertilization.* This technique allows providing an adequate supply of nutrients to the soils according to the type of cultivation carried out. It can be performed in different moment of the cultivation cycle: for this reason can assume different names: "base fertilization", "pre-seeding fertilization", "post-seeding fertilization". The base fertilization is generally done between the roughing and finishing harrowing, the pre-seeding fertilization is realized a little bit before or during the seeds burial (after finishing harrowing). Pre-seeding fertilization refers to the fertilizers contribution to the soil to increase the rate of plant growth and production. All of them are characteristics of the conventional barley cultivation, while for the organic barley cultivation only base fertilization and post-seeding fertilization is applied. Different type of fertilizers can be used,

but the main classification consists in the subdivision of organic and chemicals categories. The first is usually applied in the conventional procedure: in this application triple superphosphate (P_2O_5) is used for barley conventional system. The second one, typically organic compost, is used within organic procedure.

- *Sowing.* Consists in the distribution of seeds in the soil. The success of this step depends on the amount of the seeds used, the right soil preparation and the correct depth of the sowing (not neglecting humidity and optimal value of temperature).
- *Weeds treatment.* Practice adopted in the conventional agriculture for the elimination of the weeds (infesting plants) that require the application of very selective chemicals herbicides not harmful for the crop. The choice of a "pre-emergence" (in autumn) instead of a "post-emergence" (in spring) treatment is related to the type of substances to be eliminated and their sensibility to the geo-climate conditions in the zone of actions.
- *Plant protection treatment.* This step is most of time necessary to protect the plant and eliminate parasites dangerous for their growth. The choice of the treatment mainly depends on the type of cultivation and the species of parasites. Some common pesticides are acaricides, fungicides and insecticides.
- *Harvesting.* Final phase of the cultivation cycle, performed during the summer periods. It is generally done using an harvester that simultaneously realizes harvesting and threshing, extracting the cereal grains from their husks, from the stems, the spikes and separating them from the organic part (called straw).

In the flow diagrams reported below (Figures 4.2 and 4.3) are illustrated the two system boundaries considered, in which are represented the flows and the unit processes related to an annual cultivation crop of conventional barley and organic barley.



Figure 4.2. *System boundaries schematic representation for the conventional barley cultivation. Source: Candian et al. (2014)*



Figure 4.3. System boundaries schematic representation for the organic barley cultivation. Source: Candian et al. (2014)

In the above reported diagrams, the green dashed line represents the system boundaries of the conventional barley and organic barley cultivation, respectively. Fluxes outside the green dashed line are excluded from the system boundaries and not taken into account. The blue dashed line includes all the field processes considered.

4.3.2 Agricultural processes: inventory analysis

Regarding the data used for the inventory analysis step of the application, they were collected relatively to each stage of production. Primary data were gathered directly from the farmers, concerning all the field processes referred to 1 ha of cultivated land (diesel consumption, mineral and organic fertilizers use, pesticides use, seed production etc.). All these primary data are summarized in the Table 4.16 for both the product systems.

Table 4.16. Agricultural primary inventory data (referred to 1 ha of crop land) for the conventional and organic barley product systems.

Input data	Unit	Barley Conventional	Barley Organic
Fertilizer triple superphosphate (46% P ₂ O ₅)	kg	450	-
Fertilizer urea (46%N)	kg	200	-
Fertilizer organic compost	kg	-	350
Herbicide "Combi Fluid"	k	1.5	-
Fungicide "Faro"	1	1.5	-
Seeds	kg	180	180
Crop yield	kg	7000	5500
Diesel fuel (total consumption)	kg	86.43	80.47

All emissions from soil use have been calculated by means empirical models above described, starting from primary data. For all other included data, Ecoinvent 3.0 database was used.

In the case of compounds like herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers for which there are no co-respective compounds in the database, these were modeled starting from basic substances.

A summary of the data used for the agricultural processes considered is provided below:

• *Ploughing and harrowing.* The only input considered in these operations is the diesel fuel consumed by the tractor. This input was taken from Ecoinvent database and includes the transportation of product from the refinery to the end user, the operation of storage tanks and the emissions from evaporation and treatment of effluents. All emissions to air generated by diesel combustion were accounted using the model presented in the EMEP/EEA guidebook (Winther *et al.*, 2010) and developed within "CORINAIR".

- *Fertilization*. In this activity are considered the following items:
 - diesel fuel consumption (for both systems),
 - triple superphosphate (P₂O₅) used as fertilizer (only for conventional system), taken from Ecoinvent database considering all processes that concern its production, the transports of raw materials and of the fertilizer product from the factory to the regional department store, production and waste treatment are also taken into account;
 - transport of 300 kg of fertilizer used over a distance of 20 km, using Ecoinvent database and considering all the operation, production, maintenance and disposal of the vehicle, and the construction, maintenance and disposal of the road (only for conventional system);
 - organic compost used as fertilizer (only for organic system), taken from Ecoinvent database considering process emissions, infrastructure and energy demand for operating a compost plant as well as transports related to the collection of the biogenic waste;
 - transport by lorry to carry the 150 kg of organic fertilizer over a distance of 20 km (only for organic system);
 - plastic packaging for the fertilizer are not considered in this process due to the cut-off rule set;
 - output emissions, calculated using the "CORINAIR" model.
- *Sowing.* In this process are considered the following items:
 - Diesel fuel consumption;
 - Barley seeds used for sowing, taken from Ecoinvent database including all the processes needed for the production of the seeds, the transport to the processing center, treatments (precleaning, cleaning, eventually drying, chemical dressing and bag filling), storing and transport to the regional storage center (only for conventional system);
 - transport by lorry to carry 180 kg of barley seeds over a distance of 20 km (only for conventional system);
 - organic barley seeds used for seeding, taken from Ecoinvent database including all processes needed for the production of the organic seeds, the transport to the processing center, treatments (pre-cleaning, cleaning, eventually drying, chemical dressing and bag filling), storing and transport to the regional storage center (only for organic system);
 - transport by lorry to carry the 180 kg of soybean seeds over the 20 km distance (only for organic system);
 - paper packaging for the soybean seeds are not considered in this process due to the cut-off rule.
 - output emissions calculated using the "CORINAIR" model.

- *Weeds treatment.* In this process, carried out only for the conventional system, are considered the following items:
 - diesel fuel consumption;
 - herbicide "Combi Fluid" specifically designed considering its composition using data derived from Ecoinvent database;
 - water for the dilution of the herbicide before the use, taken from Ecoinvent database considering the infrastructure and energy use for water treatment and transportation to the end user.
 - output emissions calculated using the "CORINAIR" model.
- *Post-seeding fertilization.* In this process, are considered the following items:
 - diesel fuel consumption;
 - urea used as fertilizer (only for conventional system), taken from Ecoinvent database taking into account the production of urea from ammonia and carbon dioxide, the transports of the intermediate products and of the fertilizer product from the factory to the regional storehouse.
 - transport by lorry to carry the 200 kg of urea fertilizer used over a distance of 20km (only for conventional system);
 - organic compost used as fertilizer (only for organic system), taken from Ecoinvent database considering process emissions, infrastructure and energy demand for operating a compost plant as well as transports related to the collection of the biogenic waste;
 - transport by lorry to carry the 250 kg of organic fertilizer over a distance of 20 km (only for organic system);
 - plastic packaging for the fertilizer are not considered in this process due to the cut-off rule.
 - output emissions are calculated using the "CORINAIR" model.
- *Plant protection treatment*. In this process, , carried out only for the conventional system, are considered the following items:
 - diesel fuel consumption;
 - fungicide "Faro" specifically designed considering the sum of the active ingredient present: a benzimidazole-compound taken from the Ecoinvent database considering the processes related to its production including materials, energy uses, infrastructure and emissions;
 - water for fungicide dilution before the use;
 - output emissions are calculated using the "CORINAIR" model;

• *Harvesting.* The only input considered in this activity is diesel fuel consumption whilst it considers as outputs the emissions calculated with the "CORINAIR" model.

Once completed the product system design, the complete inventory was calculated and subsequently were obtained the nitrogen inventory results reported in the Table 4.17.

			Inventory results		
Substance	Compart.	U.o.m.	Barley conventional	Barley organic	
2-Aminopropanol	Air	pg	281.68333	3.9071333	
2-Aminopropanol	Water	pg	677.81033	9.3923463	
2-Nitrobenzoic acid	Air	pg	506.09691	6.8110618	
Acephate	Air	pg	588.4113	32.534671	
Acephate	Soil	ng	3.9682122	0.3120503	
Acetamide	Air	pg	144.84674	8.008923	
Acetamide	Soil	pg	697.95211	43.893459	
Acetochlor	Soil	ng	8.3201027	0.0081748	
Acetonitrile	Air	μg	9.6164253	0.0105849	
Acetonitrile	Water	ng	33.183519	0.0082557	
Acifluorfen	Air	pg	80.773759	4.4661746	
Acifluorfen	Soil	pg	3.4623853	0.1914436	
Alachlor	Air	pg	571.61913	31.606191	
Alachlor	Soil	ng	1.506306	0.0288498	
Aldicarb	Soil	ng	13.266718	1.045242	
Amidosulfuron	Soil	pg	5.272288	0.2787895	
Ammonia	Air	g	2.5051169	0.3583925	
Ammonium carbonate	Air	ng	23.355006	0.7095796	
Ammonium, ion	Water	mg	14.330206	0.0971978	
Aniline	Air	ng	15.802544	0.0308513	
Aniline	Water	ng	37.939649	0.0741411	
Anthranilic acid	Air	pg	393.03033	5.2961745	
Asulam	Soil	pg	3.2542231	0.0027472	
Atrazine	Air	pg	452.132	24.999461	
Atrazine	Soil	μg	1.0334333	0.029419	
Azoxystrobin	Air	pg	267.30391	14.779874	
Azoxystrobin	Soil	ng	80.231917	0.0229064	
Benomyl	Soil	ng	49.820522	0.0264088	
Bentazone	Air	pg	247.08477	13.661909	
Bentazone	Soil	pg	160.77006	8.5268098	
Benzene, 1-methyl-2-nitro-	Air	pg	437.02349	5.8814699	
Bifenox	Soil	ng	12.990096	1.978E-07	
Bitertanol	Soil	ng	5.4774792	3.592E-08	
Bromoxynil	Soil	ng	32.696235	9.001E-05	
Bromuconazole	Soil	pg	0.0001484	8.039E-06	
Carbaryl	Air	pg	67.477103	3.7309707	
Carbaryl	Soil	pg	53.908952	0.9074855	

Table 4.17. *Nitrogen inventory results: comparison of agricultural processes for the production of 1 kg of conventional and organic barley.*

			Inventory results		
Substance	Compart.	U.o.m.	Barlev	Barlev	
			conventional	organic	
Carbendazim	Soil	ng	176.15263	0.2076432	
Carbetamide	Soil	ng	179.97995	2.4951155	
Carbofuran	Soil	μg	27.314098	0.0144805	
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Air	pg	7.4148277	0.4099836	
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Soil	pg	507.50998	0.0175771	
Chloramine	Air	ng	46.41075	0.029947	
Chloramine	Water	ng	414.15776	0.2673745	
Chloridazon	Soil	pg	0.0132405	0.0007174	
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Air	pg	134.90851	7.4594148	
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Soil	ng	2.5117859	0.1876454	
Chlormequat	Soil	ng	8.2807065	0.2182669	
Chlorothalonil	Soil	μg	129.14243	0.0088442	
Chlorpyrifos	Air	ng	2.6913163	0.1488093	
Chlorpyrifos	Soil	ng	18.98585	1.4073982	
Chlorsulfuron	Soil	pg	0.0002045	1.108E-05	
Chlortoluron	Soil	μg	145.48473	8.969E-06	
Choline chloride	Soil	pg	0.0281965	0.0015278	
Cinidon-ethyl	Soil	pg	6.3907108	0.3379297	
Clethodim	Air	pg	399.12815	22.068751	
Clethodim	Soil	ng	3.5875104	0.2678363	
Clodinafop-propargyl	Soil	pg	0.0030267	0.000164	
Clomazone	Soil	ng	4.735867	0.0694002	
Clopyralid	Soil	ng	1.2696594	0.0016171	
Cloquintocet-mexyl	Soil	pg	0.0007311	3.962E-05	
Cloransulam-methyl	Air	pg	70.264375	3.8850856	
Cloransulam-methyl	Soil	ng	1.0781383	0.0805331	
Cyanide	Air	μg	200.08404	0.6027969	
Cyanide	Water	μg	101.51947	2.6710616	
Cyanoacetic acid	Air	ng	39.62875	0.0098592	
Cyfluthrin	Air	pg	14.08486	0.7787856	
Cyfluthrin	Soil	pg	40.38255	2.617052	
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	Air	pg	161.6389	8.9374022	
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	Soil	pg	6.9293399	0.3831398	
Cypermethrin	Air	pg	34.178346	1.8898026	
Cypermethrin	Soil	μg	3.8701224	0.0022282	
Cyproconazole	Soil	ng	721.65484	0.0040934	
Cyprodinil	Soil	μg	3.010907	4.835E-06	
Deltamethrin	Soil	ng	1.0191352	0.0030193	
Dicrotophos	Soil	pg	723.90405	57.034069	
Diethylamine	Air	ng	7.1189664	0.015265	
Diethylamine	Water	ng	17.085807	0.0366364	
Difenoconazole	Soil	pg	412.36506	6.1141091	
Diflubenzuron	Air	pg	7.4148277	0.4099836	
Diflubenzuron	Soil	ng	716.06211	53.405425	
Diflufenican	Soil	ng	62.969724	0.012293	
Diflufenzopyr-sodium	Soil	pg	26.947044	0.0264763	
Dimethachlor	Soil	ng	11.565772	0.1694869	
Dimethenamid	Soil	pg	952.68896	8.1117074	

			Inventory results	
Substance	Compart.	U.o.m.	Barley	Barley
			conventional	organic
Dimethoate	Soil	pg	548.32342	28.994395
Dimethylamine	Air	pg	12.238188	0.2894602
Dimethylamine	Water	ng	253.07015	0.1443272
Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	g	2.440461	2.7838786
Dipropylamine	Air	ng	4.3887529	0.0075262
Dipropylamine	Water	ng	10.533081	0.0180631
Diquat	Soil	ng	7.6797645	0.0040709
Diquat dibromide	Soil	pg	0.0005267	4.446E-07
Dithianone	Soil	pg	52.72288	2.7878948
Diuron	Soil	ng	1.1128062	0.0876744
Epoxiconazole	Soil	ng	11.263374	0.0036434
Esfenvalerate	Air	pg	84.235002	4.657555
Esfenvalerate	Soil	pg	4.6082816	0.2523923
Ethalfluralin	Soil	ng	3.8559272	0.0565054
Ethylamine	Air	ng	1.9629216	0.050388
Ethylamine	Water	ng	4.7110681	0.1209328
Ethylene diamine	Air	ng	14.895219	0.0514428
Ethylene diamine	Water	ng	36.085483	0.1240583
Fenbuconazole	Soil	pg	13.779571	0.7286399
Fenoxaprop	Air	pg	110.25715	6.0963821
Fenoxaprop	Soil	ng	2.1524219	0.1608032
Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester	Soil	ng	3.76772	2.288E-08
Fenpiclonil	Soil	ng	12.508792	0.3480865
Fenpropidin	Soil	ng	165.68828	0.0115968
Fenpropimorph	Soil	μg	136.2125	2.487E-05
Fipronil	Soil	ng	4.3673981	0.3409482
Florasulam	Soil	ng	1.3789082	9.126E-09
Fluazifop-p-butyl	Air	pg	158.21193	8.7479167
Fluazifop-P-butyl	Soil	ng	3.5653076	0.0952262
Flucarbazone sodium salt	Soil	pg	1.278E-05	6.926E-07
Fludioxonil	Soil	ng	3.2460304	3.699E-08
Flufenacet	Air	pg	59.320907	3.279995
Flufenacet	Soil	ng	55.158872	0.0001409
Flumetsulam	Air	pg	13.879242	0.7674165
Flumetsulam	Soil	pg	47.753649	0.0792296
Flumiclorac-pentyl	Air	pg	23.748924	1.3131349
Flumiclorac-pentyl	Soil	pg	1.0175826	0.0562646
Flumioxazin	Air	pg	240.23082	13.282938
Flumioxazin	Soil	ng	1.2537411	0.0935177
Fluroxypyr	Soil	ng	2.3344112	0.0008369
Flurtamone	Soil	ng	57.596144	0.0073925
Flusilazole	Soil	ng	6.3244716	0.0025446
Fomesafen	Air	pg	893.18346	49.386253
Fomesafen	Soil	ng	8.2401548	0.6152129
Foramsulfuron	Soil	pg	5.0526407	0.0049644
Formamide	Air	ng	23.701214	0.0057126
Formamide	Water	ng	56.88377	0.0137104
Glyphosate	Air	ng	178.54531	9.8721976

			Inventory results		
Substance	Compart.	U.o.m.	Barley	Barley	
	1		conventional	organic	
Glyphosate	Soil	μg	64.623358	0.246653	
Imazamox	Air	pg	35.526289	1.9643336	
Imazamox	Soil	ng	1.0785709	0.0805943	
Imazapyr	Soil	pg	0.6736901	0.0006619	
Imazaguin	Air	ng	113.26147	6.2624977	
Imazaguin	Soil	ng	4.8537364	0.2683747	
Imazethapyr	Air	ng	234.40497	12.960812	
Imazethapyr	Soil	ng	2.694856	0.2010731	
Imidacloprid	Soil	ng	29.797502	0.3336561	
Ioxynil	Soil	ng	19.86717	0.0160958	
Iprodione	Soil	ng	5.1730543	0.0758069	
Isocyanic acid	Air	8 119	5.5735418	0.233454	
Isopropylamine	Air	rs ng	756 26793	18 187598	
Isopropylamine	Water	P5 ng	1 8150695	0.043651	
Isoproturon	Soil	5 119	351 5737	0.0001478	
Isoxaflutole	Soil	ng ng	80 842531	0.0794304	
Kresoxim-methyl	Soil	P5 ng	579 47476	4 3298239	
Lactofen	Air	P5 ng	114 06109	6 306711	
Lactofen	Soil	P5 ng	4 8880062	0.2702696	
Lambda-cyhalothrin	Soil	P5 ng	7 2070051	0.036273	
Linuron	Soil	ng	864 68206	26.068646	
Mancozeh	Soil	ng	A12 77099	11 / 86321	
Maleozeo	Soil	ng	13 /6/58	0.0001268	
Melenpyr- Melenpyr-diethyl	Soil	ng	7 5356359	4.577E-08	
Meniquat chloride	Soil	ng	53 246276	4.37712-08	
Mesotrione	Soil	ng	218 95523	0.2151305	
Metamitron	Soil	pg	1 0070075	0.0008947	
Metazachlor	Soil	ng	27 200257	0.3000163	
Metazaemoi	Air	ng	21.230231	0.3333103	
Methylamina	All Water	ng	20.343471	0.0122009	
Metalachler	vv alei	ng	40.024342	0.0292813	
Metolachlor	All	ng	1.0042734	0.1030801	
Metolacino	50II Air	ng	720 76020	23.870988	
Metribuzin	Alf	pg	139.10929	40.905010	
Menoprotophos	5011 Soil	ng	23.130827	1.0465916	
Monocrotophos	5011	ng	87.481184	0.5245325	
Monoethanolamine	Alf	μg ma	10.373824	0.1043774	
Nonoetnanolamine	w ater	ng	4.0340384	0.1090062	
Napropamide	S011	ng	131.36297	1.8343797	
Nitrate	Air	μg	14.594601	0.6854942	
Nitrate	W ater	g	127.3845	120.5874	
Nitrate	S011	μg	16.226251	1.0/446/6	
Nitrite	Water	μg	17.587506	0.5112223	
Nitrobenzene	Air	μg	43.830851	4.592E-05	
Nitrobenzene	Water	μg	175.65172	0.000184	
Nitrogen	A1r	μg	949.30127	3.2766607	
Nitrogen	Water	mg	5.9199588	0.044782	
Nitrogen	Soil	μg	2.2425797	0.5729416	
Nıtrogen fluoride	Air	pg	0.0036536	0.0011196	

			Inventory results			
Substance	Compart.	U.o.m.	Barley conventional	Barley organic		
Nitrogen oxides	Air	g	1.8548049	1.5417298		
Nitrogen, organic bound	Water	mg	1.2188376	0.1993986		
Orbencarb	Soil	ng	78.484672	2.18402		
Parathion	Soil	pg	345.5967	83.052447		
Particulates, < 10µm	Air	mg	55.171373	62.745392		
Particulates, < 2.5µm	Air	mg	236.51091	62.799882		
Particulates, $> 2.5 \mu m$, and $< 10 \mu m$	Air	mg	154.82415	1.1531014		
Pendimethalin	Air	ng	5.0136618	0.2772174		
Pendimethalin	Soil	μg	155.89304	0.0047668		
Phenmedipham	Soil	pg	184.61722	0.1638775		
Propiconazole	Air	pg	87.490627	4.8375663		
Propiconazole	Soil	ng	62.184712	0.0032706		
Propylamine	Air	pg	123.69099	1.9630951		
Propylamine	Water	pg	296.86171	4.7114555		
Simazine	Soil	pg	340.21133	0.3342684		
Sulfentrazone	Air	pg	569.22025	31.473551		
Sulfentrazone	Soil	ng	12.941069	0.9668798		
t-Butylamine	Air	ng	28.047021	0.0239073		
t-Butylamine	Water	ng	67.314062	0.0573783		
Tebupirimphos	Soil	pg	141.48178	0.1390103		
Tebutam	Soil	ng	501.55156	6.9531583		
Tralkoxydim	Soil	ng	128.68112	7.864E-07		
Trifloxystrobin	Air	pg	5.1907221	0.2870075		
Trifloxystrobin	Soil	ng	7.4452455	1.239E-05		
Trifluralin	Air	ng	8.1984623	0.4533126		
Trifluralin	Soil	ng	164.05814	6.9903745		
Trimethylamine	Air	pg	244.54623	3.3014807		
Trimethylamine	Water	pg	586.91096	7.9235536		
Urea	Water	ng	1.1421047	0.0160868		

The nitrogen inventory results show higher values for all inventory emissions of the conventional barley alternative production, except for emissions to air of dinitrogen monoxide and particulates < 10 μ m. Specifically, with regard to dinitrogen monoxide emission, these were accounted using the model derived from IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) for the greenhouse gas inventories (De Klein *et al.*, 2006). This approach provides a description of the generic methodologies to be adopted for the inventory of dinitrogen monoxide (N₂O) emissions from managed soils, including indirect N₂O emissions from additions of N to land due to deposition and leaching, and emissions of carbon dioxide (CO₂) following additions of liming materials and urea-containing fertilizer. Although resulting, from the application of the model, higher N₂O emissions per hectare for the conventional cultivation (16.998 kg/yr ha compared to 15.278 kg/yr ha of the organic alternative), the lower yield of organic cultivation (5500 kg/ha compared to 7000 kg/ha of the

conventional alternative) gave as a result higher emissions per functional unit (kg) for organic barley production. The same considerations apply to particulates emission, largely due to diesel consumption during the ploughing phase, which was assumed equal, per hectare, for both alternatives. These emission were accounted using the "CORINAIR" model (Winther *et al.*, 2010).

4.3.3 Agricultural processes: assessment at inventory level

Using the previously calculated nitrogen coefficients related to the nitrogen-containing substances, it was then possible to obtain the reactive nitrogen results for each emitted substance and for the two considered product systems (conventional and organic barley). Results are reported in the Table 4.18 comprising, for conventional and organic barley, both nitrogen inventory results and reactive nitrogen indicator results: the results related to the whole product systems are reported in the last row of the Table.

		Inventory results [g/kg]			active nitrogen r	esults [g/kg]
Substance	Comp.	Barley conventional	Barley organic	N. coeff.	Barley conventional	Barley organic
2-Aminopropanol	Air	2.82E-10	3.91E-12	0.186	5.25E-11	7.29E-13
2-Aminopropanol	Water	6.78E-10	9.39E-12	0.186	1.26E-10	1.75E-12
2-Nitrobenzoic acid	Air	5.06E-10	6.81E-12	0.084	4.24E-11	5.71E-13
Acephate	Air	5.88E-10	3.25E-11	0.076	4.50E-11	2.49E-12
Acephate	Soil	3.97E-09	3.12E-10	0.076	3.03E-10	2.39E-11
Acetamide	Air	1.45E-10	8.01E-12	0.237	3.43E-11	1.90E-12
Acetamide	Soil	6.98E-10	4.39E-11	0.237	1.65E-10	1.04E-11
Acetochlor	Soil	8.32E-09	8.17E-12	0.052	4.32E-10	4.24E-13
Acetonitrile	Air	9.62E-06	1.06E-08	0.341	3.28E-06	3.61E-09
Acetonitrile	Water	3.32E-08	8.26E-12	0.341	1.13E-08	2.82E-12
Acifluorfen	Air	8.08E-11	4.47E-12	0.039	3.13E-12	1.73E-13
Acifluorfen	Soil	3.46E-12	1.91E-13	0.039	1.34E-13	7.41E-15
Alachlor	Air	5.72E-10	3.16E-11	0.052	2.97E-11	1.64E-12
Alachlor	Soil	1.51E-09	2.88E-11	0.052	7.82E-11	1.50E-12
Aldicarb	Soil	1.33E-08	1.05E-09	0.147	1.95E-09	1.54E-10
Amidosulfuron	Soil	5.27E-12	2.79E-13	0.190	1.00E-12	5.29E-14
Ammonia	Air	2.51E+00	3.58E-01	0.822	2.06E+00	2.95E-01
Ammonium carbonate	Air	2.34E-08	7.10E-10	0.292	6.81E-09	2.07E-10
Ammonium. ion	Water	1.43E-02	9.72E-05	0.776	1.11E-02	7.55E-05
Aniline	Air	1.58E-08	3.09E-11	0.150	2.38E-09	4.64E-12
Aniline	Water	3.79E-08	7.41E-11	0.150	5.71E-09	1.12E-11
Anthranilic acid	Air	3.93E-10	5.30E-12	0.102	4.01E-11	5.41E-13
Asulam	Soil	3.25E-12	2.75E-15	0.122	3.96E-13	3.34E-16
Atrazine	Air	4.52E-10	2.50E-11	0.325	1.47E-10	8.12E-12

Table 4.18. Nitrogen inventory results for the agricultural processes for the production of 1 kg of conventional and organic barley.
		Inventory rea	sults [g/kg]	Rea	active nitrogen	results [g/kg]
Substance	Comp.	Barley	Barley	N.	Barley	Barley
		conventional	organic	coeff.	conventional	organic
Atrazine	Soil	1.03E-06	2.94E-08	0.325	3.36E-07	9.55E-09
Azoxystrobin	Air	2.67E-10	1.48E-11	0.104	2.78E-11	1.54E-12
Azoxystrobin	Soil	8.02E-08	2.29E-11	0.104	8.36E-09	2.39E-12
Benomyl	Soil	4.98E-08	2.64E-11	0.193	9.61E-09	5.10E-12
Bentazone	Air	2.47E-10	1.37E-11	0.117	2.88E-11	1.59E-12
Bentazone	Soil	1.61E-10	8.53E-12	0.117	1.87E-11	9.94E-13
Benzene. 1-methyl-2-nitro-	Air	4.37E-10	5.88E-12	0.102	4.46E-11	6.01E-13
Bifenox	Soil	1.30E-08	1.98E-16	0.041	5.32E-10	8.10E-18
Bitertanol	Soil	5.48E-09	3.59E-17	0.125	6.82E-10	4.47E-18
Bromoxynil	Soil	3.27E-08	9.00E-14	0.051	1.65E-09	4.55E-15
Bromuconazole	Soil	1.48E-16	8.04E-18	0.111	1.65E-17	8.96E-19
Carbaryl	Air	6.75E-11	3.73E-12	0.070	4.70E-12	2.60E-13
Carbaryl	Soil	5.39E-11	9.07E-13	0.070	3.75E-12	6.32E-14
Carbendazim	Soil	1.76E-07	2.08E-10	0.220	3.87E-08	4.56E-11
Carbetamide	Soil	1.80E-07	2.50E-09	0.119	2.13E-08	2.96E-10
Carbofuran	Soil	2.73E-05	1.45E-08	0.063	1.73E-06	9.17E-10
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Air	7.41E-12	4.10E-13	0.102	7.56E-13	4.18E-14
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Soil	5.08E-10	1.76E-14	0.102	5.17E-11	1.79E-15
Chloramine	Air	4.64E-08	2.99E-11	0.272	1.26E-08	8.15E-12
Chloramine	Water	4.14E-07	2.67E-10	0.272	1.13E-07	7.28E-11
Chloridazon	Soil	1.32E-14	7.17E-16	0.190	2.51E-15	1.36E-16
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Air	1.35E-10	7.46E-12	0.135	1.82E-11	1.01E-12
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Soil	2.51E-09	1.88E-10	0.135	3.39E-10	2.53E-11
Chlormequat	Soil	8.28E-09	2.18E-10	0.114	9.46E-10	2.49E-11
Chlorothalonil	Soil	1.29E-04	8.84E-09	0.105	1.36E-05	9.32E-10
Chlorpyrifos	Air	2.69E-09	1.49E-10	0.040	1.08E-10	5.95E-12
Chlorpyrifos	Soil	1.90E-08	1.41E-09	0.040	7.59E-10	5.62E-11
Chlorsulfuron	Soil	2.05E-16	1.11E-17	0.196	4.00E-17	2.17E-18
Chlortoluron	Soil	1.45E-04	8.97E-12	0.132	1.92E-05	1.18E-12
Choline chloride	Soil	2.82E-14	1.53E-15	0.100	2.83E-15	1.53E-16
Cinidon-ethyl	Soil	6.39E-12	3.38E-13	0.036	2.27E-13	1.20E-14
Clethodim	Air	3.99E-10	2.21E-11	0.039	1.55E-11	8.59E-13
Clethodim	Soil	3.59E-09	2.68E-10	0.039	1.40E-10	1.04E-11
Clodinafop-propargyl	Soil	3.03E-15	1.64E-16	0.040	1.21E-16	6.57E-18
Clomazone	Soil	4.74E-09	6.94E-11	0.058	2.77E-10	4.06E-12
Clopyralid	Soil	1.27E-09	1.62E-12	0.073	9.26E-11	1.18E-13
Cloquintocet-mexyl	Soil	7.31E-16	3.96E-17	0.042	3.05E-17	1.65E-18
Cloransulam-methyl	Air	7.03E-11	3.89E-12	0.163	1.14E-11	6.33E-13
Cloransulam-methyl	Soil	1.08E-09	8.05E-11	0.163	1.76E-10	1.31E-11
Cyanide	Air	2.00E-04	6.03E-07	0.538	1.08E-04	3.25E-07
Cyanide	Water	1.02E-04	2.67E-06	0.538	5.47E-05	1.44E-06
Cyanoacetic acid	Air	3.96E-08	9.86E-12	0.165	6.53E-09	1.62E-12
Cyfluthrin	Air	1.41E-11	7.79E-13	0.032	4.54E-13	2.51E-14
Cyfluthrin	Soil	4.04E-11	2.62E-12	0.032	1.30E-12	8.44E-14
Cyhalothrin. gamma-	Air	1.62E-10	8.94E-12	0.031	5.03E-12	2.78E-13
Cyhalothrin. gamma-	Soil	6.93E-12	3.83E-13	0.031	2.16E-13	1.19E-14
Cypermethrin	Air	3.42E-11	1.89E-12	0.034	1.15E-12	6.36E-14
Cypermethrin	Soil	3.87E-06	2.23E-09	0.034	1.30E-07	7.50E-11

Substance Comp. Barley conventional Barley organic N. Barley barley Barley organic Cyprocanzole Soil 7.22E-07 4.09E-12 0.144 1.04E-07 5.89E-13 Cyprodinil Soil 3.01E-06 4.83E-12 0.187 5.62E-07 9.02E-13 Deitanethrin Soil 1.02E-09 5.70E-11 0.059 4.37E-11 8.37E-12 Dichlylamine Air 7.12E-09 1.53E-11 0.192 1.36E-09 7.02E-12 Dichlynamine Water 1.71E-08 3.66E-11 0.190 6.69E-13 3.70E-14 Difufoconzole Soil 6.36E-08 1.23E-11 0.071 4.47E-09 8.73E-13 Difufenican Soil 2.05E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 Dimethoathor Soil 0.53E-10 8.15E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 Dimethoathor Soil 5.38E-10 2.90E-14 0.055 6.33E-10 9.28E-12 Dimethoathor Soil			Inventory res	Reactive nitrogen results [g/kg]			
conventional organic coeff. conventional organic Cyprocinil Soil 7.22E-07 4.09E-12 0.144 1.04E-07 5.09E-17 5.09E-17 5.09E-17 5.09E-17 5.09E-10 5.02E-17 5.02E-17 5.02E-17 9.02E-13 Detamethrin Soil 7.24E-10 5.70E-11 0.012 2.33E-11 3.37E-12 Dicthylamine Water 7.1E-09 1.53E-11 0.192 3.27E-09 2.02E-12 Difthylamine Water 1.71E-08 3.66E-11 0.192 3.27E-09 7.02E-11 Diffuonconzole Soil 7.1EE-09 1.53E-11 0.012 2.37E-09 8.37E-14 Diffuonconzole Soil 7.41E-12 4.10E-13 0.090 6.69E-13 3.70E-14 Diffuonconzole Soil 7.42E-10 2.33E-14 0.015 6.33E-10 9.22E-12 Diffuonconzon Soil 2.48E-10 2.05E-14 0.055 6.33E-10 9.24E-12 Diffuonconzon Soil 5.24E-07	Substance	Comp.	Barley	Barley	N.	Barley	Barley
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		-	conventional	organic	coeff.	conventional	organic
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Cyproconazole	Soil	7.22E-07	4.09E-12	0.144	1.04E-07	5.89E-13
DeltamethrinSoil $1.02E-09$ $3.02E-12$ 0.028 $2.83E-11$ $8.37E-14$ DicrophosSoil $7.24E-10$ $5.70E-11$ 0.059 $4.27E-11$ $3.37E-12$ DiethylamineAir $7.12E-09$ $1.53E-11$ 0.192 $3.27E-09$ $7.02E-12$ DiethylamineWater $1.71E-08$ $3.66E-11$ 0.192 $3.27E-09$ $7.02E-12$ DifubenzuronSoil $7.16E-07$ $5.34E-08$ 0.090 $6.669E-13$ $3.70E-14$ DifubenzuronSoil $7.16E-07$ $5.34E-08$ 0.090 $6.66E-84$ $4.82E-09$ DifufenicanSoil $6.30E-08$ $1.23E+11$ 0.071 $4.47E-09$ $8.73E-13$ Difufenzopy-sodiumSoil $2.69E-11$ $2.65E-14$ 0.157 $4.44E-10$ $4.12E-13$ DimethnamidSoil $5.48E-10$ $2.90E-11$ 0.061 $3.35E-11$ $1.77E-12$ DimethoateSoil $5.48E-10$ $2.90E-11$ 0.061 $3.35E-11$ $1.77E-12$ DimethylamineAir $2.24E-12$ $4.48E-11$ $1.181-12$ 0.51 $4.84E-11$ DimethylamineAir $2.44E+00$ $2.78E+00$ 0.636 $1.55E+00$ $1.77E+00$ DipropylamineAir $2.44E+00$ $2.78E+00$ 0.636 $1.55E+00$ $1.77E+00$ DipropylamineAir $4.39E-09$ $7.58E-12$ 0.181 $4.29E+17$ $3.62E-20$ DiptopylamineNatr $1.05E-08$ $1.8E-11$ 0.181 $1.46E-09$ $2.66E+13$ Diqua	Cyprodinil	Soil	3.01E-06	4.83E-12	0.187	5.62E-07	9.02E-13
$\begin{array}{c cccc} Dicrotophos & Soil 7.24E-10 5.70E-11 0.059 4.27E-11 3.37E-12 \\ Dicthylamine Air 7.12E-09 1.33E-11 0.192 1.36E-09 2.92E-12 \\ Dicthylamine Water 1.71E-08 3.66E-11 0.192 3.27E-09 7.02E-12 \\ Difenoconazole Soil 4.12E-10 6.11E-12 0.103 4.27E-11 6.32E-13 \\ Diflubenzuron Air 7.41E-12 4.10E-13 0.090 6.64E-08 4.82E-09 \\ Diflufenican Soil 7.16E-07 5.34E-08 0.090 6.46E-08 4.82E-09 \\ Diflufenican Soil 2.69E-11 2.65E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 \\ Dimethachlor Soil 2.69E-11 2.65E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 \\ Dimethachlor Soil 9.53E-10 8.11E-12 0.051 4.84E-11 4.12E-13 \\ Dimethachlor Soil 9.53E-10 8.11E-12 0.051 4.84E-11 4.12E-13 \\ Dimethoate Soil 5.48E-10 2.90E-11 0.061 3.35E-11 1.77E-12 \\ Dimethamine Air 1.22E-11 2.89E-12 0.0131 7.86E-88 4.48E-11 \\ Dimethylamine Air 2.24E+10 2.78E+00 0.636 1.55E+00 1.77E+00 \\ Dipropylamine Water 2.53E-07 1.44E-10 0.311 7.86E-88 4.48E-11 \\ Diptorpylamine Air 2.44E+00 2.78E+00 0.636 1.55E+00 1.77E+00 \\ Dipropylamine Air 4.39E-09 7.53E-12 0.138 1.46E-09 2.50E-12 \\ Diptorpylamine Mater 1.05E-08 1.41E-11 0.138 1.46E-09 2.50E-12 \\ Diptorpylamine Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 \\ Dithianone Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 \\ Dithianone Soil 1.11E-08 8.76E-11 0.126 4.86E-10 7.12E-12 \\ Epxiconazole Soil 1.13E-08 3.64E-12 0.127 1.44E-09 4.64E-13 \\ Esfervalerate Air 8.42E-11 4.66E-12 0.033 2.81E-12 0.158 +12 \\ Esfervalerate Air 1.96E-09 5.56E+11 0.126 4.86E-10 7.12E-12 \\ Ethylamine Water 3.61E-08 5.78E-11 0.203 2.81E-12 0.57E-13 \\ Fenoxaprop Air 1.49E-08 5.74E-11 0.311 6.10E-10 1.57E-11 \\ Ethylene diamine Water 3.61E-08 5.78E-11 0.203 2.81E-12 2.55E-13 \\ Fenoxaprop Air 1.96E-09 5.65E+11 0.126 4.86E-10 7.12E-12 \\ Ethylamine Water 3.61E-08 5.78E-11 0.203 2.81E-12 5.55E-13 \\ Fenoxaprop Air 1.10E-10 6.10E-12 0.042 4.63E-12 2.56E-13 \\ Fenoxaprop Air 1.49E-08 5.74E-11 0.051 8.49E-09 5.94E-13 \\ Fenoxaprop Air 1.10E-10 6.10E-12 0.042 4.63E-12 2.56E-13 \\ Fenoxaprop Air 1.10E-10 6.10E-12 0.042 4.63E-12 2.56E-13 \\ Fenoxaprop Air 1.10E-10 6.10E-12 0.042 4.63E-12 2.56E-13 \\ F$	Deltamethrin	Soil	1.02E-09	3.02E-12	0.028	2.83E-11	8.37E-14
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Dicrotophos	Soil	7.24E-10	5.70E-11	0.059	4.27E-11	3.37E-12
Diethylamine Water 1.71E-08 3.66E-11 0.192 3.27E-09 7.02E-12 Difenconazole Soil 4.12E-10 6.11E-12 0.103 4.27E-11 6.32E-13 Diflubenzuron Air 7.16E-07 5.34E-08 0.090 6.46E-08 4.82E-09 Diflufenican Soil 2.09E-11 2.65E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 Dimethachlor Soil 2.69E-11 2.66E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 Dimethchalmic Soil 9.53E-10 8.11E-12 0.051 4.38E-11 1.12E-11 Dimetholate Soil 9.53E-10 8.91E-13 3.315E-11 1.77E-12 Dimethylamine Air 2.44E+00 2.78E+00 0.636 1.55E+08 4.48E-11 Dipropylamine Air 2.44E+00 2.78E+10 0.636 1.52E+00 2.50E-12 Diquat Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-11 0.138 1.46E-09 2.50E-12 Diquat Soil 5.27E-16 <	Diethylamine	Air	7.12E-09	1.53E-11	0.192	1.36E-09	2.92E-12
Difenoconazole Soil 4.12E-10 6.11E-12 0.103 4.27E-11 6.32E-13 Diflubenzuron Air 7.41E-12 4.10E-13 0.090 6.69E-13 3.70E-14 Diflubenzuron Soil 6.30E-08 1.23E-11 0.071 4.47E-09 8.73E-13 Diffufenzopyr-sodium Soil 2.69E-11 2.65E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 Dimethachlor Soil 9.53E-10 8.11E-12 0.051 4.84E-11 4.12E-13 Dimetholar Soil 5.48E-10 2.90E-11 0.061 3.35E-11 8.77E-12 Dimethylamine Air 2.44E+00 2.78E+13 0.311 7.86E-08 4.48E-11 Dipropylamine Air 2.44E+00 2.78E+12 0.138 6.07E+10 1.04E+12 Dipropylamine Air 4.39E-14 4.13E+10 0.138 1.46E-09 2.50E+12 Diquat Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E+19 0.081 4.29E+17 3.62E+20 Diquat dibromide Soil </td <td>Diethylamine</td> <td>Water</td> <td>1.71E-08</td> <td>3.66E-11</td> <td>0.192</td> <td>3.27E-09</td> <td>7.02E-12</td>	Diethylamine	Water	1.71E-08	3.66E-11	0.192	3.27E-09	7.02E-12
Diflubenzuron Air 7.41E-12 4.10E-13 0.090 6.69E-13 3.70E-14 Diflubenzuron Soil 7.16E-07 5.34E-08 0.090 6.46E-08 4.82E-09 Diflufencan Soil 6.30E-08 1.25E-11 0.071 4.74E-09 8.73E-13 Diflufenzopyr-sodium Soil 2.69E-11 2.65E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 Dimethachlor Soil 5.48E-10 2.90E-11 0.061 3.35E-11 9.28E-12 Dimethoate Soil 5.48E-10 2.90E-11 0.061 3.35E-11 8.99E-14 Dimethoate Soil 5.48E-10 2.30E-11 0.061 3.35E-11 1.77E-10 Dimethylamine Air 2.44E+00 2.78E+00 0.636 1.55E+00 1.04E-12 Dipropylamine Water 1.05E-08 1.81E-11 0.138 6.07E-10 1.04E-12 Diquat dibromide Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 Dituron Soil <td>Difenoconazole</td> <td>Soil</td> <td>4.12E-10</td> <td>6.11E-12</td> <td>0.103</td> <td>4.27E-11</td> <td>6.32E-13</td>	Difenoconazole	Soil	4.12E-10	6.11E-12	0.103	4.27E-11	6.32E-13
Diflubenzuron Soil 7.16E-07 5.34E-08 0.090 6.46E-08 4.82E-09 Diflufenican Soil 6.30E-08 1.23E-11 0.071 4.47E-09 8.73E-13 Diflufenican Soil 2.69E-11 2.65E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 Dimethachlor Soil 9.53E-10 8.11E-12 0.051 4.34E-11 4.12E-13 Dimethoate Soil 9.53E-10 8.11E-12 0.061 3.35E-11 1.77E-10 Dimethylamine Air 1.22E-11 2.89E-13 0.311 3.80E-12 8.99E-14 Dintorboard Air 2.53E-07 1.44E-10 0.311 7.86E-08 4.48E-11 Dipropylamine Air 2.53E-07 1.44E-10 0.318 6.07E-10 1.04E-12 Dipropylamine Air 4.39E-09 7.53E-12 0.138 6.07E-10 1.04E-12 Diquat Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 Diquat Soil 5.27E-	Diflubenzuron	Air	7.41E-12	4.10E-13	0.090	6.69E-13	3.70E-14
Diflufenican Soil 6.30E-08 1.23E-11 0.071 4.47E-09 8.73E-13 Diffufenzopyr-sodium Soil 2.69E-11 2.65E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 Dimethachlor Soil 1.16E-08 1.69E-10 0.055 6.33E-11 4.16E-15 Dimethenamid Soil 9.53E-10 8.11E-12 0.051 4.84E-11 4.12E-13 Dimethoate Soil 5.48E-10 2.90E-11 0.061 3.35E-11 1.77E-12 Dimethylamine Water 2.53E-07 1.44E-10 0.311 7.86E-08 4.48E-11 Dipropylamine Air 2.44E+00 2.78E+00 0.636 1.55E+00 1.07E+00 Dipropylamine Water 1.05E-08 1.81E-11 0.138 1.46E-09 2.05E-12 Diquat Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 Dithianone Soil 5.27E-11 2.79E-12 0.033 1.54E-10 1.05E-11 Esfenvalerate Soil </td <td>Diflubenzuron</td> <td>Soil</td> <td>7.16E-07</td> <td>5.34E-08</td> <td>0.090</td> <td>6.46E-08</td> <td>4.82E-09</td>	Diflubenzuron	Soil	7.16E-07	5.34E-08	0.090	6.46E-08	4.82E-09
Diffufenzopyr-sodium Soil 2.69E-11 2.65E-14 0.157 4.24E-12 4.16E-15 Dimethachlor Soil 1.16E-08 1.69E-10 0.055 6.33E-10 9.28E-12 Dimethoat Soil 5.48E-10 2.09E-11 0.051 4.84E-11 4.12E-13 Dimethoat Soil 5.48E-10 2.09E-11 0.051 4.84E-11 1.77E-12 Dimethylamine Water 2.53E-07 1.44E-10 0.311 7.86E-08 4.48E-11 Dipropylamine Air 4.39E-09 7.53E-12 0.138 6.07E-10 1.04E-12 Diguat Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 Diquat Soil 5.27E-11 2.79E-12 0.095 4.98E-12 2.64E-13 Diroon Soil 1.11E-09 8.77E-11 0.120 4.42E-13 8.42E-13 Diavat Soil 1.13E-08 3.64E-12 0.127 1.44E-09 4.64E-13 Diquat Soil 1.38E-09	Diflufenican	Soil	6.30E-08	1.23E-11	0.071	4.47E-09	8.73E-13
Dimethachlor Soil 1.16E-08 1.69E-10 0.055 6.33E-10 9.28E-12 Dimethenamid Soil 9.53E-10 8.11E-12 0.051 6.33E-11 1.17E-12 Dimethoate Soil 5.48E-10 2.90E-11 0.061 3.35E-11 1.77E-12 Dimethylamine Air 1.22E-11 2.89E-13 0.311 3.80E-12 8.99E-14 Dimethylamine Air 2.44E+00 2.78E+00 0.636 1.55E+00 1.04E-12 Dipropylamine Air 4.39E-09 7.35E-12 0.138 6.07E+10 1.04E-12 Dipropylamine Water 1.05E-08 1.81E-11 0.138 1.46E-09 2.50E-12 Diquat Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 Dithianone Soil 5.27E-11 2.70E-12 0.152 1.34E-10 1.05E-11 Esfenvalerate Air 8.42E-11 4.66E-12 0.33 1.54E-13 8.42E-15 Esfenvalerate Soil <td< td=""><td>Diflufenzopyr-sodium</td><td>Soil</td><td>2.69E-11</td><td>2.65E-14</td><td>0.157</td><td>4.24E-12</td><td>4.16E-15</td></td<>	Diflufenzopyr-sodium	Soil	2.69E-11	2.65E-14	0.157	4.24E-12	4.16E-15
Dimethenamid Soil 9.53E-10 8.11E-12 0.051 4.84E-11 4.12E-13 Dimethoate Soil 5.48E-10 2.90E-11 0.061 3.35E-11 1.77E-12 Dimethylamine Air 1.22E-11 2.89E-13 0.311 7.86E-08 4.48E-11 Dimethylamine Water 2.53E-07 1.44E-10 0.311 7.86E-08 4.48E-11 Dipropylamine Air 4.39E-09 7.53E-12 0.138 6.07E-10 1.04E-12 Dipropylamine Water 1.05E-08 1.81E-11 0.138 1.46E-09 2.50E-12 Diquat Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 Dithianone Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 Dituron Soil 1.11E-09 8.77E-11 0.120 1.34E-10 1.05E-13 Diavaconazole Soil 1.13E-08 3.64E-12 0.033 1.54E-13 8.42E-15 Esfenvalerate Air 8	Dimethachlor	Soil	1.16E-08	1.69E-10	0.055	6.33E-10	9.28E-12
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Dimethenamid	Soil	9.53E-10	8.11E-12	0.051	4.84E-11	4.12E-13
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Dimethoate	Soil	5.48E-10	2.90E-11	0.061	3.35E-11	1.77E-12
Dimethylamine Water 2.53E-07 1.44E-10 0.311 7.86E-08 4.48E-11 Dinitrogen monoxide Air 2.44E+00 2.78E+00 0.636 1.55E+00 1.77E+00 Dipropylamine Air 4.39E-09 7.53E-12 0.138 6.07E-10 1.04E-12 Dipropylamine Water 1.05E-08 1.81E-11 0.138 1.46E-09 2.50E-12 Diquat Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 Dithianone Soil 5.27E-16 4.45E-19 0.081 4.29E-17 3.62E-20 Dithrance Soil 1.13E-08 8.77E-11 0.120 1.34E-10 1.05E-11 Epoxiconazole Soil 1.13E-08 8.64E-12 0.127 1.44E-09 4.64E-13 Esfenvalerate Air 8.42E-11 4.66E-12 0.033 2.81E-13 8.42E-15 Ethylamine Air 1.96E-09 5.04E-11 0.311 1.46E-09 3.76E-11 Ethylamine Air <	Dimethylamine	Air	1.22E-11	2.89E-13	0.311	3.80E-12	8.99E-14
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Dimethylamine	Water	2.53E-07	1.44E-10	0.311	7.86E-08	4.48E-11
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	2.44E+00	2.78E+00	0.636	1.55E+00	1.77E+00
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Dipropylamine	Air	4.39E-09	7.53E-12	0.138	6.07E-10	1.04E-12
DiquatSoil $7.68E-09$ $4.07E-12$ 0.152 $1.17E-09$ $6.19E-13$ Diquat dibromideSoil $5.27E-16$ $4.45E-19$ 0.081 $4.29E-17$ $3.62E-20$ DithianoneSoil $5.27E-11$ $2.79E-12$ 0.095 $4.98E-12$ $2.64E-13$ DiuronSoil $1.11E-09$ $8.77E-11$ 0.120 $1.34E-10$ $1.05E-11$ EpoxiconazoleSoil $1.13E-08$ $3.64E-12$ 0.127 $1.44E-09$ $4.64E-13$ EsfenvalerateAir $8.42E-11$ $4.66E-12$ 0.033 $2.81E-12$ $1.55E-13$ EsfenvalerateSoil $4.61E-12$ $2.52E-13$ 0.033 $1.54E-13$ $8.42E-15$ EthalffuralinSoil $3.86E-09$ $5.65E-11$ 0.126 $4.86E-10$ $7.12E-12$ EthylamineAir $1.96E-09$ $5.04E-11$ 0.311 $1.46E-09$ $3.76E-11$ Ethylene diamineAir $1.49E-08$ $5.14E-11$ 0.466 $6.94E-09$ $2.40E-11$ Ethylene diamineWater $3.61E-08$ $1.24E-10$ 0.466 $1.68E-08$ $5.78E-11$ FenoxapropSoil $1.38E-11$ $7.29E-13$ 0.166 $2.29E-12$ $1.21E-13$ FenoxapropSoil $3.77E-09$ $2.29E-17$ 0.039 $1.46E-10$ $8.86E-19$ Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil $3.77E-09$ $2.29E-17$ 0.039 $1.46E-10$ $8.86E-19$ Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil $1.38E-09$ $4.11E-11$ 0.046 $6.29E-06$ $1.15E-12$ <td>Dipropylamine</td> <td>Water</td> <td>1.05E-08</td> <td>1.81E-11</td> <td>0.138</td> <td>1.46E-09</td> <td>2.50E-12</td>	Dipropylamine	Water	1.05E-08	1.81E-11	0.138	1.46E-09	2.50E-12
Diquat dibromideSoil $5.27E-16$ $4.45E-19$ 0.081 $4.29E-17$ $3.62E-20$ DithianoneSoil $5.27E-11$ $2.79E-12$ 0.095 $4.98E-12$ $2.64E-13$ DiuronSoil $1.11E-09$ $8.77E-11$ 0.120 $1.34E-10$ $1.05E-11$ EpoxiconazoleSoil $1.11E-09$ $8.77E-11$ 0.120 $1.34E-10$ $1.05E-11$ EsfenvalerateAir $8.42E-11$ $4.66E-12$ 0.033 $2.81E-12$ $1.55E-13$ EsfenvalerateSoil $3.86E-09$ $5.65E-11$ 0.126 $4.86E-10$ $7.12E-12$ EthylamineAir $1.96E-09$ $5.04E-11$ 0.311 $6.10E-10$ $1.57E-11$ Ethylen diamineAir $1.96E-09$ $5.04E-11$ 0.311 $1.46E-09$ $3.76E-11$ Ethylen diamineAir $1.96E-09$ $5.04E-11$ 0.466 $6.94E-09$ $2.40E-11$ Ethylen diamineAir $1.96E-08$ $5.14E-11$ 0.466 $6.94E-09$ $2.40E-11$ EnvoxapropAir $1.10E-10$ $6.10E-12$ 0.042 $4.63E-12$ $2.56E-13$ FenoxapropAir $1.10E-10$ $6.10E-12$ 0.042 $4.63E-12$ $2.56E-13$ FenoxapropSoil $2.75E-08$ $3.48E-10$ 0.118 $4.48E-09$ $4.11E-11$ Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil $1.32E-04$ $2.49E-11$ 0.046 $6.29E-06$ $1.15E-12$ FipronilSoil $1.36E-04$ $2.49E-11$ 0.046 $6.29E-06$ $1.5E-12$ Fenp	Diquat	Soil	7.68E-09	4.07E-12	0.152	1.17E-09	6.19E-13
DithianoneSoil5.27E-112.79E-120.0954.98E-122.64E-13DiuronSoil1.11E-098.77E-110.1201.34E-101.05E-11EpoxiconazoleSoil1.13E-083.64E-120.1271.44E-094.64E-13EsfenvalerateAir8.42E-114.66E-120.0332.81E-121.55E-13EsfenvalerateSoil4.61E-122.52E-130.0331.54E-138.42E-15EthalfluralinSoil3.86E-095.65E-110.1264.86E-107.12E-12EthylamineAir1.96E-095.04E-110.3116.10E-101.57E-11EthylamineWater4.71E-091.21E-100.3111.46E-093.76E-11EthylamineWater3.61E-081.24E-100.4661.68E-085.78E-11FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenpiclonilSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.36E-093.70E-110.0125.60E-104.37E-11Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.38E-	Diquat dibromide	Soil	5.27E-16	4.45E-19	0.081	4.29E-17	3.62E-20
Diuron Soil 1.11E-09 8.77E-11 0.120 1.34E-10 1.05E-11 Epoxiconazole Soil 1.13E-08 3.64E-12 0.127 1.44E-09 4.64E-13 Esfenvalerate Air 8.42E-11 4.66E-12 0.033 2.81E-12 1.55E-13 Esfenvalerate Soil 4.61E-12 2.52E-13 0.033 1.54E-13 8.42E-15 Ethalfluralin Soil 3.86E-09 5.65E-11 0.126 4.86E-10 7.12E-12 Ethylamine Air 1.96E-09 5.04E-11 0.311 1.46E-09 3.76E-11 Ethylene diamine Air 1.96E-09 5.04E-11 0.311 1.46E-09 3.76E-11 Ethylene diamine Water 3.61E-08 1.24E-10 0.466 1.68E-08 5.78E-11 Fenoxaprop Air 1.10E-10 6.10E-12 0.042 4.63E-12 2.56E-13 Fenoxaprop Soil 2.15E-09 1.61E-10 0.042 9.03E-11 6.75E-12 Fenoxaprop-Pethyl ester Soil<	Dithianone	Soil	5.27E-11	2.79E-12	0.095	4.98E-12	2.64E-13
EpoxiconazoleSoil1.13E-083.64E-120.1271.44E-094.64E-13EsfenvalerateAir8.42E-114.66E-120.0332.81E-121.55E-13EsfenvalerateSoil4.61E-122.52E-130.0331.54E-138.42E-15EthalfluralinSoil3.86E-095.65E-110.1264.86E-107.12E-12EthylamineAir1.96E-095.04E-110.3116.10E-101.57E-11EthylamineWater4.71E-091.21E-100.3111.46E-093.76E-11Ethylene diamineAir1.49E-085.14E-110.4666.94E-092.40E-11Ethylene diamineWater3.61E-081.24E-100.4661.68E-085.78E-11FenbuconazoleSoil1.38E-117.29E-130.1662.29E-121.21E-13FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13FenoxapropSoil2.15E-091.61E-100.0429.03E-116.75E-12Fenoxaprop-Pethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenpropinorphSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipropimorphSoil1.38E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-but	Diuron	Soil	1.11E-09	8.77E-11	0.120	1.34E-10	1.05E-11
ExtenderateAir8.42E-114.66E-120.0332.81E-121.55E-13EsfenvalerateSoil4.61E-122.52E-130.0331.54E-138.42E-15EthalfluralinSoil3.86E-095.65E-110.1264.86E-107.12E-12EthylamineAir1.96E-095.04E-110.3116.10E-101.57E-11EthylamineWater4.71E-091.21E-100.3111.46E-093.76E-11Ethylene diamineAir1.49E-085.14E-110.4666.94E-092.40E-11Ethylene diamineWater3.61E-081.24E-100.4661.68E-085.78E-11FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13FenoxapropSoil2.15E-091.61E-100.0429.03E-116.75E-12Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenopioninlSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenopopimorphSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.38E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12Fluazifop-P-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop	Epoxiconazole	Soil	1.13E-08	3.64E-12	0.127	1.44E-09	4.64E-13
EsfenvalerateSoil4.61E-122.52E-130.0331.54E-138.42E-15EthalfuralinSoil3.86E-095.65E-110.1264.86E-107.12E-12EthylamineAir1.96E-095.04E-110.3116.10E-101.57E-11EthylamineWater4.71E-091.21E-100.3111.46E-093.76E-11Ethylene diamineAir1.49E-085.14E-110.4666.94E-092.40E-11Ethylene diamineWater3.61E-081.24E-100.4661.68E-085.78E-11FenbuconazoleSoil1.38E-117.29E-130.1662.29E-121.21E-13FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13Fenoxaprop-Pethyl esterSoil2.15E-091.61E-100.0429.03E-116.75E-12Fenoxaprop-Pethyl esterSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.60E-104.37E-11Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.38E-176.93E-190.1341.71E-189.28E-20Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18F	Esfenvalerate	Air	8.42E-11	4.66E-12	0.033	2.81E-12	1.55E-13
EthalfluralinSoil3.86E-095.65E-110.1264.86E-107.12E-12EthylamineAir1.96E-095.04E-110.3116.10E-101.57E-11EthylamineWater4.71E-091.21E-100.3111.46E-093.76E-11Ethylene diamineAir1.49E-085.14E-110.4666.94E-092.40E-11Ethylene diamineWater3.61E-081.24E-100.4661.68E-085.78E-11FenbuconazoleSoil1.38E-117.29E-130.1662.29E-121.21E-13FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13Fenoxaprop-Soil2.15E-091.61E-100.0429.03E-116.75E-12Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenpropidinSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.28E-176.93E-190.1341.71E-189.28E-20Fluacrobacone	Esfenvalerate	Soil	4.61E-12	2.52E-13	0.033	1.54E-13	8.42E-15
EthylamineAir1.96E-095.04E-110.3116.10E-101.57E-11EthylamineWater4.71E-091.21E-100.3111.46E-093.76E-11Ethylene diamineAir1.49E-085.14E-110.4666.94E-092.40E-11Ethylene diamineWater3.61E-081.24E-100.4661.68E-085.78E-11FenbuconazoleSoil1.38E-117.29E-130.1662.29E-121.21E-13FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13FenoxapropSoil2.15E-091.61E-100.0429.03E-116.75E-12Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenpropidinSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18Fluarbazone sodium saltSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.38E-091.63E-14Flufenacet<	Ethalfluralin	Soil	3.86E-09	5.65E-11	0.126	4.86E-10	7.12E-12
LinkLi	Ethylamine	Air	1.96E-09	5.04E-11	0.311	6.10E-10	1.57E-11
Ethylene diamineAir1.49E-085.14E-110.4666.94E-092.40E-11Ethylene diamineWater3.61E-081.24E-100.4661.68E-085.78E-11FenbuconazoleSoil1.38E-117.29E-130.1662.29E-121.21E-13FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil2.15E-091.61E-100.0429.03E-116.75E-12Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenpropidinSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.37E-093.41E-100.1285.60E-104.37E-11Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18Fluarifor-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18 <td< td=""><td>Ethylamine</td><td>Water</td><td>4.71E-09</td><td>1.21E-10</td><td>0.311</td><td>1.46E-09</td><td>3.76E-11</td></td<>	Ethylamine	Water	4.71E-09	1.21E-10	0.311	1.46E-09	3.76E-11
Ethylene diamineWater3.61E-081.24E-100.4661.68E-085.78E-11FenbuconazoleSoil1.38E-117.29E-130.1662.29E-121.21E-13FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13FenoxapropSoil2.15E-091.61E-100.0429.03E-116.75E-12Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenpiclonilSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.66E-071.16E-110.0518.49E-095.94E-13FenpropimorphSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18Fluarbazone sodium saltSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Ethylene diamine	Air	1.49E-08	5.14E-11	0.466	6.94E-09	2.40E-11
FenbuconazoleSoil1.38E-117.29E-130.1662.29E-121.21E-13FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13FenoxapropSoil2.15E-091.61E-100.0429.03E-116.75E-12Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenpiclonilSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.66E-071.16E-110.0518.49E-095.94E-13FenpropimorphSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FludioxonilSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.86E-123.79E-13FlufenacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Ethylene diamine	Water	3.61E-08	1.24E-10	0.466	1.68E-08	5.78E-11
FenoxapropAir1.10E-106.10E-120.0424.63E-122.56E-13FenoxapropSoil2.15E-091.61E-100.0429.03E-116.75E-12Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenpiclonilSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.66E-071.16E-110.0518.49E-095.94E-13FenpropimorphSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18Fluazifop-ReductAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.38E-091.63E-14FluerbacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.38E-091.63E-14FluerbacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13FluerbacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Fenbuconazole	Soil	1.38E-11	7.29E-13	0.166	2.29E-12	1.21E-13
FenoxapropSoil2.15E-091.61E-100.0429.03E-116.75E-12Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenpiclonilSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.66E-071.16E-110.0518.49E-095.94E-13FenpropimorphSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil1.38E-093.41E-100.1285.60E-104.37E-11Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FludioxonilSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-14	Fenoxaprop	Air	1.10E-10	6.10E-12	0.042	4.63E-12	2.56E-13
Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil3.77E-092.29E-170.0391.46E-108.86E-19FenpiclonilSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.66E-071.16E-110.0518.49E-095.94E-13FenpropimorphSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil4.37E-093.41E-100.1285.60E-104.37E-11Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FludioxonilSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Fenoxaprop	Soil	2.15E-09	1.61E-10	0.042	9.03E-11	6.75E-12
FenpiclonilSoil1.25E-083.48E-100.1181.48E-094.11E-11FenpropidinSoil1.66E-071.16E-110.0518.49E-095.94E-13FenpropimorphSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil4.37E-093.41E-100.1285.60E-104.37E-11FlorasulamSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil1.28E-176.93E-190.1341.71E-189.28E-20FludioxonilSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.86E-123.79E-13FlufenacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester	Soil	3.77E-09	2.29E-17	0.039	1.46E-10	8.86E-19
FenpropidinSoil1.66E-071.16E-110.0518.49E-095.94E-13FenpropimorphSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil4.37E-093.41E-100.1285.60E-104.37E-11FlorasulamSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.86E-123.79E-13FlufenacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Fenniclonil	Soil	1.25E-08	3.48E-10	0.118	1.48E-09	4.11E-11
FenpropianSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0010.012 070.15E-12FenpropimorphSoil1.36E-042.49E-110.0466.29E-061.15E-12FipronilSoil4.37E-093.41E-100.1285.60E-104.37E-11FlorasulamSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil1.28E-176.93E-190.1341.71E-189.28E-20FludioxonilSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.86E-123.79E-13FlufenacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Fenpropidin	Soil	1.66E-07	1.16E-11	0.051	8.49E-09	5.94E-13
Find FigureSoldFisch of the stateSold of the stateSold of the stateFipronilSoil4.37E-093.41E-100.1285.60E-104.37E-11FlorasulamSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil1.28E-176.93E-190.1341.71E-189.28E-20FludioxonilSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.86E-123.79E-13FlufenacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Fenpropimorph	Soil	1.36E-04	2.49E-11	0.031	6 29E-06	1 15E-12
FlorasulamSoil1.38E-099.13E-180.1952.69E-101.78E-18Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil1.28E-176.93E-190.1341.71E-189.28E-20FludioxonilSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.86E-123.79E-13FlufenacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Fipronil	Soil	4.37E-09	3.41E-10	0.128	5.60E-10	4.37E-11
Fluazifop-p-butylAir1.58E-108.75E-120.0375.78E-123.20E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil1.28E-176.93E-190.1341.71E-189.28E-20FludioxonilSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.86E-123.79E-13FlufenacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Florasulam	Soil	1 38E-09	9 13E-18	0.195	2.69E-10	1 78E-18
Fluaritop p ballSoil3.57E-099.52E-110.0371.30E-103.48E-12Fluaribazone sodium saltSoil1.28E-176.93E-190.1341.71E-189.28E-20FludioxonilSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.86E-123.79E-13FlufenacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Fluazifon-p-butyl	Air	1.58E-10	8 75E-12	0.037	5 78E-12	3 20E-13
Flucarbazone sodium salt Soil 1.28E-17 6.93E-19 0.134 1.71E-18 9.28E-20 Flucarbazone sodium salt Soil 3.25E-09 3.70E-17 0.113 3.66E-10 4.18E-18 Fludenacet Air 5.93E-11 3.28E-12 0.116 6.86E-12 3.79E-13 Fludenacet Soil 5.52E-08 1.41E-13 0.116 6.38E-09 1.63E-14 Flumetsulam Air 1.39E-11 7.67E-13 0.215 2.99E-12 1.65E-13	Fluazifop-P-butyl	Soil	3 57E-09	9 52E-11	0.037	1 30E-10	3.48E-12
FludioxonilSoil3.25E-093.70E-170.1133.66E-104.18E-18FlufenacetAir5.93E-113.28E-120.1166.86E-123.79E-13FlufenacetSoil5.52E-081.41E-130.1166.38E-091.63E-14FlumetsulamAir1.39E-117.67E-130.2152.99E-121.65E-13	Flucarbazone sodium salt	Soil	1.28E-17	6.93E-19	0.037	1.30E 10	9.16E 12
Flufenacet Air 5.93E-11 3.28E-12 0.116 6.86E-12 3.79E-13 Flufenacet Soil 5.52E-08 1.41E-13 0.116 6.38E-09 1.63E-14 Flumetsulam Air 1.39E-11 7.67E-13 0.215 2.99E-12 1.65E-13	Fludioxonil	Soil	3 25E-09	3.70E-17	0 113	3 66E-10	4 18E-18
Flutenacet Soil 5.52E-11 5.20E-12 0.116 6.00E-12 5.77E-13 Flutenacet Soil 5.52E-08 1.41E-13 0.116 6.38E-09 1.63E-14 Flumetsulam Air 1.39E-11 7.67E-13 0.215 2.99E-12 1.65E-13	Flufenacet	Air	5.23E 07	3 28E-12	0.116	6 86F-12	3 79E-13
Flumetsulam Air 1.39E-11 7.67E-13 0.215 2.99E-12 1.65E-13 Flumetsulam Air 1.39E-11 7.67E-13 0.215 2.99E-12 1.65E-13	Flufenacet	Soil	5 52E-08	1.41E-13	0.116	6 38E-09	1 63E-14
	Flumetsulam	Air	1 39E-11	7 67E-13	0.215	2.99E-12	1.65E-13
Flumetsulam Soil 4.78E-11 7.92E-14 0.215 1.03E-11 1.71E-14	Flumetsulam	Soil	4.78E-11	7.92E-14	0.215	1.03E-11	1.71E-14

		Inventory res	sults [g/kg]	Rea	active nitrogen	results [g/kg]
Substance	Comp.	Barley	Barley	N.	Barley	Barley
		conventional	organic	coeff.	conventional	organic
Flumiclorac-pentyl	Air	2.37E-11	1.31E-12	0.033	7.85E-13	4.34E-14
Flumiclorac-pentyl	Soil	1.02E-12	5.63E-14	0.033	3.36E-14	1.86E-15
Flumioxazin	Air	2.40E-10	1.33E-11	0.079	1.90E-11	1.05E-12
Flumioxazin	Soil	1.25E-09	9.35E-11	0.079	9.91E-11	7.39E-12
Fluroxypyr	Soil	2.33E-09	8.37E-13	0.110	2.56E-10	9.19E-14
Flurtamone	Soil	5.76E-08	7.39E-12	0.042	2.42E-09	3.11E-13
Flusilazole	Soil	6.32E-09	2.54E-12	0.133	8.43E-10	3.39E-13
Fomesafen	Air	8.93E-10	4.94E-11	0.064	5.70E-11	3.15E-12
Fomesafen	Soil	8.24E-09	6.15E-10	0.064	5.26E-10	3.93E-11
Foramsulfuron	Soil	5.05E-12	4.96E-15	0.186	9.39E-13	9.22E-16
Formamide	Air	2.37E-08	5.71E-12	0.311	7.37E-09	1.78E-12
Formamide	Water	5.69E-08	1.37E-11	0.311	1.77E-08	4.26E-12
Glyphosate	Air	1.79E-07	9.87E-09	0.083	1.48E-08	8.18E-10
Glyphosate	Soil	6.46E-05	2.47E-07	0.083	5.35E-06	2.04E-08
Imazamox	Air	3.55E-11	1.96E-12	0.138	4.89E-12	2.70E-13
Imazamox	Soil	1.08E-09	8.06E-11	0.138	1.48E-10	1.11E-11
Imazapyr	Soil	6.74E-13	6.62E-16	0.161	1.08E-13	1.06E-16
Imazaquin	Air	1.13E-10	6.26E-12	0.135	1.53E-11	8.45E-13
Imazaquin	Soil	4.85E-12	2.68E-13	0.135	6.55E-13	3.62E-14
Imazethapyr	Air	2.34E-10	1.30E-11	0.145	3.40E-11	1.88E-12
Imazethapyr	Soil	2.69E-09	2.01E-10	0.145	3.91E-10	2.92E-11
Imidacloprid	Soil	2.98E-08	3.34E-10	0.274	8.16E-09	9.14E-11
Ioxynil	Soil	1.99E-08	1.61E-11	0.038	7.50E-10	6.08E-13
Iprodione	Soil	5.17E-09	7.58E-11	0.127	6.58E-10	9.65E-12
Isocyanic acid	Air	5.57E-06	2.33E-07	0.326	1.81E-06	7.60E-08
Isopropylamine	Air	7.56E-10	1.82E-11	0.237	1.79E-10	4.31E-12
Isopropylamine	Water	1.82E-09	4.37E-11	0.237	4.30E-10	1.03E-11
Isoproturon	Soil	3.52E-04	1.48E-10	0.136	4.77E-05	2.01E-11
Isoxaflutole	Soil	8.08E-11	7.94E-14	0.039	3.15E-12	3.10E-15
Kresoxim-methyl	Soil	5.79E-10	4.33E-12	0.045	2.59E-11	1.94E-13
Lactofen	Air	1.14E-10	6.31E-12	0.030	3.46E-12	1.91E-13
Lactofen	Soil	4.89E-12	2.70E-13	0.030	1.48E-13	8.20E-15
Lambda-cyhalothrin	Soil	7.21E-09	3.63E-11	0.031	2.24E-10	1.13E-12
Linuron	Soil	8.65E-07	2.61E-08	0.112	9.72E-08	2.93E-09
Mancozeb	Soil	4.13E-07	1.15E-08	0.104	4.27E-08	1.19E-09
Mefenpyr	Soil	1.35E-08	1.27E-13	0.088	1.19E-09	1.12E-14
Mefenpyr-diethyl	Soil	7.54E-09	4.58E-17	0.075	5.66E-10	3.44E-18
Mepiquat chloride	Soil	5.32E-08	7.69E-12	0.094	4.98E-09	7.20E-13
Mesotrione	Soil	2.19E-10	2.15E-13	0.041	9.04E-12	8.88E-15
Metamitron	Soil	1.01E-09	8.95E-13	0.277	2.79E-10	2.48E-13
Metazachlor	Soil	2.73E-08	4.00E-10	0.151	4.13E-09	6.05E-11
Methylamine	Air	2.03E-08	1.22E-11	0.451	9.17E-09	5.50E-12
Methylamine	Water	4.88E-08	2.93E-11	0.451	2.20E-08	1.32E-11
Metolachlor	Air	1.86E-09	1.03E-10	0.049	9.20E-11	5.09E-12
Metolachlor	Soil	3.58E-07	2.59E-08	0.049	1.77E-08	1.28E-09
Metribuzin	Air	7.40E-10	4.09E-11	0.261	1.93E-10	1.07E-11
Metribuzin	Soil	2.32E-08	1.05E-09	0.261	6.05E-09	2.74E-10
Monocrotophos	Soil	8.75E-08	6.52E-09	0.063	5.49E-09	4.10E-10

		Inventory res	sults [g/kg]	Rea	active nitrogen 1	esults [g/kg]
Substance	Comp.	Barley	Barley	N.	Barley	Barley
	_	conventional	organic	coeff.	conventional	organic
Monoethanolamine	Air	1.04E-05	1.05E-07	0.229	2.38E-06	2.40E-08
Monoethanolamine	Water	4.63E-09	1.10E-10	0.229	1.06E-09	2.51E-11
Napropamide	Soil	1.32E-07	1.83E-09	0.052	6.79E-09	9.47E-11
Nitrate	Air	1.46E-05	6.85E-07	0.226	3.30E-06	1.55E-07
Nitrate	Water	1.27E+02	1.21E+02	0.226	2.88E+01	2.72E+01
Nitrate	Soil	1.62E-05	1.07E-06	0.226	3.67E-06	2.43E-07
Nitrite	Water	1.76E-05	5.11E-07	0.304	5.35E-06	1.56E-07
Nitrobenzene	Air	4.38E-05	4.59E-11	0.114	4.99E-06	5.22E-12
Nitrobenzene	Water	1.76E-04	1.84E-10	0.114	2.00E-05	2.09E-11
Nitrogen	Air	9.49E-04	3.28E-06	0.000	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Nitrogen	Water	5.92E-03	4.48E-05	1.000	5.92E-03	4.48E-05
Nitrogen	Soil	2.24E-06	5.73E-07	1.000	2.24E-06	5.73E-07
Nitrogen fluoride	Air	3.65E-15	1.12E-15	0.197	7.21E-16	2.21E-16
Nitrogen oxides	Air	1.85E+00	1.54E+00	0.304	5.65E-01	4.69E-01
Nitrogen. organic bound	Water	1.22E-03	1.99E-04	0.160	1.95E-04	3.19E-05
Orbencarb	Soil	7.85E-08	2.18E-09	0.054	4.26E-09	1.19E-10
Parathion	Soil	3.46E-10	8.31E-11	0.048	1.66E-11	3.99E-12
Particulates. $< 10 \ \mu m$	Air	5.52E-02	6.27E-02	0.054	2.99E-03	3.40E-03
Particulates. < 2.5µm	Air	2.37E-01	6.28E-02	0.081	1.91E-02	5.06E-03
Particulates. $> 2.5 \mu m. < 10 \mu m$	Air	1.55E-01	1.15E-03	0.028	4.32E-03	3.22E-05
Pendimethalin	Air	5.01E-09	2.77E-10	0.149	7.49E-10	4.14E-11
Pendimethalin	Soil	1.56E-04	4.77E-09	0.149	2.33E-05	7.12E-10
Phenmedipham	Soil	1.85E-10	1.64E-13	0.093	1.72E-11	1.53E-14
Propiconazole	Air	8.75E-11	4.84E-12	0.123	1.07E-11	5.94E-13
Propiconazole	Soil	6.22E-08	3.27E-12	0.123	7.64E-09	4.02E-13
Propylamine	Air	1.24E-10	1.96E-12	0.237	2.93E-11	4.65E-13
Propylamine	Water	2.97E-10	4.71E-12	0.237	7.03E-11	1.12E-12
Simazine	Soil	3.40E-10	3.34E-13	0.347	1.18E-10	1.16E-13
Sulfentrazone	Air	5.69E-10	3.15E-11	0.145	8.24E-11	4.55E-12
Sulfentrazone	Soil	1.29E-08	9.67E-10	0.145	1.87E-09	1.40E-10
t-Butylamine	Air	2.80E-08	2.39E-11	0.192	5.37E-09	4.58E-12
t-Butylamine	Water	6.73E-08	5.74E-11	0.192	1.29E-08	1.10E-11
Tebupirimphos	Soil	1.41E-10	1.39E-13	0.088	1.24E-11	1.22E-14
Tebutam	Soil	5.02E-07	6.95E-09	0.060	3.01E-08	4.17E-10
Tralkoxydim	Soil	1.29E-07	7.86E-16	0.043	5.47E-09	3.34E-17
Trifloxystrobin	Air	5.19E-12	2.87E-13	0.069	3.56E-13	1.97E-14
Trifloxystrobin	Soil	7.45E-09	1.24E-14	0.069	5.11E-10	8.50E-16
Trifluralin	Air	8.20E-09	4.53E-10	0.125	1.03E-09	5.68E-11
Trifluralin	Soil	1.64E-07	6.99E-09	0.125	2.06E-08	8.76E-10
Trimethylamine	Air	2.45E-10	3.30E-12	0.237	5.79E-11	7.82E-13
Trimethylamine	Water	5.87E-10	7.92E-12	0.237	1.39E-10	1.88E-12
Urea	Water	1.14E-09	1.61E-11	0.466	5.33E-10	7.50E-12
Total	-			-	3.30E+01	2.98E+01

Results show a greater impact, calculated as reactive nitrogen, for the conventional barley cultivation alternative (32.998 g/kg compared to 29.785 g/kg of the organic cultivation). Again, the

considerations made in the previous paragraph, concerning dinitrogen monoxide and particulates emissions, apply.

As in previous applications, the contribution of the main substances to the reactive nitrogen indicator was also calculated, obtaining the results shown in the Figure 4.4.



Figure 4.4. Reactive nitrogen indicator results showing output substances contribution (percentage > 0.02% referred to conventional system) with reference to the conventional and organic barley cultivation.

Once again, the results showed a high contribution for the same substances found in the previous applications, with particular reference to nitrate emissions to water, making a contribution of about 90% for both cultivation alternatives.

4.3.4 Agricultural processes: characterization

Starting from the nitrogen inventory results, the nitrogen impact assessment profile was calculated, by applying the characterization factors to the nitrogen-containing substances. The results obtained for conventional and organic barley product systems are reported in the Table 4.19 where the nitrogen-containing substance for which characterization factors are defined by the models used are listed for each impact category. For simplicity of calculation a cut-off criterion was applied, limited to the impact categories freshwater ecotoxicity, human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non-

cancer effect, excluding the substances which made a contribution of less than 0.01% to the total impact of each category.

Table 4.19. *Nitrogen impact assessment profile calculated for conventional and organic barley product systems. Cut*off criterion of 0.01% applied for the categories Freshwater ecotoxicity, Human toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non-cancer effect.

Impact category	Substance	Comp.	Unit	Barley Conv.	Barley Org.
Climate change	Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	kg CO2 eq	6.47E-01	7.38E-01
Climate change	Nitrogen fluoride	Air	kg CO2 eq	5.87E-14	1.80E-14
Climate change		Total	kg CO2 eq	6.47E-01	7.38E-01
Human toxicity, cancer eff.		Total	CTUh	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Human toxicity, non-canc. eff.		Total	CTUh	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Particulate matter	Ammonia	Air	kg PM2.5 eq	1.67E-04	2.39E-05
Particulate matter	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg PM2.5 eq	1.35E-05	1.11E-05
Particulate matter	Particulates. < 10µm	Air	kg PM2.5 eq	1.26E-05	1.43E-05
Particulate matter	Particulates. < 2.5µm	Air	kg PM2.5 eq	4.03E-04	6.35E-05
Particulate matter		Total	kg PM2.5 eq	5.96E-04	1.13E-04
Photochemical ozone formation	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg NMVOC eq	1.85E-03	1.54E-03
Photochemical ozone formation		Total	kg NMVOC eq	1.85E-03	1.54E-03
Acidification	Ammonia	Air	molc H+ eq	7.57E-03	1.08E-03
Acidification	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc H+ eq	1.37E-03	1.14E-03
Acidification		Total	molc H+ eq	8.94E-03	2.22E-03
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	molc N eq	3.38E-02	4.84E-03
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	molc N eq	4.61E-08	2.17E-09
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc N eq	7.90E-03	6.57E-03
Terrestrial eutrophication		Total	molc N eq	4.17E-02	1.14E-02
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	kg N eq	2.30E-04	3.30E-05
Marine eutrophication	Ammonium. ion	Water	kg N eq	1.11E-05	7.56E-08
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	kg N eq	4.09E-10	1.92E-11
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Water	kg N eq	2.88E-02	2.73E-02
Marine eutrophication	Nitrite	Water	kg N eq	5.35E-09	1.55E-10
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg N eq	7.22E-04	6.00E-04
Marine eutrophication		Total	kg N eq	2.98E-02	2.79E-02
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Carbofuran	Soil	CTUe	5.90E-04	3.13E-07
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlorothalonil	Soil	CTUe	7.46E-03	5.11E-07
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Isoproturon	Soil	CTUe	3.33E-03	1.40E-09
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Pendimethalin	Soil	CTUe	4.57E-04	1.40E-08
Freshwater ecotoxicity		Total	CTUe	1.18E-02	8.39E-07

In this case, as best highlighted in the following graphs reporting normalization and weighting results, the organic cultivation alternative showed less environmental impacts for all the considered categories except for the impact category climate change. The result is also in this case due to the emissions of dinitrogen monoxide, which is the nitrogen-containing substance that gives the greatest contribution to the impact category climate change. By making a comprehensive impact assessment,

in relation to the climate change category, it is noted that the contribution of the dinitrogen emissions is balanced by the contribution of carbon dioxide emissions largely arising from the post-seeding fertilization process by urea, only carried out for the conventional barley cultivation. In fact, applying the IPCC 2013 GWP 100a (Stocker *et al.*, 2013), the results indicate a total impact equal to 0.931 kg CO_2 equiv. for conventional cultivation compared to 0.794 kg CO_2 equiv. for organic cultivation. It is also noted that, by applying the cut-off criterion described above, no nitrogen-containing substances were attributed to the impact categories human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non-cancer effect for both the analyzed product systems, thus resulting an impact equal to 0 for these categories.

4.3.5 Agricultural processes: normalization and weighting

The last step of the methodology provides for the final calculation of the single score nitrogen impact indicator, after execution of normalization and calculation and application of the weighting factors. The nitrogen impact assessment profile results after normalization are shown, for both the cultivation alternative, in the Table 4.20.

Category	Conventional barley category results	Organic barley category results	Normalization factors	Conv. barley normal.	Org. barley normal.
Climate change	6.47E-01 kg CO ₂ eq	7.38E-01 kg CO ₂ eq	9.22E+03	7.01E-05	8.00E-05
Particulate matter	5.96E-04 kg PM _{2.5} eq	1.13E-04 kg PM _{2.5} eq	3.80E+00	1.57E-04	2.97E-05
Photochemical ozone form.	1.85E-03 kg NMVOC eq	1.54-03 kg NMVOC eq	3.17E+01	5.85E-05	4.86E-05
Acidification	$8.94E-03 \text{ molc } H^+ \text{ eq}$	2.22E-03 molc H ⁺ eq	4.73E+01	1.89E-04	4.70E-05
Terrestrial eutrophication	4.17E-02 molc N eq	1.14E-02 molc N eq	1.76E+02	2.37E-04	6.48E-05
Marine eutrophication	2.98E-02 kg N eq	2.79E-02 kg N eq	1.69E+01	1.76E-03	1.65E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	1.18E-02 CTUe	8.39E-07 CTUe	8.74E+03	1.35E-06	9.60E-11
Human tox., canc. eff-	0.00E+00 CTUh	0.00E+00 CTUh	3.69E-05	0.00E+00	0.00E+00

Table 4.20. *Results of normalized impact assessment profile calculated for conventional and organic barley product systems. Normalization factors extracted from Benini et al. (2014).*

Category	Conventional barley category results	Organic barley category results	Normalization factors	Conv. barley normal.	Org. barley normal.
Human tox., non-canc. eff.	0.00E+00 CTUh	0.00E+00 CTUh	5.33E-04	0.00E+00	0.00E+00

In terms of comparison, the same considerations made with regard to the results of the characterization can be applied, the organic barley presenting less environmental impact for all considered categories, except for climate change.

As already stated, normalized results can also be represented in a single graphic form, as shown in the Figure 4.5.



Figure 4.5. Normalized impact assessment profile results: comparison between organic and conventional barley product systems.

After the normalization operation, a first comparison can be made between the results of the different impact categories: also in this case, as already proved in the previous applications, it is evident the greater impact of the category marine eutrophication, compared to results of the other selected impact categories.

To reach the final result, the weighting factors were then calculated, applying the internal method provided by the proposed methodology. Unlike what was seen for the reference product system application, in this case was necessary to calculate the reactive nitrogen for each impact category referred to both the product systems as the sum of the category reactive nitrogen of each product

system, the analysis being extended to more than one entity. The results of the calculation of the weighting factors are presented in the Table 4.21.

Table 4.21. *Results of weighting factors calculation obtained applying the method of calculation provided by the proposed methodology in the case of different product systems.*

Impact category	Substance		Reactive N barley conv. [kg/kg]	Reactive N barley org. [kg/kg]	Reactive N product systems	Weighting factors
Climate change	Dinitrogen monoxi	ide	1.55E-03	1.77E-03		
Climate change	Nitrogen fluoride		7.21E-19	2.21E-19		
Climate change	Т	otal	1.55E-03	1.77E-03	3.33E-03	4.4951%
Human tox. canc. eff.	Т	otal	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.0000%
Human tox. non-canc. eff.	Т	otal	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.0000%
Particulate matter	Ammonia		2.06E-03	2.95E-04		
Particulate matter	Nitrogen oxides		5.65E-04	4.69E-04		
Particulate matter	Particulates, < 10 r	mm	2.99E-06	3.40E-06		
Particulate matter	Particulates, < 2.5	mm	1.91E-05	5.06E-06		
Particulate matter	Т	otal	2.65E-03	7.73E-04	3.42E-03	4.6228%
Photochemical ozone form.	Nitrogen oxides		5.65E-04	4.69E-04		
Photochemical ozone form.	Т	otal	5.65E-04	4.69E-04	1.03E-03	1.3979%
Acidification	Ammonia		2.06E-03	2.95E-04		
Acidification	Nitrogen oxides		5.65E-04	4.69E-04		
Acidification	Т	otal	2.62E-03	7.64E-04	3.39E-03	4.5815%
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonia		2.06E-03	2.95E-04		
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrate		3.30E-09	1.55E-10		
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides		5.65E-04	4.69E-04		
Terrestrial eutrophication	Т	otal	2.62E-03	7.64E-04	3.39E-03	4.5815%
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia		2.06E-03	2.95E-04		
Marine eutrophication	Ammonium, ion		1.11E-05	7.55E-08		
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate		3.30E-09	1.55E-10		
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate		2.88E-02	2.72E-02		
Marine eutrophication	Nitrite		5.35E-09	1.56E-10		
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides		5.65E-04	4.69E-04		
Marine eutrophication	Т	otal	3.14E-02	2.80E-02	5.94E-02	80.3210%
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Carbofuran		1.73E-09	9.17E-13		
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlorothalonil		1.36E-08	9.32E-13		
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Isoproturon		4.77E-08	2.01E-14		
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Pendimethalin		2.33E-08	7.12E-13		
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Т	otal	8.64E-08	2.58E-12	8.64E-08	0.0001%
Product systems total					7.40E-02	100%

From the weighting factors calculation, was obtained as a result, also in this case, an high value for the weighting factor of the category marine eutrophication compared to the values obtained for the other categories and a very low value for the category freshwater ecotoxicity. No value was calculated for the categories human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non-cancer effect to which no nitrogen-containing substances were attributed.

Calculated weighting factors application to the normalized results produced the weighted nitrogen impact assessment profile, whose results are reported in the Table 4.22 also showing the results obtained for the single score nitrogen impact indicator as the summation of categories weighted results. After weighting, is even more evident the difference between the results for the category marine eutrophication and the results of other impact categories.

Table 4.22. Weighted nitrogen assessment profile (last two columns) and single score nitrogen impact indicator (lastrow) results calculated for conventional and organic barley product systems.

Category	Barley conv. normal.	Barley org. normal.	Weighting factors	Barley conv. weight.	Barley org. weight.
Climate change	7.01E-05	8.00E-05	4.50%	3.15E-06	3.60E-06
Human toxicity, cancer effects	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00%	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Human toxicity, non-cancer effects	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00%	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Particulate matter	1.57E-04	2.97E-05	4.62%	7.25E-06	1.37E-06
Photochemical ozone formation	5.85E-05	4.86E-05	1.40%	8.18E-07	6.80E-07
Acidification	1.89E-04	4.70E-05	4.58%	8.66E-06	2.15E-06
Terrestrial eutrophication	2.37E-04	6.48E-05	4.58%	1.09E-05	2.97E-06
Marine eutrophication	1.76E-03	1.65E-03	80.32%	1.41E-03	1.33E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	1.35E-06	9.60E-11	0.0001%	1.58E-12	1.12E-16
Total (single score nitrogen impac	1.44E-03	1.34E-03			

The results of the single score nitrogen impact indicator is also shown in graphical form in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.6. Single score nitrogen impact indicator results calculated for conventional and organic barley product systems.

The final result indicates a greater overall impact, related to the nitrogen cycle, for the conventional barley cultivation alternative (+8.1% compared to organic cultivation alternative).

4.3.6 Agricultural processes: interpretation of the results

In addition to what has been highlighted in the preceding paragraphs within the presentation of the results obtained, the following is to be noted in relation to the objectives set for the application:

- All the operative steps of the proposed methodology were applied for the comparison between two cultivation alternatives (conventional and organic) for the production of 1 kg of barley, allowing the calculation of nitrogen inventory results, reactive nitrogen indicator, nitrogen impact assessment profile (subsequently normalized and weighted) and single score nitrogen impact indicator, after determining the internal weighting factors. The methodology was therefore successfully tested in an application case based on real data, providing useful results for the comparison.
- The application allowed in particular comparing the cultivation alternatives with reference to all the outputs provided by the proposed methodology, by highlighting the differences and allowing to determine the preferred environmental alternative with reference to the impacts associated with

the nitrogen cycle. The application also allowed testing the weighting factor calculation by the internal weighting method proposed in the case of two different product systems.

As for the results obtained, the conventional system cultivation showed greater environmental impacts than the organic one considering the aggregate indicators (reactive nitrogen and single score impact). The methodology also allowed to highlight that these results were mainly attributable to the emissions derived from the use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides, not used in the organic cultivation system. Other important impact sources were due to the fertilizer production and to the production of the seeds used in the sowing phase. As far as the emissions of the product systems are concerned, only with regard to emissions to air of dinitrogen monoxide and particulates < 10 μ m, the organic alternative was less preferable due to the lower yield per hectare. This result is also reflected, with regard to the impact profile, in the climate change impact category, which resulted the only one for which the organic alternative was less preferable: even considering the nitrogen impact assessment profile, the organic alternative was generally the one with lower impacts for the categories related to the nitrogen cycle.

By analyzing in detail the results obtained for the reactive nitrogen indicator and for the single score nitrogen impact indicator, an analogous result was obtained as far as comparison is concerned, as highlighted in the Table 4.23 reporting the results refereed to both the indicators.

Production alternative	Reactive nitrogen indicator results [g/kg]	Δ (conventional vs organic) [%]	Nitrogen impact indicator results	Δ (conventional vs organic) [%]
Barley conventional Barley organic	3.30E+01 2.98E+01	+ 10.8	1.44E-03 1.34E-03	+ 8.1

Table 4.23. Reactive nitrogen indicator and nitrogen impact indicator results for the cultivation alternatives of 1 kg of barley. In the Δ columns is reported the percentage difference calculated for the conventional production alternative compared to the organic production alternative.

In this case, besides resulting the same ranking for both indicators, the difference between the two alternatives resulted of very similar percent value, denoting a high degree of consistency between the two assessment steps of the proposed methodology. This kind of consistency of results is not always detectable, as shown in the next application results.

As a final consideration of a general nature, referring to the use of the proposed methodology for the assessment of agricultural processes, it should be noted that, unlike what was verified for nitrogen-based fertilization, the impacts associated with the use of phosphorus-based fertilizers are not adequately highlighted by the assessment. In this way, the impacts related to conventional cultivation methods, which mainly use synthetic phosphorous fertilizers, are not fully accounted, especially in comparison with organic methods. This concern leads to the need to consider a possible complementary assessment of the environmental impacts associated with nitrogen and phosphorus cycles, in particular with reference to the life-cycle analysis of agricultural and agrifood processes.

4.4 Methodology application to beverage industry products

The last application presented concerns an experimentation, based on real data collected on the field, regariding the assessment of impacts related to nitrogen cycle of four products within a beverage industry Italian company: "Birra Castello". This specific application, described in the following paragraphs, was carried out in conjunction with a carbon footprint study commissioned by the company and recently completed.

4.4.1 Beverage industry products: goal and scope definition

The experimental application described in this section relates to four product system of the beverage industry company "Birra Castello" with the aim to assess the impacts related to the nitrogen cycle of two types of beer packaged in two different formats for a total of four product systems. Differences such as the type of beer, the size of the glass bottles, and the secondary packaging make the product systems different, although they have strong similarities.

The following objectives were identified for the application:

- provide a description of impacts related to the nitrogen cycle arising from emissions derived by all the processes involved in the life cycle of the analyzed products;
- identify the processes that make the most significant contribution to the total impact of the analyzed products;
- make a first complete application of the whole methodology in an industrial environment and deliver the results to the commissioner company.

Specifically, the analyzed *product systems* can be described as follows:

• "Birra Castello Premium" 33 cl packaged in single bottle produced in the Pedavena plant (BL);

- "Birra Castello Premium" 33 cl packaged in three-bottle cluster produced in the S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant (UD);
- "Birra Castello La Decisa" 33 cl packaged in single bottle produced in the S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant (UD);
- "Birra Castello La Decisa" 33 cl packaged in three-bottle cluster produced in the S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant (UD).

As for the product "La Decisa" 33 cl packaged in three-bottle cluster, the study was based on prospective data (a predefined bill of materials) as the launch on the market was scheduled after completing the study.

The Figure 4.7 shows an image of the two types of product in single bottle packaging.



Figure 4.7. *Birra Castello Premium (on the left) and Birra Castello La Decisa (on th right) single bottle packaging.*

The products perform the specific *function* of satisfying a human food need that can be linked to a caloric intake but more often to the need to quench.

The *functional units* of the analyzed systems can be described as in the Table 4.24.

Beer type	Packaging	Functional unit
	single bottle	A Castello Premium 33cl beer, with a 4.8% alcohol content, packed in brown glass bottle, with paper labels and tin-plated crown cap, packaged in single bottle
Premium 33 cl	three-bottle cluster	A Castello Premium 33cl beer, with a 4.8% alcohol content, packed in brown glass bottle, with paper labels and tin-plated crown cap, packaged in three-bottle cardboard cluster
Birra Castello La Decisa 33cl	single bottle	A Castello La Decisa 33cl beer, with a 4.8% alcohol content, packed in brown glass bottle, with paper labels and tin-plated crown cap, packaged in single bottle
	three-bottle cluster	A Castello La Decisa 33cl beer, with a 4.8% alcohol content, packed in brown glass bottle, with paper labels and tin-plated crown cap, packaged in three-bottle cardboard cluster

Table 4.24. Functional unit synthetic description for the four products of the beverage industry.

System boundaries were defined including all processes attributable to products in their life cycle. All input and output streams of matter and energy were then counted for all phases of the products life cycle. Below are briefly described the main processes and related input and output considered:

- Raw materials production: barley malt, malt dye, wheat malt and hops.
- Packaging components production comprising: primary packaging such as glass bottles, labels, caps; secondary packaging, such as clusters, trays, boxes, shrink film; tertiary packaging, such as pallets, interlayers, top covers and extensible films.
- Beer productive process, comprising consumption of energy sources (eg. electricity, methane, diesel), consumption of chemical compounds used in the process and for sanitizing operations, water consumption according to different technological purposes, atmospheric emissions (eg. stack emissions, leakage of refrigerants), the production and disposal of waste from the production plant and, the wastewater treatment.
- Products distribution, considering distances and means of transport used for each of the analyzed products and materials, production and disposal of waste originating from unpacking of products (loss of tertiary and secondary packaging), energy consumption generated by points of sale.
- Phase of use, considering the transport operated by the consumer and the consumption of energy generated by the domestic product cooling.
- Products end-of-life: scenarios were used to treat the primary packaging components of the products (bottles, caps, labels).

The production and maintenance processes of capital goods related to the production were excluded from the system boundaries.

In the Figure 4.8, a simplified scheme of the processes considered throughout the entire life cycle of the products is presented using a general structure valid for the different product systems.



Figure 4.8. System boundaries general scheme for the analyzed product systems of the beverage industry: different colors represent the different phases of the life cycle and the relative input and output considered. Source: Loss and Zuliani (2017).

For the analysis, a mass-based *cut-off criterion* was utilized by neglecting the material flows representing less than 1% of the incoming total flow, including streams of materials for which it was impossible to collect data or with a negligible mass with respect to the process considered. However, all processes were taken into account for which data were available, although their contribution was less than 1%. This choice is confirmed by several LCA studies. Within the cut-off threshold also fall: plant construction processes, staff handling, and fewer streams of auxiliary materials. The exclusion

of these flows is not such as to significantly alter the results of the study. Furthermore, the modeling of recycling operations within the product end of life was carried out using the cut-off approach that associates null impacts to these processes, as reported, among others, by Frischknecht (2010) by associating the 100% impacts of recycling operations to the next product system in which recycled material will be used.

According to LCA requirements (ISO, 2006a,b) *allocation* was performed on a mass basis: energy consumption (eg. electricity, methane, diesel), wastewater, consumption of chemicals, waste and atmospheric emissions (eg. stack emissions, leakage of refrigerants) were allocated to volumes produced by the two specific types of beer covered by the analysis. This choice was also supported by the fact that energy and material consumption were fairly constant and equiparable for all beer qualities. Furthermore, following a worst-case approach, as there was no information disaggregated about the initial processes involved in the production of the "couch-grass" co-product, it was decided not to allocate, imputing 100% of the impacts to the beer products.

4.4.2 Beverage industry products: inventory analysis

The approach used in collecting data was to gather the most information by privileging their representativeness and importance over the life cycle of the analyzed products. Primary data referred to the year 2016 were collected for production, packaging and distribution processes, as these aspects were directly managed by the producer Birra Castello S.p.A.

Below is a summary of the data considered for the analysis in relation to the different process units of the product systems:

• *Production of raw materials*. The raw materials used for the production of the two types of beer are: barley malt, malt dye, wheat malt, hop (extract, pellet aroma, pellet bittering), water, yeast. As regards barley malt, it was accounted from the agricultural production process of barley using Ecoinvent v3.1 database that includes following processes: soil cultivation, sowing, weed control, fertilization process, pest control and pathogens, harvesting and drying of grains. Operational machines and their infrastructure are also considered. This database includes streams of fertilizers, pesticides and seeds, transportation processes at the storage center and direct field emissions. Emissions of the following processes required for the conversion of barley into barley malt were also evaluated by quantifying their energy consumption (Briggs, 1998): maceration process, germination process, roasting process and other auxiliary processes. The energy used by these processes is the result of combustion of methane gas (Briggs, 1998), whose primary flows were

modeled using the Ecoinvent v3.1 database. Finally, the emissions from the transport of barley in bulk from the supply sites to both production plants were also evaluated using database Ecoinvent. As regards malt dye, it was accounted from the agricultural production process of barley. Even in this case, the aspects of agricultural production and malting processes were included. It was considered the concentration factor for the production of malt dyes, being required about 2.66 kg of barley malt for 1 kg of malt dye (Briggs, 1998). Road transport was accounted using the Ecoinvent database considering the Italian and European actual suppliers.

As regards wheat malt, it was accounted from the corn production process. For agricultural maize production, the Agri-footprint database was used, which includes cultivation of maize, diesel consumption, use of agricultural machinery, consumption of pesticides, fertilizers and seeds and their transport to the site where the grinding process, also included, takes place. This database considers by-products, 40% of the total mass, from the grinding process of corn grains out of the mill, making a mass-based allocation. Finally, the emissions from the transport of corn flour from the sites of supply to the production plants were evaluated. Again, corn flour is transported bulk and the transport process was accounted using the previous listed database.

As regards hop, it was accounted from the agricultural production process by referring to scientific literature. Emissions from diesel fuel consumption, fuel consumption and irrigation were considered. The amount of diesel fuel used to cultivate one hectare of hop cultivation was estimated from fuel costs for the cultivation of an hectare of hop (Galinato *et al.*, 2010). Nitrogen, K₂O and P₂O₅ fertilizers were accounted using the LCA Food DK database, and finally the lime spattered on the soil was accounted using the Ecoinvent database. Quantities used were estimated using secondary data (Saleem *et al.*, 2010). Finally, the emission factor related to the irrigation process was also considered (Lal, 2004). As for the transport of hops, the different German suppliers of different types of hops were considered. The transport takes place on road and was accounted using the Ecoinvent database.

As regards water, it was accounted using database referred to artesian wells for San Giorgio di Nogaro plant and to surface water sources for Pedavena plant. The water initially undergoes a number of treatments to improve some of its chemical and physical parameters, and then undergo different treatments depending on whether it is used as dilution water, which is added to the product or as process water, used primarily as a heat carrier and for the steam production. The consumption of chemical and energy reactors for pumping in plant and production in boiler of hot water and steam was accounted. For the yeast, the only biomass used was considered and not the industrial yeast production process, as its contribution is negligible in the production of beer (lower than 10 g for a liter of beer, see Cordella *et al.*, 2008).

Several chemical reagents with multiple functions ranging from filtering actions to cleansing and stabilizing actions are also used during the production process (detergents, hydrochloric acid, nitric acid, phosphoric acid, sodium hydroxide, calcium chloride, silica sand, fibroxcel). In this case it was assumed, according to the company's indications, that the type and use of these chemical components was influenced by production levels and not by the type of beer produced, so it was considered the consumption of chemicals in the year 2015 allocating them to the specific products analyzed on the basis of volumes produced, without distinguishing different types of beers. For each chemical, it was considered the production process and transport from the producer to the plant of San Giorgio di Nogaro and Pedavena. Primary data provided by the company were used for the quantities of chemicals used during production and database Ecoinvent for chemicals accounting.

• *Packaging production*. The Table 4.25 lists, for each of the analyzed products, all the packaging components, subdivided in primary, secondary and tertiary and the respective considered mass.

Product	Packaging type	Packaging components	Mass [g]
Premium 33 cl single bottle	Primary packaging	33cl brown glass bottle - Fanes Model	230.00
Premium 33 cl single bottle	Primary packaging	Tinplate crown cap	2.00
Premium 33 cl single bottle	Primary packaging	Two-sided labels and paper collar	0.50
Premium 33 cl single bottle	Primary packaging	Glue for labels	2.08
Premium 33 cl single bottle	Secondary packaging	Cardboard box for 24 bottles	10.42
Premium 33 cl single bottle	Secondary packaging	Glue for boxes	0.62
Premium 33 cl single bottle	Tertiary packaging	PE top cover	0.13
Premium 33 cl single bottle	Tertiary packaging	Pallet	13.2
Premium 33 cl single bottle	Tertiary packaging	Cardboard interlayer	0.66
Premium 33 cl single bottle	Tertiary packaging	Stretch film	0.23
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Primary packaging	33cl brown glass bottle - Fanes Model	230.00
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Primary packaging	Tinplate crown cap	2.00
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Primary packaging	Two-sided labels and paper collar	0.50
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Primary packaging	Glue for labels	2.08
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Secondary packaging	Cardboard 3-bottles cluster	10.00
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Secondary packaging	Cardboard box for 24 bottles	10.42
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Secondary packaging	Glue for boxes	0.62
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Tertiary packaging	PE top cover	0.13
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Tertiary packaging	Pallet	13.2
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Tertiary packaging	Cardboard interlayer	0.66
Premium 33 cl in cluster	Tertiary packaging	Stretch film	0.23
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	Primary packaging	33cl brown glass bottle - Giuggiaro Model	230.00

Table 4.25. Detailed description and mass of the packaging components for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage indsutry.

Product	Packaging type	Packaging components	Mass [g]
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	Primary packaging	Tinplate crown cap	2.00
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	Primary packaging	Two-sided labels and paper collar	0.50
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	Primary packaging	Glue for labels	2.08
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	Secondary packaging	Cardboard box for 24 bottles	10.42
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	Secondary packaging	Glue for boxes	0.62
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	Tertiary packaging	PE top cover	0.13
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	Tertiary packaging	Pallet	13.2
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	Tertiary packaging	Cardboard interlayer	0.66
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	Tertiary packaging	Stretch film	0.23
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Primary packaging	33cl brown glass bottle - Giuggiaro Model	230.00
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Primary packaging	Tinplate crown cap	2.00
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Primary packaging	Two-sided labels and paper collar	0.50
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Primary packaging	Glue for labels	2.08
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Secondary packaging	Cardboard 3-bottles cluster	10.00
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Secondary packaging	Cardboard box for 24 bottles	10.42
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Secondary packaging	Glue for boxes	0.62
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Tertiary packaging	PE top cover	0.13
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Tertiary packaging	Pallet	13.2
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Tertiary packaging	Cardboard interlayer	0.66
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	Tertiary packaging	Stretch film	0.23

As for the *glass bottles*: these have been accounted using the database Ecoinvent process of glass brown bottle production, considering the various processes such as: raw material and energy consumption, disposal of glass scrap, melting, bottle formation, cooling. The data set was appropriately adapted, using the Italian mix for the entire consumption of electricity. The glass bottles are delivered to the company transported on pallets and packaged with the following packaging: plastic interlayers, stretch film, cardboard top cover for which the raw material production and processing processes were considered using Ecoinvent database. The transport takes place on road from Italian suppliers and was accounted using the Ecoinvent database.

As for the *tinplate crown caps*, they were accounted from the cap production process. The tinplate is industrially produced using a sheet of steel and depositing on the surface a very fine layer of tin. The cap production, molding and tin deposition were accounted using Ecoinvent "steel", "metal working" and "tin plating, pieces" datasets. Tin-plated crown caps are delivered to the company in cardboard octabines and loaded on wooden pallets. The cardboard octabin and polyethylene bag to contain the caps during the transport were accounted using Ecoinvent database both for materials and for production processes. Finally, the transport of caps pallets was accounted using Ecoinvent database considering that both plants purchase caps from a single supplier located in Italy.

As for the *two-sided labels* and *paper collars*, they were accounted starting from the materials production. The following components were considered separately: front label, back label and

collar. The paper used for these different components and the molding process were accounted described through the Ecoinvent database. Front labels, retro labels and collars are transported in cardboard trays wrapped in heat-shrink film in polyethylene. Trays contain a variable number of pieces depending on the delivered paper component; however, an average number of pieces of 18000/19000 units per tray was estimated. These cardboard trays were accounted using a specific Ecoinvent dataset for the raw material and for the production process as well as the plastic shrink film. The labels in packs are transported on pallets the palletizing scheme being very variable: an average load per pallet of 600 kg was estimated. Finally, the transport of the labels to the production facilities of San Giorgio di Nogaro and Pedavena was accounted using Ecoinvent database considering the only Italian supplier.

As for the *cardboard cluster*, it was accounted starting from the manufacturing process of the cardboard using the Ecoinvent database for the material and for the production process. Clusters are transported on wooden pallets containing, on average, 16250 units and are provided by a single supplier located in Italy. Pallets also have a shrink film that was accounted using Ecoinvent databases for material and extrusion process. The database Ecoinvent was also used to account the transport of cardboards. The clusters used for the Premium Beer are identical in terms of mass and material to those used for the La Decisa product, only a graphical change being made.

As for the *cardboard box*, it was accounted starting from the manufacturing process of the cardboard using the Ecoinvent database for material and production process. The San Giorgio di Nogaro factory purchases cardboard boxes from an exclusive supplier located in Italy. Boxes used in the case of the Premium beer have a different graphic and are different in terms of mass than those used for La Decisa.

As for the *glue* used to paste labels on bottles and to weld profiles of cardboard boxes and trays, it was accounted using Ecoinvent database. Packaging of this material was excluded because of the 1% cut-off criterion. Glue suppliers are located in Italy in the case of both production plants. As for the polyethylene top cover used to cover finished product pallets, it was accounted using the Ecoinvent database for the material and for the extrusion process. The supplier of this material is located in Italy.

As for the *polyethylene stretch film* used to wrap finished product pallets, it was considered using a specific Ecoinvent datasets for the material and for the extrusion process. The supplier of this material is located in Italy. The company did not provide specific data on the mass used, but it was assumed that it was compatible with the one used to pack empty glass bottles entering the packaging process, for which primary data were available.

Cardboard interlayer was accounted using the Ecoinvent database.

Wooden pallets required for the distribution of the finished product and for the transportation of input materials, were accounted starting from the production using Ecoinvent database for material and production process. The San Giorgio factory buys pallets from a single supplier located in Italy: database Ecoinvent was used to account the transport. As the pallet is used for several production cycles, a pallet reuse factor of 20 times was assumed. With reference to the palletizing scheme, for the analyzed products was considered a factor of 1512 bottles per pallet of finished product.

The ink used for batch and product expiration date marking were excluded from accounting because they have a very low mass flow and therefore falling within the 1% cut-off threshold.

• *Production process and beer packaging*. Plant energy consumption was allocated using total production data, this choice being reinforced by the fact that in the plant are produced beers of different type, so average energy consumption already takes into account this variability. The 2016 data on plant energy consumption, being global, includes both direct consumption items such as bottling line and packaging line as well as indirect energy consumption. The plant in San Giorgio di Nogaro has 3 natural gas boilers subservient to the production and a fuel-oil subservient to the heating of the offices and to the handling of the carriages. Emissions from boilers and electricity consumptions were accounted using Ecoinvent dataset appropriately modified by totally using the Italian mix. It should be noted that in relation to the production of electricity, a photovoltaic system was installed at the San Giorgio di Nogaro (UD) plant, which generated about 9.1% of electricity requirements in 2016: this system was accounted using specific Ecoinvent dataset.

Another important aspect of the production process is the use of water. In the production process, water is used as a heat carrier for steam production and product component, the water content of the finished product being about 90. From the flow of water that enters the process, except for that contained in the beer, two outflows are generated: one is directed to a treatment plant and one is directly discharged into the surface body. The flow of wastewater was accounted using specific Ecoinvent dataset, as it has characteristics, in terms of polluting load, similar to those considered in this dataset, which in turn still refers to an agro-industrial production process. The remaining water flow, which represents most of the water, being used for thermal treatments or steam

production, after thermal stabilization, is directly discharged into surface water as it has qualitative parameters that are compatible with the legislative limits.

The production process uses an ammonia refrigeration system for which losses were quantified and accounted as emissions to air. The other two refrigerant units with R-134A gas mixture required a certain amount of refilling at the end of 2016, the same quantity being considered as dispersed in the air.

During the process of alcoholic fermentation, moreover, CO_2 production is liquefied and used for washing the bottles before entering the beer, to get the air out of the empty bottle and to adjust the degree of carbonation of the finished product. The CO_2 produced during the alcoholic fermentation process is not enough to cover the total needs determined by these two uses and therefore it was necessary to purchase very modest amount of CO_2 units (less than 2%). As far as the production phase is concerned, the company provided an estimated value for CO_2 consumption for bottle washing, beer carbonation, and any safety relief. Finally, the production process generates waste flows resulting from the entry of the packaging. Moreover, in the packaging process, waste are produced consisting of glass, paper / board and tinplate. To account for the emissions of waste disposal processes, the end of life of these materials was designed, considering the disposal processes used at national level (ISPRA, 2015). The end-of-life scenarios considered are summarized in the Table 4.26.

Materials	Recycling scenario	Incineration scenario	Landfill scenario
Glass	72.9%	0.0%	27.1%
Cardboard	86.0%	7.2%	6.8%
Tinplate	73.6%	0.0%	26.4%
Plastic	38.6%	36.9%	24.5%
Wood	55.1%	2.7%	42.2%

Table 4.26. Beverage industry products: materials end-of-life scenarios applied to the waste generatedin the production process. Data source: ISPRA, 2015.

To account for the various materials disposal processes, specific dataset of Ecoinvent database were used.

• **Product distribution**. The distribution of Premium and La Decisa beers is carried out in the Italian market and is characterized by different weighted-average distances depending on the type of product and means of transport. The Table 4.27 summarizes the weighted-average distances for

the distribution of the different products distinguishing the different types of means of transport used.

Product	Means of transport	Distance [km]
Premium 33 cl single bottle	truck	486
Premium 33 cl single bottle	train	1100
Premium 33 cl single bottle	ship	2
Premium 33 cl in cluster	truck	470
Premium 33 cl in cluster	train	485
Premium 33 cl in cluster	ship	1
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	truck	869
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	train	0
La Decisa 33 cl single bottle	ship	1
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	truck	470
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	train	485
La Decisa 33 cl in cluster	ship	1

Table 4.27. Beverage industry products: weighted-average distances for analyzed products distribution for different means of transport. Data for the Product "La Decisa cluster packaging" estimated based on business forecasts.

Ecoinvent database was used to account the transport processes. Another aspect considered in the distribution phase is related to the emissions from the energy consumption of the points of sale that were estimated through secondary data (Cecchinato *et al.*, 2010). Finally, emissions from the secondary and tertiary packaging disposal processes deriving from unpacking of the product were accounted using end of life scenarios based on data of ISPRA (2015).

- *Product use phase*. The phase of use was accounted considering the transport of the purchased product to the consumer's home and the electricity consumed by the domestic refrigeration unit for cooling the product. The transport of the purchased product was accounted using a specific Ecoinvent dataset assimilated to a family car. The distance traveled was assumed to be 5 km as evidenced by a similar study (Point *et al.*, 2012). The aspect of the electricity consumed by the domestic refrigeration unit for cooling the product was assessed considering a refrigerator stay of 1 week, annual energy consumption of the refrigerator equal to 400 kWh, an occupied volume of the refrigerator of 144 liters (capacity 240 l, occupied at 60%) and a refrigerated product percentage of 70%. Energy consumption was then estimated, for each product, by diversifying the volumes occupied in the refrigerator. Finally, the disposal streams for secondary packaging were also considered in the use phase using end of life scenarios based on data of ISPRA (2015).
- *Product end-of-life.* The last considered downstream process corresponding to the last stage of the product life cycle was accounted considering the multi-component nature of the product, made

up of glass (bottle), paper (labels and collar, to which the adhesive fraction was mixed in very small mass) and tinplate (crown cap). The end of life of these materials was accounted distinguishing for each material three different types of disposal: recycling, incineration and disposal at landfills. The target percentages for individual disposal processes are in accordance with ISPRA report (ISPRA, 2015) as reported in the Table 4.28.

Table 4.28. Beverage industru products: end-of-life scenarios applied to the product materials. Datasource: ISPRA, 2015.

Materials	Recycling scenario	Incineration scenario	Landfill scenario]
Glass	70.3%	0.0%	29.7%
Cardboard	79.5%	8.6%	11.8%
Tinplate	74.3%	0.0%	25.7%

To account for the various materials disposal processes, specific dataset of Ecoinvent database were used.

The impacts related to the human digestion process of beer and the treatment of the corresponding biological fluids were not considered as difficult to account for and presumably of very modest impact.

Starting from the modeling of inventory data described above and using the LCA software, the inventory results for the four product systems were calculated and then the nitrogen inventory results were determined by selecting the nitrogen-containing substances emissions. The nitrogen inventory results for the analyzed product systems are listed in the Table 4.29.

Substance	Comp.	Unit	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
2-Aminopropanol	Air	ng	2.17E+00	2.22E+00	2.13E+00	2.28E+00
2-Aminopropanol	Water	ng	5.20E+00	5.33E+00	5.11E+00	5.48E+00
2-Nitrobenzoic acid	Air	ng	4.83E+00	4.93E+00	4.81E+00	5.07E+00
Acephate	Air	ng	2.27E+00	3.16E+00	1.94E+00	3.16E+00
Acephate	Soil	ng	2.04E+01	2.65E+01	2.01E+01	2.65E+01
Acetamide	Air	pg	5.58E+02	7.77E+02	4.77E+02	7.78E+02
Acetamide	Soil	ng	2.90E+00	3.76E+00	2.86E+00	3.76E+00
Acetochlor	Soil	ng	2.43E+00	2.58E+00	2.58E+00	2.58E+00
Acetonitrile	Air	μg	1.25E+00	2.51E+00	1.21E+00	2.51E+00
Acetonitrile	Water	ng	4.92E+02	4.78E+02	4.94E+02	4.95E+02
Acifluorfen	Air	pg	3.11E+02	4.33E+02	2.66E+02	4.34E+02

Table 4.29. *Nitrogen inventory results showing the emitted amount of nitrogen-containing substances in the various environmental compartments for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage industry.*

	G		Premium	Premium	Decisa	Decisa
Substance	Comp.	Unit	33 S.D. Dodovono	33 clust.	33 s.b. S Ciargia	33 clust.
A : CL C	0.11			5.Glorgio	5.Glorgio	5.Glorgio
Actiliuorten	S011	pg	1.33E+01	1.86E+01	1.14E+01	1.86E+01
Acionifen	S011	μg	8.0/E-01	1.58E+00	8.0/E-01	1.58E+00
Acrylonitrile	water	pg	1.96E+02	1.92E+02	1.98E+02	1.98E+02
Alachior	Air Guil	ng	2.20E+00	3.07E+00	1.88E+00	3.0/E+00
Alachior	S011	μg	8.90E+02	8./1E+02	9.01E+02	9.01E+02
Aldicarb	S011	ng	6.83E+01	8.8/E+01	6.72E+01	8.8/E+01
Amidosulfuron	Soll	pg	1.23E+01	1.1/E+01	1.13E+01	1.18E+01
Ammonia	Air	mg	1.61E+02	1.59E+02	1.62E+02	1.63E+02
Ammonia	Water	μg	2.92E+01	2.87E+01	2.96E+01	2.96E+01
Ammonia	Soil	μg	6.60E+01	6.47E+01	6.69E+01	6.69E+01
Ammonia, as N	Water	pg	1.26E+00	1.24E+00	1.28E+00	1.28E+00
Ammonium carbonate	Air	ng	1.96E+02	2.04E+02	1.94E+02	2.04E+02
Ammonium, ion	Air	pg	5.82E+01	5.71E+01	5.90E+01	5.90E+01
Ammonium, ion	Water	mg	1.78E+01	2.06E+01	1.67E+01	2.07E+01
Aniline	Air	ng	1.95E+01	2.47E+01	1.94E+01	2.51E+01
Aniline	Water	ng	4.69E+01	5.93E+01	4.67E+01	6.02E+01
Anthranilic acid	Air	ng	3.76E+00	3.83E+00	3.74E+00	3.94E+00
Asulam	Soil	pg	8.96E-01	9.57E-01	9.65E-01	9.59E-01
Atrazine	Air	ng	1.74E+00	2.43E+00	1.49E+00	2.43E+00
Atrazine	Soil	μg	4.56E+02	4.55E+02	4.61E+02	4.70E+02
Azoxystrobin	Air	ng	1.03E+00	1.43E+00	8.81E-01	1.43E+00
Azoxystrobin	Soil	ng	9.43E+02	9.17E+02	9.47E+02	9.48E+02
Benomyl	Soil	ng	2.75E+00	6.71E+00	2.79E+00	6.71E+00
Bentazone	Air	ng	9.52E-01	1.33E+00	8.14E-01	1.33E+00
Bentazone	Soil	ng	4.12E+02	8.04E+02	4.12E+02	8.04E+02
Benzene, 1-methyl-2-nitro-	Air	ng	4.17E+00	4.25E+00	4.15E+00	4.38E+00
Bifenox	Soil	ng	2.23E+02	2.16E+02	2.24E+02	2.24E+02
Bitertanol	Soil	ng	9.40E+01	9.13E+01	9.44E+01	9.44E+01
Bromoxynil	Soil	ng	5.60E+02	5.43E+02	5.62E+02	5.62E+02
Bromuconazole	Soil	pg	3.55E-04	3.38E-04	3.26E-04	3.38E-04
Carbaryl	Air	pg	2.60E+02	3.62E+02	2.22E+02	3.62E+02
Carbaryl	Soil	μg	6.12E+01	6.00E+01	6.20E+01	6.20E+01
Carbendazim	Soil	ng	3.63E+01	5.67E+01	3.32E+01	5.69E+01
Carbetamide	Soil	ng	5.43E+02	6.37E+02	4.69E+02	6.41E+02
Carbofuran	Soil	μg	1.51E+00	3.68E+00	1.53E+00	3.68E+00
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Air	pg	2.86E+01	3.98E+01	2.44E+01	3.98E+01
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Soil	ng	8.71E+00	8.45E+00	8.74E+00	8.74E+00
Chloramine	Air	ng	4.67E+01	4.99E+01	4.67E+01	5.12E+01
Chloramine	Water	ng	4.17E+02	4.46E+02	4.17E+02	4.57E+02
Chloridazon	Soil	pg	3.17E-02	3.01E-02	2.91E-02	3.02E-02
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Air	pg	5.20E+02	7.24E+02	4.44E+02	7.24E+02
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Soil	ng	1.24E+01	1.83E+01	1.08E+01	1.83E+01
Chlormequat	Soil	ng	4.51E+01	4.96E+01	4.30E+01	5.05E+01
Chlorothalonil	Soil	μg	5.43E+01	8.24E+01	5.44E+01	8.27E+01
Chlorpyrifos	Air	ng	1.04E+01	1.44E+01	8.87E+00	1.44E+01
Chlorpyrifos	Soil	μg	3.16E+01	3.10E+01	3.21E+01	3.21E+01
Chlorsulfuron	Soil	pg	4.89E-04	4.65E-04	4.49E-04	4.66E-04
Chlortoluron	Soil	mg	4.01E+00	3.89E+00	4.02E+00	4.02E+00

			Dromium	Duomium	Dagica	Decice
Substance	Comn	Unit		33 clust	Jecisa 33 s h	33 clust
Substance	comp.	om	Pedavena	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio
Choline chloride	Soil	ng	6 74E-02	6.41E-02	6 19E-02	6.43E-02
Cinidon-ethyl	Soil	P5 ng	1 49E+01	1 42E+01	1.37E+01	1 43E+01
Clethodim	Air	P5 ng	1.19E+01 1.54E+00	2.14E+00	1.37E+01 1.31E+00	2.14E+00
Clethodim	Soil	ng	1.77E+01	2.61E+00	1.54E+01	2.11E+00
Clodinafon-propargyl	Soil	ng	7.24E-03	6.89E-03	6.65E-03	6.90E-03
Clomazone	Soil	ng	1.87E+01	2.54E+01	1.68E+01	2.55E+01
Clopyralid	Soil	ng	2.03E+01	1.99E+01	2.04E+01	2.06E+01
Cloquintocet-mexyl	Soil	ng	1.75E-03	1.66E-03	1.61E-03	1.67E-03
Cloransulam-methyl	Air	ng	2.71E+02	3.77E+02	2.31E+02	3.77E+02
Cloransulam-methyl	Soil	ng	5.31E+00	7.84E+00	4.64E+00	7.85E+00
Cyanide	Air	μg	4.64E+01	6.12E+01	4.29E+01	6.12E+01
Cyanide	Water	μg	6.59E+01	6.38E+01	6.17E+01	6.39E+01
Cyanoacetic acid	Air	ng	5.87E+02	5.71E+02	5.90E+02	5.91E+02
Cyfluthrin	Air	pg	5.43E+01	7.56E+01	4.64E+01	7.56E+01
Cyfluthrin	Soil	μg	2.09E+00	2.05E+00	2.12E+00	2.12E+00
Cyhalothrin	Soil	μg	3.44E+00	3.37E+00	3.49E+00	3.49E+00
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	Air	pg	6.23E+02	8.67E+02	5.32E+02	8.68E+02
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	Soil	pg	2.67E+01	3.72E+01	2.28E+01	3.72E+01
Cypermethrin	Air	pg	1.32E+02	1.83E+02	1.13E+02	1.83E+02
Cypermethrin	Soil	μg	2.93E+00	3.18E+00	2.96E+00	3.27E+00
Cyproconazole	Soil	μg	1.24E+01	1.20E+01	1.24E+01	1.24E+01
Cyprodinil	Soil	μg	5.17E+01	5.02E+01	5.19E+01	5.19E+01
Deltamethrin	Soil	ng	1.48E+01	1.47E+01	1.48E+01	1.51E+01
Diazinon	Soil	μg	2.06E+01	2.01E+01	2.08E+01	2.08E+01
Dicrotophos	Soil	ng	3.73E+00	4.84E+00	3.67E+00	4.84E+00
Diethylamine	Air	ng	9.23E+00	1.16E+01	9.16E+00	1.17E+01
Diethylamine	Water	ng	2.22E+01	2.77E+01	2.20E+01	2.82E+01
Difenoconazole	Soil	ng	1.63E+00	2.21E+00	1.46E+00	2.21E+00
Diflubenzuron	Air	pg	2.86E+01	3.98E+01	2.44E+01	3.98E+01
Diflubenzuron	Soil	μg	3.52E+00	5.20E+00	3.08E+00	5.20E+00
Diflufenican	Soil	μg	1.08E+00	1.05E+00	1.08E+00	1.08E+00
Diflufenzopyr-sodium	Soil	pg	7.88E+00	8.35E+00	8.35E+00	8.36E+00
Dimethachlor	Soil	ng	4.57E+01	6.20E+01	4.10E+01	6.23E+01
Dimethenamid	Soil	pg	5.60E+02	5.41E+02	5.32E+02	5.42E+02
Dimethoate	Soil	ng	1.28E+00	1.22E+00	1.18E+00	1.22E+00
Dimethylamine	Air	pg	5.95E+01	5.79E+01	5.67E+01	5.79E+01
Dimethylamine	Water	μg	3.63E+00	3.53E+00	3.64E+00	3.65E+00
Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	mg	5.43E+01	5.38E+01	5.40E+01	5.51E+01
Dipropylamine	Air	ng	4.66E+00	6.12E+00	4.64E+00	6.20E+00
Dipropylamine	Water	ng	1.12E+01	1.47E+01	1.11E+01	1.49E+01
Diquat	Soil	pg	2.24E+02	6.45E+02	2.31E+02	6.46E+02
Diquat dibromide	Soil	pg	1.45E-04	1.55E-04	1.56E-04	1.55E-04
Dithianone	Soil	pg	1.23E+02	1.17E+02	1.13E+02	1.18E+02
Diuron	Soil	ng	5.73E+00	7.44E+00	5.64E+00	7.44E+00
Epoxiconazole	Soil	ng	1.92E+02	1.87E+02	1.93E+02	1.93E+02
Esfenvalerate	Air	pg	3.25E+02	4.52E+02	2.77E+02	4.52E+02
Esfenvalerate	Soil	μg	9.39E+00	9.20E+00	9.51E+00	9.51E+00
Ethalfluralin	Soil	ng	1.52E+01	2.07E+01	1.37E+01	2.08E+01

Substance	Comm	TIm:+	Premium 22 a b	Premium	Decisa	Decisa 22 alust
Substance	Comp.	Umt	55 S.D. Pedavena	SS Clust. S Giorgio	55 S.D. S Giorgio	S Giorgio
Fthylamine	Air	ng	1 /2E±02	3.84E±02	1 /2E±02	3.84E±02
Ethylamine	Water	ng	3.40E+02	9.22E+02	3.42E+02	9.3E+02
Ethylene diamine	Air	ng	2.26E+02	4 47E+02	2.27E+02	4 47E+02
Ethylene diamine	Water	115	5 44E-01	1.07E+00	5 47E-01	1.07E+00
Fenbuconazole	Soil	ng	3.22E+01	3.07E+01	2.96E+01	3.07E+01
Fenoxaprop	Air	re ng	4.25E+02	5.91E+02	3.63E+02	5.92E+02
Fenoxaprop	Soil	rð ng	1.06E+01	1.57E+01	9.27E+00	1.57E+01
Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester	Soil	ng	6.47E+01	6.28E+01	6.49E+01	6.49E+01
Fennicionil	Soil	8 Ug	1.78E+00	2.92E+00	1.78E+00	2.92E+00
Fenpropidin	Soil	1°8 Ug	2.84E+00	2.76E+00	2.85E+00	2.85E+00
Fenpropimorph	Soil	r5 U9	1.08E+01	1.05E+01	1.09E+01	1.09E+01
Fipronil	Soil	ng	2.23E+01	2.89E+01	2.19E+01	2.89E+01
Florasulam	Soil	ng	2.37E+01	2.30E+01	2.38E+01	2.38E+01
Fluazifop-p-butyl	Air	ng	6.10E+02	8 49E+02	5.21E+02	8 49E+02
Fluazifop-P-butyl	Soil	ng	1.48E+01	2.05E+01	1.32E+01	2.05E+01
Flucarbazone sodium salt	Soil	ng	3.06E-05	2.91E-05	2.81E-05	2.91E-05
Fludioxonil	Soil	P5 ng	5.57E+01	5.41E+01	5 59E+01	5 59E+01
Flufenacet	Air	ng	2.29E+02	3 18E+02	1.95E+02	3.18E+02
Flufenacet	Soil	rs ng	9.47E+02	9.19E+02	9 50E+02	9 50E+02
Flumetsulam	Air	ng	5 35E+01	7 45E+01	4 57E+01	7 45E+01
Flumetsulam	Soil	ro ng	1.61E+01	1.78E+01	1.66E+01	1.78E+01
Flumiclorac-pentyl	Air	PS ng	9.15E+01	1.70E+01	7.82E+01	1.70E+01 1.27E+02
Flumiclorac-pentyl	Soil	rs ng	3 92E+00	5.46E+00	3.35E+00	5.46E+00
Flumioxazin	Air	PS no	9.26E-01	1 29E+00	7.91E-01	1 29E+00
Flumioxazin	Soil	no	6.17E+00	9.11E+00	5 39E+00	9.11E+00
Fluroxypyr	Soil	no	3.98E+01	3.87E+01	4.00E+01	4 00E+01
Flurtamone	Soil	no	9.86E+02	9 58E+02	9.90E+02	9.90E+02
Flusilazole	Soil	ng	1.08E+02	1.05E+02	1.08E+02	1.08E+02
Fomesafen	Air	no	3.44E+00	4 79E+00	2 94E+00	4 79E+00
Fomesafen	Soil	ng	4.06E+01	5 99E+01	3.55E+01	5 99E+01
Foramsulfuron	Soil	ng	1 48E+00	1.57E+00	1 57E+00	1 57E+00
Formamide	Air	rs ng	2.14E+01	2.30E+01	2.15E+01	2.36E+01
Formamide	Water	ng	5.14E+01	5 53E+01	5.15E+01	5 67E+01
Glyphosate	Air	ng	6 88E+02	9 58E+02	5 88E+02	9 58E+02
Glyphosate	Soil	119 119	2.87E+02	2.78E+02	2.60E+02	2.86E+02
Imazamox	Air	ng	1.37E+02	1 91E+02	1 17E+02	1.91E+02
Imazamox	Soil	rs ng	5.31E+00	7.85E+00	4.65E+00	7 85E+00
Imazanyr	Soil	ng	1.97E-01	2.09E-01	2 09E-01	2.09E-01
Imazaguin	Air	rs ng	4.36E+02	6.08E+02	3.73E+02	6.08E+02
Imazaquin	Soil	rs ng	1.87E+01	2.60E+01	1.60E+01	2.61E+01
Imazethanyr	Air	PS no	9.03E-01	1.26E+00	7 72E-01	1.26E+01
Imazethapyr	Soil	ng	1 33E+01	1.20E+00 1.96E+01	1.16E+01	1.26E+00
Imidacloprid	Soil	no	4.61E+02	454E+02	4.62E+02	4.69E+02
Indoxacarb	Soil	115	3.43E+00	3 36E+00	3.48E+00	3.48E+00
Ioxynil	Soil	rs ng	3.36E+02	3.27E+02	3.38E+02	3.38E+02
Iprodione	Soil	ng	2.04E+01	2.77E+01	1.84E+01	2.79E+01
Isocvanic acid	Air	5 US	1.04E+02	2.08E+02	1.02E+02	2.08E+02
Isopropylamine	Air	ng	4.85E+01	1.28E+02	4.87E+01	1.28E+02
1 I V		\mathcal{L}	-	-	-	

			Dromium	Dromium	Dogico	Dooico
Substance	Comp.	Unit	33 s.h.	33 clust.	33 s.h.	33 clust.
	eop.	01110	Pedavena	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio
Isopropylamine	Water	ng	1.16E+02	3.08E+02	1.17E+02	3.08E+02
Isoproturon	Soil	mg	3.39E+00	3.29E+00	3.41E+00	3.41E+00
Isoxaflutole	Soil	pg	2.36E+01	2.50E+01	2.51E+01	2.51E+01
Kresoxim-methyl	Soil	ng	8.73E+00	8.47E+00	8.75E+00	8.76E+00
Lactofen	Air	pg	4.39E+02	6.12E+02	3.76E+02	6.12E+02
Lactofen	Soil	pg	1.88E+01	2.62E+01	1.61E+01	2.62E+01
Lambda-cyhalothrin	Soil	ng	1.12E+02	1.11E+02	1.12E+02	1.14E+02
Linuron	Soil	μg	7.35E+00	1.33E+01	7.24E+00	1.33E+01
Mancozeb	Soil	μg	5.78E+01	9.46E+01	5.79E+01	9.46E+01
Mefenpyr	Soil	ng	2.31E+02	2.24E+02	2.32E+02	2.32E+02
Mefenpyr-diethyl	Soil	ng	1.29E+02	1.26E+02	1.30E+02	1.30E+02
Mepiquat chloride	Soil	ng	9.13E+02	8.86E+02	9.16E+02	9.17E+02
Mesotrione	Soil	pg	6.40E+01	6.78E+01	6.79E+01	6.80E+01
Metamitron	Soil	pg	2.83E+02	3.01E+02	3.03E+02	3.02E+02
Metazachlor	Soil	μg	3.53E+01	3.46E+01	3.57E+01	3.58E+01
Methomyl	Soil	μg	9.86E+01	9.65E+01	9.98E+01	9.98E+01
Methylamine	Air	ng	1.84E+02	1.80E+02	1.85E+02	1.86E+02
Methylamine	Water	ng	4.42E+02	4.31E+02	4.44E+02	4.45E+02
Metolachlor	Air	ng	7.18E+00	1.00E+01	6.14E+00	1.00E+01
Metolachlor	Soil	mg	1.23E+00	1.26E+00	1.24E+00	1.30E+00
Metribuzin	Air	ng	2.85E+00	3.97E+00	2.44E+00	3.97E+00
Metribuzin	Soil	μg	2.08E+00	3.39E+00	2.08E+00	3.39E+00
Monocrotophos	Soil	ng	4.30E+02	6.35E+02	3.76E+02	6.36E+02
Monoethanolamine	Air	mg	3.66E+00	2.57E-01	1.06E-01	2.58E-01
Monoethanolamine	Water	ng	7.84E+00	7.04E+00	6.58E+00	7.05E+00
Napropamide	Soil	ng	3.62E+02	3.98E+02	3.08E+02	4.01E+02
Nitrate	Air	μg	9.92E+01	9.87E+01	1.16E+02	9.85E+01
Nitrate	Water	g	3.54E+00	3.66E+00	3.55E+00	3.75E+00
Nitrate	Soil	μg	1.81E+02	1.80E+02	2.16E+02	1.79E+02
Nitric oxide	Air	pg	2.45E+01	2.40E+01	2.48E+01	2.48E+01
Nitrite	Water	μg	5.86E+02	6.31E+02	5.29E+02	6.31E+02
Nitrobenzene	Air	ng	3.45E+01	4.13E+01	3.44E+01	4.21E+01
Nitrobenzene	Water	ng	1.38E+02	1.66E+02	1.38E+02	1.69E+02
Nitrogen	Air	mg	3.88E+00	3.78E+00	3.89E+00	3.90E+00
Nitrogen	Water	mg	9.42E+00	1.09E+01	8.96E+00	1.09E+01
Nitrogen	Soil	μg	1.96E+00	1.93E+00	2.07E+00	1.93E+00
Nitrogen dioxide	Air	mg	3.26E+00	3.20E+00	3.30E+00	3.30E+00
Nitrogen fluoride	Air	pg	1.42E-02	1.36E-02	1.42E-02	1.38E-02
Nitrogen oxides	Air	g	1.47E+00	1.42E+00	1.43E+00	1.42E+00
Nitrogen, organic bound	Water	mg	6.34E+00	7.31E+00	6.32E+00	7.31E+00
Nitrogen, total	Water	ng	1.24E+02	1.21E+02	1.25E+02	1.25E+02
Orbencarb	Soil	μg	1.10E+01	1.80E+01	1.10E+01	1.80E+01
Paraquat dichloride	Soil	μg	7.32E+00	7.17E+00	7.41E+00	7.41E+00
Parathion	Soil	ng	1.22E+00	1.29E+00	1.18E+00	1.31E+00
Particulates, <10µm	Air	μg	3.85E+02	3.77E+02	3.90E+02	3.90E+02
Particulates, <10µm	Water	ng	9.61E+00	9.41E+00	9.73E+00	9.73E+00
Particulates, <2.5µm	Air	mg	1.89E+02	1.83E+02	1.82E+02	1.83E+02
Particulates, >2.5 µm,< 10µm	Air	mg	8.89E+01	8.29E+01	8.73E+01	8.30E+01

Substance	Comp.	Unit	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
Pendimethalin	Air	ng	1.93E+01	2.69E+01	1.65E+01	2.69E+01
Pendimethalin	Soil	mg	2.76E+00	2.69E+00	2.78E+00	2.78E+00
Phenmedipham	Soil	pg	5.18E+01	5.51E+01	5.54E+01	5.52E+01
Propiconazole	Air	pg	3.37E+02	4.69E+02	2.88E+02	4.70E+02
Propiconazole	Soil	μg	1.07E+00	1.04E+00	1.07E+00	1.07E+00
Propylamine	Air	ng	2.08E+00	2.73E+00	2.08E+00	2.76E+00
Propylamine	Water	ng	4.99E+00	6.56E+00	4.98E+00	6.64E+00
Pyridate	Soil	μg	2.41E+02	2.36E+02	2.44E+02	2.44E+02
Simazine	Soil	pg	9.95E+01	1.05E+02	1.05E+02	1.06E+02
Sulfentrazone	Air	ng	2.19E+00	3.05E+00	1.88E+00	3.06E+00
Sulfentrazone	Soil	ng	6.37E+01	9.41E+01	5.58E+01	9.42E+01
t-Butylamine	Air	ng	4.56E+02	5.31E+02	4.57E+02	5.44E+02
t-Butylamine	Water	μg	1.09E+00	1.27E+00	1.10E+00	1.31E+00
Tebupirimphos	Soil	pg	4.14E+01	4.38E+01	4.39E+01	4.39E+01
Tebutam	Soil	μg	1.22E+00	1.20E+00	1.01E+00	1.22E+00
Terbuthylazin	Soil	μg	1.94E+02	1.90E+02	1.96E+02	1.96E+02
Tralkoxydim	Soil	μg	2.21E+00	2.14E+00	2.22E+00	2.22E+00
Trifloxystrobin	Air	pg	2.00E+01	2.78E+01	1.71E+01	2.79E+01
Trifloxystrobin	Soil	ng	1.28E+02	1.24E+02	1.28E+02	1.28E+02
Trifluralin	Air	ng	3.16E+01	4.40E+01	2.70E+01	4.40E+01
Trifluralin	Soil	ng	6.28E+02	8.41E+02	5.46E+02	8.43E+02
Trimethylamine	Air	ng	2.35E+00	2.39E+00	2.33E+00	2.46E+00
Trimethylamine	Water	ng	5.64E+00	5.72E+00	5.60E+00	5.89E+00
Urea	Water	ng	1.72E+01	2.17E+01	1.72E+01	2.20E+01

To calculate the nitrogen inventory results by selecting the nitrogen-containing substances, a mass cut-off criterion with an overall threshold set to 1 ng was applied, however including substances with fewer emissions considered to be particularly relevant due to potential environmental impacts.

4.4.3 Beverage industry products: assessment at inventory level

Starting from nitrogen inventory results and applying the calculated nitrogen coefficients, the reactive nitrogen results were accounted for all the emitted nitrogen-containing substances and then the reactive nitrogen indicator results were determined for the four analyzed product systems.

The results obtained are shown in the Table 4.30, in which the last row shows the total reactive nitrogen indicator value for each product system.

Reacti							
Substance	Comn	Nitrog.	Premium	Premium	Decisa	Decisa	
Substance	comp.	coeff.	33 s.b.	33 clust.	33 s.b.	33 clust.	
			Pedavena	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio	
2-Aminopropanol	Air	0.186	4.04E-13	4.13E-13	3.97E-13	4.25E-13	
2-Aminopropanol	Water	0.186	9.70E-13	9.95E-13	9.54E-13	1.02E-12	
2-Nitrobenzoic acid	Air	0.084	4.05E-13	4.13E-13	4.03E-13	4.25E-13	
Acephate	Air	0.076	1.73E-13	2.41E-13	1.48E-13	2.41E-13	
Acephate	Soil	0.076	1.56E-12	2.03E-12	1.53E-12	2.03E-12	
Acetamide	Air	0.237	1.32E-13	1.84E-13	1.13E-13	1.84E-13	
Acetamide	Soil	0.237	6.88E-13	8.91E-13	6.77E-13	8.91E-13	
Acetochlor	Soil	0.052	1.26E-13	1.34E-13	1.34E-13	1.34E-13	
Acetonitrile	Air	0.341	4.25E-10	8.58E-10	4.13E-10	8.58E-10	
Acetonitrile	Water	0.341	1.68E-10	1.63E-10	1.69E-10	1.69E-10	
Acifluorfen	Air	0.039	1.21E-14	1.68E-14	1.03E-14	1.68E-14	
Acifluorfen	Soil	0.039	5.17E-16	7.19E-16	4.42E-16	7.20E-16	
Aclonifen	Soil	0.106	8.54E-11	1.67E-10	8.55E-11	1.67E-10	
Acrylonitrile	Water	0.264	5.17E-14	5.06E-14	5.23E-14	5.23E-14	
Alachlor	Air	0.052	1.14E-13	1.59E-13	9.78E-14	1.59E-13	
Alachlor	Soil	0.052	4.62E-08	4.52E-08	4.68E-08	4.68E-08	
Aldicarb	Soil	0.147	1.01E-11	1.31E-11	9.90E-12	1.31E-11	
Amidosulfuron	Soil	0.190	2.34E-15	2.23E-15	2.15E-15	2.23E-15	
Ammonia	Air	0.822	1.32E-04	1.30E-04	1.33E-04	1.34E-04	
Ammonia	Water	0.822	2.41E-08	2.36E-08	2.44E-08	2.44E-08	
Ammonia	Soil	0.822	5.43E-08	5.32E-08	5.50E-08	5.50E-08	
Ammonia, as N	Water	1.000	1.26E-15	1.24E-15	1.28E-15	1.28E-15	
Ammonium carbonate	Air	0.292	5.71E-11	5.95E-11	5.64E-11	5.95E-11	
Ammonium, ion	Air	0.776	4.52E-14	4.43E-14	4.58E-14	4.58E-14	
Ammonium, ion	Water	0.776	1.38E-05	1.60E-05	1.30E-05	1.60E-05	
Aniline	Air	0.150	2.93E-12	3.71E-12	2.92E-12	3.77E-12	
Aniline	Water	0.150	7.05E-12	8.92E-12	7.02E-12	9.06E-12	
Anthranilic acid	Air	0.102	3.84E-13	3.91E-13	3.82E-13	4.03E-13	
Asulam	Soil	0.122	1.09E-16	1.16E-16	1.17E-16	1.17E-16	
Atrazine	Air	0.325	5.66E-13	7.88E-13	4.84E-13	7.88E-13	
Atrazine	Soil	0.325	1.48E-07	1.48E-07	1.50E-07	1.53E-07	
Azoxystrobin	Air	0.104	1.07E-13	1.49E-13	9.17E-14	1.49E-13	
Azoxystrobin	Soil	0.104	9.83E-11	9.56E-11	9.87E-11	9.88E-11	
Benomyl	Soil	0.193	5.30E-13	1.29E-12	5.39E-13	1.30E-12	
Bentazone	Air	0.117	1.11E-13	1.55E-13	9.49E-14	1.55E-13	
Bentazone	Soil	0.117	4.81E-11	9.38E-11	4.81E-11	9.38E-11	
Benzene, 1-methyl-2-nitro-	Air	0.102	4.26E-13	4.35E-13	4.24E-13	4.47E-13	
Bifenox	Soil	0.041	9.13E-12	8.86E-12	9.16E-12	9.16E-12	
Bitertanol	Soil	0.125	1.17E-11	1.14E-11	1.18E-11	1.18E-11	
Bromoxynil	Soil	0.051	2.83E-11	2.75E-11	2.84E-11	2.84E-11	
Bromuconazole	Soil	0.111	3.95E-20	3.76E-20	3.63E-20	3.77E-20	
Carbaryl	Air	0.070	1.81E-14	2.52E-14	1.55E-14	2.52E-14	
Carbaryl	Soil	0.070	4.26E-09	4.17E-09	4.32E-09	4.32E-09	
Carbendazim	Soil	0.220	7.98E-12	1.25E-11	7.31E-12	1.25E-11	

Table 4.30. Reactive nitrogen results for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage industry. The reactive nitrogen indicator value for each product system is reported in the last row of the Table.

			Reactive n	itrogen resul	ts [kg/functio	onal unit]
Substance	Comp	Nitrog.	Premium	Premium	Decisa	Decisa
Substance	comp.	coeff.	33 s.b.	33 clust.	33 s.b.	33 clust.
			Pedavena	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio
Carbetamide	Soil	0.119	6.44E-11	7.55E-11	5.56E-11	7.60E-11
Carbofuran	Soil	0.063	9.54E-11	2.33E-10	9.69E-11	2.33E-10
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Air	0.102	2.91E-15	4.05E-15	2.49E-15	4.06E-15
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Soil	0.102	8.87E-13	8.62E-13	8.91E-13	8.91E-13
Chloramine	Air	0.272	1.27E-11	1.36E-11	1.27E-11	1.39E-11
Chloramine	Water	0.272	1.13E-10	1.21E-10	1.13E-10	1.24E-10
Chloridazon	Soil	0.190	6.00E-18	5.71E-18	5.51E-18	5.72E-18
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Air	0.135	7.02E-14	9.77E-14	6.00E-14	9.78E-14
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Soil	0.135	1.67E-12	2.47E-12	1.46E-12	2.47E-12
Chlormequat	Soil	0.114	5.15E-12	5.67E-12	4.91E-12	5.76E-12
Chlorothalonil	Soil	0.105	5.72E-09	8.68E-09	5.73E-09	8.71E-09
Chlorpyrifos	Air	0.040	4.14E-13	5.77E-13	3.54E-13	5.77E-13
Chlorpyrifos	Soil	0.040	1.26E-09	1.24E-09	1.28E-09	1.28E-09
Chlorsulfuron	Soil	0.196	9.57E-20	9.11E-20	8.79E-20	9.12E-20
Chlortoluron	Soil	0.132	5.28E-07	5.12E-07	5.30E-07	5.30E-07
Choline chloride	Soil	0.100	6.76E-18	6.44E-18	6.21E-18	6.45E-18
Cinidon-ethyl	Soil	0.036	5.31E-16	5.06E-16	4.88E-16	5.06E-16
Clethodim	Air	0.039	5.98E-14	8.33E-14	5.12E-14	8.34E-14
Clethodim	Soil	0.039	6.87E-13	1.01E-12	6.01E-13	1.02E-12
Clodinafop-propargyl	Soil	0.040	2.90E-19	2.76E-19	2.66E-19	2.76E-19
Clomazone	Soil	0.058	1.09E-12	1.48E-12	9.82E-13	1.49E-12
Clopyralid	Soil	0.073	1.48E-12	1.45E-12	1.49E-12	1.50E-12
Cloquintocet-mexyl	Soil	0.042	7.29E-20	6.94E-20	6.70E-20	6.95E-20
Cloransulam-methyl	Air	0.163	4.41E-14	6.14E-14	3.77E-14	6.15E-14
Cloransulam-methyl	Soil	0.163	8.65E-13	1.28E-12	7.57E-13	1.28E-12
Cyanide	Air	0.538	2.50E-08	3.29E-08	2.31E-08	3.30E-08
Cyanide	Water	0.538	3.55E-08	3.43E-08	3.32E-08	3.44E-08
Cyanoacetic acid	Air	0.165	9.67E-11	9.41E-11	9.71E-11	9.72E-11
Cyfluthrin	Air	0.032	1.75E-15	2.44E-15	1.50E-15	2.44E-15
Cyfluthrin	Soil	0.032	6.74E-11	6.60E-11	6.83E-11	6.83E-11
Cyhalothrin	Soil	0.031	1.07E-10	1.05E-10	1.09E-10	1.09E-10
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	Air	0.031	1.94E-14	2.70E-14	1.66E-14	2.70E-14
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	Soil	0.031	8.31E-16	1.16E-15	7.11E-16	1.16E-15
Cypermethrin	Air	0.034	4.43E-15	6.17E-15	3.79E-15	6.17E-15
Cypermethrin	Soil	0.034	9.84E-11	1.07E-10	9.96E-11	1.10E-10
Cyproconazole	Soil	0.144	1.78E-09	1.73E-09	1.79E-09	1.79E-09
Cyprodinil	Soil	0.187	9.64E-09	9.36E-09	9.68E-09	9.68E-09
Deltamethrin	Soil	0.028	4 10E-13	4.07E-13	4 09E-13	4 20E-13
Diazinon	Soil	0.020	1.89E-09	1.85E-09	1.02E-09	1.20E-19
Dicrotophos	Soil	0.052	2 20E-13	2.86E-13	2 17E-13	2.86E-13
Diethylamine	Air	0.059	1.77E-12	2.00E 13	1.76E-12	2.00E 13
Diethylamine	Water	0.192	4 24E-12	5.31E-12	4 21E-12	5 39F-12
Difenoconazole	Soil	0.102	1.68E-13	2 28E-13	1.51E-13	2 29F-13
Diflubenzuron	Air	0.105	$2.58E_{-15}$	2.201-15 3 50F-15	$2.20E_{-15}$	2.270-13 3 50F-15
Diflubenzuron	Soil	0.090	2.301-13 3 17F-10	$4.69E_{-10}$	2.201-15 2.78F-10	$4.69E_{-10}$
Diflufenican	Soil	0.071	$7.65E_{-11}$	7.07L-10	2.701-10 7 68F-11	$7.68E_{-11}$
Diflufenzonvr-sodium	Soil	0.157	1 2/F 15	1 31E 15	1 31E 15	1 32F 15
Diffutenzopyr-soutum	5011	0.157	1.2-12-13	1.516-15	1.516-15	1.521-15

Substance Comp. Nitrog. coeff. Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena Premium 33 clust. Decisa 33 s.b. 33 s.b. Sclorgio Decisa 33 clust. Dimethachlor Soil 0.055 2.50E-12 3.40E-12 2.25E-12 3.41E-12 Dimethachlor Soil 0.061 7.84E-14 2.75E-14 2.70E-14 7.47E-14 Dimethanine Air 0.311 1.85E-14 1.80E-14 1.74E-14 1.80E-14 1.74E-14 Dimethylamine Water 0.311 1.13E-09 1.10E-09 1.13E-05 3.44E-05 3.51E-05 Dipropylamine Water 0.138 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.43E-13 8.58E-13 Dipropylamine Water 0.138 1.55E-12 2.05E-12 1.26E-20 1.26E-20 Diquat Soil 0.021 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 6.78E-13 8.94E-13 Diquat Soil 0.127 2.45E-11 2.38E-11 2.46E-11 1.24E-20 Diquat Soil 0.126 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 6.78E-13		Comp.	Nitrog. coeff.	Reactive nitrogen results [kg/functional unit]			
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Substance			Premium	Premium	Decisa	Decisa
Pedavena S.Giorgio S.Giorgio S.Giorgio Dimethachlor Soil 0.055 2.50E-12 3.40E-12 2.25E-12 3.41E-12 Dimethaamid Soil 0.061 2.84E-14 2.75E-14 2.70E-14 2.74E-14 Dimethoate Soil 0.061 7.84E-14 7.46E-14 7.47E-14 1.74F-14 Dimethylamine Water 0.311 1.85E-14 1.80E-14 1.76E-14 1.14E-09 Dipropylamine Water 0.138 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.43E-13 8.58E-13 Dipropylamine Water 0.138 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.43E-13 8.94E-13 6.43E-13 8.94E-13 6.43E-13 8.94E-13 1.26E-20 1.27E-20 1.27E-20 1.26E-20 1.27E-20 1.26E-20 1.27E-20 1.26E-20 1.27E-14 1.11E-14 1.07E-14 1.11E-14 1.07E-14 1.11E-14 1.07E-14 1.12E-14 1.07E-14 1.12E-14 1.07E-14 1.12E-14 1.07E-14 1.12E-14 1.07E-14 1.12E-14 <	Substance			33 s.b.	33 clust.	33 s.b.	33 clust.
Dimethachlor Soil 0.055 2.50E-12 3.40E-12 2.25E-12 3.41E-12 Dimethonamid Soil 0.061 2.84E-14 2.75E-14 2.74E-14 2.74E-14 Dimethoylamine Air 0.311 1.85E-14 1.80E-14 1.76E-14 1.80E-14 Dimethylamine Water 0.311 1.13E-09 1.10E-09 1.13E-05 3.44E-05 3.51E-05 Dipropylamine Air 0.138 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.43E-13 8.58E-13 Dipropylamine Water 0.138 1.55E-12 2.03E-12 1.54E-12 2.06E-12 Diquat Soil 0.120 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.78E-13 8.54E-13 Diquat Soil 0.120 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 6.78E-13 8.94E-13 Divanon Soil 0.127 2.45E-11 2.36E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 Epoxiconazole Soil 0.126 1.92E-12 2.61E-12 1.72E-14 2.62E-15 Ethafluralin <t< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>Pedavena</th><th>S.Giorgio</th><th>S.Giorgio</th><th>S.Giorgio</th></t<>				Pedavena	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio
Dimethenamid Soil 0.051 2.84E-14 7.75E-14 2.75E-14 2.75E-14 2.75E-14 7.46E-14 7.20E-14 7.47E-14 Dimethylamine Air 0.311 1.85E-14 1.80E-14 1.76E-14 1.80E-14 Dimethylamine Water 0.311 1.13E-09 1.10E-09 1.13E-09 1.14E-09 Dimitrogen monoxide Air 0.636 3.46E-05 3.34E-05 3.54E-05 3.51E-05 Dipropylamine Water 0.138 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.43E-14 9.82E-14 Diguat dibromide Soil 0.095 1.17E-14 1.11E-14 1.07E-14 1.11E-14 Diquat dibromide Soil 0.120 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 8.94E-13 8.94E-13 Epoxiconazole Soil 0.127 2.45E-14 2.36E-14 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-14 2.46E-14 2.46E-14 2.46E-14 2.46E-14 2.46E-14 2.46E-14 <	Dimethachlor	Soil	0.055	2.50E-12	3.40E-12	2.25E-12	3.41E-12
Dimethoate Soil 0.061 7.84E-14 7.46E-14 7.20E-14 7.47E-14 Dimethylamine Air 0.311 1.35E-04 1.08E-14 1.76E-14 1.80E-14 Dimethylamine Water 0.311 1.13E-09 1.13E-09 1.13E-09 Dipropylamine Air 0.636 3.46E-05 3.43E-05 3.44E-05 3.51E-13 Dipropylamine Water 0.138 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.43E-13 8.58E-13 Diquat Soil 0.152 3.41E-14 9.81E-14 3.50E-14 9.82E-14 Diquat Goil 0.095 1.17E-14 1.11E-14 1.07E-14 1.11E-14 Diuron Soil 0.127 2.45E-13 8.94E-13 8.94E-13 8.94E-13 Esfenvalerate Soil 0.033 3.13E-10 3.07E-10 3.17E-10 3.17E-10 Esfenvalerate Soil 0.126 1.92E-12 2.61E+12 1.72E+12 2.62E+12 Ethylamine Water 0.311 1.40E-10<	Dimethenamid	Soil	0.051	2.84E-14	2.75E-14	2.70E-14	2.75E-14
Dimethylamine Air 0.311 1.85E-14 1.80E-14 1.76E-14 1.80E-14 Dimitrogen monoxide Air 0.636 3.46E-05 3.43E-05 3.44E-05 Dipropylamine Air 0.138 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.43E-13 8.58E-13 Dipropylamine Water 0.132 3.41E-14 9.30E-14 9.35E-12 2.06E-12 Diquat dibromide Soil 0.0152 3.41E-14 9.81E-14 3.50E-14 9.82E-14 Diquat dibromide Soil 0.027 2.45E-11 2.36E-13 8.47E-13 8.47E-13 8.47E-13 8.94E-13 Epoxiconazole Soil 0.120 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 6.75E-13 1.51E-14 Esfenvalerate Air 0.033 1.33E-10 3.07E-10 3.17E-10 3.17E-10 <t< td=""><td>Dimethoate</td><td>Soil</td><td>0.061</td><td>7.84E-14</td><td>7.46E-14</td><td>7.20E-14</td><td>7.47E-14</td></t<>	Dimethoate	Soil	0.061	7.84E-14	7.46E-14	7.20E-14	7.47E-14
Dimethylamine Water 0.311 1.13E-09 1.10E-09 1.13E-09 1.14E-09 Dimitrogen monoxide Air 0.636 3.46E-05 3.43E-05 3.44E-05 3.51E-05 Dipropylamine Water 0.138 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.43E-13 8.58E-13 Diquat Soil 0.152 3.41E-14 9.81E-14 3.50E-14 9.82E-14 Diquat Soil 0.095 1.17E-14 1.11E-14 1.07E-14 1.11E-14 Dithianone Soil 0.127 2.45E-11 2.38E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 Esfenvalerate Soil 0.033 3.13E-10 3.07E-10 3.17E-10 3.17E-10 Ethylamine Air 0.311 4.06E-10 2.86E-10 1.06E-10 2.87E-10 2.61E-12 1.72E-12 2.62E-12 2.61E-12 1.72E-12 2.62E-12 2.61E-12 1.72E-12 2.62E-12 2.62E-12 2.62E-12 2.62E-12 2.62E-12 2.62E-12 2.62E-13 5.01E-10 2.62E-13 5.01E-10	Dimethylamine	Air	0.311	1.85E-14	1.80E-14	1.76E-14	1.80E-14
Dinitrogen monoxide Air 0.636 3.46E-05 3.43E-05 3.44E-05 3.51E-05 Dipropylamine Air 0.138 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.45E-13 8.58E-13 Dipropylamine Water 0.152 3.41E-14 9.81E-14 3.50E-14 9.82E-14 Diquat Soil 0.081 1.18E-20 1.26E-20 1.27E-20 1.26E-20 Dithianone Soil 0.120 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 8.94E-13 8.94E-13 Epoxiconazole Soil 0.127 2.45E-11 2.38E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 Esfenvalerate Soil 0.033 3.13E-10 3.07E-10 3.17E-10 3.17E-10 Ethalfuratin Soil 0.126 1.92E-12 2.61E-12 1.72E-12 2.62E-12 Ethylamine Air 0.311 1.06E-10 2.86E-10 1.06E-10 2.08E-10 1.06E-10 2.08E-10 Ethylene diamine Water 0.466 2.54E-10 5.00E-10 2.55E-10 5.01E-10	Dimethylamine	Water	0.311	1.13E-09	1.10E-09	1.13E-09	1.14E-09
Dipropylamine Air 0.138 6.45E-13 8.47E-13 6.43E-13 8.58E-13 Dipropylamine Water 0.138 1.55E-12 2.03E-12 1.54E-12 2.06E-12 Diquat Soil 0.081 1.18E-20 1.26E-20 1.27E-20 1.26E-20 Dithianone Soil 0.025 1.17E-14 1.11E-14 1.07E-14 1.11E-14 Diuron Soil 0.127 2.45E-11 2.38E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 Epoxiconazole Soil 0.033 1.08E-14 1.51E-14 9.26E-15 1.51E-14 Esfenvalerate Soil 0.033 1.08E-14 1.51E-14 9.26E-15 1.51E-14 Ethalfuralin Soil 0.126 1.92E-12 2.61E-12 1.72E-10 2.62E-12 Ethylamine Air 0.311 4.40E-11 1.19E-10 4.43E-11 1.19E-10 Ethylamine Water 0.311 1.06E-10 2.86E-10 5.00E-10 2.58E-10 5.01E-15 Ethylene diamine <	Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	0.636	3.46E-05	3.43E-05	3.44E-05	3.51E-05
Dipropylamine Water 0.138 1.55E-12 2.03E-12 1.54E-12 2.06E-12 Diquat Soil 0.152 3.41E-14 9.81E-14 3.30E-14 9.82E-14 Diquat dibromide Soil 0.095 1.17E-14 1.11E-14 1.07E-14 1.11E-14 Diuron Soil 0.120 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 6.78E-13 8.94E-13 Esfenvalerate Air 0.033 1.08E-14 1.51E-14 9.26E-15 1.51E-14 Esfenvalerate Soil 0.023 3.13E-10 3.07E-10 3.17E-10 3.17E-10 Ethylamine Air 0.311 4.40E-11 1.9E-10 4.43E-11 1.19E-10 Ethylamine Water 0.466 1.05E-10 2.08E-10 1.06E-10 2.08E-10 Ethylene diamine Water 0.466 1.05E-15 5.10E-15 5.01E-10 2.08E-10 5.01E-10 Fenoxaprop Air 0.466 2.54E-10 5.00E-10 2.5E-10 5.01E-15 Fenoxaprop <t< td=""><td>Dipropylamine</td><td>Air</td><td>0.138</td><td>6.45E-13</td><td>8.47E-13</td><td>6.43E-13</td><td>8.58E-13</td></t<>	Dipropylamine	Air	0.138	6.45E-13	8.47E-13	6.43E-13	8.58E-13
Diquat Soil 0.152 3.41E-14 9.81E-14 3.50E-14 9.82E-14 Diquat dibromide Soil 0.081 1.18E-20 1.26E-20 1.26E-20 Dithianone Soil 0.120 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 6.78E-13 8.94E-13 Epoxiconazole Soil 0.127 2.45E-11 2.38E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 Esfenvalerate Air 0.033 1.08E-14 1.51E-14 9.26E-15 1.51E-14 Ethalfuratin Soil 0.126 1.92E-12 2.61E-12 1.72E-12 2.62E-12 Ethylamine Air 0.311 4.40E-11 1.19E-10 4.43E-11 1.19E-10 Ethylamine Water 0.311 1.06E-10 2.87E-10 5.01E-10 Ethylene diamine Water 0.466 2.54E-10 5.00E-10 2.08E-10 5.01E-10 Fenoxaprop Air 0.422 1.78E-14 2.48E-14 1.52E-14 2.48E-14 Fenoxaprop-Pethyl ester Soil 0.042 1.78E-13	Dipropylamine	Water	0.138	1.55E-12	2.03E-12	1.54E-12	2.06E-12
Diquat dibromide Soil 0.081 1.18E-20 1.26E-20 1.27E-20 1.26E-20 Dithianone Soil 0.095 1.17E-14 1.11E-14 1.11E-14 1.11E-14 Diuron Soil 0.120 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 6.78E-13 8.94E-13 Epoxiconazole Soil 0.033 1.08E-14 1.51E-14 9.26E-15 1.51E-14 Esfenvalerate Soil 0.126 1.92E-12 2.61E-12 1.72E-10 2.317E-10 Ethylamine Air 0.311 4.40E-11 1.19E-10 4.43E-11 1.19E-10 Ethylamine Mar 0.311 1.06E-10 2.87E-10 5.01E-10 2.08E-10 5.01E-10 Ethylamine Water 0.311 1.06E-10 2.08E-10 5.01E-10 2.08E-10 5.01E-10 Ethylamine Water 0.466 2.54E-10 5.00E-10 2.51E-12 2.51E-12 2.51E-10 5.01E-15 Fenoxaprop Air 0.042 1.45E-10 1.41E-10 1.46E-10	Diquat	Soil	0.152	3.41E-14	9.81E-14	3.50E-14	9.82E-14
Dithianone Soil 0.095 1.17E-14 1.11E-14 1.07E-14 1.11E-14 Diuron Soil 0.120 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 8.94E-13 Epoxiconazole Soil 0.127 2.45E-11 2.38E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 Esfenvalerate Air 0.033 3.13E-10 3.07E-10 3.17E-10 3.17E-10 Ethalfuralin Soil 0.126 1.92E-12 2.61E-12 1.72E-12 2.62E-15 Ethylamine Air 0.311 1.06E-10 2.86E-10 1.06E-10 2.87E-10 Ethylene diamine Air 0.466 2.54E-10 5.00E-10 2.55E-10 5.01E-10 Fenoxaprop Air 0.042 1.78E-14 2.48E-14 1.52E-14 2.48E-14 Fenoxaprop Air 0.042 1.78E-10 5.01E-10 3.45E-10 Fenoxaprop Soil 0.039 2.50E-12 2.43E-13 5.88E-13 Fenoxaprop Soil 0.045 5.00E-10 3.45E-10 5.02E-10 <td>Diquat dibromide</td> <td>Soil</td> <td>0.081</td> <td>1.18E-20</td> <td>1.26E-20</td> <td>1.27E-20</td> <td>1.26E-20</td>	Diquat dibromide	Soil	0.081	1.18E-20	1.26E-20	1.27E-20	1.26E-20
Diuron Soil 0.120 6.89E-13 8.94E-13 6.78E-13 8.94E-13 Epoxiconazole Soil 0.127 2.45E-11 2.38E-11 2.46E-11 2.46E-11 Esfenvalerate Soil 0.033 3.13E-10 3.07E-10 3.17E-10 3.17E-10 Ethalfluralin Soil 0.126 1.92E-12 2.61E-12 1.72E-12 2.62E-15 Ethylamine Air 0.311 4.40E-11 1.19E-10 4.43E-11 1.19E-10 Ethylamine Water 0.311 1.06E-10 2.86E-10 1.06E-10 2.87E-10 Ethylae diamine Water 0.466 1.05E-10 2.08E-10 1.06E-10 2.08E-15 Fenoxaprop Air 0.042 1.78E-14 2.48E-14 1.52E-14 2.48E-14 Fenoxaprop Air 0.042 1.78E-14 2.48E-10 5.01E-10 5.1E-12 Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester Soil 0.039 2.50E-12 2.41E-12 2.51E-12 2.51E-12 Fenoproidin Soil	Dithianone	Soil	0.095	1.17E-14	1.11E-14	1.07E-14	1.11E-14
EpoxiconazoleSoil 0.127 $2.45E-11$ $2.38E-11$ $2.46E-11$ $2.46E-11$ $2.46E-11$ EsfenvalerateAir 0.033 $1.08E-14$ $1.51E-14$ $9.26E-15$ $1.51E-14$ EsfenvalerateSoil 0.033 $3.13E-10$ $3.07E-10$ $3.17E-10$ $3.17E-10$ EthalfluralinSoil 0.126 $1.92E-12$ $2.61E-12$ $1.72E-12$ $2.62E-12$ EthylamineAir 0.311 $4.40E-11$ $1.19E-10$ $4.43E-11$ $1.19E-10$ Ethylene diamineWater 0.311 $1.06E-10$ $2.88E-10$ $1.06E-10$ $2.87E-10$ Ethylene diamineWater 0.466 $2.54E-10$ $5.00E-10$ $2.55E-10$ $5.01E-10$ FenbuconazoleSoil 0.166 $5.36E-15$ $5.10E-15$ $4.93E-15$ $5.11E-15$ FenoxapropAir 0.042 $1.78E-14$ $2.48E-14$ $1.52E-14$ $2.48E-14$ Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil 0.042 $4.45E-13$ $6.57E-13$ $3.89E-13$ $6.58E-13$ Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil 0.018 $2.10E-10$ $3.45E-10$ $2.11E-10$ $3.45E-10$ FenpropidinSoil 0.0146 $5.00E-10$ $4.85E-10$ $5.02E-10$ $5.02E-10$ FenpropidinSoil 0.037 $2.36E-12$ $3.71E-12$ $2.51E-12$ FenpropidinSoil 0.037 $2.36E-12$ $3.71E-12$ $2.81E-12$ FurdoxulamSoil 0.178 $2.86E-12$ $3.71E-12$ $2.81E-12$ Functonar	Diuron	Soil	0.120	6.89E-13	8.94E-13	6.78E-13	8.94E-13
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Epoxiconazole	Soil	0.127	2.45E-11	2.38E-11	2.46E-11	2.46E-11
EsfenvalerateSoil 0.033 $3.13E-10$ $3.07E-10$ $3.17E-10$ $3.17E-10$ EthalfluralinSoil 0.126 $1.92E-12$ $2.61E-12$ $1.72E-12$ $2.62E-12$ EthylamineAir 0.311 $4.40E-11$ $1.19E-10$ $4.43E-11$ $1.19E-10$ EthylamineWater 0.311 $1.06E-10$ $2.86E-10$ $1.06E-10$ $2.87E-10$ Ethylene diamineWater 0.466 $1.05E-10$ $2.08E-10$ $1.06E-10$ $2.08E-10$ Ethylene diamineWater 0.466 $5.36E-15$ $5.10E-15$ $4.93E-15$ $5.11E-15$ FenbuconazoleSoil 0.166 $5.36E-15$ $5.10E-15$ $4.93E-15$ $5.11E-15$ FenoxapropAir 0.042 $4.45E-13$ $6.57E-13$ $3.89E-13$ $6.58E-13$ Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil 0.042 $4.45E-13$ $6.57E-12$ $2.51E-12$ $2.51E-12$ FenpropidinSoil 0.051 $1.45E-10$ $2.45E-10$ $2.11E-10$ $3.45E-10$ FenpropidinSoil 0.046 $5.00E-10$ $4.85E-10$ $5.02E-10$ $5.02E-10$ FipronilSoil 0.018 $2.86E-12$ $3.71E-12$ $2.81E-12$ $3.71E-12$ Fluazifop-p-butylAir 0.037 $5.40E-13$ $3.89E-13$ $3.6E-13$ $3.90E-21$ Fluazifop-p-butylAir 0.037 $5.40E-13$ $3.6E-14$ $3.68E-14$ Fluazifop-p-butylSoil 0.134 $4.09E-21$ $3.06E-21$ $3.90E-21$ Fluaridonini <t< td=""><td>Esfenvalerate</td><td>Air</td><td>0.033</td><td>1.08E-14</td><td>1.51E-14</td><td>9.26E-15</td><td>1.51E-14</td></t<>	Esfenvalerate	Air	0.033	1.08E-14	1.51E-14	9.26E-15	1.51E-14
EthalfluralinSoil 0.126 $1.92E-12$ $2.61E-12$ $1.72E-12$ $2.62E-12$ EthylamineAir 0.311 $4.40E-11$ $1.19E-10$ $4.43E-11$ $1.19E-10$ EthylamineWater 0.311 $1.06E-10$ $2.86E-10$ $1.06E-10$ $2.87E-10$ Ethylene diamineAir 0.466 $1.05E-10$ $2.08E-10$ $1.06E-10$ $2.08E-10$ Ethylene diamineWater 0.466 $5.36E-15$ $5.00E-10$ $2.55E-10$ $5.01E-10$ FenbuconazoleSoil 0.166 $5.36E-15$ $5.10E-15$ $4.93E-15$ $5.11E-15$ FenoxapropAir 0.042 $4.45E-13$ $6.57E-13$ $3.89E-13$ $6.58E-13$ Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil 0.042 $4.45E-10$ $6.57E-13$ $3.89E-13$ $6.58E-13$ FenopoimorphSoil 0.051 $1.45E-10$ $1.41E-10$ $1.46E-10$ $1.46E-10$ FenpropimorphSoil 0.051 $1.45E-10$ $5.02E-10$ $5.02E-10$ $5.02E-10$ FipronilSoil 0.128 $2.86E-12$ $3.71E-12$ $2.81E-12$ $3.71E-12$ Fluzaifop-p-butylAir 0.037 $5.40E-13$ $3.48E-13$ $3.02E-14$ Fluzaifop-p-butylSoil 0.134 $4.09E-21$ $3.76E-21$ $3.90E-21$ Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil 0.134 $4.09E-10$ $1.00E-10$ $1.02E-14$ FluencetAir 0.116 $0.9E-16$ $1.06E-10$ $1.10E-10$ $1.02E-14$ FluencacetSoil 0	Esfenvalerate	Soil	0.033	3.13E-10	3.07E-10	3.17E-10	3.17E-10
EthylamineAir 0.311 $4.40E-11$ $1.19E-10$ $4.43E-11$ $1.19E-10$ EthylamineWater 0.311 $1.06E-10$ $2.86E-10$ $1.06E-10$ $2.87E-10$ Ethylene diamineAir 0.466 $1.05E-10$ $2.08E-10$ $1.06E-10$ $2.08E-10$ Ethylene diamineWater 0.466 $2.54E-10$ $5.00E-10$ $2.55E-10$ $5.01E-15$ FenoxapropAir 0.042 $1.78E-14$ $2.48E-14$ $1.52E-14$ $2.48E-14$ FenoxapropSoil 0.042 $4.45E-13$ $6.57E-13$ $3.89E-13$ $6.58E-13$ Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil 0.039 $2.50E-12$ $2.43E-12$ $2.51E-12$ $2.51E-12$ FenopriciniSoil 0.118 $2.10E-10$ $3.45E-10$ $2.11E-10$ $3.45E-10$ FenorpopidinSoil 0.051 $1.45E-10$ $1.41E-10$ $1.46E-10$ $1.46E-10$ FenorpopimorphSoil 0.0128 $2.86E-12$ $3.71E-12$ $2.81E-12$ $3.71E-12$ Fluazifop-p-butylAir 0.037 $5.40E-13$ $7.48E-13$ $4.82E-13$ $7.51E-13$ Fluazifop-P-butylSoil 0.134 $4.09E-21$ $3.00E-21$ $3.76E-21$ $3.00E-21$ Fluarbacene sodium saltSoil 0.113 $6.29E-12$ $6.11E-12$ $6.31E-12$ $6.31E-12$ FluerbacetSoil 0.113 $6.29E-14$ $3.68E-14$ $3.68E-14$ $3.68E-14$ FluerbacetSoil 0.116 $1.09E-14$ $3.09E-21$ $3.76E-21$ $3.$	Ethalfluralin	Soil	0.126	1.92E-12	2.61E-12	1.72E-12	2.62E-12
EthylamineWater0.3111.06E-102.86E-101.06E-102.87E-10Ethylene diamineAir0.4661.05E-102.08E-101.06E-102.08E-10Ethylene diamineWater0.4662.54E-105.00E-102.55E-105.01E-10FenoxapropAir0.0421.78E-142.48E-141.52E-142.48E-14FenoxapropSoil0.0424.45E-136.57E-133.89E-136.58E-13Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil0.0392.50E-122.43E-122.51E-122.51E-12FenorpicionilSoil0.0511.45E-101.41E-101.46E-101.46E-10FenorpimorphSoil0.0428.68E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12ForoasulamSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0375.40E-137.48E-134.82E-137.51E-13Fluazifop-P-butylSoil0.1344.09E-213.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21FludoxonilSoil0.1161.09E-101.10E-101.10E-101.10E-10Fluearbazone sodium saltSoil0.1162.92E-153.82E-153.84E-153.68E-14FluefanacetSoil0.1161.09E-101.06E-101.10E-101.10E-10Fluerbazone sodium saltSoil0.1161.09E-143.68E-142.66E-143.68E-14Fluerbazone sodium saltSoil0.1161.09E-153.83E-153.57E-153.8	Ethylamine	Air	0.311	4.40E-11	1.19E-10	4.43E-11	1.19E-10
Ethylene diamineAir0.4661.05E-102.08E-101.06E-102.08E-10Ethylene diamineWater0.4662.54E-105.00E-102.55E-105.01E-10FenbuconazoleSoil0.1665.36E-155.10E-154.93E-155.11E-15FenoxapropAir0.0421.78E-142.48E-141.52E-142.48E-14Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil0.0424.45E-136.57E-133.89E-136.58E-13Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil0.0392.50E-122.43E-122.51E-122.51E-12FenpropilinSoil0.0182.10E-103.45E-102.11E-103.45E-10FenpropimorphSoil0.0465.00E-104.85E-105.02E-105.02E-10FipronilSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12FloasulamSoil0.1954.61E-124.48E-124.63E-124.63E-12Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0372.23E-143.10E-141.90E-143.10E-14Fluazifop-P-butylSoil0.1344.09E-213.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FlufenacetAir0.1161.09E-101.06E-149.84E-151.60E-14FlufenacetSoil0.1161.09E-101.06E-149.84E-151.60E-14FlumetsulamAir0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15<	Ethylamine	Water	0.311	1.06E-10	2.86E-10	1.06E-10	2.87E-10
Ethylene diamineWater0.4662.54E-105.00E-102.55E-105.01E-10FenbuconazoleSoil0.1665.36E-155.10E-154.93E-155.11E-15FenoxapropAir0.0421.78E-142.48E-141.52E-142.48E-14FenoxapropSoil0.0424.45E-136.57E-133.89E-136.58E-13Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil0.0392.50E-122.43E-122.51E-122.51E-12FenpropidinSoil0.0511.45E-101.41E-101.46E-101.46E-10FenpropidinSoil0.0465.00E-104.85E-105.02E-105.02E-10FipronilSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12FlorasulamSoil0.1954.61E-124.48E-124.63E-124.63E-12Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0375.40E-137.48E-134.82E-137.51E-13Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1136.29E-123.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21FlufenacetAir0.1161.09E-143.68E-142.68E-143.68E-14FlumetsulamAir0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0331.30E-161.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16Flumiclorac-pentyl <td>Ethylene diamine</td> <td>Air</td> <td>0.466</td> <td>1.05E-10</td> <td>2.08E-10</td> <td>1.06E-10</td> <td>2.08E-10</td>	Ethylene diamine	Air	0.466	1.05E-10	2.08E-10	1.06E-10	2.08E-10
FenbuconazoleSoil0.1665.36E-155.10E-154.93E-155.11E-15FenoxapropAir0.0421.78E-142.48E-141.52E-142.48E-14FenoxapropSoil0.0424.45E-136.57E-133.89E-136.58E-13Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil0.0392.50E-122.43E-122.51E-122.51E-12FenpiclonilSoil0.1182.10E-103.45E-102.11E-103.45E-10FenpropidinSoil0.0465.00E-104.85E-105.02E-105.02E-10FipronilSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12FlorasulamSoil0.1954.61E-124.48E-124.63E-124.63E-12Fluazifop-P-butylAir0.0372.23E-143.10E-141.90E-143.10E-14Fluazifop-P-butylSoil0.1344.09E-213.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1162.64E-143.68E-142.68E-143.68E-14FluerabazoneSoil0.1161.09E-101.06E-101.10E-101.10E-10FluerbulamAir0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15FluerbulamAir0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FluerbulamAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FluerbulamAir0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16Flumiclorac-pentyl <td>Ethylene diamine</td> <td>Water</td> <td>0.466</td> <td>2.54E-10</td> <td>5.00E-10</td> <td>2.55E-10</td> <td>5.01E-10</td>	Ethylene diamine	Water	0.466	2.54E-10	5.00E-10	2.55E-10	5.01E-10
FenoxapropAir0.0421.78E-142.48E-141.52E-142.48E-14FenoxapropSoil0.0424.45E-136.57E-133.89E-136.58E-13Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil0.0392.50E-122.43E-122.51E-122.51E-12FenpiclonilSoil0.1182.10E-103.45E-102.11E-103.45E-10FenpropidinSoil0.0511.45E-101.41E-101.46E-101.46E-10FenpropimorphSoil0.0465.00E-104.85E-105.02E-105.02E-10FipronilSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12FloasulamSoil0.1954.61E-124.48E-124.63E-124.63E-12Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0375.40E-137.48E-134.82E-137.51E-13Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FlufenacetAir0.1161.09E-101.06E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamAir0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0331.30E-161.30E-161.11E-161.81E-16Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0331.30E-161.30E-161.11E-161.81E-16Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0331.30E-161.30E-161.11E-161.81E-16	Fenbuconazole	Soil	0.166	5.36E-15	5.10E-15	4.93E-15	5.11E-15
FenoxapropSoil0.0424.45E-136.57E-133.89E-136.58E-13Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil0.0392.50E-122.43E-122.51E-122.51E-12FenpiclonilSoil0.1182.10E-103.45E-102.11E-103.45E-10FenpropidinSoil0.0511.45E-101.41E-101.46E-101.46E-10FenpropimorphSoil0.0465.00E-104.85E-105.02E-105.02E-10FipronilSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12FloasulamSoil0.1954.61E-124.48E-124.63E-124.63E-12Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0375.40E-137.48E-134.82E-137.51E-13Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FludioxonilSoil0.1161.09E-101.10E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamAir0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15FlumetsulamSoil0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0331.30E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13 <t< td=""><td>Fenoxaprop</td><td>Air</td><td>0.042</td><td>1.78E-14</td><td>2.48E-14</td><td>1.52E-14</td><td>2.48E-14</td></t<>	Fenoxaprop	Air	0.042	1.78E-14	2.48E-14	1.52E-14	2.48E-14
Fenoxaprop-P ethyl esterSoil0.0392.50E-122.43E-122.51E-122.51E-12FenpiclonilSoil0.1182.10E-103.45E-102.11E-103.45E-10FenpropidinSoil0.0511.45E-101.41E-101.46E-101.46E-10FenpropimorphSoil0.0465.00E-104.85E-105.02E-105.02E-10FipronilSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12FlorasulamSoil0.1954.61E-124.48E-124.63E-124.63E-12Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0375.40E-137.48E-134.82E-137.51E-13Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FlufenacetAir0.1162.64E-143.68E-142.26E-143.68E-14FlufenacetSoil0.1161.09E-101.06E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamAir0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FlumioxazinAir0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13<	Fenoxaprop	Soil	0.042	4.45E-13	6.57E-13	3.89E-13	6.58E-13
FenpicloniSoil0.1182.10E-103.45E-102.11E-103.45E-10FenpropidinSoil0.0511.45E-101.41E-101.46E-101.46E-10FenpropimorphSoil0.0465.00E-104.85E-105.02E-105.02E-10FipronilSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12FlorasulamSoil0.1954.61E-124.48E-124.63E-124.63E-12Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0372.23E-143.10E-141.90E-143.10E-14Fluazifop-P-butylSoil0.1344.09E-213.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FlufenacetAir0.1162.64E-143.68E-142.26E-143.68E-14FlufenacetSoil0.1161.09E-101.06E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamAir0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.10E-101.11E-161.81E-16FlumicoxazinAir0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FlumoxazinSoil0.1104.38E-124.35E-124.39E-124.39E-12Flumoxazin <t< td=""><td>Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester</td><td>Soil</td><td>0.039</td><td>2.50E-12</td><td>2.43E-12</td><td>2.51E-12</td><td>2.51E-12</td></t<>	Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester	Soil	0.039	2.50E-12	2.43E-12	2.51E-12	2.51E-12
FenpropidinSoil0.0511.45E-101.41E-101.46E-101.46E-10FenpropimorphSoil0.0465.00E-104.85E-105.02E-105.02E-10FipronilSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12FlorasulamSoil0.1954.61E-124.48E-124.63E-124.63E-12Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0372.23E-143.10E-141.90E-143.10E-14Fluazifop-P-butylSoil0.1344.09E-213.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12Fluearbazone sodium saltSoil0.1162.04E-143.68E-142.26E-143.68E-14FluencetAir0.1162.64E-143.68E-142.26E-143.68E-14FluencetSoil0.1161.09E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamAir0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16Flumicorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FluraconeSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FluritoxazinSoil </td <td>Fenpiclonil</td> <td>Soil</td> <td>0.118</td> <td>2.10E-10</td> <td>3.45E-10</td> <td>2.11E-10</td> <td>3.45E-10</td>	Fenpiclonil	Soil	0.118	2.10E-10	3.45E-10	2.11E-10	3.45E-10
FenpropimorphSoil0.0465.00E-104.85E-105.02E-105.02E-10FipronilSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12FlorasulamSoil0.1954.61E-124.48E-124.63E-124.63E-12Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0372.23E-143.10E-141.90E-143.10E-14Fluazifop-P-butylSoil0.0375.40E-137.48E-134.82E-137.51E-13Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1344.09E-213.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21FludioxonilSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FluencetAir0.1161.09E-101.06E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamAir0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-114.06E-114.16E-11FluroxypyrSoil<	Fenpropidin	Soil	0.051	1.45E-10	1.41E-10	1.46E-10	1.46E-10
FipronilSoil0.1282.86E-123.71E-122.81E-123.71E-12FlorasulamSoil0.1954.61E-124.48E-124.63E-124.63E-12Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0372.23E-143.10E-141.90E-143.10E-14Fluazifop-P-butylSoil0.0375.40E-137.48E-134.82E-137.51E-13Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1344.09E-213.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21FludioxonilSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FlufenacetAir0.1162.64E-143.68E-142.26E-143.68E-14FlumetsulamAir0.2151.15E-141.60E-149.84E-151.60E-14FlumetsulamSoil0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumicorazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FluratoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11	Fenpropimorph	Soil	0.046	5.00E-10	4.85E-10	5.02E-10	5.02E-10
FigureSoilOnlow	Fipronil	Soil	0.128	2.86E-12	3.71E-12	2.81E-12	3.71E-12
Fluazifop-p-butylAir0.0372.23E-143.10E-141.90E-143.10E-14Fluazifop-P-butylSoil0.0375.40E-137.48E-134.82E-137.51E-13Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1344.09E-213.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21FludioxonilSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FlufenacetAir0.1162.64E-143.68E-142.26E-143.68E-14FlumetsulamAir0.2151.15E-141.60E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamSoil0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.01104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FlumioxazinSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FlurtamoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.4E-111.44E-11	Florasulam	Soil	0.195	4.61E-12	4.48E-12	4.63E-12	4.63E-12
Fluariop p outpSoil0.0375.40E-110.031 110.031 110.031 11Fluariop P-butylSoil0.0375.40E-137.48E-134.82E-137.51E-13Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1344.09E-213.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21FludioxonilSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FlufenacetAir0.1162.64E-143.68E-142.26E-143.68E-14FlumetsulamAir0.2151.15E-141.60E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamSoil0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FluramoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FluxilazioleSoil0.1331.44E-111.39E-111.44E-111.44E-11	Fluazifop-p-butyl	Air	0.037	2.23E-14	3.10E-14	1.90E-14	3.10E-14
Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1344.09E-213.90E-213.76E-213.90E-21Flucarbazone sodium saltSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FludioxonilSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FlufenacetAir0.1162.64E-143.68E-142.26E-143.68E-14FlumetsulamAir0.2151.15E-141.60E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamSoil0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FlurtamoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11	Fluazifop-P-butyl	Soil	0.037	5.40E-13	7.48E-13	4.82E-13	7.51E-13
FludioxonilSoil0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FludioxonilAir0.1136.29E-126.11E-126.31E-126.31E-12FlufenacetAir0.1162.64E-143.68E-142.26E-143.68E-14FlumetsulamAir0.2151.15E-141.60E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamSoil0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FlurtamoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11	Flucarbazone sodium salt	Soil	0.134	4.09E-21	3.90E-21	3.76E-21	3.90E-21
FluitenerAir0.1160.612 120.0112 120.0112 120.0112 12FlufenacetSoil0.1162.64E-143.68E-142.26E-143.68E-14FlumetsulamAir0.2151.15E-141.06E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamSoil0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FlurtamoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FlusilazoleSoil0.1331.44E-111.39E-111.44E-111.44E-11	Fludioxonil	Soil	0.113	6.29E-12	6.11E-12	6.31E-12	6.31E-12
FlurionatedSoil0.1161.09E-101.06E-101.10E-101.10E-10FlumetsulamAir0.2151.15E-141.60E-149.84E-151.60E-14FlumetsulamSoil0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FlurtamoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FlusilazoleSoil0.1331.44E-111.39E-111.44E-111.44E-11	Flufenacet	Air	0.116	2.64E-14	3.68E-14	2.26E-14	3.68E-14
FlumetsulamAir0.2151.15E-141.60E-149.84E-151.60E-14FlumetsulamSoil0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FlurtamoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FlusilazoleSoil0.1331.44E-111.39E-111.44E-111.44E-11	Flufenacet	Soil	0.116	1.09E-10	1.06E-10	1 10E-10	1 10E-10
FlumetsulariSoil0.2153.46E-153.83E-153.57E-153.84E-15Flumiclorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiclorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FlurtamoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FlusilazoleSoil0.1331.44E-111.39E-111.44E-111.44E-11	Flumetsulam	Air	0.215	1.05E-14	1.60E-14	9.84E-15	1.60E-14
FlumicionalSoft0.2155.102 155.052 155.151 155.012 15Flumiciorac-pentylAir0.0333.02E-154.21E-152.59E-154.21E-15Flumiciorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FlurtamoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FlusilazoleSoil0.1331.44E-111.39E-111.44E-111.44E-11	Flumetsulam	Soil	0.215	3.46E-15	3.83E-15	3.57E-15	3.84E-15
Flumicorate pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.21E-162.65E-161.11E-16Flumicorac-pentylSoil0.0331.30E-161.80E-161.11E-161.81E-16FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FlurtamoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FlusilazoleSoil0.1331.44E-111.39E-111.44E-111.44E-11	Flumiclorac-pentyl	Air	0.033	3.02E-15	4 21E-15	2.59E-15	4 21E-15
Flumiorate pentyrSoil0.0351.502 101.002 101.112 101.012 10FlumioxazinAir0.0797.32E-141.02E-136.26E-141.02E-13FlumioxazinSoil0.0794.87E-137.20E-134.26E-137.20E-13FluroxypyrSoil0.1104.38E-124.25E-124.39E-124.39E-12FlurtamoneSoil0.0424.15E-114.03E-114.16E-114.16E-11FlusilazoleSoil0.1331.44E-111.39E-111.44E-111.44E-11	Flumiclorac-pentyl	Soil	0.033	1 30E-16	1.21E-15	1.11E-16	1.21E 15
Flumioxazin Soil 0.079 4.87E-13 7.20E-13 4.26E-13 7.20E-13 Fluroxypyr Soil 0.110 4.38E-12 4.25E-12 4.39E-12 4.39E-12 Flurtamone Soil 0.042 4.15E-11 4.03E-11 4.16E-11 4.16E-11 Flusilazole Soil 0.133 1.44E-11 1.39E-11 1.44E-11 1.44E-11	Flumioxazin	Air	0.035	7 32E-14	1.00E-10	6.26E-14	1.01E 10
Flurinovazini Soil 0.079 4.072 13 7.202 13 4.202 13 7.202 13 Fluroxypyr Soil 0.110 4.38E-12 4.25E-12 4.39E-12 4.39E-12 Fluroxypyr Soil 0.042 4.15E-11 4.03E-11 4.16E-11 4.16E-11 Flurianone Soil 0.133 1.44E-11 1.39E-11 1.44E-11 1.44E-11	Flumioxazin	Soil	0.079	4.87E-13	7 20E-13	4.26E-13	7 20E-13
Flurtamone Soil 0.110 4.35E 12 4.35E 12 4.35E 12 4.35E 12 Flurtamone Soil 0.042 4.15E-11 4.03E-11 4.16E-11 4.16E-11 Flusilazole Soil 0.133 1.44E-11 1.39E-11 1.44E-11 1.44E-11	Fluroxypyr	Soil	0.079	4.38E-12	4 25E-12	4.20E 13	4 39F-12
Flusilazole Soil 0.042 4.151-11 4.051-11 4.44E-11 1.44E-11	Flurtamone	Soil	0.042	4.56E 12	4.03E-11	4.16E-11	4.35E 12
	Flusilazole	Soil	0.133	$\frac{1}{44}$ F-11	1 30F-11	$1 \Delta \Delta F_{-11}$	$1.44F_{-11}$
Fomesafen Air 0.064 2.20F-13 3.06F-13 1.88F-13 3.06F 13	Fomesafen	Air	0.155	$2.20E_{13}$	3 06F-13	1.44L-11 1 88F-13	3.442-11
Fomesafen Soil 0.064 2.59F-12 3.82F-12 2.27F-12 3.83F-12	Fomesafen	Soil	0.064	2.20E-13	3.82F_12	2.27E-12	3 83F-12
Foramsulfuron Soil 0.186 2.75E-16 2.91E-16 2.91E-16 2.91E-16	Foramsulfuron	Soil	0.186	2.75E-16	2.91E-16	2.91E-16	2.91E-16

	G	Nitrog.	Reactive nitrogen results [kg/functional unit]			
Substance			Premium	Premium	Decisa	Decisa
Substance	Comp.	coeff.	33 s.b.	33 clust.	33 s.b.	33 clust.
			Pedavena	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio
Formamide	Air	0.311	6.66E-12	7.16E-12	6.67E-12	7.35E-12
Formamide	Water	0.311	1.60E-11	1.72E-11	1.60E-11	1.76E-11
Glyphosate	Air	0.083	5.70E-11	7.93E-11	4.87E-11	7.94E-11
Glyphosate	Soil	0.083	2.38E-08	2.30E-08	2.15E-08	2.37E-08
Imazamox	Air	0.138	1.88E-14	2.62E-14	1.61E-14	2.62E-14
Imazamox	Soil	0.138	7.31E-13	1.08E-12	6.40E-13	1.08E-12
Imazapyr	Soil	0.161	3.17E-17	3.36E-17	3.36E-17	3.36E-17
Imazaquin	Air	0.135	5.89E-14	8.20E-14	5.04E-14	8.21E-14
Imazaquin	Soil	0.135	2.52E-15	3.51E-15	2.16E-15	3.52E-15
Imazethapyr	Air	0.145	1.31E-13	1.83E-13	1.12E-13	1.83E-13
Imazethapyr	Soil	0.145	1.92E-12	2.84E-12	1.68E-12	2.85E-12
Imidacloprid	Soil	0.274	1.26E-10	1.24E-10	1.27E-10	1.28E-10
Indoxacarb	Soil	0.080	2.73E-10	2.68E-10	2.77E-10	2.77E-10
Ioxynil	Soil	0.038	1.27E-11	1.23E-11	1.28E-11	1.28E-11
Iprodione	Soil	0.127	2.60E-12	3.53E-12	2.34E-12	3.55E-12
Isocyanic acid	Air	0.326	3.40E-08	6.78E-08	3.32E-08	6.78E-08
Isopropylamine	Air	0.237	1.15E-11	3.04E-11	1.15E-11	3.04E-11
Isopropylamine	Water	0.237	2.76E-11	7.29E-11	2.77E-11	7.29E-11
Isoproturon	Soil	0.136	4.61E-07	4.47E-07	4.63E-07	4.63E-07
Isoxaflutole	Soil	0.039	9.22E-16	9.76E-16	9.77E-16	9.78E-16
Kresoxim-methyl	Soil	0.045	3.90E-13	3.79E-13	3.91E-13	3.91E-13
Lactofen	Air	0.030	1.33E-14	1.86E-14	1.14E-14	1.86E-14
Lactofen	Soil	0.030	5.71E-16	7.95E-16	4.88E-16	7.96E-16
Lambda-cyhalothrin	Soil	0.031	3.50E-12	3.45E-12	3.50E-12	3.56E-12
Linuron	Soil	0.112	8.27E-10	1.50E-09	8.14E-10	1.50E-09
Mancozeb	Soil	0.104	5.98E-09	9.80E-09	6.00E-09	9.80E-09
Mefenpyr	Soil	0.088	2.04E-11	1.98E-11	2.05E-11	2.05E-11
Mefenpyr-diethyl	Soil	0.075	9.71E-12	9.43E-12	9.75E-12	9.75E-12
Mepiquat chloride	Soil	0.094	8.54E-11	8.30E-11	8.58E-11	8.58E-11
Mesotrione	Soil	0.041	2.64E-15	2.80E-15	2.80E-15	2.81E-15
Metamitron	Soil	0.277	7.83E-14	8.34E-14	8.39E-14	8.35E-14
Metazachlor	Soil	0.151	5.34E-09	5.24E-09	5.41E-09	5.42E-09
Methomyl	Soil	0.173	1.70E-08	1.67E-08	1.72E-08	1.72E-08
Methylamine	Air	0.451	8.31E-11	8.10E-11	8.34E-11	8.37E-11
Methylamine	Water	0.451	1.99E-10	1.94E-10	2.00E-10	2.01E-10
Metolachlor	Air	0.049	3.54E-13	4.94E-13	3.03E-13	4.94E-13
Metolachlor	Soil	0.049	6.06E-08	6.20E-08	6.14E-08	6.39E-08
Metribuzin	Air	0.261	7.45E-13	1.04E-12	6.37E-13	1.04E-12
Metribuzin	Soil	0.261	5.43E-10	8.87E-10	5.43E-10	8.87E-10
Monocrotophos	Soil	0.063	2.70E-11	3.99E-11	2.36E-11	3.99E-11
Monoethanolamine	Air	0.229	8.40E-07	5.90E-08	2.44E-08	5.91E-08
Monoethanolamine	Water	0.229	1.80E-12	1.61E-12	1.51E-12	1.62E-12
Napropamide	Soil	0.052	1.87E-11	2.05E-11	1.59E-11	2.07E-11
Nitrate	Air	0.226	2.24E-08	2.23E-08	2.63E-08	2.23E-08
Nitrate	Water	0.226	8.00E-04	8.28E-04	8.01E-04	8.46E-04
Nitrate	Soil	0.226	4.09E-08	4.06E-08	4.89E-08	4.05E-08
Nitric oxide	Air	0.467	1.14E-14	1.12E-14	1.16E-14	1.16E-14

	Comp.	Nitrog.	Reactive nitrogen results [kg/functional unit]			
Substance			Premium	Premium	Decisa	Decisa
	•	coeff.	33 s.b. Pedavena	33 clust. S.Giorgio	33 s.b. S Giorgio	33 clust. S Giorgio
NT*. *.	XX 7 /	0.204	1 705 07	1.005.07	1.615.07	1.005.07
Nitrite	w ater	0.304	1./8E-0/ 2.02E-12	1.92E-07	1.01E-07	1.92E-07
Nitrobenzene	All Watar	0.114	3.92E-12 1.57E-11	4.70E-12	5.91E-12 1.57E-11	4./9E-12 1.02E-11
Nitrogen	VV alei Air	0.114	1.37E-11	1.00E+00	1.37E-11	1.92L-11
Nitrogen	Watar	1.000	0.00E+00	1.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.00E+00
Nitrogen	vv ater Soil	1.000	9.42E-00	1.09E-05	2.07E.00	1.09E-05
Nitrogen dioxide	Air	0.304	0.03E.07	0.73E-07	2.07E-09	1.95E-09
Nitrogen fluoride	Air	0.304	2.80E-18	2.69E-18	2 80E-18	2 73E-18
Nitrogen ovides	Air	0.177	2.00E-10	4.33E.04	2.00E-10	2.73E-10
Nitrogen organic bound	Water	0.304	4.47E-04	4.33E-04	4.33E-04	4.33E-04
Nitrogen total	Water	1 000	1.012-00 $1.24E_{-10}$	1.17E-00 1.21E-10	1.01E-00 1.25E-10	1.17E-00 1.25E-10
Orbençarb	Soil	0.054	$5.97E_{-10}$	9.77E-10	5.98E-10	9.77E-10
Paraquat dichloride	Soil	0.004	7.97E-10	7.81E-10	8.07E-10	2.77E-10
Parathion	Soil	0.109	5.85E-14	6 20E-14	5.67E-14	6 28F-14
Particulates <10um	Air	0.040	2.09E-08	2.04E-08	2.11E-08	2 11E-08
Particulates <10um	Water	0.054	5.21E-13	5.11E-13	5 28E-13	5 28E-13
Particulates <2 5um	Air	0.091	1.52E-05	1 47E-05	1 47E-05	1 47E-05
Particulates $>2.5 \mu\text{m} < 10 \mu\text{m}$	Air	0.028	2.48E-06	2.31E-06	2.44E-06	2.32E-06
Pendimethalin	Air	0.149	2.89E-12	4 02E-12	2.47E-12	4 02E-12
Pendimethalin	Soil	0.149	4.13E-07	4.01E-07	4.15E-07	4.15E-07
Phenmedipham	Soil	0.093	4.83E-15	5.14E-15	5.17E-15	5.15E-15
Propiconazole	Air	0.123	4.14E-14	5.76E-14	3.54E-14	5.77E-14
Propiconazole	Soil	0.123	1.31E-10	1.27E-10	1.31E-10	1.31E-10
Propylamine	Air	0.237	4.93E-13	6.47E-13	4.92E-13	6.55E-13
Propylamine	Water	0.237	1.18E-12	1.55E-12	1.18E-12	1.57E-12
Pyridate	Soil	0.074	1.78E-08	1.75E-08	1.81E-08	1.81E-08
Simazine	Soil	0.347	3.46E-14	3.66E-14	3.66E-14	3.67E-14
Sulfentrazone	Air	0.145	3.17E-13	4.42E-13	2.71E-13	4.42E-13
Sulfentrazone	Soil	0.145	9.22E-12	1.36E-11	8.07E-12	1.36E-11
t-Butylamine	Air	0.192	8.72E-11	1.02E-10	8.76E-11	1.04E-10
t-Butylamine	Water	0.192	2.09E-10	2.44E-10	2.10E-10	2.50E-10
Tebupirimphos	Soil	0.088	3.64E-15	3.86E-15	3.86E-15	3.86E-15
Tebutam	Soil	0.060	7.31E-11	7.23E-11	6.07E-11	7.29E-11
Terbuthylazin	Soil	0.305	5.90E-08	5.78E-08	5.98E-08	5.98E-08
Tralkoxydim	Soil	0.043	9.39E-11	9.12E-11	9.43E-11	9.43E-11
Trifloxystrobin	Air	0.069	1.37E-15	1.91E-15	1.17E-15	1.91E-15
Trifloxystrobin	Soil	0.069	8.76E-12	8.51E-12	8.80E-12	8.80E-12
Trifluralin	Air	0.125	3.96E-12	5.51E-12	3.38E-12	5.52E-12
Trifluralin	Soil	0.125	7.87E-11	1.05E-10	6.84E-11	1.06E-10
Trimethylamine	Air	0.237	5.56E-13	5.65E-13	5.53E-13	5.82E-13
Trimethylamine	Water	0.237	1.34E-12	1.36E-12	1.33E-12	1.40E-12
Urea	Water	0.466	8.03E-12	1.01E-11	8.01E-12	1.03E-11
Total (product systems reactive nitrogen indicato		dicator)	1.46E-03	1.47E-03	1.45E-03	1.50E-03

Results obtained are very similar for the four product systems, to further confirmation of the strong analogies between the analyzed products, as already highlighted in the description of the life cycle phases. With regard to the "La Decisa" product, it should be noted, as expected, a greater impact for the product packed in cluster, due to the additional packaging used; the same consideration can not be directly extended to the "Premium" product as the two systems analyzed for this product are obtained in two different industrial plants.

Also in this case, the greatest contribution to the total reactive nitrogen calculated for the product systems is attributable to emissions of nitrate, nitrogen oxides, ammonia and dinitrogen monoxide as shown in the Table 4.31.

Substance	Comp.	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
Ammonia	Air	9.1%	8.9%	9.2%	9.0%
Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	2.4%	2.3%	2.4%	2.3%
Nitrate	Water	54.8%	56.2%	55.4%	56.5%
Nitrogen oxides	Air	30.6%	29.4%	30.1%	28.9%

Table 4.31. Main substances contribution [%] to reactive nitrogen indicator for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage industry.

Even in the case of this specific result, the strong analogy between the analyzed product systems is noteworthy.

It was also found a lower percentage contribution of nitrate emissions compared to the previous applications, probably due to the accounting of industrial processes that, compared to more specifically agricultural processes, shift the contribution towards emissions of different nature.

The reactive nitrogen indicator results [g/functional unit] and the main substances contribution are also graphically represented in the Figure 4.9 in order to provide a further example of results output format obtained by applying the methodology.


Figure 4.9. Reactive nitrogen indicator results for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage industry showing output substances contribution (percentage >1%).

While not being the direct comparison between the four product systems one of the objectives of this application, in the hypothetical ranking, with regard to the results in terms of reactive nitrogen indicator, the "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" resulted in a lower impact, followed by the "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" product, after by the "Premium 33 cl cluster packaging – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" product and finally by the "La Decisa 33 cl cluster packaging – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" product. This hypothetical ranking is highlighted as considered useful for subsequent analysis of results.

4.4.4 Beverage industry products: characterization

Starting from the nitrogen inventory results, the calculation of nitrogen impact assessment profile was performed. This consists of the union of the category indicator results for the nine selected impact categories, obtained by applying the characterization factors to the nitrogen-containing substances. The results obtained for the four analyzed product systems are reported into two different Tables to allow reading: Table 4.32 for single bottle products and Table 4.33 for cluster-packaged products. The nitrogen-containing substance for which characterization factors are defined by the models used are listed for each impact category. For simplicity of calculation a cut-off criterion was applied, limited to the impact categories freshwater ecotoxicity, human toxicity cancer effect and human

toxicity non cancer effect, excluding the substances which made a contribution of less than 0.1% to the total impact of each category.

Table 4.32. Nitrogen impact assessment profile calculated for products "Premium 33 cl single bottle" and	d "La
Decisa 33 cl single bottle". Cut-off criterion of 0.1% applied to the categories Freshwater ecotoxicity, H	uman
toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non-cancer effect.	

Impact category	Substance	Comp.	Unit	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio
Climate change	Dinitrog. monoxide	Air	kg CO ₂ eq	1.44E-02	1.43E-02
Climate change	Nitrogen fluoride	Air	kg CO ₂ eq	2.28E-13	2.28E-13
Climate change	Total		kg CO2 eq	1.44E-02	1.43E-02
Particulate matter	Ammonia	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	1.07E-05	1.08E-05
Particulate matter	Nitric oxide	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	2.72E-16	2.75E-16
Particulate matter	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	2.35E-08	2.39E-08
Particulate matter	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	1.10E-05	1.07E-05
Particulate matter	Particul. <10µm	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	8.77E-08	8.89E-08
Particulate matter	Particul. <2.5µm	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	3.48E-04	3.44E-04
Particulate matter	Total		kg PM2.5 eq	3.70E-04	3.65E-04
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitric oxide	Air	kg NMVOC eq	2.45E-14	2.48E-14
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	kg NMVOC eq	3.26E-06	3.30E-06
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg NMVOC eq	1.47E-03	1.43E-03
Photoch. ozone form.	Total		kg NMVOC eq	1.47E-03	1.43E-03
Acidification	Ammonia	Air	molc H ⁺ eq	4.86E-04	4.88E-04
Acidification	Nitric oxide	Air	molc H ⁺ eq	2.77E-14	2.80E-14
Acidification	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	molc H ⁺ eq	2.41E-06	2.45E-06
Acidification	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc H ⁺ eq	1.09E-03	1.06E-03
Acidification	Total		molc H ⁺ eq	1.57E-03	1.55E-03
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	molc N eq	2.17E-03	2.18E-03
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Air	molc N eq	7.40E-13	7.49E-13
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	molc N eq	3.13E-07	3.67E-07
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitric oxide	Air	molc N eq	1.60E-13	1.62E-13
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	molc N eq	1.39E-05	1.41E-05
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc N eq	6.25E-03	6.09E-03
Terrestrial eutrophication	Total		molc N eq	8.43E-03	8.29E-03
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	kg N eq	1.48E-05	1.49E-05
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia	Water	kg N eq	2.41E-08	2.44E-08
Marine eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Air	kg N eq	5.07E-15	5.13E-15
Marine eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Water	kg N eq	1.38E-05	1.30E-05
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	kg N eq	2.78E-09	3.25E-09
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Water	kg N eq	8.00E-04	8.01E-04
Marine eutrophication	Nitric oxide	Air	kg N eq	1.46E-14	1.48E-14
Marine eutrophication	Nitrite	Water	kg N eq	1.78E-07	1.61E-07
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	kg N eq	1.27E-06	1.29E-06
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg N eq	5.71E-04	5.56E-04
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen, total	Water	kg N eq	1.24E-10	1.25E-10
Marine eutrophication	Total		kg N eq	1.40E-03	1.39E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Alachlor	Soil	CTUe	8.25E-03	8.36E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Atrazine	Soil	CTUe	5.19E-03	5.26E-03

Impact category	Substance	Comp.	Unit	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlorothalonil	Soil	CTUe	3.14E-03	3.15E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlorpyrifos	Soil	CTUe	3.35E-03	3.40E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Isoproturon	Soil	CTUe	3.21E-02	3.22E-02
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Metolachlor	Soil	CTUe	7.32E-03	7.41E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Pendimethalin	Soil	CTUe	8.10E-03	8.14E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Terbuthylazin	Soil	CTUe	1.04E-02	1.05E-02
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Tota	l	CTUe	7.78E-02	7.84E-02
Human tox. canc. eff. Human tox. non-canc. eff.	Tota Tota	l I	CTUh CTUh	0.00E+00 0.00E+00	0.00E+00 0.00E+00

Table 4.33. *Nitrogen impact assessment profile calculated for products "Premium 33 cl cluster packaging" and "La Decisa 33 cl cluster packaging". Cut-off criterion of 0.1% applied to the categories Freshwater ecotoxicity, Human toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non-cancer effect.*

				Premium	Decisa
Impact category	Substance	Comp.	Unit	33 clust.	33 clust.
				S.Giorgio	S.Giorgio
Climate change	Dinitrog. monoxide	Air	kg CO ₂ eq	1.43E-02	1.46E-02
Climate change	Nitrogen fluoride	Air	kg CO ₂ eq	2.19E-13	2.22E-13
Climate change	Total		kg CO2 eq	1.43E-02	1.46E-02
Particulate matter	Ammonia	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	1.06E-05	1.09E-05
Particulate matter	Nitric oxide	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	2.66E-16	2.75E-16
Particulate matter	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	2.31E-08	2.39E-08
Particulate matter	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	1.07E-05	1.07E-05
Particulate matter	Particul. <10µm	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	8.59E-08	8.89E-08
Particulate matter	Particul. <2.5µm	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	3.46E-04	3.47E-04
Particulate matter	Total		kg PM _{2.5} eq	3.68E-04	3.68E-04
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitric oxide	Air	kg NMVOC eq	2.40E-14	2.48E-14
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	kg NMVOC eq	3.20E-06	3.30E-06
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg NMVOC eq	1.42E-03	1.42E-03
Photoch. ozone form.	Total		kg NMVOC eq	1.42E-03	1.43E-03
Acidification	Ammonia	Air	molc H ⁺ eq	4.79E-04	4.92E-04
Acidification	Nitric oxide	Air	molc H ⁺ eq	2.71E-14	2.80E-14
Acidification	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	molc H ⁺ eq	2.36E-06	2.45E-06
Acidification	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc H ⁺ eq	1.05E-03	1.05E-03
Acidification	Total		molc H+ eq	1.53E-03	1.55E-03
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	molc N eq	2.14E-03	2.20E-03
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Air	molc N eq	7.25E-13	7.49E-13
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	molc N eq	3.12E-07	3.11E-07
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitric oxide	Air	molc N eq	1.57E-13	1.62E-13
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	molc N eq	1.36E-05	1.41E-05
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc N eq	6.05E-03	6.07E-03
Terrestrial eutrophication	Total		molc N eq	8.21E-03	8.28E-03
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	kg N eq	1.46E-05	1.50E-05
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia	Water	kg N eq	2.36E-08	2.44E-08
Marine eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Air	kg N eq	4.96E-15	5.13E-15
Marine eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Water	kg N eq	1.61E-05	1.61E-05

Impact category	Substance	Comp.	Unit	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	kg N eq	2.76E-09	2.76E-09
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Water	kg N eq	8.28E-04	8.47E-04
Marine eutrophication	Nitric oxide	Air	kg N eq	1.43E-14	1.48E-14
Marine eutrophication	Nitrite	Water	kg N eq	1.92E-07	1.92E-07
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	kg N eq	1.24E-06	1.29E-06
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg N eq	5.53E-04	5.54E-04
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen, total	Water	kg N eq	1.21E-10	1.25E-10
Marine eutrophication	Total		kg N eq	1.41E-03	1.43E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Alachlor	Soil	CTUe	8.09E-03	8.36E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Atrazine	Soil	CTUe	5.19E-03	5.36E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlorothalonil	Soil	CTUe	4.76E-03	4.78E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlorpyrifos	Soil	CTUe	3.29E-03	3.40E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Isoproturon	Soil	CTUe	3.12E-02	3.22E-02
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Metolachlor	Soil	CTUe	7.49E-03	7.72E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Pendimethalin	Soil	CTUe	7.87E-03	8.14E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Terbuthylazin	Soil	CTUe	1.02E-02	1.05E-02
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Total		CTUe	7.80E-02	8.05E-02
Human tox. canc. eff.	Total		CTUh	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Human tox. non-canc. eff.	Total		CTUh	0.00E+00	0.00E+00

The results obtained for the four product systems are very similar, with slightly greater impacts with regard to the product "La Decisa 33 cl cluster packaging" which, however, it is recalled, was assessed on the basis of forecast data.

4.4.5 Beverage industry products: normalization and weighting

To conclude the presentation of the results obtained by applying the proposed methodology to the four beverage industry products, the last step provides for the final calculation of the single score nitrogen impact indicator, after execution of normalization and calculation and application of the weighting factors.

The nitrogen impact assessment profile results after normalization are shown, for the four analyzed product systems, in the Table 4.34.

Table 4.34.	. Results of r	normalized	impact	assessment	profile	calculated	for	the four	analyzed	product	systems	of the
beverage in	dustry. Norn	nalization f	actors e.	xtracted from	m Benin	ni et al. (201	l4).					

Impact category	Normaliz. factor	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
Climate change	9.22E+03	1.56E-06	1.55E-06	1.55E-06	1.58E-06

Impact category	Normaliz. factor	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
Particulate matter	3.80E+00	9.74E-05	9.68E-05	9.61E-05	9.69E-05
Photochemical ozone formation	3.17E+01	4.64E-05	4.49E-05	4.52E-05	4.50E-05
Acidification	4.73E+01	3.33E-05	3.24E-05	3.27E-05	3.27E-05
Terrestrial eutrophication	1.76E+02	4.79E-05	4.67E-05	4.71E-05	4.70E-05
Marine eutrophication	1.69E+01	8.29E-05	8.36E-05	8.21E-05	8.48E-05
Freshwater ecotoxicity	8.74E+03	8.91E-06	8.93E-06	8.98E-06	9.21E-06
Human toxicity, cancer effects	3.69E-05	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Human toxicity, non-cancer effects	5.33E-04	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00

Once again, the results are null for the categories human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non-cancer effect because of the cut-off criterion applied.

While not being the direct comparison between the four product systems one of the objectives of this application, as above stated, the results of the normalized profiles are shown in a single graph in the Figure 4.10, not representing the results equal to 0 of the categories human toxicity cancer effect and human toxicity non cancer effect.



Figure 4.10. Graphic representation of the normalized impact assessment profile results for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage industry.

Unlike the normalized profiles obtained in previous applications, in this case the greatest impact resulted for the particulate matter impact category, followed in the ranking by the category marine eutrophication. This result is due both to the lower nitrate emission contribution, as previously highlighted, and to the normalization factors chosen for the calculation. The normalization factor for the category particulate matter is in fact quite small, this tending to amplify the result compared to the other categories to which are attributed bigger factors. The degree of subjectivity introduced by normalization, in this case, focuses on the impact category associated with particulate emissions, thus changing the expected order that, considering the inventory results, should have produced, as the most impacting category, marine eutrophication because associated with nitrate emissions.

The results relating to the calculation of the weighting factors are reported below, starting from the results of category reactive nitrogen calculation for the selected impact categories (Table 4.35): these are propaedeutic to the calculation of the weighting factors and are reported separately to ensure the readability of the Tables.

Impact category	Substance	Comp.	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
Climate change	Dinitrogen monox.	Air	3.46E-05	3.43E-05	3.44E-05	3.51E-05
Climate change	Nitrogen fluoride	Air	2.80E-18	2.69E-18	2.80E-18	2.73E-18
Climate change	Total		3.46E-05	3.43E-05	3.44E-05	3.51E-05
Particulate matter	Ammonia	Air	1.32E-04	1.30E-04	1.33E-04	1.34E-04
Particulate matter	Nitric oxide	Air	1.14E-14	1.12E-14	1.16E-14	1.16E-14
Particulate matter	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	9.93E-07	9.73E-07	1.01E-06	1.01E-06
Particulate matter	Nitrogen oxides	Air	4.47E-04	4.33E-04	4.35E-04	4.33E-04
Particulate matter	Partic. < 10µm	Air	2.09E-08	2.04E-08	2.11E-08	2.11E-08
Particulate matter	Partic. < 2.5µm	Air	1.52E-05	1.47E-05	1.47E-05	1.47E-05
Particulate matter	Total		5.95E-04	5.79E-04	5.84E-04	5.83E-04
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitric oxide	Air	1.14E-14	1.12E-14	1.16E-14	1.16E-14
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	9.93E-07	9.73E-07	1.01E-06	1.01E-06
Photoch. ozone form	Nitrogen oxides	Air	4.47E-04	4.33E-04	4.35E-04	4.33E-04
Photoch. ozone form.	Total		4.48E-04	4.34E-04	4.36E-04	4.34E-04
Acidification	Ammonia	Air	1.32E-04	1.30E-04	1.33E-04	1.34E-04
Acidification	Nitric oxide	Air	1.14E-14	1.12E-14	1.16E-14	1.16E-14
Acidification	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	9.93E-07	9.73E-07	1.01E-06	1.01E-06
Acidification	Nitrogen oxides	Air	4.47E-04	4.33E-04	4.35E-04	4.33E-04
Acidification	Total		5.80E-04	5.64E-04	5.69E-04	5.69E-04
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	1.32E-04	1.30E-04	1.33E-04	1.34E-04
Terrestrial eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Air	4.52E-14	4.43E-14	4.58E-14	4.58E-14
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	2.24E-08	2.23E-08	2.63E-08	2.23E-08
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitric oxide	Air	1.14E-14	1.12E-14	1.16E-14	1.16E-14
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	9.93E-07	9.73E-07	1.01E-06	1.01E-06
Terrestrial eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	4.47E-04	4.33E-04	4.35E-04	4.33E-04
Terrestrial eutrophication	Total		5.80E-04	5.64E-04	5.69E-04	5.69E-04

Table 4.35. *Results of category reactive nitrogen calculation for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage industry. Results propaedeutic to the weighting factors calculation.*

Impact category	Substance	Comp.	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	1.32E-04	1.30E-04	1.33E-04	1.34E-04
Marine eutrophication	Ammonia	Water	2.41E-08	2.36E-08	2.44E-08	2.44E-08
Marine eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Air	4.52E-14	4.43E-14	4.58E-14	4.58E-14
Marine eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Water	1.38E-05	1.60E-05	1.30E-05	1.60E-05
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	2.24E-08	2.23E-08	2.63E-08	2.23E-08
Marine eutrophication	Nitrate	Water	8.00E-04	8.28E-04	8.01E-04	8.46E-04
Marine eutrophication	Nitric oxide	Air	1.14E-14	1.12E-14	1.16E-14	1.16E-14
Marine eutrophication	Nitrite	Water	1.78E-07	1.92E-07	1.61E-07	1.92E-07
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	9.93E-07	9.73E-07	1.01E-06	1.01E-06
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	4.47E-04	4.33E-04	4.35E-04	4.33E-04
Marine eutrophication	Nitrogen, total	Water	1.24E-10	1.21E-10	1.25E-10	1.25E-10
Marine eutrophication	Total		1.39E-03	1.41E-03	1.38E-03	1.43E-03
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Alachlor	Soil	4.62E-08	4.52E-08	4.68E-08	4.68E-08
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Atrazine	Soil	1.48E-07	1.48E-07	1.50E-07	1.53E-07
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlorothalonil	Soil	5.72E-09	8.68E-09	5.73E-09	8.71E-09
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Chlorpyrifos	Soil	1.26E-09	1.24E-09	1.28E-09	1.28E-09
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Isoproturon	Soil	4.61E-07	4.47E-07	4.63E-07	4.63E-07
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Metolachlor	Soil	6.06E-08	6.20E-08	6.14E-08	6.39E-08
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Pendimethalin	Soil	4.13E-07	4.01E-07	4.15E-07	4.15E-07
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Terbuthylazin	Soil	5.90E-08	5.78E-08	5.98E-08	5.98E-08
Freshwater ecotoxicity	Total		1.19E-06	1.17E-06	1.20E-06	1.21E-06
Human tox. canc. eff.	Total		0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Human tox. non-canc. eff.	Total		0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00

Once obtained the category reactive nitrogen results, the weighting factor for the selected impact categories were determined using the internal calculation method specifically designed within the proposed methodology. The output of the calculation are shown in the Table 4.36 where are presented the results of the category reactive nitrogen summation for the four product systems and the calculated weighting factors for each impact category. In this case, as the analysis was extended to four products, the weighting factor calculation was made by summing the category reactive nitrogen results for all the four analyzed product systems, as required by the proposed methodology calculation method.

Impact category	product systems category reactive N	Weighting factors
Climate change	1.38E-04	0.96%
Particulate matter	2.34E-03	16.24%
Photochemical ozone formation	1.75E-03	12.15%
Acidification	2.28E-03	15.83%

Table 4.36. *Results of category reactive nitrogen summation for the four product systems and weighting factors calculation determined by applying the internal method proposed within the methodology.*

Impact category	product systems category reactive N	Weighting factors
Terrestrial eutrophication	2.28E-03	15.83%
Marine eutrophication	5.62E-03	38.96%
Freshwater ecotoxicity	4.78E-06	0.03%
Human toxicity, cancer effects	0.00E+00	0.00%
Human toxicity, non-cancer effects	0.00E+00	0.00%
Total	1.44E-02	100.00%

Finally, the weighted nitrogen impact assessment profile and the single score nitrogen impact indictor were calculated for the four analyzed product systems obtaining the results reported in the Table 4.37.

Table 4.37. Weighting factors (second column), weighted nitrogen assessment profile and single score nitrogen impact indicator (last row) results calculated for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage industry. Weighting factors calculated by the proposed internal method.

Impact category	Weighting factors	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
Climate change	0.96%	1.50E-08	1.48E-08	1.49E-08	1.52E-08
Particulate matter	16.24%	1.58E-05	1.57E-05	1.56E-05	1.57E-05
Photochemical ozone formation	12.15%	5.63E-06	5.46E-06	5.49E-06	5.47E-06
Acidification	15.83%	5.27E-06	5.13E-06	5.18E-06	5.18E-06
Terrestrial eutrophication	15.83%	7.59E-06	7.38E-06	7.45E-06	7.45E-06
Marine eutrophication	38.96%	3.23E-05	3.26E-05	3.20E-05	3.30E-05
Freshwater ecotoxicity	0.03%	2.95E-09	2.96E-09	2.97E-09	3.05E-09
Human toxicity, cancer effects	0.00%	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Human toxicity, non-cancer effects	0.00%	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Total (single score nitrogen impac	6.66E-05	6.63E-05	6.57E-05	6.69E-05	

It can be noticed that the single score indicator results changed the hypothetical product ranking compared to the reactive nitrogen indicator results. In particular a higher impact value was found for the "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" product compared to the "Premium 33 cl cluster packaging – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant", remaining unchanged the ranking of the other two products. The calculation of the weighted nitrogen impact assessment profile and of the single score nitrogen indicator results was also made using two additional different weighting sets. In particular, in the Table 4.38 are reported the results of the calculation carried out using the weighting set obtained by applying the proposed internal weighting method to the reference product system presented as one of the previous applications.

Impact category	Weighting factors	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
Climate change	2.675%	4.18E-08	4.14E-08	4.16E-08	4.24E-08
Particulate matter	14.544%	1.42E-05	1.41E-05	1.40E-05	1.41E-05
Photochemical ozone formation	4.578%	2.12E-06	2.06E-06	2.07E-06	2.06E-06
Acidification	14.290%	4.75E-06	4.63E-06	4.68E-06	4.68E-06
Terrestrial eutrophication	14.290%	6.85E-06	6.67E-06	6.73E-06	6.72E-06
Marine eutrophication	49.608%	4.11E-05	4.15E-05	4.07E-05	4.21E-05
Freshwater ecotoxicity	0.010%	8.91E-10	8.93E-10	8.98E-10	9.21E-10
Human toxicity, cancer effects	0.005%	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Human toxicity, non-cancer effects	0.005%	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Total (single score nitrogen impac	6.91E-05	6.90E-05	6.82E-05	6.97E-05	

Table 4.38. Weighting factors (second column), weighted nitrogen assessment profile and single score nitrogen impact indicator (last row) results calculated for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage industry. Weighting factors calculated by applying the proposed internal method to the reference product system.

In the Table 4.39 are instead reported the results obtained using the weighting factors calculated on the basis of the panel set proposed by Huppes and van Oers (2011) as shown in the previous chapter concerning the presentation of the methodology.

Table 4.39. Weighting factors (second column), weighted nitrogen assessment profile and single score nitrogen impact indicator (last row) results calculated for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage industry. Weighting factors calculated on the basis of the panel set proposed by Huppes and van Oers (2011).

Impact category	Weighting factors	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena	Premium 33 clust. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 s.b. S.Giorgio	Decisa 33 clust. S.Giorgio
Climate change	35.6%	5.55E-07	5.50E-07	5.52E-07	5.63E-07
Particulate matter	10.8%	1.05E-05	1.05E-05	1.04E-05	1.05E-05
Photochemical ozone formation	7.7%	3.59E-06	3.47E-06	3.49E-06	3.48E-06
Acidification	6.2%	2.06E-06	2.01E-06	2.02E-06	2.02E-06
Terrestrial eutrophication	3.6%	1.73E-06	1.68E-06	1.70E-06	1.70E-06
Marine eutrophication	3.6%	2.99E-06	3.02E-06	2.96E-06	3.06E-06
Freshwater ecotoxicity	17.0%	1.51E-06	1.52E-06	1.53E-06	1.57E-06
Human toxicity, cancer effects	9.3%	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Human toxicity, non-cancer effects	6.2%	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Total (single score nitrogen impac	2.298E-05	2.272E-05	2.266E-05	2.288E-05	

The single score impact indicator results obtained by applying the three different weighting sets are also graphically represented in the Figure 4.11 in order to provide a further example of results output format obtained.



Figure 4.11. *Graphic representation of single score nitrogen impact indicator results for the four analyzed product systems of the beverage industry obtained using 3 different weighting sets.*

It should be noted that the application of the first two weighting sets, calculated starting from the same methodological basis, produces consistent results with regard to the hypothetical ranking of the analyzed product systems. The application of the last set, which instead attributes a rather low weight to the impact category marine eutrophication, produces, as a result, a lesser impact on the product "La Decisa 33 cl cluster packaging – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" which was the most impacting in all the previous assessments.

4.4.6 Beverage industry products: interpretation of the results

In addition to what has been highlighted in the preceding paragraphs within the description of the methodology outputs, below are presented further results judged useful both, in general, to show the analytical potential of the methodology and, in particular, to support the phase of interpretation of the results for the specific application carried out.

The in-depth analyzes described relate in particular to two of the four products analyzed, namely "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" and "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant". The two selected products are in fact, on the one hand, directly comparable as far as the type of packaging is concerned and very similar at production process and recipe level. On the other hand, being manufactured in two different plants, they allow making specific evaluations at the production and plant level. Regarding La Decisa type of beer, furthermore, it must be pointed out that

it is currently a new product, which is still being launched on the market and on which the company intends to invest in the near future: a detailed environmental impact analysis was therefore made for this product, becoming strategic also in consideration of the business objectives.

Starting from these considerations, a process contribution analysis, also called "group analysis" in the LCA applications, was made for the two products; specifically, in the Table 4.40, are presented the results for the product "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" referred to the reactive nitrogen calculation.

This type of analysis was carried out to highlight the contribution to the final results of the various processes that constitute the product life cycle. In the case of the proposed analysis, the process units were grouped into the following:

- vegetal raw materials, comprising all the processes related to vegetal raw materials, namely: barley malt, malt dye, wheat malt, hop;
- packaging, comprising all the process to produce and transport the packaging materials;
- productive process, comprising all the processes carried out in the production plants described in terms of energy consumption, use of chemicals, waste production, wastewater treatment, etc.;
- downstream processes, comprising the product distribution, the use and end-of-life phases.

Substance	Comp.	Vegetal raw mat.	Packaging	Product. process	Downstr. processes	Total processes
2-Aminopropanol	Air	3.44E-13	4.28E-14	6.12E-15	1.09E-14	4.04E-13
2-Aminopropanol	Water	8.26E-13	1.04E-13	1.47E-14	2.62E-14	9.70E-13
2-Nitrobenzoic acid	Air	3.66E-13	3.09E-14	2.02E-15	6.18E-15	4.05E-13
Acephate	Air	8.60E-15	1.17E-13	1.13E-14	3.66E-14	1.73E-13
Acephate	Soil	2.62E-14	1.42E-12	4.53E-14	6.90E-14	1.56E-12
Acetamide	Air	6.56E-15	8.92E-14	8.63E-15	2.80E-14	1.32E-13
Acetamide	Soil	1.23E-14	6.24E-13	2.10E-14	3.07E-14	6.88E-13
Acetochlor	Soil	1.13E-14	8.90E-14	1.68E-14	9.27E-15	1.26E-13
Acetonitrile	Air	1.68E-11	3.68E-10	1.01E-11	3.02E-11	4.25E-10
Acetonitrile	Water	1.68E-10	2.69E-13	8.67E-15	3.30E-14	1.68E-10
Acifluorfen	Air	5.98E-16	8.12E-15	7.86E-16	2.55E-15	1.21E-14
Acifluorfen	Soil	2.56E-17	3.48E-16	3.37E-17	1.09E-16	5.17E-16
Aclonifen	Soil	1.73E-15	8.49E-11	2.50E-18	5.08E-13	8.54E-11
Acrylonitrile	Water	5.17E-14	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	5.17E-14
Alachlor	Air	5.67E-15	7.70E-14	7.46E-15	2.42E-14	1.14E-13
Alachlor	Soil	4.62E-08	5.19E-14	1.04E-14	1.24E-14	4.62E-08
Aldicarb	Soil	1.68E-13	9.17E-12	2.90E-13	4.37E-13	1.01E-11
Amidosulfuron	Soil	1.50E-16	1.82E-15	4.00E-17	3.26E-16	2.34E-15

Table 4.40. *Processes group analysis results for the product "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" showing the substances contribution to the processes groups in terms of reactive nitrogen [kg/functional unit].*

Substance	Comp.	Vegetal raw mat.	Packaging	Product. process	Downstr. processes	Total processes
Ammonia	Air	1.08E-04	1.79E-05	5.63E-06	1.03E-06	1.32E-04
Ammonia	Water	2.41E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.41E-08
Ammonia	Soil	5.43E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E + 00	5.43E-08
Ammonia, as N	Water	1.26E-15	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E + 00	1.26E-15
Ammonium carbonate	Air	8.22E-13	8.23E-12	4.54E-11	2.61E-12	5.71E-11
Ammonium, ion	Air	4.52E-14	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	4.52E-14
Ammonium, ion	Water	3.90E-07	7.91E-06	3.65E-06	1.84E-06	1.38E-05
Aniline	Air	1.71E-12	1.16E-12	1.98E-14	4.36E-14	2.93E-12
Aniline	Water	4.10E-12	2.79E-12	4.75E-14	1.05E-13	7.05E-12
Anthranilic acid	Air	3.48E-13	2.89E-14	1.92E-15	5.86E-15	3.84E-13
Asulam	Soil	9.82E-18	7.80E-17	1.42E-17	7.00E-18	1.09E-16
Atrazine	Air	2.81E-14	3.81E-13	3.69E-14	1.20E-13	5.66E-13
Atrazine	Soil	1.45E-07	2.70E-09	3.90E-11	7.35E-11	1.48E-07
Azoxystrobin	Air	5.32E-15	7.23E-14	6.99E-15	2.27E-14	1.07E-13
Azoxystrobin	Soil	9.81E-11	9.51E-14	5.24E-15	1.03E-14	9.83E-11
Benomyl	Soil	2.99E-14	4.70E-13	1.59E-14	1.48E-14	5.30E-13
Bentazone	Air	5.51E-15	7.48E-14	7.24E-15	2.35E-14	1.11E-13
Bentazone	Soil	3.83E-15	4.78E-11	1.01E-15	2.92E-13	4.81E-11
Benzene, 1-methyl-2-nitro-	Air	3.85E-13	3.26E-14	2.13E-15	6.51E-15	4.26E-13
Bifenox	Soil	9.13E-12	2.82E-19	6.60E-21	5.01E-20	9.13E-12
Bitertanol	Soil	1.17E-11	1.58E-19	4.09E-21	2.78E-20	1.17E-11
Bromoxynil	Soil	2.83E-11	9.49E-16	1.79E-16	9.89E-17	2.83E-11
Bromuconazole	Soil	2.53E-21	3.08E-20	6.63E-22	5.52E-21	3.95E-20
Carbaryl	Air	8.98E-16	1.22E-14	1.18E-15	3.83E-15	1.81E-14
Carbaryl	Soil	4.26E-09	9.29E-15	1.34E-15	1.69E-15	4.26E-09
Carbendazim	Soil	1.32E-12	5.16E-12	6.94E-13	8.05E-13	7.98E-12
Carbetamide	Soil	1.49E-11	3.25E-11	7.85E-12	9.08E-12	6.44E-11
Carbofuran	Soil	5.38E-12	8.45E-11	2.86E-12	2.66E-12	9.54E-11
Carfentrazone-ethvl	Air	1.44E-16	1.96E-15	1.90E-16	6.16E-16	2.91E-15
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Soil	8.87E-13	8.41E-17	8.14E-18	2.64E-17	8.87E-13
Chloramine	Air	1.07E-11	1.94E-12	3.44E-14	8.35E-14	1.27E-11
Chloramine	Water	9.51E-11	1.73E-11	3.07E-13	7.46E-13	1.13E-10
Chloridazon	Soil	3.84E-19	4.68E-18	1.01E-19	8.38E-19	6.00E-18
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Air	3.48E-15	4.73E-14	4.58E-15	1.48E-14	7.02E-14
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Soil	8.98E-14	1.18E-12	6.29E-14	3.36E-13	1.67E-12
Chlormequat	Soil	2.92E-12	1.74E-12	1.78E-13	3.07E-13	5.15E-12
Chlorothalonil	Soil	1.04E-09	4.65E-09	2.79E-12	2.17E-11	5.72E-09
Chlorpyrifos	Air	2.06E-14	2.79E-13	2.79E-12	8 76E-14	4 14E-13
Chlorpyrifos	Soil	1.26E-09	3.04E-12	1 22E-13	4 10E-13	1 26E-09
Chlorsulfuron	Soil	6.13E-21	7 46E-20	1.22E 13	1 34E-20	9 57E-20
Chlortoluron	Soil	5 28E-07	4 07E-14	8.92E-16	7.28E-15	5 28E-07
Choline chloride	Soil	4 33E-19	5 27E-18	1 13E-19	9.44E-19	6 76E-18
Cinidon-ethyl	Soil	3.40E-17	4 14F-16	9.08E-18	7.40E-17	5.31E-16
Clethodim	Δir	2.40E 17	4.14E 10	3.00E-10	1.40E 17 $1.27E_14$	5.91E 10
Clethodim	Soil	2.771-13 3 69F-14	4.86F-13	2 59F-14	1 38F-13	6.87E-14
Clodinaton-proparavl	Soil	$1.86E_{20}$	2 26F-19	2.551-14 4 86F-21	4 05F-20	2 90F-10
Clomazone	Soil	1.00L-20	6.83F-13	1.00E-21	1 10F-13	$1.00E_{19}$
Clopyralid	Soil	1.71 <u>1-13</u>	1 00F 1/	2 02E 15	3/6F 15	1.09E-12
Cloquintocet-mexyl	Soil	4.67E-21	5.68E-20	1.22E-21	1.02E-20	7.29E-20

	a	Vegetal .	Product.	Downstr.	Total	
Substance	Comp.	raw mat.	Packaging	process	processes	processes
Cloransulam-methyl	Air	2.19E-15	2.97E-14	2.88E-15	9.33E-15	4.41E-14
Cloransulam-methyl	Soil	4.65E-14	6.12E-13	3.26E-14	1.74E-13	8.65E-13
Cyanide	Air	1.30E-09	1.68E-08	2.13E-09	4.76E-09	2.50E-08
Cyanide	Water	2.21E-09	2.44E-08	2.51E-09	6.35E-09	3.55E-08
Cyanoacetic acid	Air	9.66E-11	1.55E-13	5.00E-15	1.90E-14	9.67E-11
Cyfluthrin	Air	8.68E-17	1.18E-15	1.14E-16	3.70E-16	1.75E-15
Cyfluthrin	Soil	6.74E-11	5.05E-15	1.70E-16	2.57E-16	6.74E-11
Cyhalothrin	Soil	1.07E-10	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.07E-10
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	Air	9.62E-16	1.31E-14	1.26E-15	4.10E-15	1.94E-14
Cyhalothrin, gamma-	Soil	4.12E-17	5.60E-16	5.42E-17	1.76E-16	8.31E-16
Cypermethrin	Air	2.20E-16	2.99E-15	2.89E-16	9.37E-16	4.43E-15
Cypermethrin	Soil	9.09E-11	6.84E-12	3.29E-13	3.34E-13	9.84E-11
Cyproconazole	Soil	1.78E-09	2.03E-14	4.46E-16	3.63E-15	1.78E-09
Cyprodinil	Soil	9.64E-09	3.11E-14	6.82E-16	5.56E-15	9.64E-09
Deltamethrin	Soil	3.92E-13	1.39E-14	2.05E-15	2.43E-15	4.10E-13
Diazinon	Soil	1.89E-09	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.89E-09
Dicrotophos	Soil	3.67E-15	2.01E-13	6.35E-15	9.56E-15	2.20E-13
Diethylamine	Air	1.04E-12	6.77E-13	1.55E-14	3.07E-14	1.77E-12
Diethylamine	Water	2.51E-12	1.62E-12	3.72E-14	7.36E-14	4.24E-12
Difenoconazole	Soil	2.93E-14	1.05E-13	1.54E-14	1.83E-14	1.68E-13
Diflubenzuron	Air	1.28E-16	1.74E-15	1.68E-16	5.45E-16	2.58E-15
Diflubenzuron	Soil	1.71E-11	2.24E-10	1.20E-11	6.39E-11	3.17E-10
Diflufenican	Soil	7.65E-11	3.01E-14	6.60E-16	5.38E-15	7.65E-11
Diflufenzopyr-sodium	Soil	1.11E-16	8.73E-16	1.65E-16	9.09E-17	1.24E-15
Dimethachlor	Soil	4.37E-13	1.56E-12	2.30E-13	2.72E-13	2.50E-12
Dimethenamid	Soil	2.21E-15	1.88E-14	3.78E-15	3.65E-15	2.84E-14
Dimethoate	Soil	5.02E-15	6.11E-14	1.34E-15	1.09E-14	7.84E-14
Dimethylamine	Air	2.77E-16	1.49E-14	1.97E-15	1.35E-15	1.85E-14
Dimethylamine	Water	1.12E-09	4.04E-12	1.57E-13	4.97E-13	1.13E-09
Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	2.43E-05	7.84E-06	9.41E-07	1.48E-06	3.46E-05
Dipropylamine	Air	3.37E-13	2.94E-13	4.56E-15	9.55E-15	6.45E-13
Dipropylamine	Water	8.09E-13	7.07E-13	1.10E-14	2.29E-14	1.55E-12
Diquat	Soil	3.63E-15	2.68E-14	1.93E-15	1.69E-15	3.41E-14
Diquat dibromide	Soil	1.06E-21	8.44E-21	1.54E-21	7.58E-22	1.18E-20
Dithianone	Soil	7.47E-16	9.09E-15	1.99E-16	1.62E-15	1.17E-14
Diuron	Soil	1.15E-14	6.28E-13	1.99E-14	2.99E-14	6.89E-13
Epoxiconazole	Soil	2.45E-11	1.60E-14	3.51E-16	2.86E-15	2.45E-11
Esfenvalerate	Air	5.37E-16	7.29E-15	7.06E-16	2.29E-15	1.08E-14
Esfenvalerate	Soil	3.13E-10	3.73E-16	3.16E-17	1.09E-16	3.13E-10
Ethalfluralin	Soil	3.35E-13	1.20E-12	1.77E-13	2.09E-13	1.92E-12
Ethylamine	Air	2.06E-12	4.15E-11	5.93E-14	4.47E-13	4.40E-11
Ethylamine	Water	4.95E-12	9.96E-11	1.42E-13	1.07E-12	1.06E-10
Ethylene diamine	Air	7.99E-13	1.04E-10	5.93E-14	5.82E-13	1.05E-10
Ethylene diamine	Water	1.92E-12	2.50E-10	1.43E-13	1.40E-12	2.54E-10
Fenbuconazole	Soil	3.44E-16	4.18E-15	9.16E-17	7.47E-16	5.36E-15
Fenoxaprop	Air	8.84E-16	1.20E-14	1.16E-15	3.77E-15	1.78E-14
Fenoxaprop	Soil	2.39E-14	3.15E-13	1.67E-14	8.95E-14	4.45E-13
Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester	Soil	2.50E-12	3.13E-20	8.23E-22	5.52E-21	2.50E-12
Fenpiclonil	Soil	2.74E-13	2.09E-10	1.23E-13	9.78E-13	2.10E-10

Substance	Comp.	Vegetal	Packaging	Product.	Downstr.	Total
	oomp.	raw mat.		process	processes	processes
Fenpropidin	Soil	1.45E-10	2.05E-14	4.49E-16	3.66E-15	1.45E-10
Fenpropimorph	Soil	4.99E-10	4.02E-14	9.92E-16	7.12E-15	5.00E-10
Fipronil	Soil	4.77E-14	2.60E-12	8.26E-14	1.24E-13	2.86E-12
Florasulam	Soil	4.61E-12	6.27E-20	1.63E-21	1.11E-20	4.61E-12
Fluazifop-p-butyl	Air	1.10E-15	1.50E-14	1.45E-15	4.71E-15	2.23E-14
Fluazifop-P-butyl	Soil	7.87E-14	3.48E-13	4.27E-14	7.07E-14	5.40E-13
Flucarbazone sodium salt	Soil	2.62E-22	3.19E-21	6.86E-23	5.71E-22	4.09E-21
Fludioxonil	Soil	6.29E-12	1.53E-19	5.06E-21	2.64E-20	6.29E-12
Flufenacet	Air	1.31E-15	1.78E-14	1.72E-15	5.59E-15	2.64E-14
Flufenacet	Soil	1.09E-10	7.65E-16	7.39E-17	2.40E-16	1.09E-10
Flumetsulam	Air	5.71E-16	7.76E-15	7.51E-16	2.43E-15	1.15E-14
Flumetsulam	Soil	2.90E-16	2.42E-15	4.27E-16	3.22E-16	3.46E-15
Flumiclorac-pentyl	Air	1.50E-16	2.04E-15	1.97E-16	6.39E-16	3.02E-15
Flumiclorac-pentyl	Soil	6.43E-18	8.73E-17	8.45E-18	2.74E-17	1.30E-16
Flumioxazin	Air	3.63E-15	4.93E-14	4.77E-15	1.55E-14	7.32E-14
Flumioxazin	Soil	2.62E-14	3.45E-13	1.84E-14	9.81E-14	4.87E-13
Fluroxypyr	Soil	4.37E-12	3.17E-15	6.95E-17	5.67E-16	4.38E-12
Flurtamone	Soil	4.14E-11	1.07E-14	2.35E-16	1.92E-15	4.15E-11
Flusilazole	Soil	1.44E-11	1.17E-14	2.56E-16	2.09E-15	1.44E-11
Fomesafen	Air	1.09E-14	1.48E-13	1.43E-14	4.64E-14	2.20E-13
Fomesafen	Soil	1.39E-13	1.83E-12	9.76E-14	5.21E-13	2.59E-12
Foramsulfuron	Soil	2.46E-17	1.93E-16	3.65E-17	2.01E-17	2.75E-16
Formamide	Air	5.59E-12	1.04E-12	6.32E-15	2.12E-14	6.66E-12
Formamide	Water	1.34E-11	2.49E-12	1.52E-14	5.10E-14	1.60E-11
Glyphosate	Air	2.83E-12	3.84E-11	3.72E-12	1.20E-11	5.70E-11
Glyphosate	Soil	1.98E-08	1.21E-09	6.29E-11	2.64E-09	2.38E-08
Imazamox	Air	9.34E-16	1.27E-14	1.23E-15	3.98E-15	1.88E-14
Imazamox	Soil	3.93E-14	5.17E-13	2.75E-14	1.47E-13	7.31E-13
Imazapyr	Soil	2.84E-18	2.23E-17	4.21E-18	2.32E-18	3.17E-17
Imazaquin	Air	2.92E-15	3.97E-14	3.84E-15	1.25E-14	5.89E-14
Imazaquin	Soil	1.25E-16	1.70E-15	1.65E-16	5.34E-16	2.52E-15
Imazethapyr	Air	6.51E-15	8.84E-14	8.55E-15	2.77E-14	1.31E-13
Imazethapyr	Soil	1.03E-13	1.36E-12	7.25E-14	3.88E-13	1.92E-12
Imidacloprid	Soil	1.20E-10	5.44E-12	1.72E-13	2.59E-13	1.26E-10
Indoxacarb	Soil	2.73E-10	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.73E-10
Ioxvnil	Soil	1.27E-11	2.10E-14	4.59E-16	3.75E-15	1.27E-11
Iprodione	Soil	4.54E-13	1.62E-12	2.39E-13	2.83E-13	2.60E-12
Isocvanic acid	Air	1.76E-10	3.21E-08	1.42E-10	1.51E-09	3.40E-08
Isopropylamine	Air	7.48E-13	1.06E-11	1.61E-14	1.15E-13	1.15E-11
Isopropylamine	Water	1 80E-12	2.54E-11	3 86E-14	2.75E-13	2.76E-11
Isoproturon	Soil	4 61E-07	6 92E-13	1 52E-14	1 24E-13	4 61E-07
Isoxaflutole	Soil	8 25E-17	6.49E-16	1.22E-16	6 76E-17	9 22E-16
Kresoxim-methyl	Soil	3.82E-13	6.67E-15	1.22E 10	1 19E-15	3 90E-13
L actofen	Air	6.61E-16	8.98E-15	8.69E-16	2 82E-15	1 33E-14
Lactofen	Soil	2.83E-17	3.85E-16	3.72E-17	1.21E-16	5 71E-16
Lambda-cyhalothrin	Soil	2.05E-17 3 40F-12	7.96F-14	$7.60F_{15}$	1.212-10 1 78F-14	3 50F-12
Linuron	Soil	8.74F-12	7.90E-14	1.00E-13	$2.65E_{-11}$	8.27F-10
Mancozeh	Soil	7 02E 12	5 Q/E 00	3.56E 12	2.03E-11 2.77E 11	5 08E 00
Mefennyr	Soil	7.75E-12 20/F 11	J.741-07 3 86F 16	5.50E-12 8/7E 19	2.//L-11 601F 17	2.20E-09
weichpyr	5011	2.04L-11	5.00E-10	0.4/15-10	0.911-17	2.04L-11

Substance	a	Vegetal	Vegetal	Product.	Downstr.	Total
Substance	Comp.	raw mat.	Packaging	process	processes	processes
Mefenpyr-diethyl	Soil	9.71E-12	1.21E-19	3.19E-21	2.14E-20	9.71E-12
Mepiquat chloride	Soil	8.54E-11	4.29E-14	1.36E-15	2.04E-15	8.54E-11
Mesotrione	Soil	2.37E-16	1.86E-15	3.51E-16	1.94E-16	2.64E-15
Metamitron	Soil	7.00E-15	5.57E-14	1.03E-14	5.30E-15	7.83E-14
Metazachlor	Soil	5.33E-09	1.02E-11	1.50E-12	1.77E-12	5.34E-09
Methomyl	Soil	1.70E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.70E-08
Methylamine	Air	8.26E-11	3.95E-13	2.26E-14	6.29E-14	8.31E-11
Methylamine	Water	1.98E-10	9.47E-13	5.43E-14	1.51E-13	1.99E-10
Metolachlor	Air	1.76E-14	2.39E-13	2.31E-14	7.49E-14	3.54E-13
Metolachlor	Soil	5.80E-08	2.60E-09	3.19E-12	3.07E-11	6.06E-08
Metribuzin	Air	3.70E-14	5.02E-13	4.86E-14	1.58E-13	7.45E-13
Metribuzin	Soil	1.30E-12	5.36E-10	7.35E-13	4.70E-12	5.43E-10
Monocrotophos	Soil	1.45E-12	1.91E-11	1.02E-12	5.44E-12	2.70E-11
Monoethanolamine	Air	4.00E-09	1.18E-08	8.23E-07	3.09E-10	8.40E-07
Monoethanolamine	Water	9.27E-14	9.28E-13	4.05E-13	3.72E-13	1.80E-12
Napropamide	Soil	4.73E-12	8.59E-12	2.49E-12	2.88E-12	1.87E-11
Nitrate	Air	1.59E-09	1.41E-08	3.73E-10	6.30E-09	2.24E-08
Nitrate	Water	5.67E-04	2.23E-04	5.43E-06	3.95E-06	8.00E-04
Nitrate	Soil	2.90E-09	2.60E-08	2.35E-10	1.17E-08	4.09E-08
Nitric oxide	Air	1.14E-14	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.14E-14
Nitrite	Water	6.31E-10	8.87E-08	6.95E-08	1.97E-08	1.78E-07
Nitrobenzene	Air	2.65E-12	1.20E-12	2.19E-14	4.99E-14	3.92E-12
Nitrobenzene	Water	1.06E-11	4.83E-12	8.76E-14	2.00E-13	1.57E-11
Nitrogen	Water	2.71E-07	7.67E-06	1.05E-06	4.37E-07	9.42E-06
Nitrogen	Soil	9.75E-11	1.35E-09	7.15E-11	4.39E-10	1.96E-09
Nitrogen dioxide	Air	9.93E-07	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	9.93E-07
Nitrogen fluoride	Air	1.20E-18	1.02E-18	7.19E-20	5.12E-19	2.80E-18
Nitrogen oxides	Air	3.45E-05	2.97E-04	2.26E-05	9.19E-05	4.47E-04
Nitrogen, organic bound	Water	1.57E-08	8.11E-07	2.82E-08	1.60E-07	1.01E-06
Nitrogen, total	Water	1.24E-10	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.24E-10
Orbencarb	Soil	7.91E-13	5.93E-10	3.55E-13	2.77E-12	5.97E-10
Paraquat dichloride	Soil	7.97E-10	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	7.97E-10
Parathion	Soil	2.40E-14	2.59E-14	2.48E-15	6.16E-15	5.85E-14
Particulates < 10 µm	Air	2.09E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.09E-08
Particulates < 10 µm	Water	5.21E-13	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	5.21E-13
Particulates $< 2.5 \ \mu m$	Air	9.97E-07	1.07E-05	1.07E-06	2.47E-06	1.52E-05
Particulates > 2.5 μ m < 10 μ m	Air	1.55E-07	1.44E-06	1.22E-07	7.65E-07	2.48E-06
Pendimethalin	Air	1.43E-13	1.94E-12	1.88E-13	6.10E-13	2.89E-12
Pendimethalin	Soil	4.13E-07	3.33E-11	1.76E-12	9.31E-12	4.13E-07
Phenmedipham	Soil	4.32E-16	3.43E-15	6.38E-16	3.27E-16	4.83E-15
Propiconazole	Air	2.05E-15	2.79E-14	2.70E-15	8.75E-15	4.14E-14
Propiconazole	Soil	1.31E-10	1.42E-14	4.00E-16	2.69E-15	1.31E-10
Propylamine	Air	2.34E-13	2.52E-13	1.53E-15	5.15E-15	4.93E-13
Propylamine	Water	5.62E-13	6.04E-13	3.68E-15	1.24E-14	1.18E-12
Pyridate	Soil	1.78E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.78E-08
Simazine	Soil	3.09E-15	2.43E-14	4.59E-15	2.54E-15	3.46E-14
Sulfentrazone	Air	1.57E-14	2.14E-13	2.07E-14	6.71E-14	3.17E-13
Sulfentrazone	Soil	4.96E-13	6.52E-12	3.47E-13	1.86E-12	9.22E-12
t-Butylamine	Air	7.80E-11	9.09E-12	1.65E-14	1.12E-13	8.72E-11

Substance	Comp.	Vegetal raw mat.	Packaging	Product. process	Downstr. processes	Total processes
t-Butylamine	Water	1.87E-10	2.18E-11	3.96E-14	2.69E-13	2.09E-10
Tebupirimphos	Soil	3.26E-16	2.56E-15	4.84E-16	2.67E-16	3.64E-15
Tebutam	Soil	2.10E-11	2.83E-11	1.11E-11	1.27E-11	7.31E-11
Terbuthylazin	Soil	5.90E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	5.90E-08
Tralkoxydim	Soil	9.39E-11	1.18E-18	3.10E-20	2.08E-19	9.39E-11
Trifloxystrobin	Air	6.81E-17	9.24E-16	8.94E-17	2.90E-16	1.37E-15
Trifloxystrobin	Soil	8.76E-12	3.98E-17	3.84E-18	1.25E-17	8.76E-12
Trifluralin	Air	1.96E-13	2.67E-12	2.58E-13	8.37E-13	3.96E-12
Trifluralin	Soil	1.01E-11	4.88E-11	5.78E-12	1.40E-11	7.87E-11
Trimethylamine	Air	5.04E-13	4.07E-14	2.78E-15	8.46E-15	5.56E-13
Trimethylamine	Water	1.21E-12	9.78E-14	6.66E-15	2.03E-14	1.34E-12
Urea	Water	4.44E-12	3.47E-12	2.63E-14	8.89E-14	8.03E-12
Total	-	7,39E-04	5,75E-04	4,14E-05	1,04E-04	1,46E-03

The same type of analysis presented above was also carried out for the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" obtaining the results reported in the Table 4.41.

Substance	Comp.	Vegetal raw mat.	Packaging	Product. process	Downstr. processes	Total processes
2-Aminopropanol	Air	3.45E-13	4.28E-14	4.12E-15	4.52E-15	3.97E-13
2-Aminopropanol	Water	8.29E-13	1.04E-13	9.90E-15	1.09E-14	9.54E-13
2-Nitrobenzoic acid	Air	3.67E-13	3.10E-14	1.42E-15	3.04E-15	4.03E-13
Acephate	Air	8.38E-15	1.17E-13	7.60E-15	1.53E-14	1.48E-13
Acephate	Soil	2.55E-14	1.42E-12	3.03E-14	5.83E-14	1.53E-12
Acetamide	Air	6.40E-15	8.92E-14	5.81E-15	1.17E-14	1.13E-13
Acetamide	Soil	1.20E-14	6.24E-13	1.49E-14	2.63E-14	6.77E-13
Acetochlor	Soil	1.11E-14	8.91E-14	2.17E-14	1.21E-14	1.34E-13
Acetonitrile	Air	1.66E-11	3.68E-10	1.06E-11	1.71E-11	4.13E-10
Acetonitrile	Water	1.68E-10	2.70E-13	6.06E-15	1.61E-14	1.69E-10
Acifluorfen	Air	5.83E-16	8.13E-15	5.29E-16	1.07E-15	1.03E-14
Acifluorfen	Soil	2.50E-17	3.48E-16	2.27E-17	4.57E-17	4.42E-16
Aclonifen	Soil	1.69E-15	8.49E-11	4.79E-16	5.08E-13	8.55E-11
Acrylonitrile	Water	5.23E-14	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	5.23E-14
Alachlor	Air	5.53E-15	7.71E-14	5.02E-15	1.01E-14	9.78E-14
Alachlor	Soil	4.68E-08	5.20E-14	7.43E-15	7.63E-15	4.68E-08
Aldicarb	Soil	1.63E-13	9.17E-12	1.94E-13	3.73E-13	9.90E-12
Amidosulfuron	Soil	1.48E-16	1.82E-15	4.43E-17	1.32E-16	2.15E-15
Ammonia	Air	1.09E-04	1.79E-05	5.54E-06	7.30E-07	1.33E-04
Ammonia	Water	2.44E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.44E-08
Ammonia	Soil	5.50E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	5.50E-08
Ammonia. as N	Water	1.28E-15	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.28E-15
Ammonium carbonate	Air	8.19E-13	8.23E-12	4.49E-11	2.48E-12	5.64E-11
Ammonium. ion	Air	4.58E-14	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	4.58E-14

Table 4.41. Processes group analysis results for the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" showing the substances contribution to the processes groups in terms of reactive nitrogen [kg/functional unit].

Substance	~	Vegetal		Product.	Downstr.	Total
Substance	Comp.	raw mat.	Packaging	process	processes	processes
Ammonium. ion	Water	3.89E-07	7.91E-06	2.82E-06	1.83E-06	1.30E-05
Aniline	Air	1.72E-12	1.16E-12	1.62E-14	2.67E-14	2.92E-12
Aniline	Water	4.12E-12	2.80E-12	3.89E-14	6.43E-14	7.02E-12
Anthranilic acid	Air	3.49E-13	2.89E-14	1.34E-15	2.88E-15	3.82E-13
Asulam	Soil	9.63E-18	7.80E-17	1.92E-17	1.06E-17	1.17E-16
Atrazine	Air	2.74E-14	3.81E-13	2.48E-14	5.00E-14	4.84E-13
Atrazine	Soil	1.47E-07	2.70E-09	2.89E-11	5.64E-11	1.50E-07
Azoxystrobin	Air	5.19E-15	7.23E-14	4.71E-15	9.49E-15	9.17E-14
Azoxystrobin	Soil	9.85E-11	9.51E-14	6.88E-15	7.00E-15	9.87E-11
Benomyl	Soil	2.98E-14	4.70E-13	2.19E-14	1.69E-14	5.39E-13
Bentazone	Air	5.37E-15	7.48E-14	4.87E-15	9.81E-15	9.49E-14
Bentazone	Soil	3.78E-15	4.78E-11	1.25E-15	2.88E-13	4.81E-11
Benzene. 1-methyl-2-nitro-	Air	3.87E-13	3.26E-14	1.49E-15	3.20E-15	4.24E-13
Bifenox	Soil	9.16E-12	2.82E-19	7.43E-21	2.06E-20	9.16E-12
Bitertanol	Soil	1.18E-11	1.58E-19	4.71E-21	1.17E-20	1.18E-11
Bromoxynil	Soil	2.84E-11	9.50E-16	2.31E-16	1.29E-16	2.84E-11
Bromuconazole	Soil	2.50E-21	3.09E-20	7.31E-22	2.23E-21	3.63E-20
Carbaryl	Air	8.75E-16	1.22E-14	7.94E-16	1.60E-15	1.55E-14
Carbaryl	Soil	4.32E-09	9.29E-15	8.89E-16	5.83E-16	4.32E-09
Carbendazim	Soil	1.32E-12	5.17E-12	5.03E-13	3.15E-13	7.31E-12
Carbetamide	Soil	1.49E-11	3.25E-11	5.18E-12	2.90E-12	5.56E-11
Carbofuran	Soil	5.37E-12	8.46E-11	3.93E-12	3.03E-12	9.69E-11
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Air	1.41E-16	1.96E-15	1.28E-16	2.58E-16	2.49E-15
Carfentrazone-ethyl	Soil	8.91E-13	8.42E-17	5.48E-18	1.10E-17	8.91E-13
Chloramine	Air	1.07E-11	1.94E-12	2.46E-14	4.97E-14	1.27E-11
Chloramine	Water	9.55E-11	1.74E-11	2.20E-13	4.44E-13	1.13E-10
Chloridazon	Soil	3.80E-19	4.68E-18	1.11E-19	3.39E-19	5.51E-18
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Air	3.40E-15	4.73E-14	3.08E-15	6.21E-15	6.00E-14
Chlorimuron-ethyl	Soil	8.75E-14	1.18E-12	4.31E-14	1.48E-13	1.46E-12
Chlormequat	Soil	2.93E-12	1.74E-12	1.24E-13	1.11E-13	4.91E-12
Chlorothalonil	Soil	1.04E-09	4.66E-09	2.98E-12	3.09E-11	5.73E-09
Chlorpyrifos	Air	2.00E-14	2.79E-13	1.82E-14	3.66E-14	3.54E-13
Chlorpyrifos	Soil	1.28E-09	3.04E-12	8.32E-14	2.19E-13	1.28E-09
Chlorsulfuron	Soil	6.06E-21	7.47E-20	1.77E-21	5.40E-21	8.79E-20
Chlortoluron	Soil	5.30E-07	4.08E-14	9.88E-16	2.95E-15	5.30E-07
Choline chloride	Soil	4.28E-19	5.28E-18	1.25E-19	3.82E-19	6.21E-18
Cinidon-ethyl	Soil	3.36E-17	4.14E-16	1.01E-17	3.00E-17	4.88E-16
Clethodim	Air	2.90E-15	4.04E-14	2.63E-15	5.29E-15	5.12E-14
Clethodim	Soil	3.60E-14	4.86E-13	1.78E-14	6.10E-14	6.01E-13
Clodinafop-propargyl	Soil	1.83E-20	2.26E-19	5.36E-21	1.64E-20	2.66E-19
Clomazone	Soil	1.92E-13	6.83E-13	6.66E-14	4.01E-14	9.82E-13
Clopyralid	Soil	1.46E-12	1.99E-14	1.94E-15	1.17E-15	1.49E-12
Cloquintocet-mexyl	Soil	4.61E-21	5.69E-20	1.35E-21	4.12E-21	6.70E-20
Cloransulam-methyl	Air	2.13E-15	2.97E-14	1.94E-15	3.90E-15	3.77E-14
Cloransulam-methyl	Soil	4.53E-14	6.12E-13	2.23E-14	7.68E-14	7.57E-13
Cyanide	Air	1.29E-09	1.68E-08	1.71E-09	3.27E-09	2.31E-08
Cyanide	Water	2.17E-09	2.44E-08	2.55E-09	4.08E-09	3.32E-08
Cyanoacetic acid	Air	9.69E-11	1.55E-13	3.49E-15	9.29E-15	9.71E-11
Cyfluthrin	Air	8.47E-17	1.18E-15	7.68E-17	1.55E-16	1.50E-15

Substance	Comp.	Vegetal	Packaging	Product.	Downstr.	Total
	comp	raw mat.		process	processes	processes
Cyfluthrin	Soil	6.83E-11	5.05E-15	1.20E-16	2.15E-16	6.83E-11
Cyhalothrin	Soil	1.09E-10	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.09E-10
Cyhalothrin. gamma-	Air	9.38E-16	1.31E-14	8.51E-16	1.71E-15	1.66E-14
Cyhalothrin. gamma-	Soil	4.02E-17	5.61E-16	3.65E-17	7.35E-17	7.11E-16
Cypermethrin	Air	2.14E-16	2.99E-15	1.94E-16	3.92E-16	3.79E-15
Cypermethrin	Soil	9.21E-11	6.85E-12	3.71E-13	2.73E-13	9.96E-11
Cyproconazole	Soil	1.79E-09	2.03E-14	4.94E-16	1.48E-15	1.79E-09
Cyprodinil	Soil	9.68E-09	3.11E-14	7.55E-16	2.26E-15	9.68E-09
Deltamethrin	Soil	3.93E-13	1.40E-14	1.36E-15	8.19E-16	4.09E-13
Diazinon	Soil	1.92E-09	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E + 00	1.92E-09
Dicrotophos	Soil	3.57E-15	2.01E-13	4.26E-15	8.17E-15	2.17E-13
Diethylamine	Air	1.05E-12	6.77E-13	1.20E-14	1.73E-14	1.76E-12
Diethylamine	Water	2.52E-12	1.63E-12	2.88E-14	4.16E-14	4.21E-12
Difenoconazole	Soil	2.94E-14	1.05E-13	1.02E-14	6.18E-15	1.51E-13
Diflubenzuron	Air	1.25E-16	1.74E-15	1.13E-16	2.28E-16	2.20E-15
Diflubenzuron	Soil	1.66E-11	2.25E-10	8.22E-12	2.82E-11	2.78E-10
Diflufenican	Soil	7.68E-11	3.01E-14	7.32E-16	2.19E-15	7.68E-11
Diflufenzopyr-sodium	Soil	1.09E-16	8.74E-16	2.12E-16	1.18E-16	1.31E-15
Dimethachlor	Soil	4.38E-13	1.56E-12	1.52E-13	9.18E-14	2.25E-12
Dimethenamid	Soil	2.18E-15	1.88E-14	3.33E-15	2.71E-15	2.70E-14
Dimethoate	Soil	4.96E-15	6.11E-14	1.48E-15	4.43E-15	7.20E-14
Dimethylamine	Air	2.67E-16	1.49E-14	1.53E-15	9.32E-16	1.76E-14
Dimethylamine	Water	1.13E-09	4.04E-12	1.12E-13	2.49E-13	1.13E-09
Dinitrogen monoxide	Air	2.44E-05	7.84E-06	9.74E-07	1.13E-06	3.44E-05
Dipropylamine	Air	3.38E-13	2.95E-13	3.81E-15	6.08E-15	6.43E-13
Dipropylamine	Water	8.12E-13	7.07E-13	9.14E-15	1.46E-14	1.54E-12
Diquat	Soil	3.62E-15	2.68E-14	2.65E-15	1.94E-15	3.50E-14
Diquat dibromide	Soil	1.04E-21	8.45E-21	2.08E-21	1.15E-21	1.27E-20
Dithianone	Soil	7.39E-16	9.10E-15	2.21E-16	6.59E-16	1.07E-14
Diuron	Soil	1.12E-14	6.28E-13	1.33E-14	2.56E-14	6.78E-13
Epoxiconazole	Soil	2.46E-11	1.60E-14	3.89E-16	1.16E-15	2.46E-11
Esfenvalerate	Air	5.24E-16	7.30E-15	4.75E-16	9.57E-16	9.26E-15
Esfenvalerate	Soil	3.17E-10	3.74E-16	2.18E-17	4.54E-17	3.17E-10
Ethalfluralin	Soil	3.37E-13	1.20E-12	1.17E-13	7.04E-14	1.72E-12
Ethylamine	Air	2.07E-12	4.15E-11	5.17E-14	6.30E-13	4.43E-11
Ethylamine	Water	4.96E-12	9.96E-11	1.24E-13	1.51E-12	1.06E-10
Ethylene diamine	Air	7.95E-13	1.04E-10	1.96E-13	8.83E-13	1.06E-10
Ethylene diamine	Water	1.91E-12	2.50E-10	4.73E-13	2.12E-12	2.55E-10
Fenbuconazole	Soil	3.40E-16	4.18E-15	1.02E-16	3.03E-16	4.93E-15
Fenoxaprop	Air	8.62E-16	1.20E-14	7.82E-16	1.58E-15	1.52E-14
Fenoxaprop	Soil	2.33E-14	3.15E-13	1.15E-14	3.95E-14	3.89E-13
Fenoxaprop-P ethyl ester	Soil	2.51E-12	3.13E-20	9.50E-22	2.32E-21	2.51E-12
Fenpiclonil	Soil	2.63E-13	2.09E-10	1.31E-13	1.38E-12	2.11E-10
Fenpropidin	Soil	1.46E-10	2.05E-14	4.98E-16	1.49E-15	1.46E-10
Fenpropimorph	Soil	5.02E-10	4.02E-14	1.13E-15	2.96E-15	5.02E-10
Fipronil	Soil	4.64E-14	2.60E-12	5.55E-14	1.06E-13	2.81E-12
Florasulam	Soil	4.63E-12	6.27E-20	1.87E-21	4.65E-21	4.63E-12
Fluazifop-p-butyl	Air	1.08E-15	1.50E-14	9.77E-16	1.97E-15	1.90E-14
Fluazifop-P-butyl	Soil	7.88E-14	3.48E-13	2.84E-14	2.65E-14	4.82E-13

	~	Vegetal		Product.	Downstr.	Total
Substance	Comp.	raw mat.	Packaging	process	processes	processes
Flucarbazone sodium salt	Soil	2.59E-22	3.20E-21	7.57E-23	2.31E-22	3.76E-21
Fludioxonil	Soil	6.31E-12	1.53E-19	6.06E-21	1.18E-20	6.31E-12
Flufenacet	Air	1.28E-15	1.78E-14	1.16E-15	2.34E-15	2.26E-14
Flufenacet	Soil	1.10E-10	7.65E-16	4.97E-17	1.00E-16	1.10E-10
Flumetsulam	Air	5.57E-16	7.76E-15	5.05E-16	1.02E-15	9.84E-15
Flumetsulam	Soil	2.85E-16	2.43E-15	5.31E-16	3.28E-16	3.57E-15
Flumiclorac-pentyl	Air	1.46E-16	2.04E-15	1.33E-16	2.67E-16	2.59E-15
Flumiclorac-pentyl	Soil	6.27E-18	8.74E-17	5.68E-18	1.15E-17	1.11E-16
Flumioxazin	Air	3.54E-15	4.93E-14	3.21E-15	6.47E-15	6.26E-14
Flumioxazin	Soil	2.55E-14	3.45E-13	1.26E-14	4.33E-14	4.26E-13
Fluroxypyr	Soil	4.39E-12	3.17E-15	7.70E-17	2.30E-16	4.39E-12
Flurtamone	Soil	4.16E-11	1.07E-14	2.60E-16	7.77E-16	4.16E-11
Flusilazole	Soil	1.44E-11	1.17E-14	2.84E-16	8.48E-16	1.44E-11
Fomesafen	Air	1.06E-14	1.48E-13	9.64E-15	1.94E-14	1.88E-13
Fomesafen	Soil	1.36E-13	1.83E-12	6.69E-14	2.30E-13	2.27E-12
Foramsulfuron	Soil	2.41E-17	1.94E-16	4.71E-17	2.62E-17	2.91E-16
Formamide	Air	5.62E-12	1.04E-12	4.63E-15	1.46E-14	6.67E-12
Formamide	Water	1.35E-11	2.49E-12	1.11E-14	3.50E-14	1.60E-11
Glyphosate	Air	2.76E-12	3.84E-11	2.50E-12	5.04E-12	4.87E-11
Glyphosate	Soil	2.01E-08	1.21E-09	5.29E-11	1.58E-10	2.15E-08
Imazamox	Air	9.11E-16	1.27E-14	8.26E-16	1.67E-15	1.61E-14
Imazamox	Soil	3.83E-14	5.18E-13	1.89E-14	6.49E-14	6.40E-13
Imazapyr	Soil	2.78E-18	2.23E-17	5.43E-18	3.03E-18	3.36E-17
Imazaguin	Air	2.85E-15	3.97E-14	2.58E-15	5.21E-15	5.04E-14
Imazaquin	Soil	1.22E-16	1.70E-15	1.11E-16	2.23E-16	2.16E-15
Imazethapyr	Air	6.34E-15	8.84E-14	5.75E-15	1.16E-14	1.12E-13
Imazethapyr	Soil	1.01E-13	1.36E-12	4.97E-14	1.71E-13	1.68E-12
Imidacloprid	Soil	1.21E-10	5.44E-12	1.15E-13	2.22E-13	1.27E-10
Indoxacarb	Soil	2.77E-10	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.77E-10
Ioxvnil	Soil	1.27E-11	2.10E-14	5.08E-16	1.52E-15	1.28E-11
Iprodione	Soil	4.56E-13	1.63E-12	1.58E-13	9.54E-14	2.34E-12
Isocvanic acid	Air	1.70E-10	3.21E-08	1.28E-10	7.52E-10	3.32E-08
Isopropylamine	Air	7.50E-13	1.06E-11	1.40E-14	1.58E-13	1.15E-11
Isopropylamine	Water	1.80E-12	2.55E-11	3.36E-14	3.78E-13	2.77E-11
Isoproturon	Soil	4.63E-07	6.93E-13	1.68E-14	5.02E-14	4.63E-07
Isoxaflutole	Soil	8.09E-17	6.50E-16	1.58E-16	8.81E-17	9.77E-16
Kresoxim-methvl	Soil	3.84E-13	6.68E-15	1.62E-16	4.84E-16	3.91E-13
Lactofen	Air	6.45E-16	8.99E-15	5.85E-16	1.18E-15	1.14E-14
Lactofen	Soil	2.76E-17	3.85E-16	2.51E-17	5.05E-17	4.88E-16
Lambda-cyhalothrin	Soil	3.41E-12	7.96E-14	5.09E-15	7.24E-15	3.50E-12
Linuron	Soil	8.12E-12	7.81E-10	8.29E-12	1.74E-11	8.14E-10
Mancozeb	Soil	7.61E-12	5.94E-09	3.80E-12	3.94E-11	6.00E-09
Mefenpvr	Soil	2.05E-11	3.87E-16	9.39E-18	2.80E-17	2.05E-11
Mefenpyr-diethyl	Soil	9.75E-12	1.21E-19	3.68E-21	9.01E-21	9.75E-12
Mepiquat chloride	Soil	8.57E-11	4.29E-14	9.10E-16	1.75E-15	8.58E-11
Mesotrione	Soil	2.32E-16	1.86E-15	4.53E-16	2.53E-16	2.80E-15
Metamitron	Soil	6.86E-15	5.57E-14	1.37E-14	7.59E-15	8.39E-14
Metazachlor	Soil	5.40E-09	1.02E-11	9.94E-13	5.98E-13	5.41E-09
Methomyl	Soil	1.72E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.72E-08

Substance	Comp	Vegetal	Packaging	Product.	Downstr.	Total
Substance	comp.	raw mat.	Tuckuging	process	processes	processes
Methylamine	Air	8.29E-11	3.95E-13	2.77E-14	3.37E-14	8.34E-11
Methylamine	Water	1.99E-10	9.48E-13	6.65E-14	8.08E-14	2.00E-10
Metolachlor	Air	1.71E-14	2.39E-13	1.56E-14	3.13E-14	3.03E-13
Metolachlor	Soil	5.88E-08	2.60E-09	2.33E-12	2.26E-11	6.14E-08
Metribuzin	Air	3.60E-14	5.03E-13	3.27E-14	6.59E-14	6.37E-13
Metribuzin	Soil	1.26E-12	5.36E-10	6.25E-13	4.49E-12	5.43E-10
Monocrotophos	Soil	1.41E-12	1.91E-11	6.99E-13	2.40E-12	2.36E-11
Monoethanolamine	Air	4.01E-09	1.18E-08	8.03E-09	4.78E-10	2.44E-08
Monoethanolamine	Water	9.24E-14	9.28E-13	2.66E-13	2.22E-13	1.51E-12
Napropamide	Soil	4.75E-12	8.59E-12	1.65E-12	9.15E-13	1.59E-11
Nitrate	Air	1.38E-09	1.42E-08	3.06E-10	1.04E-08	2.63E-08
Nitrate	Water	5.71E-04	2.23E-04	4.03E-06	2.97E-06	8.01E-04
Nitrate	Soil	2.49E-09	2.62E-08	2.63E-10	2.00E-08	4.89E-08
Nitric oxide	Air	1.16E-14	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.16E-14
Nitrite	Water	6.15E-10	8.87E-08	5.19E-08	1.97E-08	1.61E-07
Nitrobenzene	Air	2.66E-12	1.20E-12	1.77E-14	2.99E-14	3.91E-12
Nitrobenzene	Water	1.07E-11	4.83E-12	7.09E-14	1.20E-13	1.57E-11
Nitrogen	Water	2.72E-07	7.67E-06	7.99E-07	2.21E-07	8.96E-06
Nitrogen	Soil	9.12E-11	1.36E-09	5.99E-11	5.59E-10	2.07E-09
Nitrogen dioxide	Air	1.01E-06	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.01E-06
Nitrogen fluoride	Air	1.20E-18	1.02E-18	5.17E-20	5.32E-19	2.80E-18
Nitrogen oxides	Air	3.38E-05	2.98E-04	1.63E-05	8.73E-05	4.35E-04
Nitrogen. organic bound	Water	1.52E-08	8.12E-07	2.18E-08	1.63E-07	1.01E-06
Nitrogen. total	Water	1.25E-10	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.25E-10
Orbencarb	Soil	7.60E-13	5.93E-10	3.79E-13	3.93E-12	5.98E-10
Paraquat dichloride	Soil	8.07E-10	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	8.07E-10
Parathion	Soil	2.41E-14	2.59E-14	1.72E-15	5.03E-15	5.67E-14
Particulates < 10 µm	Air	2.11E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.11E-08
Particulates < 10 µm	Water	5.28E-13	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	5.28E-13
Particulates < 2.5 µm	Air	9.76E-07	1.07E-05	7.80E-07	2.22E-06	1.47E-05
Particulates > 2.5 μ m < 10 μ m	Air	1.47E-07	1.44E-06	9.68E-08	7.49E-07	2.44E-06
Pendimethalin	Air	1.40E-13	1.95E-12	1.27E-13	2.55E-13	2.47E-12
Pendimethalin	Soil	4.15E-07	3.33E-11	1.21E-12	4.12E-12	4.15E-07
Phenmedipham	Soil	4.23E-16	3.44E-15	8.45E-16	4.68E-16	5.17E-15
Propiconazole	Air	2.00E-15	2.79E-14	1.82E-15	3.66E-15	3.54E-14
Propiconazole	Soil	1.31E-10	1.42E-14	3.93E-16	1.10E-15	1.31E-10
Propylamine	Air	2.35E-13	2.52E-13	1.12E-15	3.59E-15	4.92E-13
Propylamine	Water	5.65E-13	6.05E-13	2.69E-15	8.62E-15	1.18E-12
Pyridate	Soil	1.81E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.81E-08
Simazine	Soil	3.03E-15	2.44E-14	5.92E-15	3.30E-15	3.66E-14
Sulfentrazone	Air	1.54E-14	2.14E-13	1.39E-14	2.81E-14	2.71E-13
Sulfentrazone	Soil	4.83E-13	6.53E-12	2.38E-13	8.19E-13	8.07E-12
t-Butylamine	Air	7.83E-11	9.09E-12	1.37E-14	1.46E-13	8.76E-11
t-Butvlamine	Water	1.88E-10	2.18E-11	3.30E-14	3.49E-13	2.10E-10
Tebupirimphos	Soil	3.20E-16	2.57E-15	6.24E-16	3.48E-16	3.86E-15
Tebutam	Soil	2.11E-11	2.84E-11	7.31E-12	3.99E-12	6.07E-11
Terbuthylazin	Soil	5.98E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	5.98E-08
Tralkoxydim	Soil	9.43E-11	1.18E-18	3.58E-20	8.77E-20	9.43E-11
Trifloxystrobin	Air	6.64E-17	9.25E-16	6.02E-17	1.21E-16	1.17E-15

Substance	Comp.	Vegetal raw mat.	Packaging	Product. process	Downstr. processes	Total processes
Trifloxystrobin	Soil	8.80E-12	3.99E-17	2.59E-18	5.21E-18	8.80E-12
Trifluralin	Air	1.92E-13	2.67E-12	1.74E-13	3.50E-13	3.38E-12
Trifluralin	Soil	1.01E-11	4.89E-11	3.86E-12	5.65E-12	6.84E-11
Trimethylamine	Air	5.06E-13	4.08E-14	1.94E-15	4.16E-15	5.53E-13
Trimethylamine	Water	1.22E-12	9.78E-14	4.66E-15	9.98E-15	1.33E-12
Urea	Water	4.46E-12	3.47E-12	1.91E-14	5.73E-14	8.01E-12
Total	-	7,42E-04	5,75E-04	3,15E-05	9,74E-05	1,45E-03

From the evaluations carried out for both the product systems, it appeared that about 90% of the impacts, expressed in terms of reactive nitrogen, is attributable to the upstream processes: exactly about 50% to the vegetal raw materials production, transformation and transport and about 40% to the packaging production and transport. These results are better represented graphically in the Figures 4.12 and 4.13 referring to the reactive nitrogen processes contribution respectively for the product "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" (Figure 4.12) and for the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" (Figure 4.13).



Figure 4.12. *Graphic representation of the reactive nitrogen contribution to the life cycle processes for the product "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant".*



Figure 4.13. *Graphic representation of the reactive nitrogen contribution to the life cycle processes for the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant".*

By further deepening the analysis, it emerged that the main contributions to the reactive nitrogen indicator were attributable to the nitrate emission to water for processes of barley cultivation and malt production and to the glass bottle production.

An analogue group analysis was also conducted at characterization level, highlighting the contribution to the process groups of the selected impact categories. The results obtained, with reference to the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant", are shown in the Table 4.42.

Category	Substance	Comp.	Unit	Veg. raw mater.	Packag.	Produc. process	Downstr. process.
Climate change	Dinitr. monox.	Air	kg CO ₂ eq	1.02E-02	3.27E-03	4.05E-04	4.72E-04
Climate change	Nitrogen fluoride	Air	kg CO ₂ eq	9.74E-14	8.33E-14	4.21E-15	4.33E-14
Climate change	Total		kg CO2 eq	1.02E-02	3.27E-03	4.05E-04	4.72E-04
Particulate matter	Ammonia	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	8.82E-06	1.45E-06	4.49E-07	5.92E-08
Particulate matter	Nitric oxide	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	2.75E-16	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Particulate matter	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	2.39E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Particulate matter	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	8.12E-07	7.41E-06	4.02E-07	2.11E-06
Particulate matter	Particul. <10µm	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	8.89E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Particulate matter	Particul.< 2.5µm	Air	kg PM _{2.5} eq	1.10E-05	2.79E-04	1.40E-05	3.93E-05
Particulate matter	Total		kg PM2.5 eq	2.07E-05	2.88E-04	1.48E-05	4.15E-05
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitric oxide	Air	kg NMVOC eq	2.48E-14	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00

Table 4.42. *Processes group analysis results at characterization level for the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" showing the substances and impact categories contribution to the processes groups.*

Category	Substance	Comp.	Unit	Veg. raw mater.	Packag.	Produc. process	Downstr. process.
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	kg NMVOC eq	3.30E-06	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Photoch. ozone form.	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg NMVOC eq	1.11E-04	9.78E-04	5.36E-05	2.87E-04
Photoch. ozone for.	Total		kg NMVOC eq	1.14E-04	9.78E-04	5.36E-05	2.87E-04
Acidification	Ammonia	Air	molc H+ eq	4.00E-04	6.56E-05	2.03E-05	2.68E-06
Acidification	Nitric oxide	Air	molc H+ eq	2.80E-14	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Acidification	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	molc H+ eq	2.45E-06	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Acidification	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc H+ eq	8.22E-05	7.24E-04	3.97E-05	2.12E-04
Acidification	Total		molc H+ eq	4.84E-04	7.89E-04	6.00E-05	2.15E-04
Terr. eutrophication	Ammonia	Air	molc N eq	1.79E-03	2.93E-04	9.10E-05	1.20E-05
Terr. eutrophication	Ammonium, ion	Air	molc N eq	7.49E-13	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Terr. eutrophication	Nitrate	Air	molc N eq	1.93E-08	1.99E-07	4.28E-09	1.45E-07
Terr. eutrophication	Nitric oxide	Air	molc N eq	1.62E-13	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Terr. eutrophication	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	molc N eq	1.41E-05	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Terr. eutrophication	Nitrogen oxides	Air	molc N eq	4.73E-04	4.17E-03	2.28E-04	1.22E-03
Terr. eutrophication	Total		molc N eq	2.27E-03	4.46E-03	3.19E-04	1.23E-03
Marine eutrophic.	Ammonia	Air	kg N eq	1.22E-05	2.00E-06	6.20E-07	8.17E-08
Marine eutrophic.	Ammonia	Water	kg N eq	2.44E-08	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Marine eutrophic.	Ammonium, ion	Air	kg N eq	5.13E-15	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Marine eutrophic.	Ammonium, ion	Water	kg N eq	3.90E-07	7.93E-06	2.83E-06	1.83E-06
Marine eutrophic.	Nitrate	Air	kg N eq	1.71E-10	1.76E-09	3.79E-11	1.28E-09
Marine eutrophic.	Nitrate	Water	kg N eq	5.71E-04	2.23E-04	4.04E-06	2.97E-06
Marine eutrophic.	Nitric oxide	Air	kg N eq	1.48E-14	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Marine eutrophic.	Nitrite	Water	kg N eq	6.14E-10	8.85E-08	5.19E-08	1.97E-08
Marine eutrophic.	Nitrogen dioxide	Air	kg N eq	1.29E-06	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Marine eutrophic.	Nitrogen oxides	Air	kg N eq	4.32E-05	3.80E-04	2.09E-05	1.12E-04
Marine eutrophic.	Nitrogen, total	Water	kg N eq	1.25E-10	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Marine eutrophic.	Total		kg N eq	6.28E-04	6.14E-04	2.84E-05	1.16E-04
Freshw. ecotoxicity	Alachlor	Soil	CTUe	8.36E-03	9.29E-09	1.33E-09	1.36E-09
Freshw. ecotoxicity	Atrazine	Soil	CTUe	5.16E-03	9.48E-05	1.01E-06	1.98E-06
Freshw. ecotoxicity	Chlorothalonil	Soil	CTUe	5.73E-04	2.55E-03	1.63E-06	1.69E-05
Freshw. ecotoxicity	Chlorpyrifos	Soil	CTUe	3.39E-03	8.08E-06	2.21E-07	5.82E-07
Freshw. ecotoxicity	Isoproturon	Soil	CTUe	3.22E-02	4.83E-08	1.17E-09	3.50E-09
Freshw. ecotoxicity	Metolachlor	Soil	CTUe	7.10E-03	3.14E-04	2.81E-07	2.73E-06
Freshw. ecotoxicity	Pendimethalin	Soil	CTUe	8.14E-03	6.54E-07	2.37E-08	8.08E-08
Freshw. ecotoxicity	Terbuthylazin	Soil	CTUe	1.05E-02	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Freshw. ecotoxicity	Total		CTUe	7.54E-02	2.97E-03	3.18E-06	2.23E-05
Hum. tox. canc.	Total		CTUh	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Hum. tox. non-canc.	Total		CTUh	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00

The same considerations made for the previous results can be made also in this case, with reference to the significant contribution of the upstream processes to the total impact of the product system. The results of the characterization step are more easily interpretable after the normalization,

performed using the reference factors provided within the proposed methodology. The results obtained, with reference again to the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant", are shown in the Table 4.43.

Category	Veg. raw material	Packag.	Productive process	Downstr. processes	Total processes
Climate change	1.10E-06	3.54E-07	4.40E-08	5.12E-08	1.55E-06
Particulate matter	5.45E-06	7.58E-05	3.90E-06	1.09E-05	9.61E-05
Photochemical ozone formation	3.61E-06	3.08E-05	1.69E-06	9.05E-06	4.52E-05
Acidification	1.02E-05	1.67E-05	1.27E-06	4.54E-06	3.27E-05
Terrestrial eutrophication	1.29E-05	2.53E-05	1.81E-06	7.01E-06	4.71E-05
Marine eutrophication	3.72E-05	3.63E-05	1.68E-06	6.89E-06	8.21E-05
Freshwater ecotoxicity	8.63E-06	3.40E-07	3.63E-10	2.55E-09	8.98E-06
Human toxicity, cancer effects	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00
Human toxicity, non-cancer effects	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00

Table 4.43. *Processes group analysis results after normalization for the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" showing the normalized impact categories contribution to the processes groups.*

The same result above highlighted, as for the significant contribution of the upstream processes, can be found by the analysis of the normalized results. Compared to what was obtained with reference to the calculation of reactive nitrogen, in this case, it can be noticed and increasing of the contribution of processes related to packaging compared to the processes related to vegetable raw materials. This trend can be better highlighted after the application of the weighting factors and the calculation of the single score nitrogen impact indicator for the processes groups. The results of these calculations are reported in the Table 4.44, with reference to the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant". Since the analysis was carried out on a single product system, the weighting set calculated for the reference product system was applied, instead of the set calculated with the internal weighting method that was expressly referable to the four product systems, as above described.

Table 4.44. Processes group analysis results after weighting for the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" showing the weighted impact categories contribution to the processes groups and the single score nitrogen impact indicator results (last row). Reference product system weighting factors applied for the calculation.

Category	Veg. raw material	Packag.	Productive process	Downstr. processes	Total processes
Climate change	2,95E-08	9,48E-09	1,18E-09	1,37E-09	4,16E-08
Particulate matter	7,93E-07	1,10E-05	5,67E-07	1,59E-06	1,40E-05
Photochemical ozone formation	1,65E-07	1,41E-06	7,74E-08	4,14E-07	2,07E-06
Acidification	1,46E-06	2,38E-06	1,81E-07	6,50E-07	4,68E-06
Terrestrial eutrophication	1,85E-06	3,62E-06	2,59E-07	1,00E-06	6,73E-06
Marine eutrophication	1,84E-05	1,80E-05	8,33E-07	3,42E-06	4,07E-05
Freshwater ecotoxicity	4,47E-10	1,76E-11	1,88E-14	1,32E-13	4,65E-10
Human toxicity, cancer effects	0,00E+00	0,00E+00	0,00E+00	0,00E+00	0,00E+00
Human toxicity, non-cancer effects	0,00E+00	0,00E+00	0,00E+00	0,00E+00	0,00E+00
Total (single score nitrogen impact indicator)	2,27E-05	3,65E-05	1,92E-06	7,08E-06	6,82E-05

Also in this case, the results are better represented graphically as in the Figure 4.14 referring to the single score impact indicator processes contribution for the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant". As anticipated, it became clear the change of ranking, in the contribution to the overall impact, of the processes related to packaging (53.5%) compared to the processes related to vegetal raw materials (33.3%).



Figure 4.14. Graphic representation of the single score nitrogen impact indicator contribution to the life cycle processes for the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant".

For what concern the results expressed as single score impact indicator, the main contribution was attributable to the impact categories particulate matter and marine eutrophication due to the emission of particulate to air, nitrogen oxides to air and nitrate to water, mostly in connection with barley cultivation and malt production processes and with cardboard and glass packaging production.

Examining in detail the production process, which however contributes minimally to the total impact of the life cycle, a specific investigation was made by evaluating the contribution of the following process units:

- electricity consumption, comprising the direct and indirect consumption of electricity of the plants;
- methane consumption, comprising the methane consumption for utilities in the production process service;

- chemicals, related to the use of chemicals in the production process;
- waste, related to the production of waste by the production processes, including packaging used for input products and materials;
- wastewater treatment, relative to the treatment of industrial wastewater before discharge into the sewer system;
- others, comprising, among others, atmospheric emissions, including leakage of refrigerants and ammonia and the purchase of CO₂.

The results of the impact, expressed in terms of single score nitrogen indicator for the impact categories and spread over the process units listed above, are presented in the Tables 4.45 and 4.46 referred, respectively, to the product "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" (Table 4.45) and to the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" (Table 4.46).

Table 4.45. Productive process group analysis results expressed as single score nitrogen impact indicator for the product "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" showing the impact categories contribution. Reference product system weighting set applied for the calculation of indicator values. Null contribution of the categories Human toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non-cancer effect not reported.

Category	Electr. consumpt.	Methane consumpt.	Chemicals	Waste (plant)	Wastewater treatment	Others	Total
Climate change	5.72E-10	3.44E-10	3.04E-11	4.37E-12	4.22E-11	1.44E-10	1.14E-09
Particulate matt.	1.34E-07	9.11E-08	3.16E-08	5.85E-09	1.63E-08	3.78E-07	6.56E-07
Ph. ozone form.	5.21E-08	2.64E-08	4.90E-09	8.82E-10	2.88E-09	2.02E-08	1.07E-07
Acidification	8.30E-08	4.13E-08	1.32E-08	1.38E-09	5.89E-09	8.38E-08	2.29E-07
Terr. eutrophic.	1.28E-07	6.38E-08	1.85E-08	2.13E-09	8.62E-09	1.12E-07	3.32E-07
Mar. eutrophic.	4.35E-07	2.20E-07	4.71E-08	7.17E-09	2.27E-07	2.01E-07	1.14E-06
Freshw. ecotox.	1.43E-14	1.17E-14	3.54E-15	1.17E-16	1.43E-15	1.07E-14	4.17E-14

Table 4.46. Productive process group analysis results expressed as single score nitrogen impact indicator for the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle -S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" showing the impact categories contribution. Reference product system weighting set applied for the calculation of indicator values. Null contribution of the categories Human toxicity cancer effect and Human toxicity non-cancer effect not reported.

Category	Electr. consumpt.	Methane consumpt.	Chemicals	Waste (plant)	Wastewater treatment	Others	Total
Climate change	3.74E-10	1.48E-10	4.74E-10	3.43E-12	3.14E-11	1.46E-10	1.18E-09
Particulate matt.	9.08E-08	3.91E-08	3.60E-08	3.78E-09	1.22E-08	3.85E-07	5.67E-07
Ph. ozone form.	3.43E-08	1.13E-08	5.94E-09	5.85E-10	2.14E-09	2.32E-08	7.74E-08
Acidification	5.46E-08	1.77E-08	1.52E-08	9.21E-10	4.39E-09	8.84E-08	1.81E-07
Terr. eutrophic.	8.40E-08	2.74E-08	2.15E-08	1.42E-09	6.42E-09	1.19E-07	2.59E-07
Mar. eutrophic.	2.87E-07	9.42E-08	5.61E-08	4.81E-09	1.69E-07	2.22E-07	8.33E-07
Freshw. ecotox.	1.52E-14	5.00E-15	4.32E-15	6.55E-17	1.07E-15	1.07E-14	3.63E-14

It is noted that the most of the total impact is spread over different impact categories (particulate matter, acidification, terrestrial eutrophication, photochemical ozone formation) and not focused only on the category marine eutrophication as instead noted in most of the previous applications.

It was moreover found that the major impacts derive from the consumption of electricity and fuel for the operation of the process equipment and from the process unit named "others", comprising atmospheric emissions, leakage of refrigerants and ammonia and CO_2 inputs. This result is better highlighted in the Table 4.47 presenting the direct comparison between the two products and the contribution of the process units in which the production process is subdivided.

Table 4.47. Productive process group analysis results expressed as single score nitrogen impact indicator showing the process units contribution. Comparison between the products "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" and "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant". Reference product system weighting set used for the calculation of indicator values.

Process unit	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena (single score ind.)	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena (contrib.)	Decisa 33 s.b. S. Giorgio (single score ind.)	Decisa 33 s.b. S. Giorgio (contrib.)
Electricity Consumption	8.32E-07	33.8%	5.51E-07	28.7%
Methane consumption	4.42E-07	18.0%	1.90E-07	9.9%
Chemicals	1.15E-07	4.7%	1.35E-07	7.0%
Waste (plant)	1.74E-08	0.7%	1.15E-08	0.6%
Wastewater treatment	2.60E-07	10.6%	1.94E-07	10.1%
Others (prod. process)	7.95E-07	32.3%	8.38E-07	43.6%
Total productive process	2.46E-06	100%	1.92E-06	100%

Besides highlighting the topics of greater impact in the production process, the results also showed an overall less impact with regard to the production process for obtaining the "La Decisa" beer, as also obtained as a result of the carbon footprint analysis carried out in tandem with the present research work.

This result surely proved a greater efficiency for the San Giorgio di Nogaro plant, which is more modern and technologically advanced than the one in Pedavena. On the other hand, it also emerged that the new product La Decisa, from the point of view of environmental performance, is aligned with the current production mix, thus confirming, also at impact level, the data hypothesized by the company during the design phase for the launch of the product.

As for packaging, as already pointed out, the major impacts were related to glass bottle production: also in this case, for the newly conceived product "La Decisa" that has a new bottle design by Giugiaro, the substantial equivalence at impact level was confirmed, with even a slight improvement, compared to the previous version. As far as downstream processes are concerned, it was found that the major impacts are related to the distribution and transport of products, while minor impacts are associated with the use phase and end of life.

Once again, it emerged, as a general consideration, that the impact indicator contribute to highlight the significance of different impact categories such as particulate matter, acidification and photochemical ozone formation besides the category marine eutrophication that is predominantly influenced by nitrate emissions. As a consequence, the impact indicator tend to shift the focus towards more typically industrial processes, lessening the contribution of those purely related to cultivation and agri-food production.

As regards the detailed analysis carried out with reference to the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle - S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant", in the Table 4.48 are reported the results of the process units contribution expressed as single score nitrogen impact indicator sorted in descending order.

Process unit	Decisa 33 s.b. S. Giorgio (single score ind.)	Decisa 33 s.b. S. Giorgio (contrib.)
Glass bottle	3.30E-05	48.45%
Barley malt	1.65E-05	24.21%
Wheat malt	5.91E-06	8.67%
Distribution transport	4.24E-06	6.22%
Glass end-of-life	1.73E-06	2.54%
Cardboard box	1.72E-06	2.52%
Others (productive process)	8.38E-07	1.23%
Pallet	7.73E-07	1.13%
Crown cap	6.83E-07	1.00%
Electricity consumption (prod.)	5.51E-07	0.81%
Consumer transport	5.20E-07	0.76%
Others (distribution)	2.75E-07	0.40%
Home refrigeration	2.58E-07	0.38%
Malt dye	2.56E-07	0.38%
Wastewater treatment (prod.)	1.94E-07	0.28%
Methane consumption (prod.)	1.90E-07	0.28%
Chemicals (prod.)	1.35E-07	0.20%
Labels	1.27E-07	0.19%
Stretch film	5.16E-08	0.08%
Нор	4.72E-08	0.07%
Interlayers	4.31E-08	0.06%
Labels, end-of-life	3.78E-08	0.06%
Top cover	2.97E-08	0.04%
Cap, end-of-life	1.51E-08	0.02%
Waste - productive process	1.15E-08	0.02%

Table 4.48. Life cycle group analysis results expressed as single score nitrogen impact indicator showing the process units contribution for the "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant". Reference product system weighting set used for the calculation of indicator values.

Process unit	Decisa 33 s.b. S. Giorgio (single score ind.)	Decisa 33 s.b. S. Giorgio (contrib.)
Total	6.82E-05	100%

The biggest contribution resulted the one related to the glass bottle, followed in the ranking by two of the vegetable raw materials and by the processes of transport for the final product distribution. Another interesting analysis carried out, is that related to the comparison between single score nitrogen indicator results and carbon footprint indicator results carried out with respect of the whole life cycle. As an example, the results of the carbon footprint indicator of the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant" are presented in the Figure 4.15 with reference to the contribution of the different processes in the life cycle. These results are directly comparable with those presented in the previous Figure 4.14 relating to the single score nitrogen footprint indicator of the same product.



Figure 4.15. *Graphic representation of the carbon footprint indicator contribution for the life cycle processes referred to the product "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant".*

It emerged that the impact in terms of carbon footprint is predominantly concentrated in the packaging-related processes (65.1 %) and that the contribution of the processes related to vegetable raw materials is, as expected, very low, unlike what was shown by the nitrogen indicator. The results evidenced that, in this case, carbon and nitrogen indicators are not aligned to highlight the

contribution of processes in the full life cycle analysis, as already pointed out by research conducted in this field (see in particular Singh and Bakshi, 2015). The two indicators, however, proved to be consistent in relation to the direct comparison of two products with reference to the total life cycle results, both highlighting a greater impact for the product "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" compared to "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant", as summarized in the Table 4.49. The results are reported by splitting the stages of the life cycle in vegetal raw materials processes, packaging processes, productive process and downstream processes (comprising use and end-of life phases) contribution.

Impact category	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena Nitrogen single score	Decisa 33 s.b. S. Giorgio Nitrogen single score	Premium 33 s.b. Pedavena Carbon footprint [kg CO2 equiv.]	Decisa 33 s.b. S. Giorgio Carbon footprint [kg CO ₂ equiv.]
Raw materials	2.27E-05	2.27E-05	4.54E-02	4.50E-02
Packaging	3.65E-05	3.65E-05	3.03E-01	3.03E-01
Productive process	2.46E-06	1.92E-06	6.78E-02	3.99E-02
Downstream processes	7.49E-06	7.08E-06	8.93E-02	7.71E-02
Total	6.91E-05	6.82E-05	5.05E-01	4.65E-01

Table 4.49. Single score nitrogen impact indicator and carbon footprint indicator [kg CO₂ equiv.] results comparison for the products "Premium 33 cl single bottle – Pedavena plant" and "La Decisa 33 cl single bottle – S. Giorgio di Nogaro plant".

A further indication emerged from the present application is therefore that relating to the complementarity of carbon footprint and nitrogen impact assessment for the evaluation of the life cycle of products. For their specific nature, the two indicators, in fact, can highlight different environmental issues, thus helping the understanding and the deepening of the impacts for different stages of the life cycle.

In conclusion, it can be stated that the set objectives have been achieved, since the methodology was successfully applied to four products of beverage industry, allowing describing and quantifying the environmental impacts of the analyzed product systems with reference to the nitrogen cycle. The analysis also made it possible to identify the processes that most contribute to the overall impact in the life cycle of the products, with a specific focus at productive process level, and to communicate this information to the manufacturing company.

It should also be noted that the information obtained from this application will be used by the company within the environmental management system as part of the certification process according to the international standard ISO 14001:2015 currently in progress. Specifically the results will be

used as input into the process of assessing the significance of environmental aspects and for the identification, assessment and management of risk and opportunities.

Chapter 5

Conclusions

This chapter summarizes the conclusions of all the research work presented in the previous chapters. In particular, Section 5.1 refers to the research objectives, describes the methodologies and techniques used and reports the main results obtained during the application phase, also highlighting the limits of the work. In paragraph 5.2 are projected some possible future developments in relation to the research carried out and to the results obtained.

5.1 Conclusions

The proposed research work started from the increasing attention and concern about environmental impacts arising from the nitrogen cycle and the assessments made regarding the overcoming of sustainability limits for this issue. In particular, within the first part of the research, a series of analyzes and evaluations related to the nitrogen cycle and to the associated impacts were performed, considering the relevant reference legislation, the currently proposed nitrogen footprint accounting methods and to the standard requirements for footprint definition and communication. The final objective was to propose and test an innovative methodology for assessing the environmental impacts related to the nitrogen cycle: the activities to achieve the final purpose were developed in the second part of the research, starting from the results of the initial evaluations.

Specifically, addressing the points of weakness found in current nitrogen footprint schemes and applications, the proposed methodology was designed using a comprehensive Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) approach, in order to allow the application to any product system. This approach was developed in order to support the use of database and software for LCA applications and to formulate an assessment method oriented to provide results and information on the actual nature of the impacts generated by a product system in its life cycle. In particular, the methodology was conceived with a multistep framework, consisting of two corollary "conceptual" phases (goal and scope definition and

interpretation of the results) and four methodologically operational steps (inventory analysis, assessment at inventory level, impact assessment limited to characterization and impact assessment extended to normalization and weighting). This framework can provide different outputs depending on the goal and scope of the intended application, including a result expressed as a single stand-alone indicator, representing the impact, as alteration of the nitrogen cycle, caused by the analyzed product system. Moreover, the proposed methodology, as well as to carry out an overall assessment of a product system, can be used to provide indications of impacts at process and activity levels, thereby identifying any critical issues in the life cycle and the associated risks and opportunities, in relation to the proposed objectives.

Once completed the design phase, the proposed methodology was tested in several case studies and applications, achieving valid results for all methodological phases and steps. In particular, thanks to a first application to twelve products of the agri-food sector, the methodology was subjected to a partial validation, with satisfactory results, with reference to the step for the calculation of the reactive nitrogen indicator, by making a comparison with published research data.

A second application of the whole methodology was made by analyzing a reference product system specifically created for the purposes of the research consisting of ten product categories each comprising four products. This specific application allowed, in particular, testing the internal weighting method provided by the methodology and, at the same time, obtaining a reference weighting set for the subsequent applications.

Two further applications based on real data were then carried out to complete the phase of testing of the proposed methodology: one relating to the comparison between two methods of cultivation of barley (conventional and organic) and a final assessment carried out on four different products at one of the major Italian companies of the beverage industry. In particular, with regard to the comparison of agricultural processes, the results showed less impact for the organic cultivation method. As regards the application in the beverage industry, the methodology allowed to obtain an assessment of four different products, to highlight the phases of the life cycle causing the greatest impacts, also carrying out a comparison with the results obtained in terms of carbon footprint and, finally, to analyze in detail the performance of a new product being launched in the market.

The performed applications made it possible to test and make improvements to the methodology, by engineering the phase and the steps and by designing and implementing a specific internal weighting method. They also allowed increasing the efficiency in the implementation phase, also thanks to the design of automatic calculation procedures. Finally, the test phases were crucial to select the best LCA databases to use, and to identify more than 200 nitrogen-containing substances for which to calculate the nitrogen coefficient.

On the other hand, the experimentation phase allowed to achieve the expected results for all the output provided (nitrogen inventory, reactive nitrogen indicator, impact assessment profile and single score impact indicator), according to the defined goal and scope of the specific applications and in line with expectations.

Some limitations related to the methodological approach and to the application performed still emerged during the research and are presented below.

First, it should be noted that, for the specific applications carried out, three specific LCA based databases were used, from which more than 200 nitrogen-containing substances were identified. The databases used are undoubtedly the most complete to support the analyzes made and the cut-off criterion adopted for the selection of the nitrogen-containing substances is sufficiently restrictive to not affect the validity of the results obtained. However, the substance selection process was not completed with respect to all possible outputs of the datasets and could be further deepened. Some hypotheses regarding the interpretation of the outputs provided by the databases have also been made that could affect the nitrogen inventory and reacrive nitrogen indicator results: these assumption are presented in detail in the section concerning the description of the methodology.

In the operational applications, cut-off criteria were adopted, both for inventory and for the impact assessment steps, in the latter case particularly for the impact categories related to toxicity. Regarding the latter issue, to the impact categories related to human toxicity, potentially included in the methodology, null results were associated for all applications, following the adopted cut-off criteria. This result, which should be further elaborated, is still indicative of a low affinity of these categories with topics related to nitrogen cycle alteration. The cut-off criteria applied are however described in detail in the chapter devoted to the applications and are such as not to affect in any way the validity of the results obtained.

Again, with regard to the applications, no specific sensitivity and uncertainty analyzes were carried out, as typically done within in LCA studies, as they did not fall within the scope of the proposed research work.

From a general methodological point of view, it should finally be noted that the proposed methodology, as it relates to a specific environmental issue, provides a partial assessment of the analyzed product system, as it happens indeed for other existing and applied used footprint tools, primarily carbon and water. In this sense, it may be useful, in relation to the intended goal and scope,

to make a complementary application of the proposed methodology with other evaluation tools focused on different environmental issues. This aspect was also underlined in the specific application on agricultural processes, with particular reference to the impacts related to the phosphorus cycle and in the application on beverage industry products, with reference to carbon footprint indicator. Even with the limitations highlighted above, it is believed that an assessment tool of environmental impacts related to the nitrogen cycle, such as the proposed methodology, can be useful for providing consistent assessment results and valid information on a topic that will certainly be central tin the future scientific debate on environmental impacts.

5.2 Future developments

Even though the objectives initially set for research have been satisfying achieved, some interesting perspectives emerged that could be developed with a future work.

Firstly, it is desirable to develop further applications in different fields in order to test the methodology in a large number of cases and to identify areas for improvement and efficiency increasing.

At the same time, in order to increase the accuracy level and efficiency of the calculation, it becomes essential to upgrade the nitrogen coefficient database, further deepening the detail of the database analysis and, at the same time, to extend the automated calculation procedures also including the characterization and final impact assessment phases.

Finally, future ambitious goals might be to try to introduce the presented research topic within the national and international standardization working groups and to establish a partnership to develop the proposed methodology also within the Life Cycle Assessment software applications.
Appendix A

Characterization methods description

In this section are reported the characterization methods used as a reference for the characterization phase and referred to the impact categories selected within the proposed methodology.

The reported methods are those included in ILCD the methodology proposed by JRC and their description is taken from the ILCD Handbook (EC - JRC, 2011) to which reference is made for further details and for bibliographical references.

For each method, a section describing framework and scope and a section presenting the underlying environmental mechanism are included.

The description includes both the midpoint level and the endpoint level of the mechanism to ensure greater comprehension, although only the midpoint level is included in the proposed methodology.

A.1 Climate change

A.1.1 Framework and scope

Climate change involves a number of environmental mechanisms that affect both the Areas of Protection (AoPs) "Human Health" and "Natural Environment". Climate change models are, in general, developed to assess the future impact on climate resulting from different policy scenarios. The environmental mechanisms used for this impact category have a somewhat different structure, compared to the fate, effect and damage steps applied to many of the other impact categories. Manmade climate change is caused by the emission of greenhouse gases (and by other activities influencing their atmospheric concentration). Greenhouse gases are substances with the ability to absorb infrared radiation from the earth (radiative forcing).

When modelling the radiative forcing of an emission, the change in concentration and radiative forcing is determined, taking into account the residence time of the substance. A globally-recognized model (the Bern model) has been developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) that calculates the radiative forcing of all greenhouse gases and branded them Global Warming Potentials (GWP).

The IPCC's "GWPs" are recommended for use at midpoint.

- Firstly, at midpoint the GWPs are used directly as characterization factors.
- Secondly, these factors are used to express a combined fate and effect (in terms of radiative forcing), which is then coupled to a modelling of a resulting temperature increase, using the residence time and the radiative forcing of the greenhouse gas.
- Thirdly, the temperature rise results in damage to Human Health and ecosystems, and here several effects are considered, such as an increase in malaria and malnutrition (for Human Health) or disappearance of a species and change in biomass (for ecosystems).

A.1.2 Environmental mechanism

Figure A.1 presents the cause-effect chain for climate change from emission to damage, illustrating the most important pathways (*see bold arrows*).



Figure A.1. Flow diagram for climate change. The thickness of the arrows in the diagram illustrates how important the pathway is in the overall mechanism. Radiative forcing is caused by direct and indirect effects. The box "other impacts" is added, as there are several other impacts, which have not been adequately described to warrant inclusion.

A.2 Human toxicity

A.2.1 Framework and scope

Models and factors for toxicological effects in Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) must be based on the relative risk and associated consequences of chemicals that are released into the environment. These must build on the principles of comparative risk assessment, while providing indicators linked to the Area of Protection "Human Health".

LCA characterization models and factors for toxic effects must rely on models that account for a chemical's fate in the environment, human exposure, and differences in toxicological response (both likelihood of effects and severity).

The scope and methodology of an LCA differs from that of many approaches adopted for toxicological assessments in a regulatory context. Regulatory assessments of chemical emissions usually have the objective of evaluating whether there will be an unacceptable risk of a toxicological effect to an individual or subpopulation.

The focus in regulatory assessments is generally on ensuring that policy-based limits are not surpassed by exposures at any location or point in time. For example, the maximum likely exposure

in the region of an emission may be compared to a tolerable threshold. If this exposure is less than the agreed threshold then no further action is likely to be necessary from a regulatory perspective. It should be noted that these regulatory limits, for example for cancer effects, do not necessarily reflect an absence of an effect and neither are they generally suitable for use in comparative risk assessments where one emission has to be compared against another.

Nevertheless, the underlying mass balance models and basic dose-response information used to determine comparative estimates for LCA are often the same as for regulatory approaches. A key difference is that Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA) takes into account all releases of all substances with a toxicity potential due to the evaluated product over the entire life cycle, regardless of where and when they are released. However, in LCIA all emissions not related to the evaluated product are deliberately excluded from the assessment, e.g. emission of the same chemicals from other products or from sites unrelated to the product. Thus, site specific regulatory assessments, chemical related regulatory assessments and toxicity aspects in LCIA are to be seen complementary in their nature.

Life cycle assessments provide insights for products that are complementary to those of many regulatory risk assessments. In LCA it is desirable to account for the full extent of the likelihood of an effect (recommended midpoint indicator basis) and differences in severity (recommended endpoint indicator basis).

The basis of comparative risk in LCA is the entire global population, using best-estimates complemented with uncertainty insights. The factors must reflect the likelihood of a toxicological impact integrated over time and space that is associated with the release of a quantity of chemical into the environment. This is a fundamental difference from many regulatory approaches, which focus more on realistic peak exposures for individuals compared to acceptable thresholds. Nevertheless, this basis is consistent with the principles already adopted for the assessment of substances such as radionuclides, for other impact categories in LCA such as climate change, as well as in approaches necessary to support cost-benefit analyses.

Contributions of emissions to short-term/acute and local scale effects are presently not addressed in the recommendation. This includes those associated with indoor exposures, direct exposure to products during their use stage, and to exposures in the work place. The focus here is on the contribution of emissions to the risk of toxicological impacts and associated consequences considering the entire human population and dispersed emissions.

A.2.2 Environmental mechanism

Figure A.2 presents the environmental mechanism for human toxicity effects and corresponds to the model framework of fate, exposure and effect assessment.



Figure A.2. Environmental mechanism for the human toxicity effects (including mechanisms for ionizing radiation and respiratory effects associated with particulate matter).

A.3 Respiratory inorganics/ particulate matter

A.3.1 Framework and scope

Ambient concentrations of particulate matter (PM) are elevated by emissions of primary and secondary particulates. The mechanism for the creation of secondary emissions involves emissions of SO_2 and NO_x that create sulphate and nitrate aerosols. Particulate matter is measured in a variety of ways: total suspended particulates (TSP), particulate matter less than 10 microns in diameter (PM10), particulate matter less than 2.5 microns in diameter (PM2.5) or particulate matter less than 0.1 microns in diameter (PM0.1).

The characterisation factor (CF) for particulate matter/respiratory inorganics accounts for the environmental fate (F), exposure (X), dose-response (R) of a pollutant for midpoint factors, and of severity (S) for endpoint factors. See below:

 $CF=S^{\ast}R^{\ast}X^{\ast}F=EF^{\ast}iF$

The pollutant can be a single chemical (e.g. CO) or group of agents (e.g. PM2.5). The fate factor relates the emission flow to the mass in the air. The exposure factor determines the change in intake rate per change in mass in the environment. The dose-response slope relates the change in intake with the marginal change in morbidity and mortality cases and the severity is the change in damage per morbidity and mortality case.

The fate and exposure can be combined into an intake fraction (iF). The dose-response and the severity can be combined into the effect factor (EF, in DALY/kginhaled).

The intake fraction describes the fraction of the emission that is taken in by the overall population. Intake fractions can be calculated using fate and exposure models. For the case of particles, it is possible to characterize the fate and exposure further in the cause-effect chain by an intake factor or even an uptake factor because:

1. The exposing particle can be different from the emitted particle (e.g., secondary PM from precursors);

2. The influence of the changing particle size distribution (PSD) throughout time through phenomena like coagulation and nucleation can render the metric of the intake fraction, only a partial representation of exposure.

However, since these two metrics are not yet widespread and not used for other toxic impacts, the metric of the intake fraction is recommended to be used.

Several studies suggest that no thresholds for PM10 should be assumed in the effect calculations-Thus it is recommended to derive dose-response from epidemiological studies assuming linear slopes. However, while the influence of this assumption is unclear based on analogous insights for toxicity effects, it is necessary to stress that the linear dose-response assumption is not well accepted for the high concentrations found in developing countries.

For respiratory inorganics, all available methods are de facto endpoint methods. It is advised to report both the number of cases of different diseases as well as the related Years of Life Lost, Years of Life Disabled and DALYs.

A.3.2 Environmental mechanism

Figure A.3 presents the cause-effect chain of respiratory impacts caused by inorganics and corresponds to the framework of fate, exposure, and effect assessment.



Figure A.3. Flow diagram for the respiratory inorganics impact category

A.4 Photochemical ozone formation

A.4.1 Framework and scope

The negative impacts from the photochemically generated pollutants are due to their reactive nature which enables them to oxidise organic molecules on the surfaces they expose. Impacts on humans arise when the ozone and other reactive oxygen compounds are inhaled and come into contact with the surface of the respiratory tract, where they damage tissue and cause respiratory diseases. Impacts on vegetation arise when the reactive compounds attack the surfaces of the plants or enter the stomata of the plant leaves, and cause oxidative damage to many types of organic materials which are exposed to ambient air. *NB: the man-made environment is not considered in the recommendations, and therefore the effects on man-made materials will not be considered further*.

The reaction scheme underlying the impact pathway is highly complex and depends on the formula of the concrete VOC, but it can be summarized as:

VOCs or CO react with hydroxyl radical OH• in the troposphere and form peroxy radicals, ROO•.
 The peroxy radicals oxidize NO to NO₂.

3. NO₂ is split by sunlight with formation of NO and release of oxygen atoms.

4. Oxygen atoms react with molecular oxygen, O₂, to form ozone.

Both VOCs and nitrogen oxides are therefore needed for the photochemical ozone formation and should be covered by the characterization models. The heterogeneous spatial distribution of VOC and NOx sources across Europe, and the hundreds of chemical species involved, makes the photochemical formation of ozone on a regional scale highly non-linear and dynamic. It is influenced by meteorological conditions and interaction between the different VOCs – both from anthropogenic and natural sources, such as forests.

The complexity and the number of individual substances for which characterization factors must be calculated leads to a need for simplification which is obtained in two different ways in the available characterization models.

1. The non-linear and dynamic behavior is ignored in a model which represents one or more typical situations in terms of meteorology, atmospheric chemistry and concomitant emissions of other air pollutants.

2. The variation between individual VOCs is (largely) ignored and only a few substance-specific characterization factors are calculated.

The first approach is adopted in the models based on the POCP (Photochemical Ozone Creation Potential) or MIR (Maximum Incremental Reactivity) concept. Here individual characterization factors are provided for many different VOCs. The second approach is adopted in regionally differentiated models which attempt to capture the non-linear nature of the ozone formation with its spatially and temporally determined differences.

Due to the complexity of the underlying chemical reaction schemes and the number of different substances which contribute to photochemical ozone formation, a trade off exists between the degree of detail which can be applied in the fate modelling (including the support of spatially explicit modelling) and the degree of detail applied in the distinction of differences in substance characteristics for the individual VOCs.

The variation in photochemical ozone formation between substances is rather modest, except for halogenated hydrocarbons, CH₄ and CO, which all have relatively low ozone formation potentials. This is revealed by the POCP or MIR values applied for substance differentiation in several methods. The variation caused by spatial differentiation in the modelling of fate and exposure within Europe is considerably higher. Various studies seemed to point at a weakness in the calculations of Photochemical Ozone Creating Potential (POCPs) performed using highly detailed chemical mechanisms. The POCPs were generally obtained using very simplified Lagrangian transport models, using linear trajectories, and the results were thus strongly linked to the chemical regimes that the air parcels were passing in the performed scenario calculations. These new studies indicated that very

different results might have been obtained for a different air parcel. It is thus considered preferable to simplify the model on the substance side rather than on the modelling of the dynamic and non-linear nature of the impact pathway.

To ensure consistency with several other impact categories, the ideal midpoint indicator would be the time- and area-integrated concentration increase for ozone in the troposphere. This midpoint would cover impacts later in the environmental mechanism on the areas of protection (AoP) "Human Health" and "Natural Environment" (vegetation).

A.4.2 Environmental mechanism

Figure A.4 shows the cause-effect chain for photochemical ozone formation from airborne emissions of volatile organic compounds, carbon monoxide or nitrogen oxides with the most important pathways highlighted (bold arrows).



Figure A.4. Flow diagram for photochemical ozone formation.

A.5 Acidification

A.5.1 Framework and scope

This impact category addresses the impacts from acidification generated by the emission of airborne acidifying chemicals. Acidification refers literally to processes that increase the acidity of water and soil systems by hydrogen ion concentration. It is caused by atmospheric deposition of acidifying

substances generated largely from emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulphur dioxide (SO2) and ammonia (NH3), the latter contributing to acidification after it is nitrified (in the soil). The model framework for the acidification characterization factor is expressed as a fate factor, FF multiplied by an effect factor, EF as per the equation below:

$$CF_{i,ar} = FF * EF = f_{i,ar} \cdot \theta_{i,r \text{ sensitivity}} \cdot * \beta_{dose\text{-response}}$$

where:

- f_{i,ar} represents the fate factor representing the transport of substance (i) in air (a) and the transfer to receptor-environment (r). [dimensionless (kg/kg)].
- $\theta_{i,r \text{ sensitivity}}$ is the fate sensitivity factor of the receptor-environment. It models for example the change in soil parameters such as acidity potential (or base saturation) due to change in acid deposition. It can be calculated as the number of mol H⁺ released per kg of deposited pollutant [mol H⁺/kg], which depends on the intrinsic property of the chemical and the soil sensitivity.
- $\beta_{dose-response}$ expresses the effect factor, i.e. the response of the ecosystem to the change in cation capacity (or base saturation) e.g. [Impact/mol H⁺] or [-].

A.5.2 Environmental mechanism

The Figure A.5 shows the cause-effect chain for airborne acidifying emissions with the most important pathways highlighted (bold arrows).



Figure A.5. Flow diagram for acidification impact category.

A.6 Eutrophication

A.6.1 Framework and scope

The impact category appears under different names like eutrophication, nutriphication or nutrient enrichment. It addresses the impacts from the macro-nutrients nitrogen and phosphorus in bio-available forms on aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems.

In natural terrestrial systems, the addition of nutrients may change the species composition of the vegetation by favouring those species which benefit from higher levels of nutrients to grow faster than more nutrient efficient plants. This therefore changes the plant community from nutrient-poor (e.g. heath lands, dunes and raised bogs) to nutrient rich and more commonly, due to the widespread dispersion of nutrients, plant communities. The primary impact on the plant community leads to secondary impacts on other species in the terrestrial ecosystem. Terrestrial eutrophication is caused by deposition of airborne emissions of nitrogen compounds like nitrogen oxides (NO_x = NO and NO₂) from combustion processes and ammonia, NH₃ from agriculture. Airborne spreading of phosphorus is not prevalent, and terrestrial eutrophication is therefore mainly associated with nitrogen compounds.

In aquatic systems, the addition of nutrients has a similar primary impact by fertilizing the plants (algae or macrophytes) with a number of consequences for the ecosystem:

Species composition of the plant community changes to more nutrient-demanding species;

Algal blooms create shadowing, filtering the light penetrating into the water mass, changing life conditions from the macrophytes, which need the light for photosynthesis, and for predatory fish which need the light to see and catch their prey;

Oxygen depletion near the bottom of the water body where dead algae deposit and degrade.

All these consequences lead to a change in the species composition and of the function of the exposed aquatic ecosystem.

In aquatic systems it is often one of the macronutrients which limits the growth of algae. Addition of the limiting nutrient will lead to increased primary production, while addition of the nutrient which is not limiting will have no effect on the primary production, and this should be reflected in the life cycle impact assessment. There may be seasonal variations in the pattern of limiting nutrients, but as a general rule, P is the limiting nutrient in freshwater systems while N is limiting nutrient in marine systems.

Freshwater and marine aquatic systems are exposed to water-borne emissions (nitrate, other nitrogen compounds expressed as total N, phosphate and other phosphorus-containing compounds expressed as total P). Marine aquatic systems and very large lakes are also substantially exposed by airborne emissions (NO_x).

One of the consequences of eutrophication is oxygen depletion near the bottom of the exposed systems. Emissions of biological material may also contribute to oxygen depletion when it degrades in the water. This is why some characterisation models provide characterisation factors for waterborne emissions of organic material, expressed as:

• BOD: Biological Oxygen Demand when degraded biologically in water, typically over 5 or 7 days.

or

• COD: Chemical Oxygen Demand when degraded by chemical oxidation.

The inclusion of COD and BOD emissions is not consistent with the impact pathway at midpoint level, but they do contribute to some of the same damages, as emission of nutrients (see Figure A.6). The model framework for the eutrophication characterization factor is expressed as a fate factor: FF multiplied by an effect factor: EF as per equation below:

 $CF_{i,m,r} = FF * \cdot EF = f_{i,mr} \cdot * \beta_{dose\text{-response}}$ where:

- $f_{i,m,r}$ is the fate factor representing the transport of substance (i) in the media air or water (m) and the transfer to receiving environment (r). [dimensionless (kg/kg)].
- $\beta_{dose-response}$ is the effect factor expressing the response of the ecosystem to the change in nutrient status e.g. [Impact/kg N or P] or [-].

A.6.2 Environmental mechanism

The Figure A.6 shows the cause-effect chain for airborne acidifying emissions with the most important pathways highlighted (bold arrows).



Figure A.6. Flow diagram for eutrophication.

A.7 Ecotoxicity

A.7.1 Framework and scope

Models and factors for toxicity effects in LCA must be based on the relative risk and associated consequences of chemicals that are released into the environment. These must build on the principles

of comparative risk assessment, while providing indicators linked to the Area of Protection "Natural Environment".

LCA characterization models and factors for toxicity effects must be based on models that account for a chemical's fate in the environment, species exposure, and differences in toxicological response (likelihood of effects and severity).

The scope and methodology of an LCA differs from that of many approaches adopted for toxicological assessments in a regulatory context. In LCA it is desirable to account for the full extent of the likelihood of an effect (recommended midpoint indicator basis) and differences in severity (recommended endpoint indicator basis).

The basis of comparative risk in LCA accounting for the entire global population of species is recommended. This must be based on best-estimates complemented with uncertainty insights. The factors must reflect the likelihood of a toxicological effect integrated over time and space that is associated with the release of a quantity of chemical into the environment. This may be zero.

Contributions of emissions to short-term/acute and local scale effects are not typically addressed in LCAs. The focus here is on the contribution of emissions to the long-term risk of ecotoxicological effects and associated consequences considering all species habitats and disperse emissions.

A.7.2 Environmental mechanism

Figure A.7 shows the cause-effect chain of ecotoxicological impacts and corresponds to the framework of fate and ecotoxicity effect assessment.



Figure A.7. Flow diagram for ecotoxicity impacts.

Bibliographical references

- Ahlroth, Sofia, Måns Nilsson, Göran Finnveden, Olof Hjelm, and Elisabeth Hochschorner. 2011. Weighting and Valuation in Selected Environmental Systems Analysis Tools Suggestions for further Developments. Vol. 19. doi://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2010.04.016. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652610001678.
- Ainsworth, Elizabeth A., Craig R. Yendrek, Stephen Sitch, William J. Collins, and Lisa D. Emberson. 2012.
 "The Effects of Tropospheric Ozone on Net Primary Productivity and Implications for Climate Change." *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 63: 637-661.
- Ali, Saleem, Aaron Caum, Nash Hall, Andrea Haney, Jackie Lepre, and Z. Zimmerman. 2010. "Sustainability Report: A Comparison between New Belgium and Budweiser Beer.".
- Balmford, Andrew, Rhys E. Green, and Jörn P. W. Scharlemann. 2005. "Sparing Land for Nature: Exploring the Potential Impact of Changes in Agricultural Yield on the Area Needed for Crop Production." *Global Change Biology* 11 (10): 1594-1605. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001035.x. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001035.x/abstract.
- Bare, Jane, Thomas Gloria, and Gregory Norris. 2006. "Development of the Method and US Normalization Database for Life Cycle Impact Assessment and Sustainability Metrics." *Environmental Science & Technology* 40 (16): 5108-5115.
- Benini, Lorenzo, Lucia Mancini, Serenella Sala, Simone Manfredi, Erwin M. Schau, and Rana Pant. 2014. "Normalisation Method and Data for Environmental Footprints." *Luxembourg: European Union.EUR* 26842.
- Bleeker, Albert, Mark Sutton, Wilfried Winiwarter, and Adrian Leip. 2012. "Economy-Wide Nitrogen Balances and Indicators: Concept and Methodology." *Env/Epoc/Wpei* 4: 3-22.
- Brady, Nyle C. and Ray R. Weil. 2014. *Elements of the Nature and Properties of Soils*. 3. ed., Pearson new internat. ed. ed. Harlow: Pearson Education.
- Braun, Elizabeth, United Nations Environment Programme, Woods Hole Research Center, and International Nitrogen Initiative. 2007. *Reactive Nitrogen in the Environment : Too Much Or Too Little of a Good Thing*. Paris: UNEP DTIE, Sustainable Consumption and Production SCP Branch ;Falmouth, MA.
- Brentrup, Frank and Christian Pallire. 2008. "GHG Emissions and Energy Efficiency in European Nitrogen Fertiliser Production and use."International Fertiliser Society.
- Briggs, Dennis Edward. 1998. Malts and Malting Springer Science & Business Media.
- Candian, Gabriele, Antonio Scipioni, and Andrea Fedele. 2014. "Comparative LCA Studies in the Agriculture Sector: Implementation of Usetox Impact Assessment Method and Sensibility Analysis on the Soybean and Barley Cultivation Cases."Università degli Studi di Padova.

- Cecchinato, Luca, Marco Corradi, and Silvia Minetto. 2010. "Energy Performance of Supermarket Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Integrated Systems." *Applied Thermal Engineering* 30 (14): 1946-1958.
- Chen, B. and G. Q. Chen. 2007. "Modified Ecological Footprint Accounting and Analysis Based on Embodied Exergy—a Case Study of the Chinese Society 1981–2001." *Ecological Economics* 61 (2): 355-376.
- Cleveland, Cory C., Alan R. Townsend, David S. Schimel, Hank Fisher, Robert W. Howarth, Lars O. Hedin, Steven S. Perakis, et al. 1999. "Global Patterns of Terrestrial Biological Nitrogen (N2) Fixation in Natural Ecosystems." *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 13 (2): 623-645.
- Cordella, Mauro, Alessandro Tugnoli, Gigliola Spadoni, Francesco Santarelli, and Tullio Zangrando. 2008. "LCA of an Italian Lager Beer." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 13 (2): 133.
- Crutzen, Paul J., Arvin R. Mosier, Keith A. Smith, and Wilfried Winiwarter. 2016. "N2O Release from Agro-Biofuel Production Negates Global Warming Reduction by Replacing Fossil Fuels." In *Paul J. Crutzen: A Pioneer on Atmospheric Chemistry and Climate Change in the Anthropocene*, 227-238: Springer.
- Curran, Mary Ann. 2012. "Sourcing Life Cycle Inventory Data." Life Cycle Assessment Handbook: A Guide for Environmentally Sustainable Products: 105-141.
- de Jager, D., Martin Manning, and L. Kuijpers. 2005. "Safeguarding the Ozone Layer and the Global Climate System: Issues Related to Hydrofluorocarbons and Perfluorocarbons." *IPCC/TEAP Special Report.Technical Summary*.
- De Klein, C., R. S.A. Novoa, S. Ogle, K. A. Smith, .P. Rochette, T. C. Wirth, B. G. McConkey, A. Mosier, K. Rypdal. 2006. IPCC National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme: Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventorie. Volume 4: Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land use. Chapter 11: N20 Emissions from Managed Soils, and CO2 Emissions from Lime and Urea Application.
- de Vries, Wim, Svein Solberg, Matthias Dobbertin, Hubert Sterba, Daniel Laubhahn, Gert Jan Reinds, Gert-Jan Nabuurs, Per Gundersen, and Mark A. Sutton. 2008. "Ecologically Implausible Carbon Response?" *Nature* 451 (7180): E1.
- Domene, L. A. and Robert U. Ayres. 2001. "Nitrogen's Role in Industrial Systems." *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 5 (1): 77-103.
- Drapcho, David L., Douglas Sisterson, and Romesh Kumar. 1983. "Nitrogen Fixation by Lightning Activity in a Thunderstorm." *Atmospheric Environment* (1967) 17 (4): 729-734. doi:10.1016/0004-6981(83)90420-1. <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0004698183904201</u>.
- Durlinger, Bart, Marcelo Tyszler, Jasper Scholten, Roline Broekema, Hans Blonk, and Gravin Beatrixstraat. 2014. "Agri-Footprint; a Life Cycle Inventory Database Covering Food and Feed Production and Processing.".
- EC JRC. 2010. *ILCD Handbook : General Guide for Life Cycle Assessment : Detailed Guidance:* Publications Office of the European Union.

EC-JRC. 2010a. ILCD Handbook: Analysis of Existing Environmental Impact Assessment Methodologies for use in Life Cycle Assessment Publications Office of the European Union.

—. 2010b. ILCD Handbook: Framework and Requirements for Life Cycle Impact Assessment Models and Indicators Publications Office of the European Union.

—. 2011. "International Reference Life Cycle Data System (ILCD) Handbook - Recommendations Based on Existing Environmental Impact Assessment Models and Factors for Life Cycle Assessment in a European Context." *Publications Office of the European Union*. <u>http://eplca.jrc.ec.europa.eu/uploads/ILCD-Recommendation-of-methods-for-LCIA-def.pdf</u>.

- EC-JRC. 2012. Characterisation Factors of the ILCD Recommended Life Cycle Impact Assessment Methods. Database and Supporting Information. First edition. February 2012. EUR 25167 ed. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Ehhalt, D., M. Prather, F. Dentener, R. Derwent, Edward J. Dlugokencky, E. Holland, I. Isaksen, et al. 2001. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Greenhouse Gases*. United States: USDOE.
- Elvers, Barbara. 2011. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH.
- Erisman, Jan Willem, Jim Galloway, Sybil Seitzinger, Albert Bleeker, and Klaus Butterbach-Bahl. 2011. *Reactive Nitrogen in the Environment and its Effect on Climate Change*. Vol. 3. doi://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2011.08.012. <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S187734351100090X</u>.
- Erisman, Jan, Mark Sutton, James Galloway, Zbigniew Klimont, and Wilfried Winiwarter. 2008. "How a Century of Ammonia Synthesis Changed the World." *Nature Geoscience* 1 (10): 636-639.
- European Commission. 2013. Commission Recommendation on the use of Common Methods to Measure and Communicate the Life Cycle Environmental Performance of Products and Organisations.
- European Commission. 2012. "Life Cycle Indicators Framework: Development of Life Cycle Based Macro-Level Monitoring Indicators for Resources, Products and Waste for the EU-27". European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Institute for Environment and Sustainability.
 - ——. 2016. Product Environmental Footprint Pilot Guidance Guidance for the Implementation of the EU Product Environmental Footprint (PEF) during the Environmental Footprint (EF) Pilot Phase Version 5.2 February 2016.
- European Environment Agency, EEA. 2016. Environmental Indicator Report 2016 in Support to the Monitoring of the 7th Environment Action Programme: Publications Office of the European Union, 2016.
- Fang, Kai and Reinout Heijungs. 2014. "There is Still Room for a Footprint Family without a Life Cycle Approach—comment on "towards an Integrated Family of Footprint Indicators"." *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 18 (1): 71-72.
- Fang, Kai, Reinout Heijungs, and Geert R. de Snoo. 2014. "Theoretical Exploration for the Combination of the Ecological, Energy, Carbon, and Water Footprints: Overview of a Footprint Family." *Ecological Indicators* 36: 508-518.

FAO. 2002. World Agriculture: Towards 2015/2030. Summary Report. Rome.

- Fedele, Andrea and Antonio Scipioni. 2010. "Gli Impatti Ambientali Di Un Ciclo Colturale Triennale Secondo La Metodologia LCA: Tecniche Convenzionale E Biologica a Confronto". Università degli Studi di Padova.
- Finlayson-Pitts, B. J. and J. N. Pitts Jr. 1993. "Atmospheric Chemistry of Tropospheric Ozone Formation: Scientific and Regulatory Implications." *Air & Waste* 43 (8): 1091-1100.
- Fissore, C., L. A. Baker, S. E. Hobbie, J. Y. King, J. P. McFadden, K. C. Nelson, and I. Jakobsdottir. 2011. "Carbon, Nitrogen, and Phosphorus Fluxes in Household Ecosystems in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul, Minnesota, Urban Region." *Ecological Applications* 21 (3): 619-639.
- Forster, Piers, Venkatachalam Ramaswamy, Paulo Artaxo, Terje Berntsen, Richard Betts, David W. Fahey, James Haywood, Judith Lean, David C. Lowe, and Gunnar Myhre. 2007. "Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. Chapter 2." In *Climate Change 2007. The Physical Science Basis*.
- Frischknecht, Rolf. 2010. "LCI Modelling Approaches Applied on Recycling of Materials in View of Environmental Sustainability, Risk Perception and Eco-Efficiency". *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 15 (7): 666-671.
- Gadda, Carlo Emilio. 1937. "Azoto Atmosferico Trasformato in Pane." Gazzetta Del Popolo, Apr 13.
- Galinato, Suzette P., Ann George, and Herbert Hinman. 2010. "Estimated Cost of Producing Hops in the Yakima Valley, Washington State.".
- Galli, Alessandro, Thomas Wiedmann, Ertug Ercin, Doris Knoblauch, Brad Ewing, and Stefan Giljum. 2012. "Integrating Ecological, Carbon and Water Footprint into a "footprint Family" of Indicators: Definition and Role in Tracking Human Pressure on the Planet." *Ecological Indicators* 16: 100-112.
- Galloway, J. N., F. J. Dentener, D. G. Capone, E. W. Boyer, R. W. Howarth, S. P. Seitzinger, G. P. Asner, et al. 2004. "Nitrogen Cycles: Past, Present, and Future." *Biogeochemistry* 70 (2): 153-226.
- Galloway, James N., Alan R. Townsend, Jan Willem Erisman, Mateete Bekunda, Zucong Cai, John R. Freney, Luiz A. Martinelli, Sybil P. Seitzinger, and Mark A. Sutton. 2008. "Transformation of the Nitrogen Cycle: Recent Trends, Questions, and Potential Solutions." *Science* 320 (5878): 889.
- Galloway, James N., Wilfried Winiwarter, Adrian Leip, Allison M. Leach, Albert Bleeker, and Jan Willem Erisman. 2014. "Nitrogen Footprints: Past, Present and Future." *Environmental Research Letters* 9 (11): 115003.
- Galloway, James, John Aber, Jan Erisman, Sybil Seitzinger, Robert Howarth, Ellis Cowling, and B. J. Cosby. 2003. "The Nitrogen Cascade." *Bioscience* 53 (4): 341. doi:TNC]2.0.CO;2.
- Goedkoop, Mark, Reinout Heijungs, Mark Huijbregts, An De Schryver, Jaap Struijs, and Rosalie Van Zelm. 2009. "ReCiPe 2008." A Life Cycle Impact Assessment Method which Comprises Harmonised Category Indicators at the Midpoint and the Endpoint Level 1.

- Greco, Susan L., Andrew M. Wilson, John D. Spengler, and Jonathan I. Levy. 2007. "Spatial Patterns of Mobile Source Particulate Matter Emissions-to-Exposure Relationships Across the United States." *Atmospheric Environment* 41 (5): 1011-1025.
- Gruber, Nicolas and James N. Galloway. 2008. "An Earth-System Perspective of the Global Nitrogen Cycle." *Nature* 451 (7176): 293.
- Gu, Baojing, Allison M. Leach, Lin Ma, James N. Galloway, Scott X. Chang, Ying Ge, and Jie Chang. 2013.
 "Nitrogen Footprint in China: Food, Energy, and Nonfood Goods." *Environmental Science & Technology* 47 (16): 9217-9224.
- Guariento Laura, Scipioni Antonio, and Zuliani Filippo. 2016. "The Nitrogen Footprint Indicator: A New Approach to Assess the Environmental Impact of Agricultural Processes Design and Application". University of Padova.
- Guinée, Jeroen B. 2002. "Handbook on Life Cycle Assessment Operational Guide to the ISO Standards." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 7 (5): 311.
 - —. 2015. "Selection of Impact Categories and Classification of LCI Results to Impact Categories." In *Life Cycle Impact Assessment*, edited by Michael Z. Hauschild and Mark A. J. Huijbregts, 17-37. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Guinée, Jeroen B., Reinout Heijungs, Gjalt Huppes, Alessandra Zamagni, Paolo Masoni, Roberto Buonamici, Tomas Ekvall, and Tomas Rydberg. 2011. "Life Cycle Assessment: Past, Present, and Future." *Environmental Science & Technology* 45 (1): 90. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20812726</u>.
- Hansen, James, Makiko Sato, Pushker Kharecha, and K. von Schuckmann. 2011. "Earth's Energy Imbalance and Implications." *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* 11 (24): 13421-13449.
- Hauschild, Michael Z., Mark Goedkoop, Jeroen Guine, Reinout Heijungs, Mark Huijbregts, Olivier Jolliet, Manuele Margni, An De Schryver, Sebastien Humbert, and Alexis Laurent. 2013. "Identifying Best Existing Practice for Characterization Modeling in Life Cycle Impact Assessment." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 18 (3): 683-697.
- Heij, G. J., W. De Vries, A. C. Posthumus, and GMJ Mohren. 1991. "4. Effects of Air Pollution and Acid Deposition on Forests and Forest Soils." *Studies in Environmental Science* 46: 97-137.
- Hellweg, Stefanie and Lloren Milà i Canals. 2014. "Emerging Approaches, Challenges and Opportunities in Life Cycle Assessment." *Science* 344 (6188): 1109-1113.
- Hoekstra, Arjen Y. and Pin Q. Hung. 2002. "Virtual Water Trade." A Quantification of Virtual Water Flows between Nations in Relation to International Crop Trade. Value of Water Research Report Series 11: 166.
- Högberg, Peter. 2007. "Environmental Science: Nitrogen Impacts on Forest Carbon." *Nature* 447 (7146): 781-782.
- Holloway, JoAnn M. and Randy A. Dahlgren. 2002. "Nitrogen in Rock: Occurrences and Biogeochemical Implications." *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 16 (4): 17.

- Humbert, Sebastien. 2009. *Geographically Differentiated Life-Cycle Impact Assessment of Human Health* University of California, Berkeley.
- Huppes, Gjalt, M. D. Davidson, J. Kuyper, L. Van Oers, HA Udo de Haes, and G. Warringa. 2007. "Eco-Efficient Environmental Policy in Oil and Gas Production in the Netherlands." *Ecological Economics* 61 (1): 43-51.
- Huppes, Gjalt and Lauran van Oers. 2011. "Evaluation of Weighting Methods for Measuring the EU-27 overall Environmental Impact." *JRC Scientific and Technical Reports, Publications Office of the European Union, 75pp.*
- Hutton, Mary Olivia, Allison M. Leach, Adrian Leip, James N. Galloway, Mateete Bekunda, Clare Sullivan, and Jan Peter Lesschen. 2017. "Toward a Nitrogen Footprint Calculator for Tanzania." *Environmental Research Letters* 12 (3): 034016.
- ISO International Organization for Standardization. 2015. ISO 14001:2015. Environmental Management Systems Requirements with Guidance for Use.

—. 2006a. ISO 14040:2006. Environmental Management – Life Cycle Assessment – Principles and Framework.

—. 2006b. ISO 14044:2006. Environmental Management – Life Cycle Assessment – Requirements and Guidelines.

—. 2014. ISO 14046:2014. Environmental Management. Water Footprint - Principles, Requirements and Guidelines.

—. 2016. ISO DIS 14026. Environmental Labels and Declarations — Principles, Requirements and Guidelines for Communication of Footprint Information (Not Published Draft).

—. 2013. ISO/TS 14067:2013. Greenhouse Gases — Carbon Footprint of Products - Requirements and Guidelines for Quantification and Communication.

ISPRA. 2015. Rapporto Rifiuti Urbani 2015.

- James N. Galloway, Alan R. Townsend, Jan Willem Erisman, Mateete Bekunda, Zucong Cai, John R. Freney, Luiz A. Martinelli, Sybil P. Seitzinger, and Mark A. Sutton. 2008. "Transformation of the Nitrogen Cycle: Recent Trends, Questions, and Potential Solutions." *Science* 320 (5878): 889-892. doi:10.1126/science.1136674. <u>http://www.sciencemag.org/content/320/5878/889.abstract</u>.
- Johnston, A. E. and P. R. Poulton. 2009. "Nitrogen in Agriculture: An Overview and Definitions of Nitrogen use Efficiency."International Fertiliser Society.
- Jolliet, Olivier, Manuele Margni, Raphal Charles, Sbastien Humbert, Jrme Payet, Gerald Rebitzer, and Ralph Rosenbaum. 2003. "IMPACT 2002: A New Life Cycle Impact Assessment Methodology." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 8 (6): 324.
- Kim, Sunghwan, Paul A. Thiessen, Evan E. Bolton, Jie Chen, Gang Fu, Asta Gindulyte, Lianyi Han, Jane He, Siqian He, and Benjamin A. Shoemaker. 2015. "PubChem Substance and Compound Databases." *Nucleic Acids Research* 44 (D1): D1213.

- Lal, Rattan. 2004. "Carbon Emission from Farm Operations." Environment International 30 (7): 981-990.
- Laurent, Alexis, Anne Lautier, Ralph K. Rosenbaum, Stig I. Olsen, and Michael Z. Hauschild. 2011. "Normalization References for Europe and North America for Application with USEtox[™] Characterization Factors." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 16 (8): 728.
- Lautier, Anne, Ralph K. Rosenbaum, Manuele Margni, Jane Bare, Pierre-Olivier Roy, and Louise Deschnes. 2010. "Development of Normalization Factors for Canada and the United States and Comparison with European Factors." *Science of the Total Environment* 409 (1): 33-42.
- Leach, A. 2012. "A Nitrogen Footprint Model to Help Consumers Understand their Role in Nitrogen Losses to the Environment." *Environmental Development* 1 (1): 40-66.
- Leach, Allison M., Kyle A. Emery, Jessica Gephart, Kyle F. Davis, Jan Willem Erisman, Adrian Leip, Michael L. Pace, Paolo D'Odorico, Joel Carr, and Laura Cattell Noll. 2016. "Environmental Impact Food Labels Combining Carbon, Nitrogen, and Water Footprints." *Food Policy* 61: 213-223.
- Leach, Allison M., Ariel N. Majidi, James N. Galloway, and Andrew J. Greene. 2013. "Toward Institutional Sustainability: A Nitrogen Footprint Model for a University." *Sustainability: The Journal of Record* 6 (4): 211-219.
- Leip, A., F. Weiss, J. P. Lesschen, and H. Westhoek. 2014a. "The Nitrogen Footprint of Food Products in the European Union." *The Journal of Agricultural Science* 152 (S1): 20-33.
- Leip, Adrian, Allison Leach, Patrick Musinguzi, Trust Tumwesigye, Giregon Olupot, John Stephen Tenywa, Joseph Mudiope, Olivia Hutton, d S Cordovil, Claudia M, and Mateete Bekunda. 2014b. "Nitrogen-Neutrality: A Step Towards Sustainability." *Environmental Research Letters* 9 (11): 115001.
- Liang, Xia, Allison M. Leach, James N. Galloway, Baojing Gu, Shu Kee Lam, and Deli Chen. 2016. "Beef and Coal are Key Drivers of Australia's High Nitrogen Footprint." *Scientific Reports* 6: 39644.
- Lippiatt, Barbara. 2007. "BEES 4.0. Building for Environmental and Economic Sustainability. Technical Manual and User Guide." *National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), Gaithersburg, USA*. <u>http://www.bfrl.nist.gov/oae/software/bees/</u>.
- Loss, Andrea and Filippo Zuliani. 2017. Carbon and Nitrogen Footprint of Birra Castello Products (Draft Report).
- Magnani, Federico, Maurizio Mencuccini, Marco Borghetti, Paul Berbigier, Frank Berninger, Sylvain Delzon, Achim Grelle, Pertti Hari, Paul G. Jarvis, and Pasi Kolari. 2007. "The Human Footprint in the Carbon Cycle of Temperate and Boreal Forests." *Nature* 447 (7146): 849.
- Marchant, Hannah K., Gaute Lavik, Moritz Holtappels, and Marcel M. M. Kuypers. 2014. "The Fate of Nitrate in Intertidal Permeable Sediments." *Plos One* 9 (8): e104517.
- Martinelli, L. A., M. C. Piccolo, A. R. Townsend, P. M. Vitousek, E. Cuevas, W. McDowell, G. P. Robertson, O. C. Santos, and K. Treseder. 1999. "Nitrogen Stable Isotopic Composition of Leaves and Soil: Tropical Versus Temperate Forests." *Biogeochemistry* 46 (1-3): 45-65.

- Mather, Tamsin, A., David Pyle M., and Andrew Allen G. 2004. "Volcanic Source for Fixed Nitrogen in the Early Earth's Atmosphere." *Geology* 32 (10): 905-908.
- Matson, Pamela A., WILLIAM H. McDOWELL, Alan R. Townsend, and Peter M. Vitousek. 1999. "The Globalization of N Deposition: Ecosystem Consequences in Tropical Environments." In *New Perspectives on Nitrogen Cycling in the Temperate and Tropical Americas*, 67-83: Springer.
- Maxwell, Gary. 2004. Synthetic Nitrogen Products: A Practical Guide to the Products and Processes Springer Science & Business Media.
- McKenzie, Valerie J. and Alan R. Townsend. 2007. "Parasitic and Infectious Disease Responses to Changing Global Nutrient Cycles." *EcoHealth* 4 (4): 384-396.
- Meybeck, Michel and Alain Ragu. 1995. *River Discharges to the Oceans: An Assessment of Suspended Solids, Major Ions and Nutrients* UNEP.
- Moreno Ruiz, E., T. Lvov, G. Bourgault, and G. Wernet. 2014. "Documentation of Changes Implemented in Ecoinvent Data 3.1." *Zurich, Switzerland*.
- Morn, A. Blanco, M. Delgado Calvo-Flores, JM Martn Ramos, and MP Polo Almohano. 2009. "AIEIA: Software for Fuzzy Environmental Impact Assessment." *Expert Systems with Applications* 36 (5): 9135-9149.
- Murphy, D. M., Susan Solomon, R. W. Portmann, K. H. Rosenlof, P. M. Forster, and T. Wong. 2009. "An Observationally Based Energy Balance for the Earth since 1950." *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* 114 (D17).
- Nemecek, Thomas, Julian Schnetzer, and Jrgen Reinhard. 2016. "Updated and Harmonised Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Crop Inventories." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 21 (9): 1361-1378.
- Oenema, O., X. Ju, C. Klein, M. Alfaro, A. del Prado, J. P. Lesschen, and C. Kroeze. 2013. "Reducing N2O Emissions from Agricultural Sources." In *Drawing Down N2O to Protect Climate and the Ozone Layer*, 17-25: UNEP.
- Offermann, Frank and Hiltrud Nieberg. 2000. *Economic Performance of Organic Farms in Europe*. Organic Farming in Europe. Vol. 5. Stuttgart-Hohenheim: Univ. of Hohenheim, Department of Farm Economics.
- Oita, Azusa, Arunima Malik, Keiichiro Kanemoto, Arne Geschke, Shota Nishijima, and Manfred Lenzen. 2016. "Substantial Nitrogen Pollution Embedded in International Trade." *Nature Geoscience* 9 (2): 111-115.
- Pachauri, Rajendra K., Myles R. Allen, Vicente R. Barros, John Broome, Wolfgang Cramer, Renate Christ, John A. Church, Leon Clarke, Qin Dahe, and Purnamita Dasgupta. 2014. *Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* IPCC.
- Palmeri, Luca, Barausse, Alberto and Jørgensen, Sven E. 2014. "Ecological Processes Handbook." CRC Press.

- Pastorello, C. and G. Melios. 2016. *Explaining Road Transport Emissions: A Non-Technical Guide*. Copenhagen.
- Peierls, Benjamin L., Nina F. Caraco, Michael L. Pace, and Jonathan J. Cole. 1991. "Human Influence on River Nitrogen." *Nature* 350: 386-387.
- Pelletier, Nathan and Adrian Leip. 2014. "Quantifying Anthropogenic Mobilization, Flows (in Product Systems) and Emissions of Fixed Nitrogen in Process-Based Environmental Life Cycle Assessment: Rationale, Methods and Application to a Life Cycle Inventory." *The International Journal of Life Cycle* Assessment 19 (1): 166-173.
- Pierer, Magdalena, Wilfried Winiwarter, Allison M. Leach, and James N. Galloway. 2014. "The Nitrogen Footprint of Food Products and General Consumption Patterns in Austria." *Food Policy* 49: 128-136.
- Point, E., P. Tyedmers, and C. Naugler. 2012. "Life Cycle Environmental Impacts of Wine Production and Consumption in Nova Scotia, Canada." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 27: 11-20.
- Posch, Maximilian, Jyri Seppälä, Jean-Paul Hettelingh, Matti Johansson, Manuele Margni, and Olivier Jolliet. 2008. "The Role of Atmospheric Dispersion Models and Ecosystem Sensitivity in the Determination of Characterisation Factors for Acidifying and Eutrophying Emissions in LCIA." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 13 (6): 477.
- Putaud, J-P, R. Van Dingenen, A. Alastuey, H. Bauer, W. Birmili, J. Cyrys, HI Flentje, S. Fuzzi, R. Gehrig, and Hans-Christen Hansson. 2010. "A European Aerosol Phenomenology–3: Physical and Chemical Characteristics of Particulate Matter from 60 Rural, Urban, and Kerbside Sites Across Europe." *Atmospheric Environment* 44 (10): 1308-1320.
- Rabl, Ari and Joseph V. Spadaro. 2004. The RiskPoll Software, Version 1.051 (Dated August 2004).
- Raun, W. R., G. V. Johnson, S. B. Phillips, and R. L. Westerman. 1998. "Effect of Long-Term N Fertilization on Soil Organic C and Total N in Continuous Wheat Under Conventional Tillage in Oklahoma." *Soil and Tillage Research* 47 (3): 323-330.
- Reay, Dave S., Frank Dentener, Pete Smith, John Grace, and Richard A. Feely. 2008. "Global Nitrogen Deposition and Carbon Sinks." *Nature Geoscience* 1 (7): 430.
- Rees, William E. 1992. "Ecological Footprints and Appropriated Carrying Capacity: What Urban Economics Leaves Out." *Environment and Urbanization* 4 (2): 121-130.
- Reid, W. V., Mooney, H. A., Cropper, A. et al. 2005. "Millennium Ecosystem Assessment." *Ecosystems and Human Wellbeing: A Framework for Assessment Washington, DC: Island Press.*
- Reuss, John O. and Dale W. Johnson. 2012. *Acid Deposition and the Acidification of Soils and Waters*. Vol. 59 Springer Science & Business Media.
- Ridoutt, Bradley, Peter Fantke, Stephan Pfister, Jane Bare, Anne-Marie Boulay, Francesco Cherubini, Rolf Frischknecht, et al. 2015. "Making Sense of the Minefield of Footprint Indicators." *Environmental Science & Technology* 49 (5): 2601. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25675252</u>.

- Rosenbaum, Ralph K., Till M. Bachmann, Lois Swirsky Gold, Mark AJ Huijbregts, Olivier Jolliet, Ronnie Juraske, Annette Koehler, Henrik F. Larsen, Matthew MacLeod, and Manuele Margni. 2008.
 "USEtox—the UNEP-SETAC Toxicity Model: Recommended Characterisation Factors for Human Toxicity and Freshwater Ecotoxicity in Life Cycle Impact Assessment." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 13 (7): 532.
- Rudel, Thomas K., Laura Schneider, Maria Uriarte, Billie Lee Turner, Ruth DeFries, Deborah Lawrence, Jacqueline Geoghegan, Susanna Hecht, Amy Ickowitz, and Eric F. Lambin. 2009. "Agricultural Intensification and Changes in Cultivated Areas, 1970–2005." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106 (49): 20675-20680.
- Sala, S., M. Wolf, and R. Pant. 2012. "Characterisation Factors of the ILCD Recommended Life Cycle Impact Assessment Methods. Database and Supporting Information." *Publications Office of the European Union*.
- Sala, Serenella, Lorenzo Benini, Lucia Mancini, and Rana Pant. 2015. "Integrated Assessment of Environmental Impact of Europe in 2010: Data Sources and Extrapolation Strategies for Calculating Normalisation Factors." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 20 (11): 1568-1585.
- Sala, Serenella and Malgorzata Goralczyk. 2013. "Chemical Footprint: A Methodological Framework for Bridging Life Cycle Assessment and Planetary Boundaries for Chemical Pollution." *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management* 9 (4): 623-632.
- Sanchez, Pedro A. and Monkombu S. Swaminathan. 2005. "Cutting World Hunger in Half." *Science* 307 (5708): 357-359.
- Savanick, Suzanne, Lawrence Baker, and Jim Perry. 2007. "Case Study for Evaluating Campus Sustainability: Nitrogen Balance for the University of Minnesota." *Urban Ecosystems* 10 (2): 119-137.
- Schlesinger, William H. 2009. "On the Fate of Anthropogenic Nitrogen." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106 (1): 203-208.
- Seppälä, Jyri, Maximilian Posch, Matti Johansson, and Jean-Paul Hettelingh. 2006. "Country-Dependent Characterisation Factors for Acidification and Terrestrial Eutrophication Based on Accumulated Exceedance as an Impact Category Indicator (14 Pp)." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 11 (6): 403-416.
- Shibata, Hideaki, Lia R. Cattaneo, Allison M. Leach, and James N. Galloway. 2014. "First Approach to the Japanese Nitrogen Footprint Model to Predict the Loss of Nitrogen to the Environment." *Environmental Research Letters* 9 (11): 115013.
- Shibata, Hideaki, James N. Galloway, Allison M. Leach, Lia R. Cattaneo, Laura Cattell Noll, Jan Willem Erisman, Baojing Gu, et al. 2017. "Nitrogen Footprints: Regional Realities and Options to Reduce Nitrogen Loss to the Environment." *Ambio* 46 (2): 129-142.
- Sillanpää, Markus, Risto Hillamo, Sanna Saarikoski, Anna Frey, Arto Pennanen, Ulla Makkonen, Zoya Spolnik, René Van Grieken, Martin Braniš, and Bert Brunekreef. 2006. "Chemical Composition and Mass Closure of Particulate Matter at Six Urban Sites in Europe." *Atmospheric Environment* 40: 212-223.

- Singh, Shweta and Bhavik R. Bakshi. 2015. Footprints of Carbon and Nitrogen: Revisiting the Paradigm and Exploring their Nexus for Decision Making. Ecological Indicators 53: 49-60. doi://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.01.001. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1470160X15000023.
- Sleeswijk, Anneke Wegener, van Oers, Lauran F C M, Jeroen B. Guinée, Jaap Struijs, and Mark A. J. Huijbregts. 2008. Normalisation in Product Life Cycle Assessment: An LCA of the Global and European Economic Systems in the Year 2000. Vol. 390. doi://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.09.040. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969707010522.
- Smil, Vaclav. 1997. Cycles of Life: Civilization and the Biosphere. Scientific American Library Series; no.
 63. New York: Scientific American Library.

. 1999. "Nitrogen in Crop Production: An Account of Global Flows." *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 13 (2): 647-662. doi:10.1029/1999GB900015.
 <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/1999GB900015/abstract.</u>

- Smith, Stephen V., Dennis P. Swaney, Liana Talaue-Mcmanus, Jeremy D. Bartley, Peder T. Sandhei, CASEY J. McLAUGHLIN, Vilma C. Dupra, Chris J. Crossland, Robert W. Buddemeier, and Bruce A. Maxwell. 2003. "Humans, Hydrology, and the Distribution of Inorganic Nutrient Loading to the Ocean." *AIBS Bulletin* 53 (3): 235-245.
- Sonnemann, Guido, Bruce Vigon, Mireille Rack, and Sonia Valdivia. 2013. "Global Guidance Principles for Life Cycle Assessment Databases: Development of Training Material and Other Implementation Activities on the Publication." *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 18 (5): 1169-1172.
- Steffen, Will, Katherine Richardson, Johan Rockström, Sarah E. Cornell, Ingo Fetzer, Elena M. Bennett, Reinette Biggs, et al. 2015. "Planetary Boundaries: Guiding Human Development on a Changing Planet." Science 347 (6223).
- Stevens, Carly J., Allison M. Leach, Sarah Dale, and James N. Galloway. 2014. "Personal Nitrogen Footprint Tool for the United Kingdom." *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts* 16 (7): 1563-1569.
- Stocker, Thomas F., Dahe Qin, Gian-Kasper Plattner, Melinda MB Tignor, Simon K. Allen, Judith Boschung, Alexander Nauels, Yu Xia, Vincent Bex, and Pauline M. Midgley. 2013. "Climate Change 2013 the Physical Science Basis. Working Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)".
- Su, Ming-Chien. 2016. "Evaluating the Taiwanese Nitrogen Footprint of Food Production.
- Sutton, Mark A., Clare M. Howard, Jan Willem Erisman, William J. Bealey, Gilles Billen, Albert Bleeker, Alexander F. Bouwman, Peringe Grennfelt, Hans van Grinsven, and Bruna Grizzetti. 2011. "The Challenge to Integrate Nitrogen Science and Policies: The European Nitrogen Assessment Approach." In *The European Nitrogen Assessment: Sources, Effects and Policy Perspectives*, edited by Mark A. Sutton, Clare M. Howard, Jan Willem Erisman, Gilles Billen, Albert Bleeker, Peringe Grennfelt, Hans van Grinsven and Bruna Grizzetti, 82-96. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511976988.008. <u>https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/european-nitrogen-assessment/challenge-to-integrate-nitrogen-science-and-policies-the-european-nitrogen-assessment-approach/E056C2E17E2BCFC0B0B0E6EFF03E9355.
 </u>

- Tilman, David, Kenneth Cassman, Pamela Matson, Rosamond Naylor, and Stephen Polasky. 2002. "Agricultural Sustainability and Intensive Production Practices." *Nature* 418 (6898): 671-677.
- Townsend, Alan R., Robert W. Howarth, Fakhri A. Bazzaz, Mary S. Booth, Cory C. Cleveland, Sharon K. Collinge, Andrew P. Dobson, Paul R. Epstein, Elisabeth A. Holland, and Dennis R. Keeney. 2003.
 "Human Health Effects of a Changing Global Nitrogen Cycle." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 1 (5): 240-246.
- Trenberth, Kevin E., John T. Fasullo, and Jeffrey Kiehl. 2009. "Earth's Global Energy Budget." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 90 (3): 311-323.
- Van Breemen, Nico, J. Mulder, and C. T. Driscoll. 1983. "Acidification and Alkalinization of Soils." *Plant and Soil* 75 (3): 283-308.
- Van Grinsven, Hans JM, Mary H. Ward, Nigel Benjamin, and Theo M. De Kok. 2006. "Does the Evidence about Health Risks Associated with Nitrate Ingestion Warrant an Increase of the Nitrate Standard for Drinking Water?" *Environmental Health* 5 (1): 26.
- van Zelm, Rosalie, Mark AJ Huijbregts, Henri A. den Hollander, Hans A. Van Jaarsveld, Ferd J. Sauter, Jaap Struijs, Harm J. van Wijnen, and Dik van de Meent. 2008. "European Characterization Factors for Human Health Damage of PM 10 and Ozone in Life Cycle Impact Assessment." *Atmospheric Environment* 42 (3): 441-453.
- Von Witzke, Harald and Steffen Noleppa. 2010. "EU Agricultural Production and Trade: Can More Efficiency Prevent Increasing 'land-Grabbing'outside of Europe?" *Study Commissioned by OPERA*.
- Wang, F., J. T. Sims, L. Ma, W. Ma, Z. Dou, and F. Zhang. 2011. "The Phosphorus Footprint of China's Food Chain: Implications for Food Security, Natural Resource Management, and Environmental Quality." *Journal of Environmental Quality* 40 (4): 1081-1089.
- Ward, Mary H. 2005. "Workgroup Report: Drinking-Water Nitrate and Health—recent Findings and Research Needs." *Environmental Health Perspectives* 113 (11): 1607.
- Weiss, Ray F., Jens Mhle, Peter K. Salameh, and Christina M. Harth. 2008. "Nitrogen Trifluoride in the Global Atmosphere." *Geophysical Research Letters* 35 (20).
- Westhoek, Henk, Jan Peter Lesschen, Trudy Rood, Susanne Wagner, Alessandra De Marco, Donal Murphy-Bokern, Adrian Leip, Hans van Grinsven, Mark A. Sutton, and Oene Oenema. 2014. "Food Choices, Health and Environment: Effects of Cutting Europe's Meat and Dairy Intake." *Global Environmental Change* 26: 196-205.
- Wiedmann, Thomas and Jan Minx. 2008. "A Definition of 'carbon Footprint'." *Ecological Economics Research Trends* 1: 1-11.
- Wink, David A. and Nazareno Paolocci. 2008. "Mother was Right: Eat Your Vegetables and do Not Spit!" *Hypertension* 51 (3): 617-619.
- Winther, Morten, Zissis Samaras, Karl-Heinz Zierock, and Udo Lambrecht. 2010. "Non-Road Mobile Sources and Machinery (Land-Based Emissions)." *European Environment Agency (Ed.), Emission Inventory Guidebook*: 1-72.

- World Health Organization. 2003. "Health Aspects of Air Pollution with Particulate Matter, Ozone and Nitrogen Dioxide: Report on a WHO Working Group, Bonn, Germany 13-15 January 2003".
- Xue, Jian-Fu, Chao Pu, Sheng-Li Liu, Xin Zhao, Ran Zhang, Fu Chen, Xiao-Ping Xiao, and Hai-Lin Zhang. 2016. Carbon and Nitrogen Footprint of Double Rice Production in Southern China. Vol. 64. doi://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.01.001. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1470160X16000054.
- Xue, Xiaobo and Amy E. Landis. 2010. "Eutrophication Potential of Food Consumption Patterns." *Environmental Science & Technology* 44 (16): 6450-6456.
- Yaap, Betsy, Matthew J. Struebig, Gary Paoli, and Lian Pin Koh. 2010. "Mitigating the Biodiversity Impacts of Oil Palm Development." *CAB Reviews* 5 (19): 1-11.
- Zampori L., Saouter E., Castellani V., Schau E., Cristobal J., Sala S. 2016. *Guide for Interpreting Life Cycle Assessment Result*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Zhao, Sheng, Zizhen Li, and Wenlong Li. 2005. "A Modified Method of Ecological Footprint Calculation and its Application." *Ecological Modelling* 185 (1): 65-75.

Web sites

- "The EU Water Framework Directive Integrated River Basin Management for Europe." <u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/water-framework/index_en.html</u>; accessed July, 2017.
- "Agri-Footprint: LCA Food Database." http://www.agri-footprint.com/; accessed 14/09/, 2017.
- "Air Pollution from the Main Sources Air Emissions from Road Vehicles." http://ec.europa.eu/environment/air/sources/road.htm; accessed September, 2017.
- "Air Quality Existing Legislation." <u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/air/quality/existing_leg.htm</u>; accessed October, 2017.
- "Ecoinvent", http://www.ecoinvent.org/database/database.html; accessed July, 2017
- "Environment: Soil." http://ec.europa.eu/environment/soil/index_en.htm; accessed July, 2017.
- "The EU Emissions Trading System (EU ETS)." <u>https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/ets_en;</u> accessed July, 2017.
- "The Industrial Emissions Directive." <u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/industry/stationary/ied/legislation.htm;</u> accessed July, 2017.
- "LCA Food Database." <u>http://gefionau.dk/lcafood/;</u> accessed 14/09/, 2017.
- "Legislation: The Marine Directive "<u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/marine/eu-coast-and-marine-policy/marine-strategy-framework-directive/index_en.htm</u>; accessed October, 2017.
- "The Nitrates Directive." <u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/water-nitrates/index_en.html</u>; accessed July, 2017.
- "N-Print Nitrogen Footprint." <u>www.n-print.org</u>; accessed July, 2017.
- "The PubChem Project." https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/; accessed August, 2017.
- "Trends in Loss of Reactive Nitrogen to the Environment." <u>https://www.bipindicators.net/indicators/trends-in-loss-of-reactive-nitrogen-to-the-environment;</u> accessed July, 2017.
- "What's Your Bay Footprint?" Chesapeake Bay Foundation; <u>https://secure.cbf.org/site/SPageNavigator/bay_footprint.html?pg_wrap=n&s_src=web</u>, accessed July, 2017.